

Accelerating India's Climate Transition: Pathways to the 1.5°C Goal



Accelerating India's Climate Transition: Pathways to the 1.5°C goal

This report should be cited as :

IIHS, 2024. Accelerating India's Climate Transition: pathways to the 1.5°C goal [Revi, A., Bazaz, A.B., Singh, C., Kodira, P., & Ghoge, K.] Indian Institute for Human Settlements. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.24943/AICT11.2024</u> ISBN: 9788198256867

Report Authors:

Aromar Revi, Amir Bazaz, Chandni Singh, Prathijna Kodira and Ketaki Ghoge Indian Institute for Human Settlements

Design & Layout

Shashwati B | Reviewed by Padma Venkataraman and Prachi Prabhu IIHS Communications and Design

Editing Namrata Nirmal IIHS Word Lab



Accelerating India's Climate Transition: pathways to the 1.5°C goal

CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	7
 CLIMATE TRENDS AND PROJECTIONS IN INDIA Introduction Temperature Precipitation Climate Change Impacts on Extreme Events Conclusion 	15 16 17 20 22 25
 2. CLIMATE CHANGE RISKS AND IMPACTS IN INDIA 2.1 Introduction 2.2 Climate Impact-drivers in India 2.3 Sectoral Impacts and Risks 2.4 Conclusion 	27 28 29 32 42
 3. NAVIGATING INDIA'S DEVELOPMENT AND CLIMATE GOALS 3.1 Introduction 3.2 Economic Profile and Share of Gross Value Added 3.3 Sectoral Focus for Climate Action and Systems Transitions 3.4 Conclusion 	43 45 46 51 57
 4. ADAPTATION AND MITIGATION IN INDIA 4.1 Introduction 4.2 Climate Action Architecture in India 4.3 Conclusion 	59 60 62 69
 5 MITIGATION PATHWAYS 5.1 Past Mitigation Trends 5.2 Projected Emissions and Mitigation 5.3 Mitigation Options on the Demand and Supply Sides 5.4 Conclusion 	71 72 73 83 93
 6. FEASIBILITY ASSESSMENT OF ADAPTATION AND MITIGATION OPTIONS 6.1 Introduction 6.2 Feasibility of Mitigation and Adaptation Options 6.3 Feasibility of Mitigation Options across Systems 6.4 Feasibility of Adaptation Options across Systems 6.5 Conclusion 	95 96 97 101 114 133
 7. CLIMATE CHANGE MITIGATION, ADAPTATION, AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT: SYNERGIES AND TRADE-OFFS 7.1 Introduction 7.2 Synergies and Trade-offs of Adaptation Actions with Mitigation Actions and Sustainable Development Goals 	135 137 138
7.3 Synergies and Trade-offs of Mitigation Actions with Adaptation Options and Sustainable Development Goals7.4 Conclusion	148 158

8 ENABLING 1.5°C IN INDIA	161
8.1 Introduction	162
8.2 Enhancing Multi-level Governance	164
8.3 Improving Institutional Capacities	167
8.4 Strengthening Policy Instruments	171
8.5 Climate Finance	177
8.6 Enabling Technological Innovation	181
8.7 Behavioural and Lifestyle Change	190
9 CONCLUSION	191
ANNEXES	195
REFERENCES	201
ABBREVIATIONS	243
LIST OF TABLES, FIGURES AND BOXES	251

Executive Summary

This section should be cited as: Revi, A., Ghoge, K., & Singh, C., 2024: Executive Summary. In IIHS, 2024. Accelerating India's Climate Transition: pathways to the1.5°C goal [Revi, A., Bazaz, A.B., Singh, C., Kodira, P., & Ghoge, K.] Indian Institute for Human Settlements. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.24943/AICT11.2024</u>

Chapter Authors: Aromar Revi, Ketaki Ghoge and Chandni Singh

Executive Summary

Human-induced climate change is unequivocally altering climate impact-drivers across the world, especially heat, precipitation (rain, snow, ice), wind, and sea levels (IPCC, 2021). In India, temperature and precipitation extremes are showing warming patterns and more erratic rainfall respectively (Krishnan et al., 2020). Over the past few decades, climate trends in the country have worsened compared to 1976-2005, with mean surface air temperature expected to rise by 1.4°C to 2.7°C by 2050, in addition to the 0.7°C rise since 1901 (IPCC, 2022a).

Local temperatures, influenced by regional effects and Urban Heat Islands, can exceed 2.5°C, with Kolkata already 2.6°C warmer than pre-industrial levels (IPCC, 2021; SUP, 2022). Summer heat waves could occur 3-4 times more often by 2100 compared to 1976-2005 under high-emission scenarios (Krishnan et al., 2020). Rainfall patterns are also becoming more unpredictable, with an increase in the frequency of heavy rain events across most of India.

These climatic changes pose significant risks to regions, ecosystems, and key sectors such as agriculture and food, water resources, labour productivity, health, and infrastructure. Climate-induced risks can impact India's sustainable development targets and economic aspirations, potentially reversing decades of progress. If left unchecked, climate change could lead to annual Gross Domestic Product (GDP) loss of 3 to 10 per cent by 2100 (RBI 2023; Kompas, Pham, and Che, 2018).

As global temperatures rise, climate impacts will worsen, with risks multiplying non-linearly every tenth of a degree increase above 1.5°C, and every half degree increase bringing significant changes (IPCC, 2018; Revi, 2022). For example, at 1.5°C, South Asia, including India, will experience an average of 9.7 months of drought, increasing to 15.4 months at 3°C. The number of people exposed to heatwaves in India will increase by 15 times at 1.5°C and by 92 times at 2°C. A rise from 1.5°C to 2°C is projected to reduce per capita water availability in 90 per cent of regions across India, leaving over 400 million people facing severe water stress. Coastal flooding is expected to affect 5-8 per cent of India's coastal areas at 1.5°C, increasing to 9–13 per cent area at 3°C. At 4°C warming, under high emissions scenario RCP8.5¹, flood risks are projected to increase 20-fold, making India the second most-affected country in terms of population and the fifth in annual economic damages (Alfieri et al., 2017).

Critically, these risks are occurring more frequently and often simultaneously, potentially compounding risks for particular populations and limiting adaptation options. As warming increases, climate impacts could become irreversible, leading to a breakdown of social, economic, and ecological systems. There is however, insufficient evidence to diagnose when and where these limits will emerge, and how they will cascade across systems and sectors. Given growing climate risk and development priorities, it is imperative that India meets the Paris goal of limiting temperature rise to 1.5°C and transitions to a low-carbon, climate-resilient economy.

Currently, India is the fifth largest economy globally, with a nominal GDP of USD 4.1 trillion (IMF, 2024) and aspirations to be an advanced economy by 2047. In the last five decades, India's development has been marked by increasing population and GDP, largely driven by growth in the services sector and to a lesser extent the manufacturing sector. Despite its economic growth, several serious socio-economic challenges, including poverty, inequality, unemployment, and infrastructure deficits persist in the country. For instance, India still has the largest population of poor people in the world (about 229 million) even after 415 million people exited poverty in the last 15 years (UNDP, 2023).

A critical area of concern is slow employment growth, characterised by low productivity, low wages, increasing informalisation, low participation of women in the

¹ The Representative Concentration Pathways (RCPs) describe four different 21st century pathways of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and atmospheric concentrations, air pollutant emissions and land use. Refer to IPCC AR5 assessment: <u>https://ar5-syr.ipcc.ch/topic_summary.php</u>

workforce, and a lack of adequate skilled workers (Basole, 2022; World Bank, 2024a). India's ongoing urban transition, one of the largest globally, presents both challenges and opportunities for development and climate action. India's urban population is expected to increase to 600 million by 2031 and to 850 million by 2051 (MOEFCC, 2018). To meet the demand of the growing population, adequate infrastructure including environmental services, affordable housing and transport have to be designed and developed from the ground up or upgraded significantly to be climate resilient.

So far, India's growth trajectory has resulted lower emissions per unit of GDP compared to developed countries at similar development levels in the past (MOEFCC, 2015). However, maintaining this trajectory is challenging due rising population, urbanisation, industrialisation, and consumption.

To address these challenges, India needs a new development paradigm that integrates economic and environmental goals, sustainability and growth, and equity and justice. The **Climate Resilient Development** (CRD) framework, negotiated by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), across 193 countries, in its Sixth Assessment Report (AR6) does just that by integrating sustainable development, climate and biodiversity goals (IPCC, 2022; IPCC, 2023). This report adopts the CRD framework to explore climate resilient pathways for India to meet the 1.5°C Paris goal and achieve net-zero emissions.

CRD can be operationalised through simultaneous systems transitions across five key areas: energy; urban and infrastructure; land, freshwater and ocean ecosystems; industry; and societal and behavioural choices (IPCC, 2022). This report assesses adaptation and mitigation actions across key systems to devise a climate strategy that fosters growth, creates jobs, and addresses the climate crisis.

India has established a comprehensive climate policy network, within its federal structure, notably through the National Action Plan on Climate Change (NAPCC) with its eight missions focusing on key sectors (e.g., water, agriculture) and/or regions (e.g., the Himalayas) (MOEFCC, 2018; MoEFCC, 2012). More recently, cities have begun developing climate action plans and rural areas are integrating climate planning into development plans. India's climate policies take a co-benefits approach, aligning adaptation and mitigation goals with broader development objectives.

India's Nationally Determined Contribution (NDC) includes targets such as reducing emission intensity of its GDP by 45 per cent, achieving 50 per cent non-fossil fuels-based power capacity by 2030, promoting sustainable lifestyles, and reaching net-zero emissions by 2070 (GOI, 2023; MOEFCC, 2022). With a strong push for renewables, India is on track to meet its 2030 power capacity target (IEA, 2023). However, deeper emission cuts are necessary by 2030 to stay on 1.5°C pathway (Climate Action Tracker, 2023). To be 1.5°C-compatible, India's coal power generation must decrease significantly and be phased out completely by 2040 (Climate Action Tracker, 2023).

Despite progress in climate-sensitive sectors like agriculture, urban and water, several challenges remain. These include the need for better risk assessments, stronger synergies between adaptation and mitigation actions, and attention to gendered and identity-based vulnerabilities. Risk-proofing social protection and acknowledging rural-urban interconnections, whether through migrant populations or regional infrastructure and resource flows, remain key gaps in current climate action. While India is moving towards renewable energy targets, a clear strategy is needed to scale up energy efficiency, phase out coal power, and ensure job creation, livelihood compensation, and energy security.

India's total GHG emissions increased by 115 per cent from 1994 to 2019 (MOEFCC, 2023), surpassing the global average. Its share in global emissions increased from 1.3 per cent in 1970 to 6.3 per cent in 2015 (Karstensen et al., 2020). Mitigation efforts will be critical for decarbonising across systems, especially energy, as actions in this sector can impact other areas. Decarbonisation (from Business as Usual to NDC scenarios) and deep decarbonisation (from NDC to Low-Carbon pathways) of the economy requires focus on several key areas: increasing energy efficiency in supply and demand sectors, enhancing renewable energy deployment, reducing demand through dematerialization, recycling, reuse, and behaviour change, and feasible deployment of CCS. Energy efficiency and renewable energy will play nearly equal roles in CO₂ mitigation under the NDC scenario, while lifestyle changes and new technologies like Carbon Capture and Storage (CCS) (Vishwanathan et al., 2018) and green hydrogen will become more relevant for low-carbon scenarios.

Mitigation pathways can also drive India's economic transition by creating new job opportunities, transforming the dominant services sector (through green jobs), and opening up low-carbon pathways in the manufacturing sector through options like energy efficient buildings, electric vehicles, and clean energy. In urban and infrastructure systems, mitigation offers levers for transformation, including stringent building standards, retrofitting existing infrastructure, and developing climate resilient industrial infrastructure. Demandside management such as streamlined power storage and distribution, smart mobility, circular economy, and sustainable consumption, further enhances this transition.

There is sufficient evidence on a range of feasible adaptation and mitigation actions including strategies already being implemented across the country. These efforts can be deepened or scaled up to accelerate systemwide transitions in energy, land, oceans and ecosystems, and urban and infrastructure. Systems need to transition through combinations of options that minimise trade-offs and leverage synergies between adaptation, mitigation, and the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). For example, in land and ecosystem transitions, options include climate-resilient agriculture production (through changing crop varieties or improved irrigation efficiency), sustainable and climate-proofed food supply chains, and mechanisms to reduce food wastage.

Nature-based solutions in urban systems, such as strengthening green and blue infrastructure, show promise in meeting adaptation, mitigation, and sustainable development goals. These solutions create healthier, more liveable cities, reduce disaster risks, and help develop urban carbon sinks (e.g., in urban forests or parks). In energy system transitions, a mix of supply and demand side mitigation measures exist but institutional and macro/micro-economic feasibility remain key barriers. These include how inter and intra-generational outcomes are managed and delivered. The emerging bottleneck is oriented towards synergising the structural transformation underway (urban and industrial transition) with mitigation options. Significant potential and opportunities exist in certain key sectors like buildings, mobility, in terms of delivering decarbonisation goals and development outcomes (jobs, poverty reduction).

Crucially, these adaptation and mitigation options offer significant synergies to meet multiple sustainable development goals, thereby creating opportunities for triple wins. Various examples across India, in different systems illustrate how these synergies are being leveraged through existing policies and programs. For example, the National Mission on Sustainable Agriculture promotes precision farming and climate smart agriculture, which alleviates hunger and improves nutritional security (SDG 2, 3) and strengthens livelihoods (SDG 8), while maintaining ecosystem functioning (SDG 14). In cities, sustainable water management through smart meter programs and subsidised rainwater harvesting is enabling goals on clean water (SDG 6), sustainable cities (SDG 11), and ensuring health and wellbeing (SDG 3).

The challenge lies in the need for rapid and simultaneous systems transitions across economic sectors. To accelerate climate action, governments, civil society, and the private sector can focus their attention on specific enabling conditions. This report highlights six enabling conditions: enhancing multi-level governance; improving institutional capacities; strengthening policy instruments; expanding and deepening climate finance; enabling technological innovation; and behavioural and lifestyle change. India already demonstrates significant action across enabling conditions especially on policy instruments (e.g., National Solar Mission, Coalition for Disaster Resilient Infrastructure, National Mission on Sustainable Habitat and the Jal Jeevan Mission) and technological innovation (e.g., early warning systems and low-cost electric vehicles). India's Life Mission, first announced at COP 26 in Glasgow, also aims at changing individual and community behaviour by promoting

environmentally sustainable lifestyles. However, significant gaps remain around multi-level governance, institutional capacity, and more pressing of all, financial resources to fund these transitions simultaneously.

For instance, an enabling financial environment is crucial starting point for systems transitions, yet the scale of climate finance (USD 44 billion in 2020) in India is grossly insufficient and predominantly concentrated in the power sector. Climate finance is also skewed in favour of mitigation (about 90 per cent) with only about 10 per cent investments for adaptation (CPI, 2022; Srinivasan et al., 2023). Domestic commercial finance and budgetary commitments are the primary sources of climate finance, while private investments are mostly in renewable energy. International finance flows are nominal, for instance MDBs' climate finance to India in 2022 was only around USD 3.7 billion. India's adaptation costs, estimated at INR 29 trillion in 2020 and INR 86 trillion by 2030, far exceed the available green finance of INR 370 billion per annum (DEA, 2020; CPI, 2022). Public budgetary support, the largest adaptation fund source, is constrained by fiscal deficits and budgetary constraints.

India needs to redirect investments from fossil fuels to low-carbon and resilient development, with mitigation investments focusing on energy transition and adaptation investments focussing on building resilient infrastructure, sustainable land use and filling the ecosystem services deficit (Srinivasan et al., 2023). Public and private investments must align with climate action and SDGs. The government should create a facility to de-risk the financial sector from transition risks, and international climate finance should address the mismatch between India's savings, capital flows, and resilient infrastructure needs (Srinivasan et al., 2023).

India's NDC is an ambitious document that forefronts national development goals while aiming to institute mitigation and adaptation actions. While this is a promising start, it's not enough to keep India and the world within the 1.5°C guardrail necessary to avoid devastating climatic risks, including more extreme events, increased threats to food and water security, human life and health, and extensive biodiversity loss. India's climate action and commitment to net-zero emissions are critical to the global goal of limiting global temperature rise to 1.5°C. Moreover, given India's climate vulnerability, these risks pose a significant threat to human life and well-being, potentially reversing economic progress and developmental gains made over the past few decades.

The CRD framework, which brings together sustainable development and climate action, can ensure growth and broad based gains via jobs, economic security, and climate protection to vulnerable and underserved population of the country, while also securing societal and ecosystem well-being for all. To operationalise CRD, India needs to enable simultaneous systems transitions across key areas like land, oceans and ecosystems, energy, urban and industrial, to meet adaptation, mitigation, and development goals concurrently.

This report provides actionable and evidence-based insights for governments and policymakers to chart out CRD pathways in the country. It offers a stock take of adaptation and mitigation options across systems in India, highlighting examples of feasibility options and identifying key areas of synergies and trade-offs between adaptation, mitigation and SDGs. By focussing on scaling up win-win strategies in the short term and strengthening key enabling conditions in the short and medium term, India can chart its trajectory towards achieving a net-zero world.

Climate Trends and Projections in India

This chapter should be cited as: Malladi, T., Bazaz, A., & Rao, P., 2024: Climate Trends and Projections in India. In IIHS, 2024: Accelerating India's Climate Transition: pathways to the 1.5°C goal [Revi, A., Bazaz, A.B., Singh, C., Kodira, P., & Ghoge, K., (eds.)]. Indian Institute for Human Settlements. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.24943/AICT11.2024</u>

Chapter Authors: Teja Malladi, Amir Bazaz and Pooja Rao

1. Climate Trends and Projections in India

• Average temperatures across India have already risen by 0.7°C from 1901 to 2018 and are projected to rise by 4.4°C by 2100, if current trends continue.

- Both daytime and night-time temperatures are increasing. By 2100, the frequency of warm days and warm nights is projected to rise by 65 per cent and 80 per cent, respectively, compared to 1976–2005.
- By 2100, in high-emission scenarios, summer heatwaves over India are estimated to be three to four times more frequent than 1976–2005.
- Rainfall is becoming more erratic and the frequency of heavy rain events across most parts of India is expected to increase. In the near-term, the summer monsoon is expected to increase by 6 per cent (RCP4.5) and 8 per cent (RCP8.5) over Central India; and an increase of 10 per cent (RCP4.5) and 14 per cent (RCP8.5) is expected by 2100.
- As a result, drought and flood frequency is expected to rise. The Brahmaputra river basin will see the highest rise in multi-day flooding events.

1.1 Introduction

India's climate varies widely, encompassing the Himalayas in the north, the arid Thar Desert in the north-west, humid and sub-humid areas in south-west, central and northeastern regions, along with diverse microclimates spread across the vast subcontinent. These varied climatic zones are characterised by distinct topographic and geographic features. The Indian summer monsoon is a dominant feature of the regional climate, contributing to almost 80 per cent of India's annual rainfall (Rai and Dimri, 2020). The livelihoods of a large share population and the economy of India is still dependant on the quantity and distribution of rainfall during the summer monsoon season (Krishnan and Sanjay, 2017). As of 2022, 55 per cent of net sown area and 61 per cent of farmers in India were dependent on rain-fed agriculture (GOI, 2022).

India's climate is characterised by strong seasonal and spatial temperature variations. The mean temperature ranges from 10°C in the winter (January to February) to around 32°C in the summer (March to May) (Attri and

Tyagi, 2010). The mean daily minimum temperature in winter ranges from 22°C in the extreme south to 10°C in the northern plains and 6°C in Punjab. By March, temperatures begin to increase across the country, with interior peninsular India recording mean daily temperatures of 30–35°C by April (Attri and Tyagi, 2010). The Indian subcontinent is also susceptible to a wide spectrum of weather events and climate extremes. This chapter gives a broad overview of the climatic trends in the subcontinent, summarising observed and projected changes in temperature and precipitation, along with climate change impacts on extreme events like heatwaves, floods, droughts and tropical cyclones, and slow onset climatic events like sea level rise.

First, the chapter discusses trends in temperature (section 1.2), followed by trends in precipitation (section 1.3) and climate change impacts on extreme events like heatwaves, floods, droughts, tropical cyclones, and sea level rise (1.4), ending with a brief conclusion (section 1.5).

1.2 Temperature

1.2.1 Past temperature trends

The average near surface air temperature in India has risen by around 0.7°C from 1901 to 2018, primarily due to anthropogenic warming, partially offset by the effects of anthropogenic aerosols and land use land cover (LULC) changes (Krishnan et al., 2020).

A significant warming trend has been observed over India (Sanjay et al., 2020), with the annual mean, maximum and minimum temperatures averaged over India during 1986–2015 showing a significant warming trend of 0.15°C, 0.15°C and 0.13°C per decade, respectively. The highest warming trend during 1986–2015 was observed in the pre-monsoon season, followed by the postmonsoon and monsoon seasons. The largest increasing warming trend was observed in parts of north and north-

east India, with the annual mean temperature rising by more than 0.2°C per decade. However, warming was comparatively weaker in the southern peninsula, with the mean temperature being lesser than 0.1°C per decade along the west coast.

Warming was non-uniform across seasons over India during 1986–2015. Warming in the winter season was limited over peninsular India, whereas the pre-monsoon season showed predominant warming of more than 0.5°C per decade over north India. The eastern Indo-Gangetic Plain and central India showed warming in the summer monsoon season. The post-monsoon season exhibited a similar warming pattern as that of the pre-monsoon season, but with smaller magnitude and more uniform distribution across the Indian subcontinent as compared to other seasons.

Figure 1.1: Spatial distribution of observed annual and seasonal trends (°C per decade)



Notes: Trends are for mean (top panel), maximum (middle panel) and minimum (bottom panel) temperatures in annual (ANN), winter (December to February, DJF), pre-monsoon (March to May, MAM), monsoon (June to September, JJAS) and post-monsoon (October to November, ON) seasons during the period 1986–2015. Hatched grids represent significant trends with 95% confidence interval. **Source:** Sanjay et al., 2020

1.2.2 Projected temperature

By the end of the 21st century (2070–2099), the average temperature over India is projected to rise by 4.4°C compared to the recent past (1976–2005) under Representative Concentration Pathway (RCP) 8.5 (Figure 1.2) (Sanjay et al., 2020). The projected change in the All-India mean surface air temperature ranges between 1.4°C (under RCP2.6) and 2.7°C (under RCP8.5) by mid-century (2040-2069) relative to 1976-2005,

which is larger than natural internal variability (Sanjay et al., 2020).

During the same time (2070-2099), the All-India mean surface air temperature is projected to increase by 1.33 \pm 0.24°C under RCP2.6, 2.44 \pm 0.41°C under RCP4.5 and 4.44 \pm 0.45°C under RCP8.5, respectively, relative to 1976–2005. The semi-arid north-west and north India are expected to warm more rapidly than the All-India mean (Figure 1.3) (Sanjay et al., 2020).

Figure 1.2: Time series of annual mean surface air temperature anomalies relative to 1976-2005



Notes: The data draws from the Coordinated Regional Climate Downscaling Experiment (CORDEX) South Asia concentration-driven experiments. The multi-Regional Climate Models (RCM) ensemble mean (solid lines) and the minimum to maximum range of the individual RCMs (shading) based on the historical simulations during 1951–2005 (grey) and the downscaled future projections during 2006–2099 are shown for RCP2.6 (green), RCP4.5 (blue) and RCP8.5 (red) scenarios. The black line shows the observed anomalies during 1951–2015 based on India Meteorological Department (IMD) gridded station data.

Source: Sanjay et al., 2020



Figure 1.3: Mean projections of annual average surface air temperature changes (°C)

Notes: Data from CORDEX South Asia for mid-term (2040–2069) and long-term (2070–2099) climate, relative to 1976–2005 under RCP2.6, RCP4.5 and RCP8.5 emissions scenario.

Source: Sanjay et al., 2020

1.2.3 Temperature extremes

Since 1951, the all-India average frequency of warm days and nights has increased, while the average frequency of cold days and nights has decreased. The temperatures of the warmest day and the coldest night of the year have risen by about 0.63°C and 0.4°C, respectively, in the recent 30-year period (1986–2015) (Krishnan et al., 2020). These temperatures are projected to rise by approximately 4.7°C and 5.5°C, respectively, by the end of the 21st century (2070–2099) under RCP8.5, relative to the corresponding temperatures in the recent past (1976–2005 average) (Krishnan et al., 2020). By the end of the 21st century, the All-India average frequency of warm days and warm nights is projected to increase from 10 per cent to 65 per cent and 80 per cent, respectively under RCP8.5, compared to 1976–2005 (Sanjay et al., 2020).



Figure 1.4: India averages of temperature indices over land

Notes: Data simulated by CORDEX South Asia multi-RCM ensemble for RCP2.6 (green), RCP4.5 (blue) and RCP8.5 (red) displayed for annual percentile frequency indices a) cold nights (TN10p), b) cold days (TX10p), c) warm nights (TN90p) and d) warm days (TX90p). Changes for percentile frequency indices are displayed as absolute exceedance rates in per cent. Solid lines show ensemble mean and shading indicates range among individual RCMs. The black line shows the observed indices based on IMD gridded station data. Time series are smoothed with an 11-year running mean filter.

Source: Sanjay et al., 2020

1.3 Precipitation

1.3.1 Past trends

Annual rainfall averaged over the Indian landmass does not show any trend over the period 1901–2015. However, in the more recent periods of 1951–2015 and 1986–2015, the annual rainfall series shows a decreasing trend, though this is not statistically significant or evident in all data sets (Kulkarni et al., 2020).

Summer monsoon precipitation (June to September) has declined over India by around 6 per cent during

1951–2015, with a significant decrease over the Indo-Gangetic Plain (IGP) and the Western Ghats. Climate modeling studies indicate that the observed changes are a response to the radiative effects of anthropogenic aerosols in the Northern Hemisphere and regional land use and land cover (LULC), which have countered the precipitation-increasing effect of greenhouse gas warming over the past 60 to 70 years (Krishnan et al., 2020). In the same time, the occurrence of localized heavy precipitation has increased markedly over Central India. Overall, there has been a shift towards more frequent dry spells (27 per cent higher during 1981–2011 relative to 1951–1980) and more intense wet spells during the Indian summer monsoon (Kulkarni et al., 2020). The frequency of localised heavy rain occurrences over India has also increased during 1951–2015. Urbanisation, land use changes and aerosols are likely contributors to these localised heavy rainfall occurrences (medium confidence) (Krishnan et al., 2020).

1.3.2 Projected precipitation

Coupled Model Intercomparison Project phase 5 (CMIP5) models suggest wetter conditions in the future. CMIP5 models project a 6 per cent (RCP4.5) and 8 per cent (RCP8.5) increase in the summer monsoon in the near future over the central Indian region, and a 10 per cent (RCP4.5) and 14 per cent (RCP 8.5) increase by 2100.

The rise in summer monsoon precipitation projected for the South Asian region by CMIP5 models is primarily driven by an increase in moisture supply resulting from heightened warming (Kulkarni et al., 2020).

Inter-annual variations in the north-east monsoon (October to December) are much larger compared to the south-west monsoon (June to September), with implications of either excess or deficit rainfall for southern Indian peninsula, including states like Tamil Nadu, Karntaka, Andhra Pradesh (see Figure 1.5) (Kulkarni et al., 2020). This is linked to El/nino southern oscillation (ENSO), the Indian Ocean Dipole, and the Equatorial Indian Ocean Monsoon Oscillation (EQUINOO).

Projections from the Coordinated Regional Climate Downscaling Experiment (CORDEX), NASA Earth Exchange (NEX), and CMIP5 show a moderate increase

Figure 1.5: Multi-Model Ensemble (MME) change (%) in annual and seasonal rainfall



Notes: Annual, JJAS and OND rainfall as projected by CMIP5, CORDEX South Asia and NEX-GDDP models for the near future (2040–2069) with respect to 1976–2005 from RCP4.5 and RCP8.5 scenarios.

Source: Kulkarni et al., 2020

in annual rainfall over the Indian landmass (Figure 1.5). Annual precipitation enhancement is minimal in the near future (2040–2069) in the RCP4.5 scenario; however, both projections (RCP4.5 and RCP8.5 scenarios) show an increase in precipitation by the end of the 21st century (2070–2099) (Kulkarni et al., 2020). Despite considerable uncertainty in precipitation projections, bias-corrected data shows that precipitation is projected to rise more in river basins located in the semi-arid/arid regions of the Indian subcontinent (Mishra et al., 2020).

1.3.4 Precipitation extremes

The frequency of precipitation extremes is projected to rise more prominently under RCP 8.5 over southern and central India by 2020 and 2100 (Mukherjee et al., 2018). Under RCP 8.5, very wet days and precipitation intensity are projected to rise by 15 per cent and 21 per cent, respectively, by the end of the 21st century. The maximum five-day precipitation is projected to rise by 38 per cent (Kulkarni et al., 2020).

Over central India, the frequency of daily precipitation extremes with rainfall intensities exceeding 150 mm per day increased by about 75 per cent during 1950–2015 (Krishnan et al., 2020).

1.4 Climate Change Impacts on Extreme Events

1.4.1 Heatwaves

The India Meteorological Department (IMD) defines heatwaves as periods when the maximum temperature reaches at least 40°C or more in plains or 30°C or more in hilly regions. Heatwaves are considered severe when the actual temperature exceeds 47°C. Under RCP8.5, the

Figure 1.6: Time series of All-India averaged summer heatwaves



Notes: CORDEX South Asia multi-RCM projections of summer (April to June) heatwave a) frequency (HWF; events per season) and b) total average duration (HWD; days per season) for the CORDEX South Asia RCM ensemble mean (solid line) and the minimum to maximum range of individual RCMs (shading) based on the historical simulations during 1951–2005 (grey), and based on future projections during 2006–2099 under RCP4.5 scenario (blue) and RCP8.5 scenario (red). *Source: Sanjay et al., 2020*

frequency of summer (April to June) heatwaves over India is estimated to be three to four times higher by 2100 compared to the 1976–2005 baseline period. Moreover, with a substantial spread among various models, the average duration of heatwave events is also expected to double (approximately) (Sanjay et al., 2020).

Heat stress is expected to amplify across India, especially over the Indo-Gangetic and Indus river basins due to the combined rise in surface temperature and humidity (Sanjay et al., 2020).

1.4.2 Meteorological drought

Meteorological drought is deficiency in precipitation and is assessed using the Standardised Precipitation Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI). SPEI uses accumulation of precipitation minus potential evapotranspiration to include the effect of temperature and thereby accounts for changes in the variability of both supply and demand in moisture (Vicente-Serrano et al., 2010).

Over 1951–2015, India witnessed increased susceptibility to droughts, in both frequency and spatial extent, due to the overall decrease of summer monsoon rainfall. Parts of central India and the Indo-Gangetic Plain observed increase in drought severity (Krishnan et al., 2020). During the same period (1951–2015), the area affected by drought increased by 1.3 per cent per decade, with more than two droughts per decade recorded in central India, the southern peninsula, the south-west coast and northeastern India.

Under RCP8.5, India is expected to see an increase in the frequency (more than two drought events per decade), intensity and area under drought (dry area increasing by 3.81 per cent per decade on an annual timescale) by the end of the 21st century. These projections result from increased variability in monsoon precipitation and increased water evaporation in a warmer atmosphere (Krishnan et al., 2020).

1.4.3 Floods

Floods are classified into different types such as riverine (extreme rainfall for long periods), fluvial (floods in rivers due to extreme rainfall, tropical storm, or snow melt), pluvial (rainfall over a flat surface), flash (heavy rainfall in cities or along steep slopes), urban (largely lack of appropriate drainage) and coastal (storm surge) (Mujumdar et al., 2020). Unless otherwise specified, floods here are generally associated with heavy rainfall events.

The Indian subcontinent could experience an increase in flood risks due to increasing extreme precipitation events. A 20 per cent (25 per cent) increase in short duration (three-hourly) precipitation maxima at 100-year return intervals is projected for 1.5°C (2°C) global warming levels (Ali and Mishra, 2018). This assessment covered 89 urban areas planned for development as Smart cities, indicating associated flood risks over these urban areas (Figure 1.7).

Figure 1.7: Median change (%) in three-hour 100-year precipitation maxima (design storm) with increase in GMT by 1.5 to 2.5°C



Run-off is projected to increase in the Indus, Ganga and Brahmaputra river basins at least until 2050, mainly due to increase in precipitation and accelerated snow melt (Indus) in warming environment, which is associated with close proximity of river basins to the foothills of the Himalayas (Lutz et al., 2014). Multi-day flood events (of three to five days) are expected to increase across all river basins compared to one-day events under both RCP2.6 and RCP8.5. The Brahmaputra River basin along with river basins in central India are projected to witness the highest increases. The least increase may be observed in the Indus river basin (Ali et al., 2019).





Notes: a) Global mean sea-level evolution derived from the compilation of palaeo sea level data (purple), three different tide gauge reconstructions, altimeter data, and central estimates and likely ranges for future projections of global mean sea level rise for RCP2.6 (very low emissions—blue) and RCP8.5 (very high emissions—red) scenarios, all relative to pre-industrial values. b) Ensemble mean projection of the dynamic and steric sea level changes for the period 2081-2100 relative to the reference period 1986-2005 from 21 CMIP5 models, using the RCP4.5 experiment. Note that these regional sea level projections do not include the effects of terrestrial ice melts. The Indian Ocean is highlighted by a white rectangle. *Source:* Swapna et al., 2020

1.4.4 Tropical cyclones

Since the mid-20th century (1951–2018), the North Indian Ocean (NIO) basin has seen a significant reduction in the annual frequency of tropical cyclones. However, during the last two decades (2000–2018), the frequency of very severe cyclonic storms (VSCS) has significantly increased by about one event per decade during the post-monsoon season. Climate models project an increase in the intensity of tropical cyclones in the NIO basin during the 21st century (Vellore et al., 2020).

Observations from 1998–2018 indicate an increase in the frequency of extremely severe cyclonic storms over the Arabian Sea during the post-monsoon season (Vellore et al., 2020). These observations are attributed to increase in human-induced sea-surface temperature warming. However, a clear relationship between anthropogenic warming and an increasing trend of tropical cyclone events has not yet been fully established (Krishnan et al., 2020).

1.4.5 Sea level rise

The rate of sea level rise in the NIO is comparable to the current global mean sea level rise rate, which has been 1.5–1.9 mm/year since 1901. From 1874 to 2004, the sea level in the NIO rose at a rate of 1.06–1.75 mm/year, which accelerated to 3.3 mm/year from 1993 to 2017 (Swapna et al., 2020).

Steric sea level (i.e., variations due to ocean thermal expansion and salinity variations) in the NIO is estimated to rise by around 20–30 cm at the end of the 21st century. The corresponding projection for global mean steric sea level rise is around 18 \pm 5 cm (relative to the average over 1986–2005) under RCP4.5, excluding contributions from ice melt (Swapna et al., 2020).

1.5 Conclusion

Climate change trends in India are becoming worse on almost all counts compared to the recent past (1976–2005). The mean surface air temperature is expected to rise by between 1.4°C to 2.7°C by 2050, in addition to the 0.7°C rise since 1901 (Krishnan et al., 2020; Sanjay et al., 2020).

Local temperatures may exceed 2.5°C due to regional climate trends and local phenomena, such as the Urban

Heat Island (UHI) effect. For instance, temperatures in Kolkata have already risen by 2.6°C above the preindustrial average (IPCC, 2021; SUP, 2022). Summer heatwaves are expected to occur three to four times more frequently by 2100, with the frequency of warm days and nights projected to rise by 65 per cent and 80 per cent, respectively (Sanjay et al., 2020). Heat stress is anticipated to increase across India, particularly in the Indo-Gangetic and Indus river basins (Sanjay et al., 2020).

From 1986-2015, mean annual rainfall decreased, notably over the Indo-Gangetic Plain and the Western Ghats. This decline is largely attributed to rising levels of anthropogenic aerosols and urbanisation (Krishnan et al., 2020). However, continued warming along with anticipated reductions in anthropogenic aerosol emissions are expected to lead to a 5 to 8 per cent increase in the summer monsoon, in the near-term.

Under both the RCP 4.5 and RCP 8.5 scenarios, an increase in precipitation is expected by the end of the 21st century (2070-2099). The frequency of extreme precipitation events is set to rise more prominently under RCP 8.5 scenario over central and southern India, with very wet days and precipitation intensity projected to increase by 15 per cent and 21 per cent respectively by 2100 (Mukherjee et al., 2018).

Under the RCP8.5 scenario, India is also predicted to experience more than two drought events per decade, with the intensity and area under drought (dry area increasing by 3.81 per cent per decade on an annual timescale) by the end of the 21st century. The Indian subcontinent is also likely to face heightened flood risks due to more frequent extreme precipitation events. Multi-day flood events (of three to five days) are expected to increase across all river basins compared to one-day events under both RCP2.6 and RCP8.5 scenarios. Additionally, climate models predict an increase in the intensity of tropical cyclones in the NIO basin during the 21st century (Vellore et al., 2020).

The evidence of climate projections and trends and climate change impacts on extreme events indicate severe risks across sectors for India. These risks and impacts threaten India's future growth and development and can seriously undermine well-being of people and the ecosystem, as we discuss in the next chapter.



Climate Change Risks and Impacts in India

This chapter should be cited as: Kodira, P., Kaur, H., Krishnaswamy, J., Jennath, A., Sharma, S., Mescarenhas, K., Arvind, J., Madhavan, M., Naidu, D., Sebastian, D., Singh, C., 2024: Climate Change Risks and Impacts in India. In IIHS, 2024 : Accelerating India's Climate Transition: pathways to the 1.5°C goal [Revi, A., Bazaz, A.B., Singh, C., Kodira, P., & Ghoge, K., (eds.)]. Indian Institute for Human Settlements. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.24943/AICT11.2024</u>

Chapter Authors: Prathijna Kodira, Harpreet Kaur, Jagdish Krishnaswamy, Aysha Jennath, Swarnika Sharma, Kenrick Mascarenhas, Jasmitha Arvind, Mythili Madhavan, Dilip Naidu, Dawn Sebastian, Chandni Singh

2. Climate Change Risks and Impacts in India

 Climate change is altering impact drivers, especially heat, precipitation, wind and sea level worldwide. In India, climate projections also point to warming patterns, increased precipitation variability, leading to more climate extremes.

- Changes to climate impact drivers pose severe risks to key sectors in India such as agriculture and food, water, terrestrial ecosystems, urban and infrastructure, and health systems. These risks can adversely impact India's economy, well-being of its people and ecosystems.
- Climate impacts and risks are also projected to worsen and multiple as temperatures increase from current levels to 1.5°C and then to 2°C and 3°C and more.
- In comparison to current levels, the maximum population exposed to heatwave days is estimated to rise by 15 times and 92 times at 1.5°C and 2°C, respectively. Heat-related mortality is projected to increase by 71 per cent (RCP 4.5) representing between 2°C to 3°C and by 140 per cent (RCP 8.5) more than 4°C in urban areas with cities like Delhi, Ahmedabad, Bengaluru, Mumbai and Kolkata facing the highest increases.
- At 1.5°C, South Asia will see an average 9.7 months drought and this may increase to 15.4 months at 3°C. Average warming from 1.5°C to 2°C could lead to a reduction in per capita water availability for more than 90 per cent of regions across India, with over 400 million people facing severe water stress.
- At 1.5°C, 0.5–1.5 million people will be flood-affected, which may increase to 2.5–8 million people under 2°C warming and 30–40 million people at 4°C warming. Also, at 1.5°C, the Indian coastline is expected to see an average 0.3 m SLR, which will increase substantially at higher temperatures, impacting 25 coastal cities. Cities like Mumbai, Kochi, Chennai, Visakhapatnam, Mangaluru and Thiruvananthapuram are projected to face severe impacts from rising sea levels by 2050, potentially losing up to 50 per cent of their land area.
- Even without climate change, 30 million Indians would be at risk of hunger by 2050. Under RCP2.6 and a once-per-100-year extreme event, this number is 4.4 million–140 million, which rises to 8.7 million–180 million under RCP8.5.

2.1 Introduction

Anthropogenic climate change is changing impactdrivers across the world, especially heat, precipitation (rain, snow and ice), wind, and sea level (IPCC, 2021). This is true of India where past trends and future projections of temperature and precipitation show warming patterns and more erratic rainfall (Krishnan et al., 2020). Changes in these climate impact-drivers pose significant risks for key sectors such as agriculture and food, water, terrestrial ecosystems, urban and infrastructure, and health systems. Currently, impacts are visible on crop productivity and food security; type, distribution, productivity and carbon availability in terrestrial ecosystems; damages to infrastructure such as transportation networks, energy and buildings; and increased burden of vector-borne diseases. At higher temperatures, projected risks are expected to intensify and multiply across all key sectors.

This chapter provides an overview of key climate impactdrivers and discusses current impacts (section 2.2) and projected risks for climatic extremes in India under different warming levels. This is followed by an overview of projected climate-induced risks for key sectors in India like agriculture, water, terrestrial systems, urban areas, and health (section 2.3), followed by a conclusion in section 2.4.

2.2 Climate Impact-drivers in India

2.2.1 Temperature

Limiting global temperatures to 1.5°C would halve heat exposure in India by the mid-21st century (Mishra et al., 2017). At 2°C average global warming, there will be a doubling of flows in the Ganges River (Betts et al., 2018), with consistently longer flood events. India is projected to see an increase in the Hunger and Climate Vulnerability Index (HCVI; unprecedented at 1.5°C and 2°C and going into very high category at 4°C) (Betts et al., 2018). At 1.5°C average global warming, the Indus-Ganga–Brahmaputra basin will experience 1.4–2.6°C temperature increase, resulting in more flooding and droughts with implications for regional food security; at 2°C, the basin will see 2–3.4°C temperature increase (Lutz et al., 2019).

2.2.2 Drought

Global warming of 2.5°C will impact almost one-and-a-half times more people across South Asia than 1.5°C warming (Aadhar & Mishra, 2019). Higher warming is expected to increase evapotranspiration, leading to drying trends in South Asia. In South Asia (i.e., Pakistan, Afghanistan, India, Nepal, Bangladesh, Sri Lanka and Bhutan), drought durations are projected to rise at rapidly increasing rates with warming from the baseline mean of 8.3 months at 0.6°C warming compared to preindustrial temperatures, to a mean 9.7 months at 1.5°C and further to a mean 15.4 months at 3°C (Naumann et al., 2018). Droughts are projected to occur 5-10 times more frequently in South Asia even under ambitious mitigation targets. Current 100year events could occur every two to five years under 3°C of warming (Naumann et al., 2018).

2.2.3 Floods

Under both 1.5°C and 2°C of warming, an increase in extreme precipitation and corresponding flood hazard is projected over the Ganga–Brahmaputra–Meghna (GBM) basin compared to the current climate. There will be an increase in notable monsoon precipitation over the GBM river basin between 1.5°C and 2°C, leading to larger flooded areas (Uhe et al., 2019). At 1.5°C, 0.5–1.5 million people will be flood-affected, which may increase to 2.5–8 million people under 2°C warming and 30–40 million people at 4°C warming. Under RCP8.5, there is a 20-fold increase in flood risk in India at 4°C warming, making it the second most affected country in the world by population and the fifth at risk in terms of economic damages (in euros/year) (Alfieri et al., 2017).

Projected Impact at 1.5°C	Projected Impact at 2°C	Projected Impact at 2.5°C
 790(±336) million people impacted Increased dryness in 54 (±18)% area of South Asia 	 890 (±485) million people impacted Moderate <i>decline</i> (14% compared to 1.5°C) in areas affected by dryness 	 1,960 (±1033) million people impacted 59 (±22)% area of South Asia affected by dryness

Table 2.1: Projected impacts of drought and aridity under 1.5°C, 2°C and 3°C

Source: Aadhar & Mishra, 2020

2.2.4 Sea level rise

Almost 136 large coastal cities have projected a median sea level rise (SLR) of at least 0.9 m by 2100, with 95th percentile upper limits close to 2 m for the megacities of Southeast and South Asia (Jevrejeva et al., 2016a). The 7,517 km long coastline of India hosts more than 25 cities with nearly forty million people living in just three big cities: Mumbai, Kolkata and Chennai. Along with these, several other smaller cities like Mangaluru, Kochi, Panaji, Surat, Visakhapatnam, Thoothukudi and Puri host more than 0.1 million population each (MoF, 2021). At 1.5°C, the Indian coastline is expected to see an average 0.3 m SLR, which will increase substantially at higher temperatures. A 2 m, SLR could lead to 1.8 million people being affected in Mumbai alone (Jevrejeva et al., 2016a).

Notably, SLR impacts can continue long after peak emissions as the risk of long-term flooding continues even after temperatures stabilise, posing a threat to deltas worldwide (Brown et al., 2018a). Adapting to the risks of multi-millennium climate-induced SLR can buy time, but effective mitigation is essential for a lasting solution (Brown, Nicholls, Goodwin, et al., 2018).

Table 2.2: Coastal flooding at different warming levels above pre-industrial levels

At 1.5°C	At 2°C	At 3°C
 Without protection 0.16-0.19 m flooding; with protection 0.04-0.06 m flooding 5-8% area flooded (980-1,470 km²) 	 Without protection 0.17–0.21 m flooding; with protection 0.05–0.07 m flooding 6–9% area flooded (1,150–1,770 km²) 	 Without protection 0.21–0.27 m flooding; with protection 0.07–0.09 m flooding 9–13% area flooded (1,620–2,490 km²)

Source: Adapted from Brown et al., 2018a

Table 2.3: Sea level rise in select Indian cities (in metres)

Scenario	Calcutta	Chennai	Cochin	Mumbai	Surat	Vishakapatnam
1.5°C	0.31	0.31	0.34	0.31	0.31	0.30
4°C	1.13	1.14	1.22	1.15	1.15	1.13
5°C	1.77	1.85	1.95	1.79	1.79	1.81

Source: Jevrejeva et al., 2016a

Table 2.4: Summary table on observed changes in extremes, their attribution since 1950 (except where stated otherwise) and projected changes at +1.5°C, +2°C and +4°C of global warming

Channa in Indiantan	Observed				References	
Change in Indicator	(since 1950)	Attributed +1.5°C +2°C		+4°C		
Warm hot extremes: frequency or intensity (One-day and three-day concurrent hot night hot day events)	↑↓	Main driver ²	↑ 4 fold	↑ 6 fold	↑ 8 fold	(Mukherjee & Mishra, 2018)
Heavy precipitation: frequency, intensity or amount (three-hourly precipitation in 89 urban areas across India)	ţ↑	Anthropogenic warming and urbanisation	↑ > 20%	↑ > 25%	Not assessed	(Ali & Mishra, 2018)
Agricultural and ecological droughts: Intensity and/or frequency	† 3	Main driver ☑	↑ Double no. of dry extremes over 15% of India	↓ Slight decrease over South Asia but increase over Himalayan region	Not assessed	(Kumar & Mishra, 2020) (Aadhar & Mishra, 2020)
Tropical cyclones: Proportion of intense cyclones	↑↓ 4	Main driver	Ť	Ť		(Vellore et al., 2020)
Compound events: Co-occurrent heatwaves and droughts	Ť	Main driver	Not assessed	Not assessed	Not assessed	(Kumar & Mishra, 2020)
Marine heatwaves: Intensity and frequency	† 5	Main driver	Ť	Ť	Not assessed	(Koll et al., 2020) (Liu et al., 2021) (Saranya et al., 2022)
Extreme sea levels: Frequency	↑ 6	Main driver ☑	↑ 7	Ť	Ť	
Source: Jevrejeva et al., 2016a					nce Low confidence	

Source: Jevrejeva et al., 2016a

¹ Long-term observations (1951–2018) indicate a significant reduction in annual frequency of tropical cyclones in the North Indian Ocean (NIO) basin [-0.23 per decade over the entire NIO; -0.26 per decade over the Bay of Bengal]. A significant rise [+0.86 per decade] in the frequency of post-monsoon (October to December) season very severe cyclonic storms (VSCS) was observed in the NIO over 2000-2018 (Vellore et al., 2020).

² Statistically significant increase in one-day and three-day CHDHN events is observed due to anthropogenic emissions over India (Mukherjee and Mishra, 2018). ³ Area affected by dry extremes during the monsoon (June to September) and water year (June to May) has significantly increased (-1 per cent per decade) over the last six decades (1951–2015) in India (Kumar & Mishra, 2020).

⁴ Long-term observations (1951–2018) indicate a significant reduction in annual frequency of tropical cyclones in the North Indian Ocean (NIO) basin [-0.23 per decade over the entire NIO; -0.26 per decade over the Bay of Bengal]. A significant rise [+0.86 per decade] in the frequency of post-monsoon (October to December) season very severe cyclonic storms (VSCS) was observed in the NIO over 2000-2018 (Vellore et al., 2020).

⁵ The Indian Ocean has experienced an average rise of 1.0 °C (0.15 °C/decade) (Roxy et al. 2020). The western Indian Ocean region experienced the largest increase in marine heat waves (MHWs) at a rate of 1.2-1.5 events/decade, followed by the north Bay of Bengal at a rate of 0.4-0.5 events per decade (Saranya et al., 2022). ⁶ Sea level rise (SLR) in the Indian Ocean is non-uniform and the rate of north Indian Ocean rise was 1.06–1.75 mm year–1 from 1874 to 2004 and 3.3 mm year–1 in

the recent decades (1993-2015), which is comparable to the current rate of global mean sea level (GMSL) rise (Krishnan et al., 2020)

⁷ Steric sea level along the Indian coast is likely to rise by 20–30 cm at the end of the 21st century (relative to 1986–2005), under RCP4.5 (for a mid-range emissions scenario, excluding ice melt).

2.3 Sectoral Impacts and Risks

2.3.1 Agriculture and allied sectors

India is the world's largest producer of milk, pulses, and oilseeds, and the second-largest producer of rice, wheat, fruits, and vegetables (FAO, 2024). With about 260 million farmers, agriculture employs over 50 per cent of India's total workforce, and more than 85 per cent of these farmers are small and marginal landholders (MoAFW, 2023). This presents a unique set of challenges for this vulnerable workforce, as the impacts of climate change threaten to undermine their livelihoods in the agricultural sector.

While agricultural productivity has increased since the Green Revolution, concerns have grown over depleting water resources, soil degradation, increasing input costs, and climate change impacts (Aryal et al., 2014; Aryal, Jat, et al., 2018). Climate change is projected to impact agriculture by affecting the quantity and quality of crops through changes in productivity, growth, photosynthesis and transpiration rates, and moisture availability (Mahato, 2014). The impacts of changing temperature and precipitation are multifaceted. An increase in mean seasonal temperature can reduce the optimal growth duration and, in turn, the yield of many crops (Mahato, 2014; Naresh Kumar et al., 2014). However, a projected increase in rainfall could also lead to higher yields for certain crops in some parts of the country (Ahmed & Suphachalasai, 2014; Kelkar et al., 2020). Water scarcity, frequent floods and droughts, and declining soil carbon content are already reducing crop yields and agricultural incomes (Sapkota et al., 2015; Singh et al., 2009).

Crop production in India is expected to fall under higher warming. A global assessment by Hasegawa et al., (2021) identifies India as the country with the largest increase in population at risk of hunger. In the once-per-100year extreme scenario, crop yield could decrease by 37–68 per cent and 46–62 per cent, while agricultural prices could rise by 90–230 per cent and 115–200 per cent under RCP2.6 and RCP8.5, respectively, compared to the baseline scenario with no climate change in 2050.

Even without climate change, millions of Indians would be at risk of hunger, and under the SSP3 scenario that usually holds true for the low-income countries, as many as 121 million people will be at risk of hunger in India in 2100 (Hasegawa et al., 2015). A multimodel ensemble study in India, projects 16.58 per cent drop in wheat yield at 3°C warming without adaptation due to changes in the availability of soil organic carbon and nitrogen and the shorter effective growing period due to higher temperature's accelerating plant development (Basso et al., 2018).

These broad projections vary by region. For example, in Maharashtra, rice production under RCP4.5 may decrease by 15–25 per cent in the Konkan (except for Ratnagiri) in the 2040s and by 10–40 per cent in the 2080s. In contrast, eastern Vidarbha shows a decrease of 5–10 per cent in the 2040s but an increase of 10 per cent in the 2080s (Kelkar et al., 2020). Table 6 summarises findings on crop yield reduction across five Indian states under different temperature increases based on existing literature.

In terms of wheat, more than half of the Indo-Gangetic Plain could become unsuitable for wheat cultivation by 2050 (Aryal et al., 2015; Aryal, Jat, et al., 2018; Aryal, Rahut, et al., 2018). A 15–17 per cent decrease in wheat and rice yields is projected under 2°C (Department of Agriculture and Cooperation, 2010). Empirical observations suggest that a temperature rise of up to 2.9°C can reduce the biological yield of wheat by ~35 per cent (Pathak et al., 2012).

With current varieties, rainfed maize yield is projected to decrease by an average of 3.3–6.4 per cent under annual mean maximum temperatures increase of 1.4–1.8 °C in 2030 and 5.2–12.2 per cent under 2.1–2.6 °C in 2050, while irrigated maize yield may drop by 3–8 per cent in 2030 and 5–14 per cent in 2050 -(Tesfaye et al., 2017). Even a 2°C rise in temperature can lead to a decrease in maize yield by 10–30 per cent (Aryal et al., 2019). Loss of yield, however, can be partially offset by an increase in rainfall. A maximum yield reduction of up to 55 per cent is estimated in the mid–Indo-Gangetic Plain and up to 35 per cent in the Southern Plateau for a 2.7°C rise in temperature (Byjesh et al., 2010).

Commercial crops will also be affected by climate change. In Maharashtra, an increase in maximum temperature under RCP4.5 may reduce sugarcane production by 40–

Region	°C increase	% Yield Reduction	Period	Source
	1°C	5.4%	-	
Punjab	2°C	7.4%	-	(Pathak et al., 2012)
	3°C	25.1%	-	
Bihar	-	31%	2080	(Haris et al., 2010)
West Bengal	1°C-3°C	27.8%	2050	(Banerjee et al., 2014)
	1°C	~5%	-	
Southern India	2°C	~13%	-	
	3°C	~20%	-	(Ahmed & Suphachalasai, 2014)
	4°C	~23%	-	
	5°C	~32%	-	
Tamil Nadu	1°C	4-6%		
	2°C	12–15%		
	3°C	22-25%		
	4°C	37-40%		(Bhuvaneswari et al., 2014)
	5°C	53-56%		

Table 2.5: Projected impacts of temperature change on rice yield in India

Source: Authors' compilation

80 per cent in the 2040s and by 60–90 per cent in the 2080s across almost all districts. An increase in minimum temperature may reduce sugarcane production by 20–40 per cent in the 2040s and by 20–60 per cent in the 2080s. Despite the loss in production in most districts, some regions have shown an overall increase of 20–40 per cent, possibly due to increased seasonal rainfall (Kelkar et al., 2020). Cotton production in Maharashtra may increase by 20–30 per cent in the 2080s in most districts under RCP4.5. The increase in minimum temperature may lead to an overall surge in cotton production by 10–20 per cent with the exception of Amravati district, which is likely to see 50–60 per cent loss (Kelkar et al., 2020).

Climate change will also impact livestock productivity due to thermal stress. Increasing air temperatures elevate livestock body temperatures, respiration rates, reduce reproductive efficiency and decrease feed intake (DAC, 2010; Pankaj et al., 2013). A study of Murrah buffaloes in India by Choudhary & Sirohi (2019) determined that the critical threshold level of maximum Temperature-Humidity Index (THI) is 74. They empirically demonstrated that the rate of decline in milk yield surpasses 1 per cent once the maximum THI exceeds 82.

Additionally, Choudhary (2022) forecasted that the annual loss in milk production due to climate change in the Trans and Upper Gangetic Plains of India would amount to approximately INR 11 to 12 billion between 2020–2029, under both business-as-usual and alternate RCP 4.5 scenario, with a projected doubling of this loss in the subsequent decade to INR 21 to 25 billion respectively. Indirect impacts such as reduced grazing land, decline in water and feed, and emergence of new diseases will further compound the impact (DAC, 2010). Fisheries will be impacted by changes in the abundance and distribution of exploited fish species, as well as their habitat quality and quantity.

2.3.2 Water

India receives an annual precipitation of nearly 4,000 billion m³, around 75 per cent of which occurs during the monsoon months from June to September. The country has twelve major river basins with catchment areas exceeding 20,000 km² and 46 medium basins with areas less than 20,000 km² (CWC, 2021a). India possesses an estimated 690 billion m³ of utilisable surface water resources and 437.6 billion m³ of groundwater resources (CGWB, 2022), resulting in an annual per capita water availability of 1,651 m³ (CWC, 2021b).

According to the CGWB (2022), the recorded annual groundwater extraction in 2022 was 299.16 billion m³. This figure, combined with the utilisable water volume of 690 billion m³, falls short of meeting the total water demand of 1093 billion m³ projected for 2025 by CWC (2005). This discrepancy underscores the ongoing issue of undocumented groundwater extraction, which, if left unchecked, could lead to over-extraction beyond the annual extractable limit of 398.08 billion m³. Such over-extraction could deplete groundwater resources, which take hundreds of years to replenish.

Despite this, India is experiencing substantial water scarcity, with 820 million people living below the official water scarcity threshold of 1,000 m³ as per the

Falkenmark Index (NITI Aayog, 2019). India, home to about 17 per cent of the world's population, holds only 4 per cent of the global freshwater resources (IITM, 2014a). Additionally, 82 per cent of rural households lack piped water connections, increasing their vulnerability to water stress, and 163 million people lack access to clean water as an estimated 70 per cent of India's surface water is contaminated (NITI Aayog, 2019).

The average per capita water availability in India is expected to reduce to 1,341 m³ by 2025 and 1,140 m³ by 2050 due to the projected population growth (PIB, 2017). Water scarcity can significantly impact food scarcity as agriculture is directly and heavily reliant on water resources (NITI Aayog, 2019).

This situation necessitates implementing measures to treat and reuse the return flow from various sectors, which is estimated to be approximately 130 billion m³. Currently, most of this return flow is discharged into streams untreated or only partially treated, adversely affecting the water quality in deltas, estuaries, and seas, significantly affecting the biodiversity and livelihood along its stretch.

Climate change will compound water stress in multiple ways. Mallya et al. (2016) show an increase in the duration, intensity and geographical scope of droughts in recent decades, particularly in the Indo-Gangetic Plain, certain



Figure 2.1: Annual Water use in India in billion cubic meters (BCM)

Source: Authors' compilation from CWC (2021b), CWC(2005), CGWB, 2022), Choudhary et al., (2021), Sushmitha et al., (2019).

areas of coastal south India, and central Maharashtra. The frequency of droughts in parts of the country is likely to increase with a 1.5°C and 2°C increase in temperature from pre-industrial levels (Mallya et al., 2016). Sahana and Mondal (2023) evaluated drought hazard, vulnerability, and risk across India under future climate scenarios, estimating an overall decrease in drought risk due to increased precipitation. However, western Rajasthan, Haryana, and western Uttar Pradesh are expected to remain at high risk under all future scenarios. Additionally, they projected an expansion of areas falling into the high and very-high vulnerability categories nationwide. Studies project increased precipitation in certain regions and times of the year, likely leading to extreme precipitation events and urban flooding (Ali & Mishra, 2018).

Climate-induced water impacts will extend to agricultural yields, monsoon patterns, glacial melt, desertification, biodiversity loss, and increase risks to industries, energy sector and urban activities, impacting the country's Gross Domestic Product (GDP) (NITI Aayog, 2019). Climate change impacts in India, such as increasing temperatures and shifting monsoon patterns, may result in an economic loss of 2.8 per cent of GDP, adversely affecting the living standards of nearly half the population by 2050 (Mani et al., 2018; RBI, 2023).

Water is not only affected by climate change but also influences it through changes in evaporation and precipitation patterns. The hydrological cycle is projected to intensify, with higher amounts of rainfall as well as increased frequency of droughts (IITM, 2014b). Per capita water availability (PCWA) in India is expected to decrease under 1.5°C, 2°C and 3°C levels of global warming. A rise in temperature from 1.5°C to 2°C could reduce PCWA for more than 90 per cent of regions, with over 400 million people facing severe water stress (R. Singh & Kumar, 2019).

Further, three-hourly precipitation maxima at 100year return intervals may increase by 20 per cent if the warming increases above 1.5°C from pre-industrial levels (Ali & Mishra, 2018). Observations suggest increased dryness over the Indo-Gangetic Plain from 1951 to 2016, and climate models predict that global warming of 1.5°C, 2°C and 2.5°C could increase dryness over half of South Asia, affecting 790 million, 890 million and 1.96 billion people, respectively (Aadhar & Mishra, 2019). Despite the projected increase in rainfall in most parts of the country, substantial spatio-temporal variability is likely in the next few decades. For arid regions like Rajasthan, 1°C warming could lead to a rise in water demand by 313 million cubic metre (MCM), while major parts of the country could experience more devastating floods. Cyclone intensity is expected to increase along India's 7,517 km coastline, and salt water intrusion could disrupt groundwater reservoirs in coastal areas (Panwar & Chakrapani, 2013).

During the recent decades of 1981-2019, the spatial variations in the annual maximum rainfall for the 10-, 30-, and 100-year return levels show statistically significant increasing trends across Indian river basins, with the observed decadal changes of rainfall during wet and dry conditions shifting and 15 per cent-58.74 per cent increase in extreme rainfall events over the west-flowing river basins (Chaubey et al., 2022). In the Upper Indus basin, an increase in summer precipitation (RCP8.5: +36.7%) and a decrease in winter precipitation (RCP8.5: -16.9%) have been projected, with an increase in average annual water yield due to glacial melt (Ougahi et al., 2022). The Sutlej basin is projected to receive up to 50 per cent more precipitation by the end of the century compared to 1961–1990 (Nayak et al., 2015). In the Narmada basin, a long-term increase in monsoon season flow is projected in the upper parts, while dry season flows could remain unchanged despite intensified water demand. Using the RCP 4.5 data of climate variability, Mudbhatkal et al. (2017) project a decreasing trend in of total rainfall from 80 to 77 per cent in the Netravathi River catchment.

Among the east-flowing rivers, the Brahmaputra basin will witness extreme precipitation at 2°C, with higher flood frequency (Mohammed et al., 2017). Monsoon precipitation in the Ganges basin is projected to decline, while the Indus basin will see a significant warming (Mishra, 2015). The Teesta River basin may see increased future precipitation, raising the risk of glacial lake outburst floods (GLOFs) (A. Sharma & Goyal, 2020). The Koshi basin could face severe floods and droughts due to an increase in the annual mean temperature by 1°C to 4°C between 2010 and 2050 (Jain & Singh, 2018).

Over Malaprabha catchment, a decrease in monsoon rainfall from 84 to 80 per cent is projected by 2070 under

RCP4.5 scenario, while high flow is estimated to increase (Mudbhatkal et al., 2017). In Odisha's Baitarani River basin, maximum increase in the projected annual average rainfall is observed during the near future scenario 2021–2045 by 427 and 480 mm under RCP 4.5 and 8.5 scenarios respectively (Padhiary et al., 2020). In the Mahanadi River basin, mean monthly streamflow were found to be increasing towards the end of the century, with daily high flows increasing in both magnitude and frequency (Bisht et al., 2020).

2.3.3 Terrestrial ecosystems

India hosts a wide array of terrestrial ecosystems and is home to four out of 36 biodiversity hotspots in the world. The country has over 800,000 km2 total forest and tree cover, accounting for 24 per cent of its total geographical area (Forest Survey of India, 2019). These ecosystems provide services valued at USD 1.8 trillion (in purchasing power parity terms), which is over 30 per cent of India's GDP (Kubiszewski et al., 2016). Climate change significantly impacts the type, distribution, productivity and carbon availability in these terrestrial ecosystems, as discussed below.

Impact on forests: Indian forests face various climatic stresses, including a warming climate, changes in the hydrological cycle, loss of biodiversity and extreme weather events (Sharma et al., 2017). While evidence from the Indian region suggests greening and carbon sequestration in large parts of India in recent decades, it is likely that this is due to tree plantations, horticulture, agro-forestry, invasive species and other land-cover changes, and not due to major contribution from forests (Chen et al., 2019). Prioritizing carbon sequestration through tree plantations in some areas and land-use contexts may have trade-offs especially on hydrologic services (Clark et al., 2021; Sharachchandra & Krishnaswamy, 2021). The influence of forests on regional climate, especially rainfall, further complicates this debate. The ability of forests to continue to sequester CO_2 could be influenced by climate change in multiple ways. For instance, climate change can influence the expansion of the moist broadleaf forests in central India and a shrinking of Himalayan temperate broadleaf and alpine forests; a possible increase in productivity; and a decline in some wildlife species in

specific habitats. Recent estimates from in-situ data show a decrease in carbon sequestration rates of intact Indian forests during 2010-2019 compared 1990-99 (Pan et al., 2024). So, additional effort is immediately required to achieve the 2030 target, considering the history of competing demands and ongoing shifts in forest rights and governance (Sharachchandra & Krishnaswamy, 2021).

Evidence from regions such as the Western Ghats suggests that the combination of rapid sub-surface flows systems and non-linear decline in catchment water residence time with rainfall intensity makes even the forested areas and areas under invasive species vulnerable to landslides and flooding under extreme rain events under climate change (Chappell et al., 2017; Nayak et al., 2023). However, forests can also aid in precipitation by modifying the local climate and providing moisture through evapotranspiration (Bonan 2008). For instance, the contributions of Western Ghats to the monsoon rainfall over the East Coast reach nearly a half, during dry periods (Paul et al., 2018). Recently, Williams et al., 2024 showed that, India has relatively very low proportion of land available with potential for natural regeneration in deforested areas. Overall, we need to compare official estimates with independent studies and measurements on the ground, to improve our understanding of forests to help carbon sequestration and to broader functioning of ecosystems.

Studies have shown that the greening-temperature positive relationships in the tropical mountainous regions such as the Himalaya are weakening, which could be due to indirect effects of water stress through enhanced summer heat especially in years with poor post monsoonal and winter rainfall (Zobel et al., 2001; Krishnaswamy et al., 2013; Liang et al., 2014; Sigdel et al., 2018; Sebastain et al., 2018), apart from forest fires. Since different forest regimes are driven by solar radiation, temperature, and monsoon (summer, winter) at different spatiotemporal scales (Sebastian et al., 2019), these interactions between climate-vegetation will remain critical in the future for carbon dynamics. Additionally, human-land use changes such as deforestation and degradation can add more stress on forests to persist as a carbon sink and these sites could potentially become a source of carbon altering the global carbon cycle (Bala et al., 2007).
Modelling studies indicate that at least 30 per cent of the forest cover in the country are vulnerable to climate stress in the short term by 2030. In the long term by 2085, nearly 39 to 88 per cent of forest cover is vulnerable (Chaturvedi et al., 2011; Chaturvedi & Ravindranath, 2017; Gopalakrishnan et al., 2011; Sharma et al., 2017).

Chaturvedi et al., (2020) project that almost all forest cover in India (98 per cent) can be classified as 'very high' to 'extremely high' temperature and rainfall hotspots with a warming of 2.1°C to 5.1°C and rainfall change of 26 to 38 per cent under the RCP 4.5 scenario. Further, under the RCP 8.5 scenario, 16 per cent of the forest cover in the country will be 'critical' with temperature range of 5.1°C to 6.6°C and rainfall change of 38 to 41 per cent, increasing their vulnerabilities.

Changes and shifts in vegetation: Large-scale changes in vegetation are also projected across Indian forests by the end of the 21st century due to changing climatic conditions. Across India, eight out of 19 sub-biomes are projected to increase in area, while the other 11 sub-biomes are projected to lose their area coverage due to projected increase in temperature and precipitation, with maximum loss (more than 50 per cent) in tropical dry forest with increase of 3°C in temperature and 15 per cent in rainfall (Chakraborty et al., 2013). By 2080, endemic flora in the Himalayas, Western Ghats and Indo-Burma biodiversity hotspots may see range reductions of up to 41 per cent and expansions of 24 per cent (Chitale et al., 2014).

Parida et al., (2020) note significant shifts in vegetation trends with large-scale greening trend of up to 80 per cent of area across the northwestern Plain and Central India from 1981 to 2015, mainly due to moisture-induced greening combined with cooling trends of temperature. However, greening trends of vegetation and croplands diminished (i.e., from 84 per cent to 40 per cent of area in kharif season), especially over the southern peninsula, including the west-central area, primarily due to warming trends and declined soil moisture trends. Although in the wet climate regimes as the Western Ghats, Western Himalaya, Eastern Ghats and North-East (NE) India, forests are predicted to be highly resilient against large precipitation alterations and shorter drought periods (Das and Behera, 2019), consistent decline in vegetation (browning trends), especially in north-east India and

Western Ghats during the dry season has been observed (Naidu et al., 2019; Murthy & Bagchi, 2019).

In the Western Himalayas, increased temperatures will cause a shift towards higher elevations in all forest types (Joshi et al., 2012; Zomer et al., 2014). A study on vegetation dynamics on alpine summits in Kashmir Himalaya, showed that species richness increased on the lower three summits but decreased on the highest summit (nival zone) and revealed a substantial increase in the cover of dominant shrubs, graminoids, and forbs (Hamid et al., 2020).

Net primary productivity: Net primary productivity (NPP) is the rate at which energy is stored and made available to consumers in an ecosystem, serving as an indicator of ecosystem function and a key component of the global carbon budget. In India, most studies project an increase in NPP under multiple climate change scenarios. Estimates range from 38–100 per cent increase under SRES scenarios (Chaturvedi et al., 2011; Gopalakrishnan et al., 2011; INCCA, 2010; Ravindranath et al., 2006, 2011) to a 10–50 per cent increase under RCP scenarios (Chaitra et al., 2018; Ravindranath & Bala, 2017).

A study on the sensitivity of terrestrial ecosystems across India observed that at least 15 out of 25 river basins were at high risks of drastic reduction in NPP in case of climatic conditions like severe drought, prolonged precipitation deficit and extreme temperature on terrestrial ecosystem (Jha et al., 2019). Decadal changes in NPP are driven by simultaneous changes in temperature and precipitation, and our ability to accurately ensure forests to sustain as a natural climate solution could be restricted under future climate change (Naidu & Bagchi, 2021). For instance, the western ghats and north earth regions showed a decline in NPP over he past two decades. Importantly, a simultaneous change in soil heterotrophic respiration can ultimately limit the carbon sequestration potential of these biodiversity hotspots (Naidu & Bagchi, 2021).

Carbon stock: Forests play a crucial role in the global carbon cycle, storing up to 80 per cent of terrestrial carbon (FAO, 2005). Climate change, by driving land use changes, alters terrestrial carbon fluxes. Most projections suggest an increase in soil organic carbon and an overall rise in the forest carbon pool due to climate change in India. Under the B2 and A2 scenarios, soil organic

carbon is projected to increase by 30– 37.5 per cent, respectively, across India, by 2085 (Chaturvedi et al., 2011), while the forest carbon pool is expected to rise by 6–15 per cent under multiple scenarios by 2081–2090, implying heightened carbon dioxide absorption from the atmosphere (Ahmed & Suphachalasai, 2014).

However, long-term carbon sequestration necessitates the storage of carbon into the soil for climate mitigation. Carbon in soil is highly vulnerable to changes in climate at local and regional levels, which can influence multiple climate-feedback (Naidu & Bagchi, 2021). The ability of soils to sequester carbon is also limited by confounding effects such as warming, grazing, nutrient deposition which can alter ecosystem functioning in many ways (Roy, Naidu & Bagchi, 2021).

2.3.4 Urban and Infrastructure

India's urban population was 377 million in 2011 (Census of India, 2011) and is projected to reach around 600 million by 2030 (MoF, 2021). India has 53 large cities with populations exceeding 1 million and a total of 7,935

Census towns. Urban poverty is significant, with onethird of India's poor living in urban areas (MoF, 2021). A growing urban population presents complex challenges in providing essential services and infrastructure such as water supply, sanitation, solid waste management, transportation, energy, and hazard risk mitigation services (Ahmad & Choi, 2010; MoF, 2021). Urban expansion has also led to loss of agricultural production, farmland displacement, deforestation, reduced green spaces and disappearing water bodies (Bhat et al., 2017).

The combined effects of urbanisation and climate change exacerbates impacts in urban areas compared to surrounding rural or peri-urban regions (Liu & Niyogi, 2019). Changes in land use such as a loss of vegetation and increase in built-up area can magnify changes in rainfall, humidity, and wind speed, in addition to those caused by climate change (Kuşçu Şimşek & Ödül, 2019; Liu & Niyogi, 2019; Peng et al., 2017; Yang et al., 2017).

This makes urban areas more susceptible to heightened climatic impacts and extreme events such as heatwaves, coastal flooding and higher incidence of diseases. These



Figure 2.2: Composite hazard risk for cities

risks affect the poor and marginal sections of the society disproportionately, deepening existing social and economic vulnerabilities (Khosla & Bhardwaj, 2019). An analysis shows a decline in overall social vulnerability to climate change in urban India from 2004 to 2012, but vulnerability remains concentrated in central and eastern states like Madhya Pradesh, Chhattisgarh, Odisha, Jharkhand and West Bengal due to higher poverty, inequality, unemployment, lack of housing and poor access to services like drinking water and sanitation (Yenneti et al., 2016).

Risks to coastal cities: India's 7,517 km long coastline hosts over 25 cities with nearly 40 million people in three big cities, Mumbai, Kolkata and Chennai, and smaller cities like Mangaluru, Kochi, Panaji, Surat, Visakhapatnam, Thoothukudi and Puri with population over 0.1 million (MoF, 2021). Coastal cities face challenges like SLR, coastal flooding, and saltwater intrusion (Nair, 2009). India is among the top 10 countries at risk, with low-lying coastal cities increasingly vulnerable to urban flooding due to climate change-induced heavy precipitation (Nithila Devi et al., 2019).

Cities like Mumbai, Kochi, Chennai, Visakhapatnam, Mangaluru and Thiruvananthapuram are projected to face severe impacts from rising sea levels by 2050, potentially losing up to 50 per cent of their land area (Dhiman et al., 2018). Urban areas may also experience land subsidence due to high extraction of groundwater, which can increase vulnerability to SLR (Erkens et al., 2015). Several coastal cities such as Mumbai, Kochi and Thiruvananthapuram experience subsidence rates comparable to or exceeding projected SLR (Jennath & Paul, 2024).

Extreme sea level events (ESL) such as tropical cyclones and storm surges can result in significant loss of life, assets and infrastructure and stall the economy in coastal cities for a long period (Carleton & Hsiang, 2016). A 0.5°C increase in the Indian Ocean sea surface temperature could double ESLs events in coastal areas, making a present-day 100-year ESL event an annual occurrence by the end of the century under all emission scenarios and by the 2050s under a moderate emission scenario (Sreeraj et al., 2022)knowledge about past occurrences of ESL and its progression is limited. Combining multiple tide-gauge and satellite-derived sea-level data, we show that ESL has become more frequent, longer-lasting and intense along the Indian Ocean coastlines. We detect a 2–3-fold increase in ESL occurrence, with higher risk along the Arabian Sea coastline and the Indian Ocean Islands. Our results reveal that rising MSL is the primary contributor to ESL increase (more than 75 per cent. Southern coastal India may see significant changes in the frequency of ESL events by mid-century under a 1.5°C, with northern regions experiencing these changes by 2080–2090. With intermediate warming levels of 2°C and 3°C, these time frames shift earlier for both regions.

In southern India, a 100-fold increase in the frequency of ESL events is likely under the 1.5 °C warming scenario, while northern regions may experience this under 2°C or 3°C scenarios (Tebaldi et al., 2021). Increasing SLR and ESL events will also exacerbate coastal erosion, causing significant damage to sandy beaches (Vousdoukas et al., 2020). Coastal geographies struggle to recover from erosion due to diminishing free foreshores and reduced sediment supply due to settlements and dams in the backshore (Ranasinghe et al., 2019; Small & Nicholls, 2003). However, the variation in SLR and surge-driven coastal erosion has not been adequately quantified for different warming conditions globally and for India.

Extreme rain and floods in urban areas: Urban infrastructure is vulnerable to extreme precipitation. Climate change is projected to affect the seasonality and intensity of rainfall, leading to increased flash floods and storm surges that affect urban infrastructure and water supply and quality. India is a climate change hotspot for flood-related risks at both 1.5°C and 2°C global warming levels (Schleussner et al., 2016). Annual run-off is estimated to increase in many parts of India, raising river-based flood risks (Warren et al., 2022).

The frequency of flooding events is projected to rise significantly in major cities if global warming exceeds 1.5°C, with no significant difference in flood event numbers beyond this threshold (Avashia & Garg, 2020). Projections indicate increased pre-monsoon and monsoon rainfall, especially in north-east India, heightening flood risks in cities downstream of the Brahmaputra River (Yaduvanshi et al., 2019). Rising temperatures will accelerate glacier and snow melt in the Himalayas, compounding flood risks in the densely populated Ganges plains.

Intense precipitation can trigger river discharge and flash floods, leading to flooding in urban areas with inadequate drainage. One-to three-day maximum rainfall is also expected to increase by 2060 compared to the baseline period (1901–2010) (Ali et al., 2014). Extreme rain is projected to rise sharply by the end of 21st century, especially in southern and central India (Mukherjee et al., 2018). In flood-vulnerable cities like Chennai, rising precipitation intensity and reduced permeable land cover driven by urban expansion are projected to increase flood depth by 19 per cent by 2030 and 60 per cent by 2050, compared to 2015 levels (Anuthaman et al., 2023).

Urban drought and water scarcity: Rising temperatures, delayed and weakened monsoons, and socio-economic factors are collectively exacerbating water stress in India. These conditions will impact both water supply and demand, potentially increasing drought frequency by 5 per cent to 20 per cent (Goyal et al., 2023). Climate models and projections of extreme events indicate that urban areas face a heightened risk from these challenges. Currently, India (222 million) followed by China (159 million) have the maximum urban populations facing water scarcity. India is projected to be the most affected in terms of growth in urban population (153-422 million) facing water scarcity by 2050 (He et al., 2021). Goyal et al. (2023) study of urban drought risk for 100 Indian smart cities revealed maximum urban drought risk for Bangalore, Chennai and Surat. The study also showed that NorthWest, West Central, and South Peninsula urban regions in India were at higher risk of urban drought.

Urban heat: Across India, heat waves are already increasing in frequency and severity. Mishra et al. (2017) estimate that the five most severe heatwaves out of the top ten heatwaves in the entire record (1951–2015) have occurred after 1990 and the three most severe heatwaves occurred in 1998, 1995, and 2012, with a magnitude of 17.92, 16.92, and 11.14, respectively. The recent heatwaves of 2022-2024 have crossed these past records. Heatwaves are projected to occur more frequently in all scenarios compared to current conditions, with significantly higher frequencies under higher warming scenarios (Mishra et al., 2017).

At global average warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial conditions, the frequency of severe heatwaves in India will

be 2.7 by end of 21st century; under 2°C global warming, this frequency increases to 8.7 (Mishra et al., 2017). Under the RCP8.5 scenario, heatwave days—already 2.3 days higher in urban areas than rural areas—could increase to 7.1 days by 2045 and 13.8 days by 2100. Urban centers may see heatwave intensity rise from 40°C (1986-2005) to 45°C (2026-2045) and 49°C (2081-2100) (Sharma et al., 2019). Heat-related mortality is projected to increase by 71 per cent (RCP4.5) and 140 per cent (RCP 8.5) in urban areas by the 2080s, with cities like Delhi, Ahmedabad, Bengaluru, Mumbai and Kolkata facing the highest increases (Dholakia et al., 2015).

Critically, heat risk is concentrated in cities, and urban geometry (building density and height, green cover, air flow); water bodies and green cover; and climate changeinduced temperature change interact to create urban heat islands (SUP, 2022). It is estimated that in India, ~37.73 per cent of total urban warming is linked to urbanization and this is an ~60 per cent enhancement of warming relative to the surrounding non-urban areas. This relative warming of urban areas to non-urban areas is especially visible in eastern Tier-II cities (Sethi & Vinoj, 2024).

Urban infrastructure: Urban areas, with their valuable properties and economic activity, face significant structural and property damage and economic loss from extreme events (Zope et al., 2017). Housing is crucial for climate resilience, but informal settlements in urban India increase vulnerability to climate hazards due to dense construction without open spaces or green cover (Mahadevia & Pathak, 2020).

Critical urban infrastructure is vulnerable to damage as current design are based on observed extremes rather than projected ones (Olsen, 2015). Extreme weather events like heavy rainfall and high temperatures can cause landslides and track deformation, damaging road and railway infrastructure (Joshi et al., 2024). Frequent extreme events will decrease restoration timelines, reducing quality of services from essential infrastructure like water supply, stormwater systems and energy networks (Vallejo & Mullan, 2017; Varianou Mikellidou et al., 2018). Under the SSP1-2.6 scenario, India could protect nearly all its transportation assets from heat, flood and compound heat-flood damage, whereas under the SSP2-4.5 scenario, exposure could be reduced by up to 50 per cent (Wang et al., 2024). Kandla port's vulnerability to cyclonic disturbances could increase by 21–25 per cent under RCP6.0 and RCP8.5 by the end of the century. The Konkan Railways' expenditure on geo-safety works could rise from ₹180 million to ₹500 million under RCP4.5, and to ₹1,300 million under RCP8.5 by 2100 (Garg et al., 2015).

Urban road transport networks are also vulnerable to river and coastal flooding and increased cyclones affecting secondary and tertiary roads (Koks et al., 2019). Coastal flooding under various global warming levels is expected to incur significant economic costs for India, with GDP losses of 0.5–0.6 per cent by 2050 under both RCP4.5 and RCP2.6 without further adaptation (Schinko et al., 2020). Adaptation investments could reduce welfare spending by 0.3 per cent (Bosello et al., 2011). Beyond economic loss from physical damage, changes can significantly impact tourism-dependent coastal cities through reduced recreational beaches (Black et al., 2021) and loss of livelihood in the fisheries sector (Senapati & Gupta, 2017).

2.3.5 Health

Climate change is projected to have significant implications for disease burden and labor productivity in India (Lancet, 2023; Parsons et al., 2021). Vectorborne diseases, diarrhea, dengue, Japanese encephalitis, respiratory conditions and malnutrition are expected to increase with higher warming levels.

Heat stress: The frequency of three-day concurrent hot day and hot night (CHDHN) events is projected to increase fourfold, sixfold and eightfold compared to current levels at 1.5°C, 2°C and 3°C warming, respectively. One-day and three-day CHDHN events are estimated to increase fourfold, 5.5-fold and 6.5-fold at 1.5°C, 2°C and 3°C warming, respectively (Mukherjee & Mishra, 2018). The maximum population exposed to heatwave days (MPEHWD) is estimated to rise by 18 times, 15 times and 92 times compared to current levels at 1.5°C and 2°C and under RCP 8.5 by mid-and late 21st century (Mishra et al., 2017).

CMIP5 models project an increase of 1.5–2.5 heatwave events and a 12–18-day increase in duration between 2020 and 2064 (Rohini et al., 2019). PRECIS-based modeling under the A1B scenario projects high maximum temperatures (~45–50°C) for districts in Bihar, Gujarat, Odisha, Rajasthan, Andhra Pradesh, Uttar Pradesh and West Bengal (P. K. Singh & Dhiman, 2012).

Studies have linked heat stress to productivity losses (Lundgren et al., 2014; Venugopal et al., 2015). India is particularly vulnerable to occupational heat stress, with significant productivity losses and health impacts in labor-intensive outdoor occupations (e.g., construction, brick manufacturing and metalworking) compared to indoor ones (Venugopal et al., 2015). While a reduction in winter-time deaths is anticipated, chronic heat stress and increased pollution could severely affect public health (E. Sharma et al., 2009a).

Increasing humidity due to climate change exacerbates the impact of heatwaves, with outdoor workers being at maximum risk (Kovats & Akhtar, 2008). Humid heat impacts could result in the loss of approximately 62 million jobs per year in India, across the working age population, nearly half the jobs lost globally and comparable to the temporary job loss during the global COVID-19 lockdowns (Parsons et al., 2022). A study in Tamil Nadu found that high occupational heat exposure was linked to a higher risk of adverse pregnancy, fetal and birth outcomes, with women exposed to heat facing twice the risk of miscarriage compared to those not exposed (Rekha et al., 2024).

Disease incidence: Deteriorating water quality can lead to an increase in diarrheal diseases, while warmer and wetter conditions can increase the transmission of climate-sensitive infectious diseases such as malaria, schistosomiasis, and dengue (Sharma et al., 2009b; Singh et al., 2011). The risk of cholera, typhoid, rotavirus, hepatitis A, leptospirosis, cryptosporidiosis, and other vector-borne diseases is expected to rise due to increasing monsoon flooding in India (Ahmed et al., 2024). Furthermore, the lack of access to clean water during floods contributes to a spike in dermatological and ophthalmological issues, including scabies and eye infections (Ahmed et al., 2024). Research by Rodriguez-Llanes et al. (2016) established a link between flooding in Eastern India and child malnutrition, showing that the prevalence of wasting was highest in communities affected by flooding.

Malaria, influenced by factors such as agriculture, urbanization, and water availability, could spread to new regions as well as intensify in existing areas.

Projections indicate that the length of the malaria transmission season will extend by 1-2 months in the northeast, central and south central regions, with southern states experiencing year-round transmission under the RCP 8.5 scenario (Chaturvedi and Dwivedi, 2021). Malaria transmission intensity calculated through the historical Entomological Inoculation Rate (EIR or the number of infectious bites) scale of 0 to 1 are also higher by a statistically significant 0.1–0.2 in the under RCP 8.5 scenario in central and southern Indian regions. Some areas may see a decrease in malaria transmission despite these overall trends. For instance, under the same RCP 8.5 scenario, Parihar et al. (2022) predict a 20-40 per cent reduction in malaria transmission during the monsoon season in Odisha, attributed to increased temperatures and rainfall.

Dengue epidemics in India have become increasingly frequent, with cases from 2010 to 2014 more than 2.5 times higher than those reported from 1998 to 2009 (Rao & Nagendra, 2020). A study in central India found that the risk of dengue rises with higher mean temperatures, increased rainfall, and absolute humidity. In Bhopal, the incidence surged from 0.59 cases per 10,000 inhabitants in 2012 to 9.11 cases in 2019 (Sarma et al., 2022). In Kerala, the highest monthly dengue cases (5,251) were recorded in July 2017, coinciding with a slight temperature increase that year (Kakarla et al., 2023).

While dengue primarily affects southern India, its transmission is expected to rise in northern regions with a 2°C increase in temperature (Dhiman et al., 2010). Projections under the RCP4.5 and RCP8.5 scenarios indicate that dengue outbreaks will become more frequent, especially in southern, eastern, and central India (Kakarla et al., 2020a, 2020b). The dengue vector Aedes aegypti shows high prevalence in the urbanised regions of west Uttar Pradesh, Delhi, northern Bihar and north Jalpaiguri division of West Bengal, and could expand to the Thar Desert by 2030, 2050 and 2070 in all RCP scenarios, and to almost all of Rajasthan by the 2070s under RCP 8.5 (Hussain & Dhiman, 2022).

2.4 Conclusion

Climate change is altering climate impact drivers like heat, precipitation (rain, snow and ice), wind, and sea level worldwide. In India, climate projections indicate increased variability in precipitation and an increased frequency and intensity of extreme weather events like droughts and floods. These changes pose significant risks to vital sectors, including agriculture, water resources, ecosystems, urban areas, and public health.

We are already witnessing tangible impacts, such as declining crop yields, reduced per capita water availability, biodiversity loss, and a rise in vector-borne diseases. These impacts translate to risks like food insecurity and hunger, increased water and heat stress, and mortality-linked to climate extremes and diseases. Urban areas face heightened climate risks due to land use changes, vegetation loss, and the urban heat island effect, particularly affecting India's urban residents (estimated to be 600 million in 2030), many of whom belong to poor and marginalized communities.

Scientific evidence underscores that climate-induced impacts and risks will worsen as temperatures continue to rise. For instance, an increase from 1.5°C to 2°C could significantly reduce per capita water availability in over 90 per cent of regions, placing more than 400 million people under severe water stress. Heat-related mortality may surge by 71 per cent (RCP 4.5) and 140 per cent (RCP 8.5) in urban centres, impacting cities like Delhi, Ahmedabad, Bengaluru, Mumbai and Kolkata the worst. Similarly, flood risks could escalate dramatically; at 1.5°C, 0.5–1.5 million people may be affected, rising to 2.5–8 million under 2°C, and potentially 30–40 million at 4°C.

Even in the absence of climate change, projections indicate that 30 million Indians could face hunger by 2050. This number could range from 4.4 million to 140 million people under the once-per-100-year extreme scenario in RCP2.6 and increase to 8.7 million to 180 million under RCP8.5 (Hasegawa et al., 2021).

These risks highlight India's acute vulnerability to climate change and emphasise the urgent need to achieve the 1.5°C climate target to mitigate impacts on our people, economy, and ecosystems.

3.

Navigating India's Development and Climate Goals

This chapter should be cited as: Ghoge, K., Bazaz, A.B., Revi, A., Kodira, P., Kaur, H.,2024: Navigating India's Development and Climate Goals. In IIHS, 2024: Accelerating India's Climate Transition: pathways to the 1.5°C goal [Revi, A., Bazaz, A.B., Singh, C., Kodira, P., & Ghoge, K., (eds.)]. Indian Institute for Human Settlements. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.24943/AICT11.2024</u>

Chapter Authors: Ketaki Ghoge, Amir Bazaz, Aromar Revi, Prathijna Kodira, Harpreet Kaur

3. Navigating India's Development and Climate Goals

- India faces the dual challenge of achieving the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) while simultaneously addressing climate action. It is one of the fastest-growing economies globally but remains a lower middle-income nation with a per capita PPP less than half the world average. It's development in the last five decades has been marked by increasing population and GDP, largely driven by growth in the services sector.
- Despite the increasing GDP, socio-economic challenges including poverty, inequality, unemployment
 and development deficits persist in the country. India has the largest population of poor people in
 the world (about 229 million) and the country's Gini Index has been stagnating at about 35 for the
 last two decades, pointing to continuing inequality in consumption.
- The increase in GDP and the shift to a service sector economy over the long term has not led to a shift to higher value add jobs or created adequate jobs. Employment in India is characterised by low productivity, low wages, increasing informalisation, low participation of women in the labour force and lack of adequate skilled workers.
- India's climate action roadmap is linked to its development agenda and centres on tackling SDGs like ending poverty, ensuring food security, energy security, and reducing unemployment, while reducing emission intensity of its economy.
- The main challenge for India is to meet its aspirations of being an advanced economy by 2047 while maintaining low emissions intensity of GDP in the face of increasing population, urbanisation, industrialisation and growing consumption. This will require a different development trajectory for the country from other developed nations.
- India can adopt Climate Resilient Development (CRD), development framework negotiated by IPCC that brings together agendas of sustainable development, climate adaptation (to limit climate risks), climate mitigation (to reduce emissions) and biodiversity conservation.
- CRD will have to be operationalised within the Indian context to ensure growth and broad-based gains via jobs, climate protection, income security to the bottom half of India's population along with societal well-being for all.
- CRD will require systems changes within four key sectors/ areas: land, oceans and ecosystems (agriculture, forestry and allied sectors), energy, urban and infrastructure, and industrial. Two other cross-cutting sections will also need attention, water and health.

3.1 Introduction

India is the seventh largest country in the world with a geographical area of 329 million hectares, accounting for 2.4 per cent of the world's surface area. As per the 2011 Census, India's population is more than 1.21 billion, approximately 18 per cent of the world's population (MOEFCC, 2015). More recent UN global population estimates pegged the country's population at 1.42 billion in 2023 (UN DESA, 2023). Currently, India is the fifth largest economy in the world with a nominal Gross Domestic Product (GDP) of US\$ 4.11 trillion (IMF, 2024), with aspirations to be an advanced economy by 2047.

In the last five decades, India's development has been marked by increasing population and GDP, largely driven by growth in the service sector. The average annual growth rate (AAGR) of the GDP increased from 3.6 per cent in the 1970s to 5.3 per cent in the 1980s and 1990s and 7.3 per cent in the 2000s (Karstensen et al., 2020). Recent data shows that the AAGR of India's GDP was 6.4 per cent per year from 2000 to 2010 and 5.7 per cent per year from 2014 to 2024. The growth rate dipped to 3.9 per cent in 2019 and negative 5.8 per cent in 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic (World Bank, 2024b).

Despite the increasing GDP, socio-economic challenges including poverty, inequality, unemployment and development deficits persist in the country. India has the largest population of poor people in the world (about 229 million) even after 415 million people exited poverty in the last 15 years (UNDP, 2023). The country's Gini Index has been stagnating at about 35 for the last two decades, pointing to continuing inequality in consumption (World Bank, 2024b). Employment in India is characterised by low productivity, low wages, increasing informalisation, low participation of women in the labour force and lack of adequate skilled workers (Basole, 2022).

India is also among the top 10 countries most vulnerable to climate change. An estimated annual GDP loss of 3 to 10 per cent by 2100 is likely if the impact of climate change continues unabated (RBI 2023; Kompas, Pham, and Che, 2018). As discussed in Chapter 3, climate change can have wide-ranging adverse impacts across regions and sectors in the country including agriculture, infrastructure, water systems, health and labour productivity. The country's disadvantaged and poorer populations are most vulnerable to these adverse impacts given their lack of access to basic infrastructure and services, inadequate income security, and a weak safety net to protect them from climate vagaries and extreme events.

India's climate action roadmap is inextricably linked to its development agenda and centres on tackling Sustainable Development Goals like ending poverty, ensuring food security, energy security, reducing unemployment, addressing economic inequality, improving health and education access, and addressing infrastructural deficits, while simultaneously reducing the emission intensity of its economy (GOI, 2023).

So far, India's growth trajectory has resulted in a much lower emission intensity of its GDP in PPP terms than the emissions of other more developed countries, which were at a similar level of development in the past (MOEFCC, 2015). Going ahead, this will be a difficult challenge due to pressures from growing population, urbanisation, increasing industrialisation and growing consumption. For instance, India's emissions have increased more than the global average, with its share in global emissions increasing from 1.3 per cent in 1970 to 6.3 per cent in 2015 (Karstensen et al., 2020).

At the same time, India has an opportunity to chart a development trajectory that is unique from that of developed countries by operationalising climate resilient development (CRD). CRD, a development framework negotiated by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), across 193 countries, in its Sixth Assessment Report (AR6) integrates sustainable development, climate and biodiversity goals (IPCC, 2022b; IPCC, 2023). CRD brings together the agendas of sustainable development, climate adaptation (to limit climate risks), climate mitigation (to reduce emissions) and biodiversity conservation, based on complementary development interventions rather than trade-offs between climate action and sustainable development (Stern and Stiglitz, 2023). Given the national circumstances, India's aspirations to be an advanced economy by 2047 will have to rely on CRD to ensure growth and broad-based gains via jobs, income security, climate protection to the bottom half of its population, along with societal well-being for all. In the next sections, this chapter provides a broad overview of the country's climate vision (3.1.1), its economic structure (3.2), long-term employment trends (3.2.1), national greenhouse inventory (3.2.2), and sectoral focus for climate and development action (3.3), ending with a brief conclusion (3.4).

3.1.1 India's climate vision and long-term low emissions development strategy

India's Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) and Long-term Low Emissions Development Strategy (LT-LEDS) affirm India's global commitments to reduce emissions but within the framework of 'common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capabilities' (GOI, 2023). The country's NDCs (updated in 2022) target 45 per cent reduction in the emission intensity of its GDP, 50 per cent installed power capacity from non-fossil fuels by 2030, promoting a sustainable way of living and achieving net-zero emissions by 2070 (GOI, 2023; MoEFCC, 2022).

Overall, India's LT-LEDS envisages a just transition to a green economy with a focus on developing lowcarbon electricity, transport and industrial systems along with promoting sustainable urbanisation that incorporates adaptation in its design (MOEFCC, 2022). These climate priorities are being reflected in policy, regulatory measures and through budgetary allocations that support mitigation and adaptation actions (see Chapter 5). For instance, low-carbon urban transportation is being pursued through promotion of metro systems, with Indian Railways targeting to be net-zero by 2030, promoting fuel efficiency standards for vehicles, promoting alternative fuels including the blending of ethanol, and subsidising electric vehicles. Low-carbon energy policy measures include policy and financial support for renewable energy generation, improving energy efficiency, green energy corridors in eight renewable-energy-rich states, and smoother grid integration for renewable energy.

To decarbonise hard-to-abate industrial sectors, the government is looking at setting up a green hydrogen hub. The National Green Hydrogen Mission set up in 2023 aspires to create production capacity of 5 million metric tonnes (MMT) of hydrogen per annum by 2030. Climate adaptation is being pursued within the framework of the National Action Plan on Climate Change (NAPCC), addressing vulnerable sectors and ecosystems, and through flagship schemes like Atal Mission for Rejuvenation and Urban Transformation (AMRUT), Pradhan Mantri Awas Yojana, Jal Jeevan Mission and Swachh Bharat Mission (SBM), which aim to make up infrastructural deficits and provide universal access to housing and environmental services like adequate water supply, sanitation and solid waste management, thereby reducing the climate vulnerability of people.

3.2 Economic Profile and Share of Gross Value Added

Over the last 75 years, India has seen a structural shift from an agrarian to a service-based economy. The GDP share of the agriculture and allied sector has declined from 36 per cent in 1980 to 17 per cent in 2017, amidst an increase in the growth rates of industries and the service sector (Krishna et al., 2022).

The service sector has dominated the country's economic structure post liberalisation with its share in the Gross Value Added (GVA) increasing from 37 per cent in the 1980s to 53 per cent in 2017. The analysis by Krishna et al., (2022) based on KLEMS¹ industry data further shows that in the service sector, the value add of non-market services like public administration, education and health has remained stagnant at about 20 per cent while that of market services like trade, hotels, business and financial services, and transportation has increased from 15 per cent to 32 per cent.

The share of manufacturing has remained largely stagnant since the 1980s, with a marginal increase from 27 per cent

The KLEMS approach considers the roles played by capital, labour, energy, materials and services as inputs to output growth. The KLEMS-India data set provides output, input and productivity trends for 27 industries linked to National Accounts Statistics (NAS). These industries can be categorised and broadly correspond to the main sectors of the economy: agriculture, industries and services.

in 1980 to 29 per cent in 2017. Within manufacturing while the share of chemicals, petroleum, electrical equipment, transport equipment, non-metallic minerals has increased, this increase has not been high enough to offset the decline in other industries like wood and paper products. The share of construction within the industry has however, has increased from 5 per cent in 1980s to about 10 per cent in 2010, followed by a dip to 8 per cent in 2017. From 2017-18 to 2022-23, the broad trends of GVA contribution have remained similar. In 2022-23, agriculture and allied activities contributed 18 per cent, industry contributed 28 per cent and services accounted for 54 per cent of the GVA (MOSPI, 2024). Table 3.1 shows the share of industries categorised under the three broad sectors contributing to the GVA based on the KLEMS India industry data.

Sectors	1980	1994	2003	2008	2017	2022
Agriculture and Allied Activities	36.3	28.8	21.4	17.9	17.2	18.2
Industry	26.9	30.4	29.9	33.1	29.3	27.6
Mining and quarrying	1.9	2.7	2.8	3.2	2.3	2
Manufacturing industries	17.5	18.5	16.9	18.2	16.4	14.3
Utilities	2.1	3.5	2.9	2.1	2.7	2.5
Construction	5.4	5.7	7.3	9.7	7.8	8.8
Services	36.8	40.8	48.8	48.9	53.5	54.1
Market services: Trade, hotel, transport, storage, post and telecom, real estate, financial and business	15.2	20.9	28.5	29.5	32.1	-
Non-market services: Public administration, education, health and others	21.6	19.9	20.3	19.4	21.4	-
Total	100	100	100	100	100	

 Table 3.1: Industry share (in %) in India's economic Gross Value Added (1980-2017)

Note: The break-up of the service sector into market and non-market services is not compiled separately in the MOSPI data and hence the breakup is not shown for 2022–23

Source: Krishna et al., 2022 and MOSPI, 2024 (second advanced estimates for 2023-24)

3.2.1 Employment trends across sectors

India is one of the fastest growing economies in the world today. The country's growth rebounded post the pandemic with a GDP growth rate estimated at 7.6 per cent for 2023–24, on the back of 9.1 per cent growth rate in 2021 and 7.2 per cent in 2022 (World Bank, 2024b; MOSPI, 2024).

However, the increase in GDP and the shift to a service sector economy over the long term has not led to a shift to higher value add jobs or created adequate jobs. The Indian labour market suffers from structural challenges on both demand and supply side, such as low rate of labour force participation of women and lack of adequate skilling, leading to underemployment and high levels of employment informality (Basole, 2022).

A study of the structural change in employment from the 1980s to 2017 shows a shift from the agriculture sector to the service sector. The agricultural workforce reduced from 70 per cent to 42 per cent, while employment in the service sector increased from 17 per cent to 34 per cent in this period (Krishna et al., 2022). Employment in the industrial sector also increased from 13 per cent to 24 per cent in the same period (Krishna et al., 2022). The maximum growth in employment in this period came from the construction sector, which grew by nearly six times, from 2 per cent in the 1980 to 12 per cent in 2017, adding 48 million jobs, and within market services, which grew from 9 per cent

Sectors	1980	1994	2003	2008	2017	2022
Agriculture and Allied Activities	69.8	63.5	57.4	51.9	42.3	45.8
Industry	13.2	15.2	17.5	20.4	24	25.2
Mining and quarrying	0.5	0.7	0.6	0.6	0.4	0.3
Manufacturing industries	10.4	10.4	11.3	11.6	11.5	11.4
Construction	2	3.8	5.3	7.9	11.6	13
Electricity	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.5	0.5
Services	16.9	21.4	25.1	27.6	33.8	28.9
Market services: Trade, hotel, transport, storage, post and telecom, real estate, financial and business	9.1	12.6	16	17.8	22.2	17.5
Non-market services: Public administration, education, health and others	7.8	8.7	9.1	9.8	11.6	11.4
Total	100	100	100	100	100	100

Table 3.2: Distribution of India's employment across sectors

Source: Krishna et al., 2022 and PLFS, 2023

in the 1980s to 22 per cent in 2017, adding 77 million jobs. Table 3.2 that shows the distribution of employment across sectors from 1980s onwards.

The rate of growth of employment in the service sector, however, has been only about 3.2 per cent from the 1980s to 2017, with growth slowing down post 2003 (Krishna et al., 2022). Despite a decline, agriculture continues to absorb the highest proportion of labour. Both agriculture and construction have similar composition of labourers with 65–68 per cent unskilled labourers.

These trends have remained broadly similar from 2017 to 2022. In 2022–23, agricultural workforce increased to 46 per cent, while the workforce in service sector decreased to 29 per cent and in industries it increased marginally to 25 per cent (PLFS, 2023). Agriculture and the construction sector still made up for 59 per cent of workforce in 2022.

Overall, the employment ratio in India is well below other emerging markets and developing economies (EMDEs), with employment weakness registered in non-agriculture sectors (World Bank, 2024a). From 2000 to 2023, employment growth in India was well below the average working age population growth and the employment ratio declined. The country's annual Periodic Labour Force Survey for 2022-23 shows that about 10 per cent of the population in the age group of 15–29 are unemployed (PLFS, 2023).

Basole (2022) argues that low labour productivity and the nature of employment in India that is largely non-skilled, informal and low paying, leading to weak generation of demand from the majority of households and stimulating only a limited set of economic activities. The bulk of demand comes from a small population of elites and middle classes with relatively high income, which creates demand for capital-intensive products and services, in turn increasing the capital intensity of production and slow growth of employment (Basole, 2022). Most households living in India's large subsistence economy are not able to meet their consumption needs and are forced to look for multiple sources of livelihoods, which are available only as informal employment (Basole, 2022).

This indicates that India's economic policy needs to focus not only on growth but also on structural transformation in employment to reduce inequality and improve conditions for the majority of the country's population (Basole, 2022; World Bank, 2024a).

India's transition to a domestic market-driven 'green economy' is imperative to address climate change. A green transition can lead to a 'new growth story' as investments, technology transfers and more efficient use of resources can increase productivity in developing countries, if the enabling conditions are conducive (Stern and Stiglitz 2023, p. 287). This will also require a wide range of policy initiatives and investment in people to ensure that those dislocated during the transition and those already existing within the subsistence economy get new and better opportunities.

In India, the climate transition costs in terms of job losses from the coal economy are significant. A just transition requires climate action strategies to include policies that can incentivise private investments, entrepreneurship and jobs in the service sector (as it is less emission intensive; see section below), along with newer, cleaner labour-intensive industries. Policies need to address the issue of low participation of women in paid work (e.g., through incentives and better childcare policies), provide re-skilling and training for new jobs and offer social security (e.g., through programmes like an urban employment guarantee scheme) to raise the base floor of decent work and reduce economic vulnerability. CRD in India should simultaneously and consciously respond to the climate crisis and adopt mitigation and adaptation pathways that can create new jobs and continue economic growth.

3.2.2 India's national greenhouse inventory

Globally, India is the third largest emitter of greenhouse gas (GHG), after China and the US, even though its per capita emissions are below the global average of 4.7 tonnes. India's total emissions in 2019 were 3.13 billion tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent, as per the country's third national communication submitted under the Kyoto Protocol (MoEFCC, 2023). The net emissions were 2.64 billion tonnes after accounting for CO_2 emissions absorbed by the forestry sector, which was less than half of the United States and less than a fourth of China (MoEFCC, 2023; Sinha, 2023).



Figure 3.1: Distribution of greenhouse gas emissions (GgCO²e) by sectors in 2019

Source: India's Third National Communication, 2023

The national inventory of GHG emissions in 2019 shows that the energy sector (76 per cent) contributed the most to overall emissions, followed by the agriculture sector (14 per cent), the industrial processes and product use (IPPU) sector (8 per cent) and the waste sector (2 per cent) (MoEFCC, 2023).

The total emissions from the energy sector (including consumption of fossil fuels for various activities and their fugitive emissions) increased by 11 per cent from 2016. The energy sector includes subcategories of manufacturing, construction, transport, energy industries, residential and commercial buildings, and fugitive emissions from solid fuels, oil and natural gas.

The IPPU sector contributed 8 per cent to GHG emissions in 2019; an increase of 16 per cent from 2016 due to increase in the production of cement, aluminium and lime (MoEFCC, 2023). The sector represents GHG emissions produced by industrial activities that transform raw materials by chemical or physical means, including the metal, chemical and mineral industries.

The agriculture sector accounted for 13 per cent of GHG emissions in 2019; a decrease of one per cent from 2016 (MoEFCC, 2023). The main source of these emissions in the agriculture sector are in the form of methane from livestock and rice cultivation, and nitrous oxide from manure management and soil under agriculture.

These sectoral subcategories are based on the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories and not strictly aligned with GVA sectors and sub-sectors, but broadly point to industry and agriculture as high-emission sectors. Globally, the service sector has not been seen as emission intensive and in India, service-led growth post the 1980s has been linked to a lower emission intensity trajectory (RBI, 2023; Karstensen et al., 2020). However, India's service sector includes transport, a high-emission sector, followed by real estate (residential and commercial buildings). Within the industrial sector, electricity production, cement, steel and iron, manufacturing industries, and construction are high-emission sectors.

The GVA sectoral data, along with the emissions data, is useful to identify high emitting categories to design climate mitigation strategies and policies. This data also shows the extent to which sectors like electricity production, agriculture, buildings, transport, steel and cement industries that contribute significantly to the country's GVA are exposed to climate transition risks or social and economic costs associated with a lowcarbon transition.

An RBI report (2023) bringing together two data sources (National Sample Survey and climate data from the International Monetary Fund) calculates the country's sectoral contribution to GVA and its emission intensity (see Table 3.3). This data makes it evident that sectors like electricity production, manufacturing and transport that contribute significantly to the country's GVA are carbon intensive. The priority must be to decouple these sectors from fossil fuel-led growth but also creating more job opportunities at the same time. The transition of these sectors to low carbon is necessary, but it has to take into account India's employment prerogative, including by absorbing people who will lose livelihoods in this transition.

3.3 Sectoral Focus for Climate Action and Systems Transitions

Effective climate action to reduce emissions across these sectors and subcategories requires systems change/ transition, rather than siloed sectoral approaches. As discussed in the introduction, India needs to pursue inclusive growth-led CRD pathways. CRD can be operationalised through simultaneous systems transitions in five key areas: energy, urban and infrastructure, land, freshwater and ocean ecosystems, industry, and societal choices around behaviour (IPCC, 2022b). Using the IPCC

framework, this section examines the current state of play across four key sectors of the Indian economy: agriculture and forestry, urban infrastructure, industry, and energy that are also climate sensitive and require systemic change. The section also briefly discusses two other critical crosscutting areas for climate action, water and health.

3.3.1 Agriculture

Agriculture plays a crucial role in India's economy. While its contribution to GVA is declining, it continues to be a significant contributor to the country's output. Nearly 46 per cent of the country's workforce is dependent on agriculture for a living. This includes nearly 70 per cent of households in rural India. A majority of India's cultivators are small and marginal farmers (82 per cent), who own less than 2 hectares of land. The average size of landholdings (1.08 ha in 2015) is decreasing even as the number of marginal landholdings (less than 2 hectares in 2015) is increasing (MoEFCC, 2023). The percentage of female operational holders is also increasing (14 per cent in 2015) pointing to feminisation in agriculture.

Table 3.3: Sector-wise share in GVA and CO₂ emission intensity (2018-19) in India

Sector	Share in GVA	CO₂ Emission Intensity (Metric Tonnes of CO ₂ emissions per US \$ 1 million of output)
Agriculture, forestry and fishing	14.8	8.8
Mining	2.6	567.3
Manufacturing	18.3	2913.3
Electricity, gas and water supply	2.3	7374.2
Construction	8.1	115.9
Transport	3.9	3176.9
Financial, real estate and professional services	22.5	220

Source: RBI, 2023

Around 43 per cent of India's total geographic area is under cultivation. Fourteen states including Andhra Pradesh, Tamil Nadu, Kerala, Telangana, Karnataka, Maharashtra, Gujarat, Chhattisgarh, Madhya Pradesh, Rajasthan, Uttar Pradesh, Bihar, Odisha and West Bengal account for 91 per cent of landholdings in the country. India is the world's largest producer of milk, pulses and jute, and the second largest producer of wheat, rice, sugarcane, groundnut, cotton, and fruits and vegetables (FAO, 2024).

Agriculture in India is predominantly rainfed (52 per cent) (MoEFCC, 2018). Water availability, which is imperative for productive agriculture, is hampered by climatic impacts such as decreased rainfall, drought, flooding and glacial retreat, which impact perennial river flows and groundwater, posing a serious threat to food security.

Agriculture is one of the most vulnerable sectors to climate change in India given its livelihood dependence, low value-added share in GVA, and the impact of food and nutrition security and price volatility on poverty and inequality. Climate change through increased frequency of extreme events, climate change variability and longterm climate change is expected to have a significantly adverse impact on farm incomes, livelihoods and food production (RBI, 2023). For small farmers, climate change is exacerbating existing economic distress of increasing cost of inputs, high indebtedness, and lack of assured and adequate prices. About 115 districts in India are highly vulnerable to climate change based on their exposure as well as socio-economic indicators (MoEFCC, 2023).

This makes climate adaptation for the sector crucial. Climate adaptation strategies for the agriculture sector include missions like the National Mission for Sustainable Agriculture (NMSA), National Livestock Mission (NLM), National Horticulture Mission (NHM) and National Food Security Mission (NFSM), and policy support measures like the Pradhan Mantri Fasal Bima Yojana (PMFBY) and Pradhan Mantri Krishi Sinchai Yojana (PMKSY), among others.

While the agriculture sector has less CO₂ emission intensity than the industrial and service sector, it emits methane and nitrous oxide, contributing 13 per cent of GHG emissions. Agriculture also accounts for 17 per cent of

electricity consumption, besides 0.6 million tonnes a year of diesel used to energise agriculture pumps (RBI, 2023). Decarbonising agriculture will require better livestock feeding and management, diversifying away from rice cultivation to other less water-intensive crops like maize and millets, reducing post-harvest and food waste, promoting and subsidising soluble fertilisers, promoting agro-ecological practices, and expanding renewable energy use on farms (Gulati and Thangaraj, 2021; Padhee and Whitbread, 2022).

3.3.2 Forestry

India is among the few countries in the world where total forest and tree cover has been increasing despite development activities. Forests and tree cover made up 25 per cent of India's total land area (81 million hectares.) in 2021 (MoEFCC 2023). India has a diverse forest cover, ranging from tropical wet forests in the southern Western Ghats and Northeast states to dry deciduous forests across large parts of the country and alpine forests in the Himalayan region.

There was a net increase in India's forest cover by 26,666 km² from 2011 to 2021. This increase is attributed to increase in very dense forests (with tree canopy cover of more than 70 per cent), which increased by 20 per cent in this same period. The top five states in terms of having dense forests include Andhra Pradesh (21per cent), Maharashtra (9 per cent), Odisha (7 per cent), Chhattisgarh (7 per cent) and Madhya Pradesh (7 per cent).

Forests promote climate change adaptation and mitigation by storing more carbon than other terrestrial ecosystems, and providing ecosystem and livelihood benefits. The carbon stock in India's forests is estimated at 7 gigatonnes (GT) in 2019, which is 30 billion tonnes of CO_2 equivalent carbon sequestered.

India's forests are also vulnerable to climate change due to livelihood dependence of tribal communities and commercial activities like timber harvesting, mining and expanding eco-tourism. Around 45 per cent of the national forested grids in India are projected to change due to climate impacts, with vulnerable grids (due to climate change risk, low tree density, low biodiversity status and high levels of fragmentation) in the Upper Himalayas, parts of central India and northern western and eastern Ghats (Gopalakrishnan et al., 2011). Government schemes to conserve forests and natural ecosystems include Green India Mission (GIM), Compensatory Afforestation Fund Management and Planning Authority (CAMPA), National Afforestation Programme (NAP), Green Highways Policy 2015, Policy for Enhancement of Urban Greens, National Agro-forestry Policy, and the Sub-Mission on Agroforestry (SMAF).

3.3.3 Urban Infrastructure

India's ongoing urban transition, one of the largest in the world, is a critical area of challenge for both development and climate action. India's urban population is expected to increase to 600 million by 2031 and to 850 million by 2051 (MOEFCC 2018). To meet the demands of the growing population in cities and towns, adequate infrastructure including environmental services of sanitation, water, solid waste management, affordable housing and transport have to be designed and built from scratch or upgraded significantly in such a way that the infrastructure is low-carbon and climate resilient.

Public investments in these areas are critical for disadvantaged groups that cannot afford to spend on them and hence also face climate risks and impacts disproportionately. An estimated 1.1 per cent of India's annualised GDP (in 2020) of ₹2.3 lakh crores will be required from 2021 to 2031 to meet the needs of urban expansion and upgradation of existing infrastructure and services in urban areas (Revi et al., 2020). Current expenditure on urban infrastructure has been only 0.6 per cent of the GDP from 2011–2018.

Urban areas also concentrate climate risks due to their large population, density, and differential exposure to climate change. Climate change impacts through droughts, increased rainfall, floods, coastal flooding and sea level rise (SLR) in urban areas are severe and growing. These events co-exist with developmental deficits, increasing the vulnerability of the urban poor and marginalised communities (Revi, 2008). At the same time, given the scale and pace of urbanisation in India and its consequent rise in consumption and production, urban emissions are expected to increase from transport, buildings, waste and industry. This makes climate adaptation essential in cities to prepare for risks and increasing coping capacities of urban residents. Recognising this need, adaptation actions are being explored in Indian cities but much of the adaptation underway is 'reactive, sectoral, and risk-focussed' (Singh et al., 2021, p. 17). The Indian government's flagship schemes like AMRUT-U and SBM-U, focus on universal provision of water supply, sanitation and solid waste management services in urban areas, address urban development deficits, and also help in adaptation.

Transport: Road transport (9 per cent) and residential and commercial buildings (4 per cent) contribute significantly to the country's GHG emissions and are key areas for climate mitigation in urban areas. There were 324 million registered vehicles in India as of March 2021, with a six-fold increase in vehicles over the last two decades (MoRTH, 2023). India is also one of the largest automobile markets in the world, with total industry sales estimated at 2.1 million automobiles in 2020. The transport sector overall accounts for 10 per cent of total energy consumption in India. Besides GHG emissions and high energy consumption, transport also has air pollution and health-related implications (Aggarwal, 2017).

Developing low-carbon transportation is one of India's NDC objectives to meet its climate goal of maintaining temperature elevation well below 2°C. Government strategies to reduce emissions in this sector include: stricter fuel efficiency norms (BS-VI emissions), scrapping of old vehicles, promoting alternate fuels like LPG, CNG and ethanol, and adopting the National Policy on Biofuels to achieve 20 per cent ethanol blending in petrol (MoEFCC 2023). The government is also promoting the development of mass transit projects in cities and providing incentives for the manufacture and adoption of electric vehicles (EV), including public buses, three-wheelers and private cars. The uptake of EVs is increasing in India, with sales growing from 0.4 per cent in 2021 to 1.5 per cent from in 2022 (Jaeger, 2023). However, India's market share is only 1.5 per cent when compared to 80 per cent in Norway and 22 per cent in China.

Buildings: India's urbanisation is leading to an increase in residential and commercial buildings. Emissions from buildings include those during construction (energy embedded in construction materials) and use (energy use during lifecycle of the buildings). Residential and commercial buildings account for 33 per cent of total electricity demand in the country (MOEF, 2023). Energy sector demand is slated to increase by five times in residential buildings and three times in commercial buildings by 2032. India is looking to reduce emissions from this sector through better energy efficiency protocols and regulatory policies like the Energy Conservation Building Code (ECBC), Building Energy Efficiency Programme (BEEP) for retrofitting energy efficiency measures in existing buildings, Eco Niwas Samhita for residential buildings and building rating programmes. These policies are aimed at making the design and construction of buildings more energy efficient and reducing its energy consumption.

3.3.4 Industry

The industrial sector plays a pivotal role in the Indian economy, contributing around 31 per cent to the GDP on average between 2012 and 2021 and providing employment to over 121 million people (GOI, 2023). There has been consistent growth in key industries such as coal, fertilisers, cement, steel, electricity, refinery products, crude oil and natural gas over the last three years, indicating a broad momentum in industrial activities. India ranks second globally in steel and cement production and is among the top five producers of ammonia (RBI, 2023).

The industrial sector is highly energy intensive and its low-carbon transition is challenging, given high fixed investments and long shelf life of assets. Decarbonisation in this sector requires significant alterations in production processes, costly retrofitting, deployment of new technologies, and changes in business practices and policies. The Indian manufacturing sector relies on 45 per cent of coal for its energy requirements and 23 per cent on electricity. Energy consumption by the sector has been reduced in recent decades because of improvement in energy efficiency and shift in industries towards less energy-intensive industries like electronics (RBI, 2023).

Regulatory mechanisms like the Perform, Achieve and Trade (PAT) scheme, which has set energy-saving targets for various industries and activities and enables the trading of energy efficiency certificates, has also helped to improve energy efficiency. Yet, there is an urgent need to diversify into low-carbon technologies for certain hardto-abate sectors like steel, cement and ammonia, which are poised to grow in the coming years.

The government is looking at setting up green hydrogen to aid low-carbon transition in the industrial sector. The National Green Hydrogen Mission was set up in 2023 with a proposed outlay of ₹19,744 crore from 2023-24 to 2029-30 to make India a green hydrogen hub with a capacity of 5 MMT per annum. There are several challenges in achieving a hydrogen economy including high production costs, technical difficulties in transport and storage, and lack of supportive policies and regulation (NITI Aayog, 2022). The RBI (2023) also suggests two long-term options to reduce emissions from hard-to-abate industries, including incorporating carbon pricing and making use of carbon capture utilisation and storage (CCUS) technology. The Energy Conservation Act, 2023 envisaged the setting up of a carbon market or Emissions Trading System to make the shift in policy from energy efficiency to emissions reduction.

3.3.5 Energy

In terms of energy resources, India has about 0.6 per cent of the world's total gas, 0.4 per cent of the world's oil reserve and 9 per cent of the world's coal reserves. More than 80 per cent of the country's oil and natural gas requirement is met through imports (MoEFCC, 2023).

India is the world's third largest energy consuming country and is projected to see the largest increase in energy demand over the next three decades, thanks to its expanding economy, increasing urbanisation, population and rising incomes (IEA, 2023). Energy use in the country has doubled since 2000, with 80 per cent of the demand still being met by fossil fuels (coal, oil and solid biomass) (IEA, 2021). Yet, on a per capita basis, India's energy use is still less than half the global average.

India has taken rapid strides in the power sector since the 2000, providing electricity to 810 million people, and clean cooking fuel access to 655 million people (IEA, 2023). However, 450 million people still live in households dependent on traditional biomass for fuel. Despite nearuniversal electricity access at the household level, issues



Figure 3.2: Access to electricity and clean cooking in India

Source: India Energy Outlook 2021

of affordability and reliability of power supply continue to be concerns for a majority of Indian consumers.

As discussed in the earlier section, the energy sector accounts for 76 per cent of the total GHG emissions and electricity production contributes to 39 per cent of GHG emissions. Hence, the energy transition is crucial for climate action and to meet India's 2070 net-zero emissions target. India's energy transition has taken off with an emphasis on domestic manufacture of clean energy, especially solar PV, energy efficiency and policies to scale up clean energy supply.

Currently, fossil fuels make up for 56 per cent of the installed power generation capacity, with coal accounting for 49 per cent of the capacity (Ministry of Power, 2024). Total non-fossil fuel capacity including hydro, wind, solar and nuclear accounts for 44 per cent (183 GW) of the installed capacity as of February 2024. Of the non-fossil fuels, solar power capacity is the largest at 17 per cent, followed by hydro at 10 per cent. Nuclear power accounts for 1.7 per cent of the total installed generation capacity. Over the last decade, the growth in renewables has been significant, with installed capacity increasing from 13 GW in 2008–09 to 125 GW in 2022–23 (CERC, 2023). Given the country's push for renewables, India's NDC target of achieving 50 per cent non-fossil fuel power generation capacity is projected to be met by 2030 (IEA, 2023).

India's electricity mix is dominated by coal with a share of 74 per cent in electricity generation in 2022–23.

The share of electricity generated from renewables was 12 per cent in 2022–23, a modest increase from 3.7 per cent in 2008–09. It is estimated (based on current policies and commitments) that electricity generated from renewables and coal could converge at 30 per cent by 2040 (IEA, 2021). However, in the coming decades, demand for electricity is set to increase significantly primarily due to rising demand for air conditioning, vehicles and buildings.

Despite the investment in clean energy and the likelihood of renewables capturing the market significantly in the coming decade, there are several challenges to achieve India's distant net-zero target. For starters, India will require greater investment in clean energy, nearly three times the current investments by the end of 2030 to achieve this target. The other challenges include achieving flexibility in power supply systems, improving the financial viability of power distribution companies, deploying new technologies, ensuring energy security amidst rising fuel imports, sustaining the momentum on renewable energy growth and ensuring a just transition.

Additionally, India will have to rehabilitate people, communities and areas dependent on the coal economy via training, jobs and investments. While the country has stated that coal will continue to be a source for power generation in the foreseeable future given its affordability, reliability and the country's development goals, India has to prepare for just transition as the share of coal in the energy mix will reduce and eventually be phased out in the long term. India's future energy situation will depend largely on how policies in this sector are conceived and implemented to ensure a sustainable future. India has put in place several policy initiatives to achieve its net-zero target. Important policy initiatives include production linked incentives to subsidise the domestic manufacture of solar PV modules and batteries, setting up the National Green Hydrogen Mission, setting the stage for a domestic carbon market, implementing the Green Energy Corridor Project to increase the transmission capacity of variable renewables and meet the target of 500 GW of renewable energy capacity by 2050 (IEA, 2021). The impetus to clean energy also offers significant opportunities for employment by creating new jobs to absorb those who will be impacted by the low carbon transition.

3.3.6 Water

Water is necessary for all life on earth. It is vital for the economy, societal well-being and sustainability of ecosystems. India has about 4 per cent of the total global freshwater resources and its total catchment area is about 253 million hectares, which covers more than 75 per cent of its total land area. Groundwater is a major source, but is being depleted alarmingly. India also has a long coastline running across 7,500 km.

Water links all 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and is closely interlinked with biodiversity and climate. It is central for 'socio economic and ecological prosperity' (Grafton et al., 2023, 4). Like elsewhere with the global water cycle, decades of mismanagement of water resources have led to a severe crisis of too little, too much and too dirty water in the country. This systemic crisis is worsened by climate change. India faces challenges of a depleted groundwater table, variable precipitation leading to cycles of droughts and floods, increasing demand and inefficient water usage, which further threatens to deepen existing inequity in access to water and sanitation, and food security.

It has been projected that at 1.5°C average global temperature, there will be dryness in more than half of South Asia, affecting more than 790 million people (Aadhar and Mishra 2019). Drought intensity and severity has increased substantially between 1972 and 2004, and droughts are projected to transition towards coastal areas

of southern India, central Maharashtra and the Indo-Gangetic Plain in the future (Mallya et al., 2016). Further, frequencies of both droughts and wet events are projected to rise because of climate change across India for a 48year period (2050–2099) (Ojha et al., 2013) Hydrological modelling suggests that by 2050, run-off will reduce substantially, and drought severity and flood intensity is projected to rise (Ministry of Environment and Forests, 2008). These projections indicate the far-reaching effects of climate variability on water resources. Some of these impacts are already lived experiences in a majority of Indian cities.

Modelling projections of heat stress and blue water stress on food production and hunger further reveal that food supply in India could reduce by 6.5 per cent and 16 per cent by 2050 under the RCP4.5 and RCP8.5 scenarios, respectively (Grafton et al., 2023). This highlights the need for significant investments in grey, blue and green water infrastructure (i.e., the natural infrastructure of wetlands, lakes and floodplains) along with regulatory measures (for better water distribution and recovery of costs) to enhance water availability, improve its use efficiency and improve its quality.

The Government of India along with state governments have been implementing several projects to address some of these challenges in the water sector in recent years. These include the National Water Mission, Namami Gange Programme, Jal Jeevan Mission, Jal Shakti Abhiyan, Atal Bhujal Yojana (Atal Jal), PMKSY, SBM, Dam Rehabilitation and Improvement Programme (DRIP) and Flood Management (MOEF, 2023).

3.3.7 Health

Around 60 million people are forced into poverty as a result of India's low public investment in healthcare, which is only 1.3 per cent of the GDP, and high out-of-pocket expenditure (85.6 per cent, among the highest in the world) (Narain 2016a; Balarajan et al., 2011).

The burdens and costs associated with healthcare are disproportionately high for marginalised communities, with caste, gender, class, educational attainment and geographic location playing a predominant role in access to healthcare (Reddy et al., 2011). For example, Scheduled

Tribes (ST) have a higher mortality rate and higher incidence of under-nutrition, anaemia, tuberculosis, visual impairment resulting from preventable causes and leprosy as a result of inadequate access to healthcare and social determinants of health (Shrivastava and Shrivastava, 2013). Further, rural areas face physical impediments in terms of access to preventive and curative healthcare services. The risk of disease, malnourishment and premature death is markedly high for people residing in rural and periurban areas, where there is staff shortage as India has the lowest density of healthcare workforce (Narain, 2016a) and physical infrastructure is inadequate (Reddy et al., 2011; Kasthuri 2018a; Balarajan et al., 2011). Maternal care is another area of concern as women are additionally burdened due to inadequate access to affordable health services, with women from backward castes and resourcepoor groups being especially vulnerable due to low access and the economic costs associated with this (Sanneving et al., 2013).

Overall, healthcare in India suffers from deficits in equitability, accountability and affordability (Reddy et al., 2011). Climate change is expected to exacerbate health risks, especially from weather-induced disasters, increasing the frequency of heat and cold waves, and vector-borne diseases such as malaria and dengue. Diarrhoeal and psychological disorders will also witness an increase in incidence due to changing climate (Moors et al., 2013; Pailler and Tsaneva, 2018).

In terms of heatwaves, vulnerable groups-like people working in the open and other resource-poor groups living in low-resource settings that lack access to shelter and cooling technologies-are the most impacted (Knowlton et al., 2014). Climate change can impede India's efforts in terms of containing vector-borne diseases like malaria, dengue and chikungunya as the distribution, commonality of spread and extent of outbreak in a region is influenced by climatic conditions (Dhiman et al., 2010). Jammu and Kashmir, Uttarakhand and Arunachal Pradesh will witness open transmission windows in new districts and north-eastern India will see an increase in the intensity of malaria transmission (Dhiman et al., 2011). Another serious health and environmental challenge for India is increasing air pollution. There were nearly 1.2 million premature deaths from air pollution in India in 2019 (IEA, 2021).

3.4 Conclusion

India faces the dual challenge of achieving the SDGs along with climate action. While it is among the fastest growing economies in the world and the third largest behind China and the United States in terms of purchasing power parity (PPP), it is still a lower middle-income economy with PPP per capita less than half of the world average (IEA, 2021). India has to prioritise its responses to address socio-economic challenges such as unemployment, poverty, inequality, a burgeoning urban population, and to address significant development deficits including that of adequate infrastructure. A critical area of concern is its slow employment growth that threatens to squander the demographic dividend (World Bank, 2024a). At the same time, projected climate risks and impacts on the country's economy and key economic sectors make the transition to a low-carbon economy imperative.

India has a climate vision and long-term strategy to achieve net-zero emissions by 2070 (MoEFCC, 2023). This includes mitigation and adaptation actions across different climate sensitive sectors. Some headway has also been made in the energy sector with a massive increase in renewable energy capacity led by solar PV generation capacity. However, given the pace and intensity of climate change, a lot more needs to done. Effective climate action that also has synergies with the SDGs will require systemic changes in key areas or sectors of the Indian economy including agriculture, urban infrastructure, energy and industry.

Despite conventional thinking that climate action can undermine growth, scholarship increasingly tells us that the two are complementary and 'innovation, investment and systemic change' brought about by strong climate action can create 'a sustainable growth story' (Stern and Stiglitz 2023, pp. 278–279) In the coming decades, India can chart a new growth story, including generating jobs through climate resilient development to integrate climate action with sustainable development and biodiversity conservation. In the next chapters of this report, we will see how this can be operationalised.



Adaptation and Mitigation in India

This chapter should be cited as: Madhavan, M., Singh, C., Ghoge, K., Guruprasad, S., 2024: Adaptation and Mitigation in India. In IIHS, 2024: Accelerating India's Climate Transition: pathways to the 1.5°C goal [Revi, A., Bazaz, A.B., Singh, C., Kodira, P., & Ghoge, K., (eds.)]. Indian Institute for Human Settlements. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.24943/AICT11.2024</u>

Chapter Authors: Mythili Madhavan, Chandni Singh, Ketaki Ghoge, Sirigowri Guruprasad

4. India's Adaptation and Mitigation Responses

India is at a crucial crossroads in its development trajectory, focusing on development goals such as poverty reduction, improved delivery of public services, and increased employment opportunities, while simultaneously transitioning towards low-carbon development and climate-resilience.

- The country's climate polices hence adopt a co-benefits approach, intertwining adaptation and mitigation goals with broader development imperatives.
- Climate change policy in India is framed within the context of three simultaneous ongoing transitions: a rural-to-urban demographic shift centered focused on value addition in metros and the growth of secondary cities; an energy transition from biomass to fossil fuels to renewables, and greater energy efficiency; and an environmental transition addressing brown (water, sanitation, and environmental health), grey (air and water pollution), and green (biodiversity and climate change) issues.
- India has established a comprehensive climate policy framework, within a federal governance structure, notably through the National Action Plan on Climate Change with its eight National missions and State Action Plans on Climate Change. More recently, cities are developing climate action plans and rural areas are beginning to mainstream climate planning into development plans.
- Despite progress, challenges remain, including the need for better risk assessment, stronger synergies between mitigation and adaptation, and attention to gendered and exclusion-based vulnerabilities. While India is moving forward to achieve its renewable energy targets, a clear road map to implement energy efficiency at scale and phase out coal power while ensuring job creation and energy security is needed.
- Significant funding, estimated at INR 57 trillion until 2030, is required to meet India's adaptation needs, with current funding channels proving grossly inadequate.

4.1 Introduction

India is characterised by the largest national population in the world, high poverty and expanding inequality, only one-third of the population in urban areas, and significant economic dependence on climate-sensitive sectors. The country's development trajectory has focused on meeting development imperatives such as building infrastructure (e.g., roads, schools, sanitation systems and power lines), providing basic services (e.g., water, sanitation, health, and education) and addressing chronic issues (e.g., poverty, food insecurity, and malnutrition).

However, human-centric development has not adequately addressed rising differential exposure to weather and climate-related risks (Krishnan et al., 2020; Joshi et al., 2020; Mishra et al., 2017), environmental degradation, notably of forests, air and water (Shrivastava and Kothari, 2013), and the precarity of nature-based livelihoods (Angelsen and Dokken, 2018; Singh et al., 2018c; Oldekop et al., 2020; Guntukula, 2020; Praveen and Sharma, 2020). As mentioned in the earlier chapter, Climate Resilient Development (CRD) negotiated by the IPCC AR6 cycle provides a framework to address these interlinked challenges as it acknowledges the tight coupling between social and economic systems, technology, the climate system and ecosystems (Revi and Ghoge, 2024). CRD brings together agendas of sustainable development, climate action, biodiversity conservation on the basis of complementary actions instead of trade-offs.

While India is yet adopt CRD, the pressing need to adapt to changing climate risks, while also meeting development needs and GHG mitigation opportunities is also acknowledged and operationalised in India's Long-Term Low-Carbon Development Strategy (MoEFCC, 2022).

In recent decades, a growing global impetus on climate action and increasing domestic acknowledgment of exposure to climatic and non-climatic risks has led to national and sub-national actions on climate change, undertaken through mitigation and adaptation measures (Khosla and Bhardwaj, 2019; Jogesh and Dubash, 2014; Dubash et al., 2016). These actions are enshrined in national policy through the National Action Plan on Climate Change (NAPCC), which is divided into eight missions focusing on key sectors (such as water and agriculture) and/or regions (such as the Himalayas) (MOEFCC, 2018; MoEFCC, 2012).

Within the country, various stakeholders also plan for and implement risk-based or sectoral climate adaptation and mitigation projects in agriculture (Mittal and Ray, 2015; Birthal and Hazrana, 2019; Singh et al., 2019c), specific cities (Singh et al., 2021a; Bhardwaj and Khosla, 2020) and particular industries (e.g., cement and energy sectors). In addition to domestic climate action, India is also an active player in global climate policy and continues to be a leader in fields such as solar energy and disaster management (Box 4.1).

Climate change in India should ideally be seen in the context of three simultaneous ongoing transitions: a

rural-to-urban demographic transition centred around the growth of secondary cities; an energy transition from biomass to fossil fuels to renewables, and greater energy efficiency; and a three-part environmental transition brown (water, sanitation and environmental health), grey (air and water pollution) and green (biodiversity and climate change) (Sami, 2016). Policymaking related to climate change and resilience building rests with the national and state governments, with local bodies limited to acting as implementing agencies.

India's approach to climate change action involves mainstreaming climate change mitigation and adaptation policies into existing sectoral development programmes (Chaturvedi, Rajiv K, Kattumuri, Ruth and Ravindranath, 2014; Sethi & Puppim de Oliveira, 2018; Sharma & Tomar, 2010; N. P. Singh et al., 2019). It also prioritises actions that offer co-benefits, such as clean cook stoves that reduce emissions and improve health, or afforestation that meets ecosystem conservation goals and sequesters carbon dioxide.

This chapter outlines the architecture of climate action in India at national and sub-national scales (section 4.2), focusing on sectoral adaptation and mitigation policies and programmes. It showcases how India is already seeing significant implementation across sectors to mitigate emissions (section 4.2.1), especially in energy, transport, agriculture and allied sectors and improve adaptation (4.2.2) in vulnerable sectors such as resilient infrastructure, disaster management, forestry, water, and agriculture. **Box 4.1:** India's global leadership on climate change: International Solar Alliance and Coalition for Disaster Resilient Infrastructure

Globally, India has anchored multiple initiatives in mitigation and adaptation, positioning itself as a leader in climate action. Two notable initiatives driven by the national government are the International Solar Alliance (ISA) and the Coalition for Disaster Resilient Infrastructure (CDRI).

In 2015, India conceived the ISA, a coalition of 122 solar-rich countries located between the Tropics of Cancer and Capricorn, to address their unique energy needs. The ISA aims to create a dedicated platform where governments, organisations, and other stakeholders can collaborate to harness solar energy sustainably and equitably. It seeks to overcome common challenges, mobilise investments exceeding US\$ 1 trillion by 2030, and foster solar technology and research in member countries, positioning India as a global leader in climate change mitigation and solar energy.

In September 2019, during the UN Climate Action Summit, the Prime Minister launched the CDRI. This coalition, comprising national governments, UN agencies, multilateral banks, the private sector and knowledge systems, promotes resilient infrastructure systems that can withstand climate and disaster risks. The government allocated ₹480 crore for CDRI's technical assistance and research projects over five years from 2019 (PIB, 2019b). CDRI aims to (a) serve as a knowledge platform for disaster and climate resilience of infrastructure; (b) assist countries in upgrading their infrastructure development practices; and (c) focus on risk assessment, regulatory standards, finance roles and disaster recovery mechanisms. CDRI complements ISA's efforts, in addressing both adaptation and disaster resilience (PIB, 2019b).

Partnerships like ISA and CDRI enable India to emerge as a global leader in climate action, disaster resilience and renewable energy, while also creating opportunities for expanding India's infrastructure and technology services abroad.

4.2 Climate Action Architecture in India

Climate change policies in India are firmly anchored within a co-benefits framework, focusing on leveraging synergies between development and climate action (Jogesh and Dubash, 2014; MoEFCC, 2018; Sami et al., 2016; Sreenivas et al., 2013). The NAPCC, set up in 2008, is organised around eight missions, which outline longterm, integrated strategies towards national climate change goals. These missions address areas ranging from solar power development to agriculture and water, including a specific mission on Himalayan ecosystems, which are particularly vulnerable to climatic risks (Byravan and Rajan, 2013; MOEFCC, 2018). The NAPCC missions include the National Mission for Enhanced Energy Efficiency (NMEEE), National Water Mission (NWM) and National Mission for a Green India (GIM), National Mission on Sustainable Habitat (NMSH), National Mission on Sustainable Agriculture (NMSA). Several of these like NMSH, NMEEE offer urban-specific engagement opportunities, while others like National Mission for Sustaining Himalayan Eco-system (NMSHE) are targeted specifically at climate sensitive ecosystems. Table 4.1 summarises the eight national missions.

Mission	Objectives	Implementing Agency	Initial Budget (in crores)
Jawaharlal Nehru National Solar Mission (JNNSM)	To increase the share of solar energy in the total energy mix.	Ministry of New and Renewable Energy	₹5,00,000 crore (total initial estimate in 2010 for 100GW solar power).
National Mission for Enhanced Energy Efficiency (NMEEE)	To strengthen the market for energy efficiency by creating a conducive regulatory and policy regime. It envisages fostering innovative and sustainable business models.	Ministry of Power, through Bureau of Energy Efficiency and Energy Efficiency Services Limited (EESL)	Outlay of ₹235 crore (2011-12); Total outlay of ₹775 crore for continuation of NMEEE (proposed in 2014)
National Mission for a Green India (GIM)	To enhance ecosystem services and carbon sinks through afforestation on degraded forest lands	Ministry of Environment, Forests and Climate Change	₹13,000 crore (2012-2018)
National Mission on Sustainable Habitat (NMSH)	To promote energy efficiency in buildings, management of solid waste, and modal shift to public transport.	Ministry of Housing and Urban Affairs	₹54,200 crore (in 2010 when it was set up) At present, NMSH is implemented through flagship centrally sponsored schemes like AMRUT, PMAY, SBM, SCM.
National Water Mission (NWM)	To ensure integrated water resource management, conserve water, minimise wastage and ensure equitable distribution of water among states.	Ministry of Jal Shakti	₹3,576 crore for central sector and ₹65,818 crore for state sector schemes
National Mission on Sustainable Agriculture	To transform agriculture into an ecologically sustainable, climate-resilient production system.	Ministry of Agriculture and Farmers Welfare	Rs 13,650 crore between 2012 to 2017 (CBGA, 2019; Srinivasan et al., 2023).
National Mission for Sustaining the Himalayan Ecosystem (NMSHE)	To assess scientifically the vulnerability of the Himalayan region to climate change in physical, biological and sociocultural context.	Department of Science and Technology and six task force institutions	INR 550 Crore (2012-2018).
National Mission on Strategic Knowledge for Climate Change (NMSKCC)	To identify challenges and responses to climate change through research and technology development and ensure funding of high quality and focused research.	Department of Science and Technology	INR 2,500 Crore (proposed in 2010)

Table 4.1: National missions in India with key aims and budgetary allocations

Source: Authors' compilation.

While these missions were announced in 2008, it took until 2014 to approve these missions and set them up. Many of these missions face challenges, including that of inadequate budgetary support and lack of monitoring mechanisms (Down to Earth, 2018; Rattani, 2018). While solar, energy and forestry missions had mitigation components, those focussed on sustainable water, agriculture, and Himalayas were adaptive in nature and difficult to quantify. NSM and NMEEE were successful in drawing investments and had guantifiable targets but other missions including NMSA, NMSHE, NMSH were inherently multi-sectoral and involve collaboration across various departments (Rattani, 2018). Their progress has been slow. Several centrally sponsored schemes are in principle aligned with these missions but their integration with the mission needs to be leveraged. More recently, ministries have laid out clearer visions for these missions. For instance, MoHUA has laid out a clearer outline for NMSH 2.0 from 2021-2030, linking mission objectives with SDGs as well as ongoing schemes (MoHUA, 2021).

Following the NAPCC, the States formulated policies and plans aligning with their missions and state-specific development priorities (Jogesh and Dubash 2015). This resulted in State Action Plans on Climate Change (SAPCCs), and by October 2016, 32 States and Union Territories in India had SAPCCs endorsed by the National Steering Committee on Climate Change (MOEFCC, 2018). The SAPCCs primarily focused on sustainable development practices rather than climate-specific strategies, with an emphasis on adaptation over mitigation (Sami, 2016). Important sectors addressed include forest and biodiversity, agriculture, water resources, energy, urban development, and transportation. Additionally, sectors like disaster management, health, industries, tourism and coastal development have also been identified. Many of the states are currently revising, and/or have already updated their SAPCCs to align with the Paris Agreement, India's Nationally Determined Contributions (NDC), and evolving risk and solution spaces.

The implementation of state actions and plans has progressed slowly, with room for improvement through more fine-scaled risk assessments, synergising mitigation and adaptation efforts, and addressing gendered and intersectional vulnerabilities (Pahuja et al., 2020; Singh et al., 2021; Kapoor, 2012; Jogesh and Dubash, 2014, 2015). SAPCCs are mandated to develop baseline vulnerability assessments and greenhouse gas (GHG) inventories to prepare adaptation and mitigation targets that align with state development goals (Department of Science and Technology, 2019). However, a key gap in this approach is the lack of a common framework for vulnerability assessments (Dhanapal and Panda, 2014), a static and gender-blind approach to assessing vulnerability in many SAPCCs (Singh et al., 2021), and inadequate discussion on the synergies and trade-offs between different adaptation and mitigation actions proposed in the plans. The next sub-section will discuss India's climate action in detail, focusing on key mitigation and adaptation measures.

4.2.1 Mitigation

Over the years, the national government as well as different state governments have undertaken proactive policies and measures to mitigate GHG emissions directly or indirectly, spanning across sectors and scales. Efforts have focused on increasing the share of clean, renewable energy sources such as solar, wind, nuclear and waste to fuels and biofuels in its energy mix. As of February 2024, total non-fossil fuel capacity including hydro, wind, solar and nuclear accounted for 44 per cent (183 GW) of the installed capacity in the country (Ministry of Power, 2024).

The country's updated NDC (2022) targets 45 per cent reduction in the emission intensity of its GDP, 50 per cent installed power capacity from non-fossil fuels by 2030, promoting a sustainable way of living and achieving netzero emissions by 2070 (GOI, 2023; MoEFCC, 2023).

A key aspect of India's mitigation targets is GHG sequestration through creating additional carbon sinks of 2.5–3 billion tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent. This target has remained unchanged in the original NDC in 2015 and the updated one in 2022.

Given the country's push for renewables, India's NDC target of achieving 50 per cent non-fossil fuel power generation capacity is projected to be met by 2030 (IEA, 2023). Climate Action Tracker's (2023) analysis of India's updated NDC also indicates that the country will overachieve its promised pledges with its current level of climate renewables deployment, but cautions that the targets will not drive further emission reductions. This implies that deeper emission cuts will be required by 2030 to put India on a 1.5°C pathway. This analysis estimates that by 2030, India will achieve 49–53 per cent reduction in emission intensity below 2005 levels and a non-fossil capacity target of more than 60 per cent. However, Climate Action Tracker points out that to be 1.5°C compatible, India's coal power generation would need to reduce significantly and be phased out completely by 2040. There is no clarity on the trajectory of coal phase-out in the country so far.

Energy: The energy sector accounts for 76 per cent of total GHG emissions and electricity production contributes to 39 per cent of GHG emissions (MOEFCC, 2023). Ensuring energy security, improving access and affordability of modern energy resources for all Indians, diversifying energy resources, enhancing resource use efficiency, reducing technical and commercial losses in power transmission, and enhancing renewable energy are pillars of Indian energy policy (MOEFCC, 2018). Some recent policy initiatives and new laws covering the energy sector such as the National Green Hydrogen Mission, National Electricity Plan (NEP 2023) and the recently amended Energy Conservation Act, 2022 will play a crucial role in shaping the country's energy sector landscape going ahead (Climate Action Tracker, 2023). India's energy efficiency measures including PAT for industries, star labelling programme for appliances, the Ujala program for LEDs, the Energy Conservation Building Code (ECBC) and Eco Niwas Samhita for buildings have resulted in the reduction of CO₂ emissions by 280 million tonnes per annum (MoEFCC. 2023)

The Energy Conservation Act amendment is aimed at meeting the country's NDCs, to enable faster decarbonisation of the economy. The amendment envisages setting up of a carbon market through a carbon credit trading system and allows the government to prescribe a minimum share of nonfossil sources as energy or feedstock by designated industry, besides setting up a new energy conservation code for buildings, and fuel consumption and emission standards for vehicles (PRS, 2022). The National Electricity Plan envisages increasing the contribution of non-fossil power capacity to 68 per cent by 2031–32

.

(Aggarwal & Kannappan, 2003). It also states that no new coal capacity would be added in the country in the next five years, except for plants already under planning.

Transport: Developing low-carbon transportation is one of India's NDC mechanisms to meet its stated climate goal of maintaining temperature well below 2°C. As discussed in Chapter 4, government strategies to reduce transport-led emissions include promoting public transport in cities via mass transit systems, incentivising manufacture and adoption of electric vehicles, stricter fuel efficiency norms (BS-VI emissions), scrapping of old vehicles, and promoting alternate fuels like liquefied petroleum gas (LPG), compressed natural gas (CNG), and ethanol through the National Policy on Biofuels to achieve 20 per cent ethanol blending in petrol (MoEFCC, 2023). India has set a sales target of 6-7 million electric vehicles (EVs) year-on-year from 2020 in its National Electric Mobility Mission Plan, which is around 2-4 per cent of the total vehicle stock. This target is to be met.

In civil aviation, Adoption of Carbon Accounting and Management System (CAMS) for reducing GHG emissions of airports and for quantification and reporting of emissions and removals, adoption of the Environment Management System, Energy Management System and Greenhouse Gas Reporting mechanism are some of the measures taken (MOEFCC, 2018). In shipping, technical and operational energy efficiency measures were adopted to reduce the amount of CO_2 emissions from international shipping. These mandatory measures e.g. the Energy Efficiency Design Index (EEDI) for new ships and the Ship Energy Efficiency Management Plan (SEEMP) for all ships entered was applied to ships of over 400 gross tonnage and above (MOEFCC, 2018).

Agriculture and forestry: Agriculture is responsible for 14 per cent of India's total GHG emissions and plays a vital role in India's economy, with 46 per cent of the workforce dependent on the sector and its allied activities (MOEFCC, 2018). Some government initiatives aimed at addressing the sector's vulnerability to climate change include the National Mission for Sustainable Agriculture (NMSA), National Innovations in Climate Resilient Agriculture (NICRA) and National Horticulture Mission (NHM), among others. NMSA aims at transforming agriculture into an ecologically sustainable climate-resilient production system. NICRA aims to enhance the 'resilience of Indian agriculture to climate change and climate variability through strategic research and technology demonstration' (MoEFCC, 2018). NHM promoting holistic agriculture growth by enhancing production, strengthening nutritional security, and providing technological support for high value fruits and vegetables, has sequestered 137.72 metric tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (MtCO₂) of carbon from 2010–2016 (MOEFCC, 2018).

Scheme like the Kisan Urja Suraksha Evam Utthaan Mahabhiyan (KUSUM) launched in 2019 aim to improve irrigation access to farmers through solarpowered irrigation. The scheme envisages setting up 1.75 million solar pumps in locations where the grid has not reached and 1 million solar pumps where the grid is available (Vibhuti Garg, 2018). The scheme can help to decarbonise energy use in agriculture, but its implementation needs improvement.

.

Approximately 80 per cent of the country's terrestrial biodiversity exists in forests, with over 300 million people dependent on them for their livelihood (MoEFCC, 2016). Mitigation and adaptation measures in this sector are implemented through plantation/afforestation/ reforestation programmes to conserve and enhance carbon sinks. Key initiatives include the National Afforestation Programme, which contributes to 15-20 per cent of afforestation efforts in India and aims to improve the quality and productivity of the existing forest cover. Between 2017 and 2020, afforestation of 13,000 hectares took place under this programme (MOEFCC, 2023). The Green India Mission aims to increase forest and tree cover by 5 million hectares, and to increase the quality of existing forest and tree cover in another 5 million hectares of forest/non-forest lands in 10 years (MOEFCC, 2018). The carbon stock in the forests in 2021 was estimated at 7,204 million tonnes, signifying an increase of 79.4 million tonnes compared to the assessment in 2019 (MOEFCC, 2023).

Waste: The waste sector contributes 2 per cent to India's GHG emissions, mainly from solid waste disposal (23 per cent) and wastewater treatment and discharge (77 per cent) (MOEFCC, 2023). Solid waste management (SWM) programmes, such as the Swachh Bharat Mission aim to eliminate open defecation and achieve 100 per cent scientific management of municipal solid waste. In urban areas, the mission intends to construct 6.6 million household toilets, 0.3 million community toilets and 0.3 million public toilets, along with 100 per cent door-to-door collection and scientific management of solid waste (MOEFCC, 2018). Modernising sanitation facilities must be prioritised to mitigate emissions (MOEFCC 2018). Various wasteto-energy initiatives are also in place in the country, with 33 operational plants generating over 275MW.

Buildings: Buildings consume over 30 per cent of India's electrical energy, with energy sector demand rising by 8 per cent annually and slated to increase further across both residential and commercial buildings. Initiatives for sustainable growth include setting standards for buildings and reducing electricity consumption through sustainable and green technology (MOEFCC, 2018). Major actions include the National Building Code (NBC) and the Energy Conservation Building Code (ECBC). The NBC regulates and sets standards for construction activities across the country. The ECBC sets minimum requirements for energy-efficient design and construction of commercial buildings with a connected load of 100 kW or greater, or a contract demand of 120 kVA or greater. Similarly, the Building Energy Efficiency Programme (BEEP) is aimed at retrofitting energy efficiency measures in existing buildings and Eco Niwas Samhita to set minimum energy efficient norms. As of 2019, 11 states and only a few cities like Gwalior, Ludhiana and Hyderabad had included ECBC in their building by-laws (Behal, 2023).

4.2.2 Adaptation

India is ranked fifth in the Global Climate Risk Index (Eckstein et al., 2019), highlighting the high vulnerability of a large section of its population to climatic risks. Dependence on climate-sensitive sectors such as agriculture and increasing risk accumulation in urban settlements (e.g., through flooding, water scarcity and sea level rise) necessitate adaptation actions. Out of the eight missions under the NAPCC. five missions focus on adaptation in sectors like agriculture, water, Himalayan ecosystems, forestry, capacity building and knowledge management. There is also significant focus on climate adaptation at the sub-national level; for example, climate smart villages in rural areas (Aryal, Rahut et al., 2020; Aryal, Sapkota, et al., 2020) and heatwave action plans to tackle the heat season in cities like Ahmedabad and Hyderabad (C. Singh et al., 2021).

According to India's third national communication to the UN Climate Change, adaptation expenditure reached about 5.6 per cent of GDP (INR 13.35 trillion) in 2021-22, up from 3.7 per cent in 2015 (MOEFCC, 2023). Business-as-usual scenarios estimate a need for INR 57 lakh crore by 2030, which could rise to INR 72 lakh crore due to climate-induced damages. The current funding for adaptation in India is grossly inadequate even though there has been an increased focused on improving adaptive capacity in vulnerable sectors.

The sectors with outlined adaptation policies are water, agriculture, health, coastal regions and islands, disaster management, biodiversity and ecosystems, and rural livelihoods (Table 4.2). Other initiatives include social safety net schemes such as the Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Scheme (MGNREGS), which aims at providing a source of livelihood to rural people and drought-proofing villages. The adaptation priorities for the country stem from three sources – one, from an understanding of potentially high consequences and highly likely climate risks facing the country; two, from the socio-economic context and the development needs of the country; and three, from addressing the constraints to adaptation. The three broad categories of adaptation priorities for the country as indicated through existing policies include –

- 1. priorities related to knowledge systems on climate change risks and adaptation.
- 2. priorities related to a reduction of exposure to climate risk, and
- priorities related to building resilience and adaptive capacity.

Sector	Risks	Key Missions/Policies
Agriculture	 Predominantly rainfed with high dependence on monsoonal rainfall Unsustainable groundwater extraction Highly exposed to erratic rainfall, drought and hailstorms 	 National Mission for Sustainable Agriculture; National Food Security Mission Paramparagat Krishi Vikas Yojana to promote organic farming practices Pradhan Mantri Krishi Sinchai Yojana to promote efficient irrigation practices
Water	 Erratic rainfall and increasing temperatures; higher evaporation Higher water demand (especially for urban areas and industry) and unsustainable abstraction 	 Enhancing efficient use of water and ensuring equitable water access National Water Mission (NWM) to conserve water, minimise wastage and ensure more equitable distribution both across and within states
Health	 High incidence and spread of vector-borne diseases High air pollution Longer and more intense heatwaves leading to increased mortality and morbidity 	 National Health Mission (NHM), along with the National Rural Health Mission (NRHM) and National Urban Health Mission (NUHM) include components like reproductive and maternal health, neonatal, child and adolescent health, and communicable and non-communicable diseases Integrated Disease Surveillance Programme under the National Centre for Disease Control to study the climate change impacts on diseases National Vector Borne Disease Control Programme Heat Actions Plans in some cities and states
Coastal areas	 Sea level rise, coastal flooding and land subsidence Tropical storms and cyclones Soil salinisation Ocean acidification 	 Coastal Regulation Zone (CRZ) to demarcate vulnerable coastal areas and restrict the setting up and expansion of industries, operations and processes in these areas Integrated Coastal Zone Management (ICZM) to build national capacity on comprehensive coastal management through ecological management, conservation and protection of critical habitats
Cryosphere	 Shifts in snowfall, rainfall and temperature extremes Changes in river flow and landslides 	 National Mission for Sustaining the Himalayan Ecosystem (NMSHE) National Mission on Himalayan Studies to build a body of scientific and traditional knowledge
Disaster management	• 85% of India's area is vulnerable to one or multiple hazards	 Disaster Management Act, 2005 National Disaster Management Policy 2019 (NDMP) provides direction to government agencies for all phases of the disaster management cycle. National Cyclone Risk Mitigation Project (NCRMP) aims at minimising vulnerability to cyclones Disaster relief funds at all levels and launching of the National Disaster Relief Fund

Table 4.2: Key sectoral risks and illustrative policy instruments to address them

Source: Authors' compilation

4.3 Conclusion

India is taking significant steps towards addressing climate change through a combination of national and state-level policies and programs. While progress has been made in key sectors such as energy, infrastructure, transport, forestry, agriculture, waste, and water, challenges remain in ensuring effective implementation, particularly at the sub-national level, and securing adequate financing for adaptation. The country's commitment to a low-carbon development pathway is evident, but further action is needed to accelerate the transition and ensure a climateresilient future

India's climate policies are underpinned by the need to balance its development needs (providing secure livelihoods while delivering basic services) and addressing climate change risks, environmental degradation, and structural vulnerabilities. Recognising this, India prioritises climate actions that offer co-benefits for development, such as clean cookstoves, climate-resilient infrastructure, and afforestation. More recent policy priorities have attempted to balance mitigating GHG emissions and adapting to climate change impacts.

Overall, India's development trajectory has focused on infrastructure, essential services, and poverty reduction, but hasn't sufficiently addressed rising climate risks and environmental degradation. Key constraints remain around financing climate action, institutional capacities to implement existing plans and policies, and leveraging cross-sectoral synergies.



Mitigation Pathways

This chapter should be cited as: Bazaz, A.B., Srinivasan, M., Rao, P., Ghoge, K., 2024: Mitigation Pathways. In IIHS, 2024: Accelerating India's Climate Transition: pathways to the 1.5°C goal [Revi, A., Bazaz, A.B., Singh, C., Kodira, P., & Ghoge, K., (eds.)]. Indian Institute for Human Settlements. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.24943/AICT11.2024</u>

Chapter Authors: Amir Bazaz, Madhumita Srinivasan, Pooja Rao, and Ketaki Ghoge

5. Mitigation Pathways

 India's emissions are growing. The country's greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions in 2019 increased by 4.6 per cent compared to the total national emissions in 2016 and by about 115 per cent since 1994.

- Modelling studies project a wide range of CO₂ emissions projections for India by 2030, with the lowest projections indicating 9 per cent increase from 2012 levels and the highest projections a 169 per cent increase.
- The energy sector contributes about 76 per cent of the total GHG emissions and 93 per cent of the total CO₂ emissions in 2019.
- Decarbonisation (a transition from business-as-usual to NDC scenarios) and deep decarbonisation (a transition from NDC to low-carbon pathways) require attention to increased energy efficiency in supply and demand, enhanced deployment of renewables, demand reduction in end-use sectors through dematerialisation, and recycling, reuse and changed user behaviour.
- Critically, energy efficiency and renewable energy will play almost equal roles in CO₂ mitigation under various mitigation scenarios, with demand reduction linked to significant changes in a service-oriented urban economy. The role of end-of-pipe solutions like CCS are still being examined, studies indicate an important role for such technologies to stay within the 1.5°C guardrail.

5.1 Past Mitigation Trends

India's total national emissions in 2019, including Land Use, Land-Use Change and Forestry (LULUCF), increased by 4.6 per cent compared to the total national emissions of 2016 and by 115 per cent since 1994 (MOEFCC, 2023). The main contributors to total greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions are CO_2 emissions from burning fossil fuels, methane emissions from livestock, and increasing aluminium and cement production. The LULUCF sector remained a net sink during the national greenhouse gas inventory period of 2019, accounting for the removal of 485.47 gigatonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (GTC) emissions.

The energy sector contributed the most to the overall emissions, with 76 per cent, followed by the agriculture sector at 13 per cent, the Industrial Processes and Product Use (IPPU) sector at 9 per cent and the waste sector at 2 per cent (MOEFCC, 2023). The energy sector saw the highest growth at 219 per cent from 1994 to 2019 due to continuous increase in fossil fuel combustion. The waste sector experienced the second highest growth at 215 per cent over the same period due to the increase in population and industrial activities (see Figure 5.1). However, its contribution to overall emissions has remained around 2 per cent as its absolute contribution is very low. During this period, the IPPU sector grew by 157 per cent, while the agriculture sector grew by 22 per cent. Between 2000 and 2019, the LULUCF sector reported a growth in GHG removals of 118 per cent.

The energy sector was responsible for 93 per cent of the total national CO₂ emissions in 2019. This was primarily caused by


Figure 5.1: Sector-wise national green house gas emissions (in MtCO²e) for 1994 to 2019

Note: Land Use, Land use change and forestry is not included in this figure. For total emissions with LULUCF please check table in Annexure 1. *Source: MoEFCC*, 2023

fossil fuel combustion activities, which included the energy industries as well as manufacturing, transportation and other industries. Energy-related fuel combustion activities accounted for 98 per cent of all emissions.

Within the energy sector, electricity production accounted for 39 per cent of total emissions, followed by road transport (9 per cent), residential (5 per cent), iron and steel industries (5 per cent), cement production (4 per cent), and other non-specific industries (5 per cent), among others. It is evident that decarbonising the energy sector is essential as it impacts other sectors. Efforts to reduce GHG emissions through energy use are a pivotal component of India's low-carbon development strategy because the sector is the largest source of GHG emissions. This is tightly coupled with the delivery of the country's overall development priorities of eliminating poverty, improving per capita income and increasing the gross domestic product (GDP) growth rate.

Next, this chapter examines projected emissions across key systems including agriculture, energy, and urban (buildings and transport) (section 5.2), followed by mitigation option on both demand and supply sides (section 5.3), ending with a conclusion in section 5.4.

5.2 Projected Emissions and Mitigation

India's modelling studies project a broad range of CO_2 emissions scenarios for 2030. The lowest projections estimate a 9 per cent increase from 2012 levels, while the highest projections estimate a 169 per cent increase (Dubash et al., 2018). Dhar et al., (2018) indicate that CO_2 emissions will rise rapidly under the Nationally Determined Contributions (NDC) scenario. However, in the 2°C and sustainable 2°C scenarios (SE4ALL plus 2°C scenario), emissions are projected to peak by 2040 due to stronger decoupling. Specifically, in the sustainable 2°C scenario, emissions are expected to flatten out after 2020.

Vishwanathan et al., (2018) estimate India's cumulative CO_2 budget for low-carbon scenarios from 2011 to 2050 to be approximately 115 billion tonnes of CO_2 , compared to 165 billion tonnes of CO_2 for the reference scenario. Total CO_2 emissions are projected to decline by about 20 per cent, 46 per cent and 62 per cent in the NDC, 2°C and 1.5°C scenarios, respectively, by 2050 relative to the business-as-usual (BAU) scenario. Additionally, the carbon intensity of energy is expected to decrease at an annual average rate of 0.15 per cent, 1.3 per cent, and 1.9 per cent for the NDC, 2°C, and 1.5°C scenarios, respectively.



Figure 5.2: Sector-wise final energy consumption in BAU and INDC scenarios (in petajoules)

Notes: BAU = Business as usual. INDC = India's Intended Nationally Distributed Contributions *Source:* Vishwanathan et al., 2017

The power sector contributes more than 40 per cent of total carbon emissions, decreasing to about 36 per cent in the NDC scenario and 30-33 per cent in low-carbon scenarios. While retrofitting old, inefficient coal plants offers attractive returns and negative carbon prices, its feasibility remains doubtful. Carbon Capture and Storage (CCS) has the potential to play an important role in the 2°C and 1.5°C scenarios. In terms of policy framework, Niti Ayog has proposed a CCUS policy that aims to reach a CCUS capacity of 750 million metric tons per year by 2050 (Niti Ayog, 2022). Some initial steps have been taken in this direction like NTPC setting up carbon capture plant at its 500 MW coal-fired plant in Vidhyachal in Madhya Pradesh to support decarbonisation (Carbon Clean, 2022). However, adoption of CCUS technologies in India is still at a nascent stage and its role in sustainable scenarios in India remains uncertain.

In the industry sector, there is a decrease in CO₂ emissions between the NDC and low-carbon scenarios due to the intensification of energy-efficient technologies in energyintensive industries through the Perform, Achieve and Trade (PAT) scheme. The transport sector accounted for about 11 per cent of total carbon emissions in 2010, and this is expected to increase to about 12 per cent in 2050 in the BAU scenario and 14 per cent in the NDC scenario. However, in the 1.5°C scenario, it decreases to almost 9 per cent of total carbon emissions. This reduction is due to a combination of policy measures, including technological changes driving a shift in energy sources (e.g., electric vehicles [EVs]), a modal shift to low-carbon modes (e.g., metro systems) and behavioural changes affecting mobility demand (e.g., telecommuting).

In 2000, the industrial and residential sectors accounted for about 85 per cent of final energy consumption. In the future, under both the BAU and NDC scenarios, the share of the residential sector is expected to fall while the share of the transport sector will increase. The share of the agricultural sector is expected to remain constant. In the NDC scenario, overall final energy consumption (FEC) is projected to fall by 7 per cent in 2030 and 14 per cent in 2050 compared to the BAU scenario.

India's energy system is largely based on the use of coal for power generation, oil for transport and industry, and biomass for residential heating and cooking (IEA, 2020a). The industry sector accounts for the largest share of India's total final energy consumption, followed by the residential sector, transport sector, agriculture sector and service sector. Recent policy trends suggest a faster-than-expected transition from coal to renewable electricity, with electricity generated from coal and renewables converging at 30 per cent by 2040 (IEA, 2021). At the same time, demand for electricity is set to increase significantly due to large-scale electrification of end-use demand and rising demand for air conditioning, vehicles and buildings.

5.2.1. Energy

Coal remains the largest energy source in India's primary energy mix across all scenarios except the 1.5°C scenario (Table 5.1). Most of this coal is used for power generation. In the BAU scenario, the share of coal increases significantly from 42 per cent in 2005 to 68 per cent in 2030 (Shukla et al., 2017). Conversely, coal demand declines substantially in the 2°C scenario, reducing to one-third of the reference scenario's level by 2030. In the NDC scenario, there is no major change in the primary energy mix compared to the BAU scenario (Mittal et al., 2018). Biomass consumption grows in the 2°C and 1.5°C scenarios, when supported by CCS. However, its share decreases in the NDC scenario. Biomass usage also drops significantly in the sustainable 2°C scenario where CCS is assumed to be non-implementable (Gupta et al., 2020). The share of non-biomass renewables rises from 1 per cent in the reference scenario to 3 per cent in the NDC scenario and 7 per cent in the 2°C scenario, primarily contributing to power generation.

When comparing conventional and sustainable 2°C scenarios, dependence on fossil fuels is higher in the conventional scenario. Nuclear energy contributes

Table 5.1: Share of total primary energy demand (all sectors) and total primary energy of supply (only power sector) in per cent

Castan	BAU		NDC		1.5°C		Source		
Sector	2016	2030	2050	2030	2050	2030	2050		
Coal	45	40	40	31	31	31 - 34	31 - 34	[1]	
	47.4	37.8	47.5	36.4	45	19.3	18.4	[2]	
Oil	25	23	23	22	22	21 - 23	21 - 23	[1]	
	23.7	23.6	24.7	21.9	26.2	29.3	22.8	[2]	
Bioenergy	22	18	18	10	10	11 - 14	9 - 10	[1]	
	21.5	18.4	7.6	18.8	7.8	21.3	13.8	[2]	
Gas	5	10	10	19	19	16 - 19	16 - 19	[1]	
	4.7	12.6	9.9	12.9	8.8	18.2	12.9	[2]	
Renewables	1	6	6	15	15	10 - 13 10 - 13		[1]	
	0.4	6	8.9	7.7	9.5	8.5	21.8	[2]	
Other (hydro,	3	3	3	3	3	3- 4	3 - 4	[1]	
nuclear)	2	1.4	1	1.9	2.5	3.2	10	[2]	
Total Energy	36	55	84	51	73	52 - 54	73 - 76	[1]	
(EJ/year)	28.7	49.5	81.8	48.1	79.6	40	53.7	[2]	

Notes: EJ = Exajoule. NDC = Nationally Determined Contributions. [1] Vishwanathan & Garg, 2020NDC scenario, 2 °C scenarios (early and late actions. [2] Zhou et al., 2020. For Vishwanathan and Garg (2020), the 'well below 2°C' scenario is taken as equivalent to the 1.5°C scenario. The range presented denotes the estimates for early action in 2°C, late action 2°C, and well below 2°C scenarios.



Figure 5.3: Electricity generation and CO² intensity of electricity in India under different scenarios

Note: SE4ALL plus 2°C = This scenario follows the 'sustainability' rationale, similar to the IPCC SRES B1 global scenario (IPCC, 2000) or the pathway one of the shared socio-economic pathways (SSP1). *Source: Dhar et al., 2018*

more to the conventional scenario (6 per cent in 2050) compared to the sustainable 2°C scenario (3 per cent in 2050) (Shukla et al., 2015). The contribution of renewables to the primary energy mix in 2050 is about 20 per cent in the conventional scenario and 33 per cent

in the sustainable scenario.

In the low-carbon scenarios, there is a significant decoupling between economic growth and energy use and emissions, partly due to the high deployment of renewable energy. In the 1.5°C scenario, renewables like solar PV and hydropower gain a significant share (to 9 per cent) in the energy mix by 2050, compared to the 2°C scenario (Mittal et al., 2018).

On the demand side, overall energy demand is expected to increase (Mittal et al., 2018; Shukla et al., 2017). In the baseline scenario, the demand for electricity is estimated to rise in India due to increasing incomes, achieving universal electrification, and the electrification of transport, residential and industrial sectors. Electricity generation is projected to rise seven-fold between 2010 and 2050 (Shukla et al., 2015). The higher penetration of intermittent renewables causes a marginal rise in energy consumption by the power sector in the NDC scenario by 2025 due to network losses (Shukla et al., 2017). However, in the low-carbon scenarios, energy reduction is driven by changes in fossil fuel prices, resulting in fuel switching and demand reduction. In the NDC scenario, energy demand is marginally lower (3 per cent) compared to the reference scenario in 2030. Compared to the BAU scenario, overall energy demand is 13 per cent lower in 2020 and 43 per cent lower in 2030 in the 2°C scenario (Shukla et al., 2017).

Power from coal reaches its peak value much earlier in the sustainable 2°C scenario compared to the conventional 2°C scenario (Gupta et al., 2020). This is due to the reduced demand for electricity in the sustainable scenario. Sustainable low-carbon pathways, such as the SE4ALL plus 2°C scenario (Dhar et al., 2018), are estimated to have the least electricity generation and the lowest CO₂ intensity of electricity generation. Decoupling of electricity generation from CO₂ emissions is the fastest in sustainable scenarios. Driven by global sustainability goals, the SE4ALL scenario displays higher energy efficiency in fossil fuel generation and greater diffusion of clean energy sources, including renewables and nuclear sources.



Figure 5.4: Electricity generation mix in India under four scenarios

Notes: CCS = Carbon Capture and Storage. CPol = Current Policies. NDC = Nationally Determined Contributions; it denotes a climate scenario with policies of 2015.

Source: Zhou et al., 2020

In the electricity generation mix, coal is currently the main source in India (Figure 5.4). In 2016, the power generation mix was 78 per cent coal, 2 per cent oil, 4 per cent each for gas and hydro, 3 per cent nuclear, 7 per cent bioenergy, and 2 per cent other renewables (Vishwanathan et al., 2018). However, low-carbon scenarios show limited growth in coal-based power generation, with increasing reliance on renewable energy. In these scenarios, the share of renewables exceeds 30 per cent, and even reaches 50 per cent in the sustainable 2°C scenario, compensating for the phase-out of coal power (Gupta et al., 2020).

Shukla et al., (2015) estimated that renewable energy would constitute 58 per cent of electricity generation capacity in 2050 in the conventional 2°C scenario and 71 per cent in the sustainable 2°C scenario. The conventional scenario includes a higher share of nuclear energy and the use of coal and biomass with CCS. Coal-based power generation might re-enter post-2030 with CCS. The share of nuclear energy in power generation is expected to increase in both conventional and sustainable 2°C scenarios, with a significantly higher share in the conventional scenario (Shukla et al., 2015). Increased use of nuclear energy in the 2°C and 1.5°C scenarios, compared to the NDC scenario, is also evident (Zhou et al., 2020), though this is inconsistent with projections by Vishwanathan et al., (2018).

In the optimal cost 2°C scenario (conventional scenario), the share of electricity generation from coal declines to 34.5 per cent, while the share of non-fossil fuel-based power generation increases to 39 per cent in 2030 compared to the BAU scenario (Shukla et al., 2017). Within renewables, the composition is expected to change over time as price trends vary among different renewable energy sources. Until 2030, renewable capacity is expected to be predominantly a mix of hydro, wind, solar, and biomass (Shukla et al., 2015). Post-2030, solar power capacity is expected to dominate the mix.

5.2.2. Transport

Transport is the fourth-largest sector contributing to direct GHG emissions in India, accounting for nearly 7 per cent of total emissions (Busby and Shidore, 2017). Due to the sector's high growth rate, it is projected to become the third largest contributor by 2030. Road transport makes up 87 per cent of total emissions within the transport sector, driven by rapid urbanisation, interregional trade and expansion of supply chains, and a shift toward more consumerist lifestyles, resulting in significant increases in vehicle use. This trend is expected to continue, particularly in urban areas as rising incomes lead to increased per capita passenger and freight demand. Consequently, the transport sector will consume a growing share of energy in the medium-to-long term.

For instance, passenger transport demand is estimated to be driven by an increase in individual mobility, with p er capita mobility expected to increase by a factor of three from 5,685 passenger km (pkm) in 2010 to 18,837 in 2050 (Dhar et al., 2017). Urban transport demand would witness a transition towards motorisation with increased use of private motorized modes and reduced reliance on non-motorised transport (NMT). The share of rail-based modes e.g., metros, light rail, etc. would increase due to significant investments in public transport including mass transit. Implementation of fuel efficiency norms will facilitate investments in cleaner vehicle technologies including EVs and fuels. The per capita freight demand in India is quite low at 1,464-ton km (tkm) in 2010 compared to nearly 8,000 tkm in EU (EEA, 2013). Economic growth would result in an increase in the overall demand for freight transport from 1,793 x 10 9 tkm in 2010 to 10,052 x 109 tkm in 2050. Investment in dedicated freight corridors will increase the share of rail. Road based transport dominate the share of freight transport (Dhar et al., 2017).

The share of the transport sector in final energy consumption is projected to increase from around 15 per cent in 2010 to about 20 per cent in 2050 in the NDC and 2°C scenarios (Dhar et al., 2018). Transport energy intensity is also expected to rise in these scenarios. However, in the 1.5°C scenario, final energy demand of the transport sector is projected to reduce by 47 per cent by 2050 compared to the NDC scenario. In low-carbon scenarios, a shift towards gas, electricity and biofuels helps reduce the CO₂ intensity of transport energy use (Mittal et al., 2018; Shukla et al., 2015). Despite this, Shukla et al., (2015) estimate that oil will remain the largest transportation fuel source from 2010 to 2050 in both conventional and sustainable pathways to achieve the 2°C target. On the other hand, biomass becomes the most prominent transport fuel in the 1.5°C and NDC 2°C scenarios (NDC till 2030 and 2°C pathway post-2030) (Mittal et al., 2018).

Vishwanathan et al., (2018) estimated that the transport sector accounted for about 11 per cent of total carbon emissions in 2010, with projections to increase to about 12 per cent in 2050 in the BAU scenario and 14 per cent in the NDC scenario. However, emissions from the transport sector are projected to decrease to almost 9 per cent of total carbon emissions in the 1.5°C scenario. This reduction is expected to result from a combination of policy measures, including technological changes driving a shift in energy sources (e.g., EVs), modal shifts to lowcarbon modes (e.g., metro rail), and behavioural changes affecting mobility demand (e.g., telecommuting). These projections align with Dhar et al., (2018), which indicates that end-use demand in the transport sector for a 1.5°C pathway will change under the influence of clean fuels and technological innovations.

Electricity demand for transport has traditionally been dominated by rail-based intercity transport (Dhar et al., 2017). In 2010, demand for electricity from transport was 11.6 Terawatt hours (TWh), with 82 per cent from intercity rail. The remaining demand came from metro systems in cities and the transportation of petroleum products through pipelines. Future demand for electricity from rail-based transport is expected to increase due to the expansion of rail networks, increased rail services, creation of dedicated freight corridors and high-speed rail networks.

India's NDCs specifies a target to increase the share of rail in inland transportation from 36 to 45 per cent. Dedicated freight corridors (DFCs) are a move towards this target, expected to ease the load on road freight, which relies on diesel-powered trucks. This shift could result in a cumulative reduction of around 132 MtCO₂ between 2015 and 2030, and 625 MtCO₂ between 2015 and 2050. Higher reductions can be achieved if electricity is decarbonised. The shift from road to rail will also deliver energy savings and diversify away from oil. The mix of vehicles and a fuel shift is evolving with the penetration of cleaner technologies and fuels. The electrification of transport is supported by an increasing share of rail for intercity, urban passenger and freight transport. Urban mobility is being encouraged via public transport by expanding existing metro rail systems, Bus Rapid Transit Systems (BRTS), light rail systems and regional rails. Around 754 km of metro rail is in operation, with metro capacity increasing from five cities in 2014 to 18 cities in 2020 and an estimated 25 cities in 2025 (MOEFCC, 2023). Currently, 130 MW of solar power is being used to run the metro rail, which will increase to 600 MW in the coming years.

Few metro systems also use regenerative breaking (generating electricity from breaking and supplying it back to the grid), which can lead to emissions reduction. From 2002 to 2016, 0.86 $MtCO_2$ emissions have been avoided with the implementation of metro systems (MOEFCC, 2023). BRTS is being operated in 11 cities.

5.2.3. Industry

Industry is the second largest contributor to GHG emissions in India, accounting for about 25 per cent of total emissions, and this share is expected to grow. Three subsectors: steel, cement and chemical, dominate industrial emissions, making up nearly 80 per cent of net industrial direct emissions (Busby and Shidore, 2017). Energy consumption in these sectors is estimated to increase by 4 per cent annually due to rising energy demand for cement, brick manufacturing, and iron and steel (Vishwanathan et al., 2017). Key drivers of this demand include rising urbanisation and increased demand for residential and commercial buildings and infrastructure construction.

Dhar et al., (2018) estimate the energy demand of the industrial sector to increase steadily under all climate scenarios: NDC, 2°C and sustainable 2°C (SE4ALL plus 2°C). The sustainable scenario anticipates the lowest rate of energy demand growth for the industrial sector due to simultaneous interventions in transport, buildings and infrastructure, which collectively reduce net demand. Shukla et al., (2015) also indicate that a sustainable low-carbon scenario has a 22 per cent lower energy demand compared to the conventional scenario. While final energy demand in the conventional low-carbon scenario



Figure 5.5: Energy demand from the industrial sector under different scenarios

Source: Dhar et al., 2018

is expected to increase six-fold by 2050, relative to 2010, the energy intensity of the sector is projected to improve over the same period.

In the NDC scenario, emissions from the steel sector are projected to reach around 1,000 $MtCO_2$ by 2050, while emissions from the cement sector will reach around 380 $MtCO_2$ (Dhar et al., 2018). Although CO_2 emissions in the steel sector are lower in the 2°C scenario, they do not peak by 2050. In the cement industry, a reduction in CO_2 emissions growth can be achieved through the widespread deployment of CCS, with 45 per cent of cement plants expected to utilise CCS by 2050.

Both the steel and cement industries, under the sustainable 2°C and 1.5°C scenarios, are projected to achieve peak emissions by 2050, indicating a decoupling of emissions from economic growth. These sustainable scenarios anticipate lower demand for materials and energy-intensive products due to higher levels of dematerialisation, recycling, waste reduction and reuse (Dhar et al., 2018).

Apart from directly reducing final energy demand, another crucial factor for decarbonising the industrial sector is the changing fuel mix, which reduces the CO₂ intensity of energy use (Shukla et al., 2015). In 2017, the industry consumed a mix of coal, oil, natural gas, electricity and biofuels, with fossil fuels collectively representing 56 per cent of total consumption, excluding electricity production (IEA, 2020a). Coal is extensively used, both as a fuel and as a raw material in certain processes, such as non-coking coal in iron and steel production and in cement manufacturing. Coal constitutes more than 50 per cent of the industrial fuel mix, followed by diesel, natural gas and electricity (Vishwanathan et al., 2017). However, sectors such as iron and steel, paper, and textiles are increasingly moving towards electrification, while the fertiliser industry is shifting towards natural gas.

 CO_2 intensity is projected to decrease from 3.92 t CO_2 per toe in 2010 to 1.49 t CO_2 per toe in 2050 under low-carbon scenarios (Shukla et al., 2015). The fuel mix is expected to shift away from coal, with coal's share dropping from 40 per cent in 2010 to 38 per cent (35 per cent) in 2050 in the conventional low-carbon scenario (sustainable low-carbon scenario). The deployment of CCS is anticipated

to increase in the steel and cement industries, further reducing CO_2 emissions. The role of natural gas is projected to rise in the industrial fuel mix, contributing to lower CO_2 intensity, along with an increasing share of electricity as it becomes progressively decarbonised.

To manage energy consumption in the industrial sector, India implemented the National Mission for Enhanced Energy Efficiency in 2008, which includes the PAT scheme, a market-based energy efficiency improvement programme. Under the PAT scheme, industries must meet energy-saving targets by either implementing energy efficiency measures or offsetting excess energy consumption through the purchase of energy-saving certificates. In its first cycle (2012-2015), the scheme covered eight energy-intensive industries and achieved energy savings of 8.67 million tonnes of oil equivalent (Mtoe), surpassing the target of 6.68 Mtoe, leading to avoidance of 31 MtCO, emissions (BEE, 2023a). In the second PAT cycle (2016-2019), the scheme covered 11 sectors (including three new sectors - refineries, railways and Power Distribution Companies (DISCOMs) and resulted in total energy savings of about 14.08 Mtoe, translating into avoidance of about 68 MtCO₂ emissions. The third PAT cycle led to energy savings of about 1.75 Mtoe. Eight PAT cycles have been rolled out so far; from the third cycle onwards, the roll-out has been happening on an annual basis with new designated consumers (DCs) and new sectors being added in some cycles. The cycle duration continues to be of three years with no interim targets. As of date, PAT covers 1,343 DCs from 13 sectors (Chunekar & Apte, 2023). However, an assessment shows that the PAT scheme's first cycle was not significantly effective in contributing towards the NDC as the energysaving targets were not more stringent than those set for BAU scenarios (Bhandari and Shrimali 2017). Another assessment also called for stricter target setting under the scheme, pointing to oversupply of energy saving certificates in the market and modest targets, and recommending greater transparency and compliance monitoring of the scheme (Chunekar & Apte, 2023).

5.2.4. Buildings

Residential and commercial buildings are significant contributors to electricity consumption and are responsible for approximately 12 per cent of emissions (Busby and Shidore 2017). The building sector accounts for about 30 per cent of India's final energy consumption (BEE, 2023a).

In the residential sector, urban energy demand for cooking is primarily met through liquefied petroleum gas (LPG), with low-income populations using kerosene and biomass, while rural households predominantly rely on traditional biomass. However, there is a shift away from traditional biomass towards gas and electricity, driven by governmental initiatives. This transition reduces local air pollution but increases CO_2 emissions. Vishwanathan et al., (2018) found that as reliance on biomass declines, building sector emissions tend to rise. Under a deep decarbonisation scenario, the CO_2 intensity of energy use is projected to decrease from 3.92 t CO_2 per toe in 2010 to 1.49 t CO_2 per toe in 2050 (Shukla et al., 2015). In commercial buildings, direct electricity consumption is the primary source of emissions.

Electricity consumption in both residential and commercial buildings is expected to grow, especially due to the rapid expansion of air conditioning in Indian homes and offices (Phadke et al., 2014; Chaturvedi and Shukla 2014). It is projected that nearly 70 per cent of the buildings that will exist in India by 2030 are yet to be built. The housing gap amounts to about 19 million units in urban areas (NBO, 2013) and at least 43 million in rural areas (MoRD, 2011), which has significant implications for climate mitigation. The choice of technology, design and materials, and the implementation of energy-saving options can significantly impact the cost and CO_2 emissions of the impending building stock (Khosla and Janda, 2019).

Buildings consume 33 per cent of total electricity in the country, and this share is estimated to rise to 55 per cent by 2047. Electricity demand in the residential and commercial buildings sectors is predicted to rise fivefold and threefold, respectively, by 2032 (BEE, 2023). Traditional use of biomass for heating and cooking is the largest component of residential energy consumption. Under the BAU scenario, energy demand in the building sector could increase by as much as 700 per cent by 2050, compared to 2005 levels (GBPN, 2014). The technical potential from this unprecedented growth includes a 30 per cent reduction in energy use in new residential buildings and 40 per cent in new commercial buildings through energy efficiency measures.

To achieve the goals of the Paris Agreement, the Indian building sector must reduce final energy demand by 40 per cent compared to BAU. Current interventions are inadequate. The International Energy Agency (IEA) notes that India has access to cooling technologies with efficiencies higher than 400 per cent. Improving residential cooling equipment performance could save 3.5 EJ of energy by 2025, which was nearly equivalent to the total electricity use in India in 2015 (IEA, 2017). Delaying improvements in building envelope performance by a decade could result in an additional 50 EJ of final energy demand by 2060 (Abergel et al., 2017).

India's initiatives to improve building energy efficiencies include the Energy Conservation Act, 2001, the establishment of the Bureau of Energy Efficiency (BEE) in 2002, and the development of the Energy Conservation Building Code (ECBC) for commercial buildings in 2007 (updated in 2017) and for residential buildings (ECBC-R or Eco Niwas Samhita) in 2018. Despite some improvements in building energy intensity, the Indian building sector is not yet decarbonising (Graham and Rawal, 2019). The sector offers a GHG mitigation potential of 0.3 $GtCO_2e$ by 2050; about 8 per cent of the global GHG mitigation potential of the building sector (GBPN, 2012).

Approximately 90 per cent of this potential is related to energy savings in new buildings, while retrofitting existing buildings offers just under 10 per cent of the total energy savings potential (BEE, 2020). Without significant improvements in new building energy performance, the rate of new construction, coupled with increasing electricity demand, will lock out opportunities to realise the mitigation potential of India's building sector (Graham and Rawal, 2019).

About 70 per cent of the growth in energy demand from buildings is driven by the residential sector (Graham and Rawal, 2019), which currently lacks mandatory building energy performance regulations (IEA, 2017). Eco Niwas Samhita, launched in 2018, sets minimum performance standards for building envelopes to limit heat gains and losses and ensures adequate natural ventilation and daylighting. The code applies to residential building projects on plots larger than 500 sq. m.

Sector	2015	2030 BAU	2030 Adv. NDC
Biomass	68	46	29
Coal	4	0	0
Gas	3	3	5
Oil	12	11	17
Electricity	12	34	40
Solar	1	6	10

Table 5.2: Fuel shares in buildings energy consumption under BAU and advanced NDC scenarios (in per cent)

Source: Vishwanathan et al., 2018

New construction and increased air conditioning in India have led to a 500 per cent increase in electricity demand in the building sector since 2010 (IEA, 2017). Air conditioning currently accounts for 40–60 per cent of summer peak load in large Indian cities and is projected to contribute to around 30 per cent of national peak demand (approximately 140 GW) by 2030 (Abhyankar et al., 2017). Transitioning to cleaner appliances like LEDs, cleaner cook stoves, solar water heaters and energy-efficient cooling systems is expected to improve energy use in the sector.

However, overall energy demand will remain high due to increased use of air conditioners and other electric technologies. Smart grids will face technical challenges with constantly changing technologies, business challenges in servicing end-use providers, and financial risks (Vishwanathan et al., 2019). A better understanding of demand load curves will be essential for the smooth implementation of smart and microgrids in residential, commercial, and industrial areas.

In the advanced NDC scenario, India achieves both its NDC targets for 2030: a reduction in the carbon intensity of GDP and a 40 per cent non-fossil fuel share in generation capacity (Vishwanathan et al., 2019). In this scenario, the fuel share composition shifts in favour of electricity compared to biomass in the baseline scenario, with solar energy emerging as a prominent energy source. Post-NDC policies promote household access to cleaner cooking, which will lead to increased fossil fuel consumption and,

consequently, higher CO_2 emissions in the building sector in the short and medium terms. However, this increase will allow for a better quality of life for many more Indians during the country's transition.

The rise in carbon emissions from the building sector is offset by reduction in emissions from other sectors, primarily power generation. This reduction is driven by the switch to energy-efficient thermal plants and the scaling up of renewable energy sources (Vishwanathan et al., 2019).

5.2.5. Agriculture

Agriculture faces the triple challenge of increasing production to meet the growing food demand, adapting to changing climatic conditions and reducing GHG emissions.

While the agriculture sector has less CO_2 emission intensity than the industrial and service sector, it emits methane (CH₄) and nitrous oxide (N₂O), contributing about 13 per cent of GHG emissions in the country; a decrease of 1 per cent compared to 2016 (MOEFCC, 2023). Key emission-intensive activities include rice cultivation, livestock production (enteric fermentation), fertiliser use and burning of crop residue. Increasing use of fertilisers and rising livestock population are major drivers of methane and nitrous oxide emissions. Within the different categories in this sector, 53 per cent of GHG emissions were from enteric fermentation, followed by 21 per cent from agricultural soils, 17 per cent from rice cultivation, 6.54 per cent from manure management and 1.99 per cent from field burning of agricultural residues in 2019.

States like Uttar Pradesh, Andhra Pradesh, Madhya Pradesh, Maharashtra, Rajasthan and West Bengal exhibit higher total emissions due to extensive crop areas and large livestock populations. Andhra Pradesh, West Bengal and Punjab have higher crop emissions due to significant rice cultivation, while Maharashtra, Madhya Pradesh and Uttar Pradesh show higher emissions from cotton and sugarcane cultivation. States like Himachal Pradesh, Uttarakhand, Jharkhand and Chhattisgarh have higher crop emission intensities due to lower crop yields.

Emissions from agriculture in India are expected to increase further in the future as food demand rises with increasing population and per capita income. Hence, India has identified agriculture as one of the priority sectors for GHG emissions reduction in its NDCs. Identifying emission hotspots and cost-effective mitigation options in agriculture can help prioritise efforts to reduce emissions without compromising food and nutrition security.

Sapkota et al., (2017) estimated that by 2030, businessas-usual GHG emissions from the agricultural sector in India would be 515 $MTCO_2e$ per year, with a technical mitigation potential of 86 $MtCO_2e$ per year through the adoption of various mitigation practices. About 80 per cent of this technical mitigation potential could be achieved by adopting cost-saving measures like efficient use of fertilisers, zero tillage and rice water management.

5.3 Mitigation Options on the Demand and Supply Sides

Decarbonisation (transitioning from BAU to NDC scenarios) and deep decarbonisation of the economy (transitioning from NDC to low-carbon pathways) require focused attention in several key areas: increased energy efficiency in both supply and demand sectors, enhanced deployment of renewable energy, demand reduction in end-use sectors through dematerialisation, recycling, reuse and behaviour change, and deployment of CCS where feasible (Vishwanathan et al., 2018). Vishwanathan et al., (2018) further suggest that energy efficiency and renewable energy will play nearly equal

roles in CO_2 mitigation under the NDC scenario. However, for low-carbon scenarios, lifestyle changes and CCS will be more relevant.

Supply-side interventions are primarily within the energy sector, whereas demand-side interventions include demand reduction or substitution, efficiency improvements, and behavioural changes. Effective emissions mitigation necessitates a combination of both sets of options.

NITI Aayog (2017) provides a schematic division of possible intervention areas on both the supply and demand sides. On the supply side, areas are classified according to the energy source (coal, oil, gas or renewable) or form (electricity) and the stage of the value chain (Table 5.3). Stages of the value chain are divided into upstream, midstream and downstream. For instance, the upstream stage of electricity is generation, while midstream and downstream stages are transmission and distribution. Similarly, exploration and production define the upstream stage of oil while refining and distribution are midstream and downstream stages. Final energy consumption is captured in demand-side areas and is categorised into major consumption sectors like businesses, households, transportation, industries and agriculture (Table 5.4).

Decarbonisation on the demand side includes policy measures that support the reduction and stabilisation of demands in energy-intensive industries, significant increases in energy-efficient technologies in the building sector, rise of EVs in the transport sector, enhanced deployment of smart grids and changes in consumer behaviour (Vishwanathan & Garg, 2017).

Roy et al., (2018) find that demand-side actions alone cannot be effective enough. Optimising mitigation actions requires acknowledging the interconnectedness across sectors. For example, demand-side mitigation actions in the transport sector heavily depend on city planning and infrastructure, and the construction sector is integral to the building sector. There can also be tradeoffs between demand-side mitigation options in different sectors. In the industrial sector, some demand-side actions in other sectors have trade-offs in the industrial production process.

Table 5.3: Supply-side interventions

		Stages of Value Chain			
	Upstream (Generation)	Midstream (Transmission)	Downstream (Distribution)		
Oil and Gas	Enhancing E&P by adopting best R&R practices.	Enhancing refining and distribution through increased infrastructure. Determining fuel prices on market price basis. Achieving universal clean cooking coverage through multiple fuel options.			
Coal	Attracting private capital by offering a stable regime. Instituting a robust regulatory regime.	Efficient transportation and distribution through better rail infrastructure. Value addition of raw coal through washeries. Pursuing technologies to establish commerciality of Indian coal.			
Renewable Energy	Enhancing capacity and generation, including of nuclear power, large hydro, biomass and	Increased grid integration of renewables and adoption of battery and pumped storage. Efficient market for uptake of renewable electricity. Achieving flexibility in coal power plants.			
Electricity	offshore wind. Higher adoption of ultra- supercritical/IGCC. Policy support for decentralised generation or CCS. Promoting uranium exploration.	Need for a robust transmission and distribution infrastructure, efficient electricity market and improved financial status of DISCOMs. Achieving universal electrification.			
Cross-border trade	Fostering cross border trade of petroleum products and electricity especially with neighbours (Nepal, Bhutan, Bangladesh, Myanmar, Sri Lanka, China and Pakistan), which would enhance energy security.				

Note: IGCC = Integrated Gasification Combined Cycle. *Source: NITI Aayog, 2017a*

The IEA (2020) notes that in 2018, efficiency gains were largely achieved in industrial and service sectors, as well as in residential buildings, avoiding nearly 300 MtCO₂e in emissions. However, total energy efficiency improvements were almost completely offset by factors boosting energy use, such as increases in residential building floor area and appliance ownership, shifts to less efficient modes of transport and decreasing vehicle occupancy rates. Therefore, a cross-sectoral framework is essential for positive net benefits in demand-side mitigation.

Feasibility assessments of mitigation options in different sectors (Busby & Shidore, 2017) suggest that road transport is the most favourable sector for emissions mitigation, followed by petrochemicals. Cement and fertilisers are already at or near the global efficiency frontier. Buildings possess strong technoeconomic feasibility but face challenging political and organisational feasibility. Electricity, agriculture and steel represent hard cases in both political/organisational and techno-economic feasibility. (A feasibility assessment of mitigation options is discussed in the Chapter 7).

Table 5.4: Demand-side i	interventions
--------------------------	---------------

	Energy Efficiency/ Decarbonisation	Investment	Infrastructure
Industry	Rolling out PAT scheme cycles. Encouraging fuel switching towards reduction in solid fuel use by electrifying processes.	olling out PAT schemeMore investment requiredycles. Encouragingin efficient manufacturinguel switching towardstechnologies in cement,eduction in solid fuel useiron and steel, and othery electrifying processes.sectors.	
Cooking	Improving the efficiency of biomass cook stoves and gas stoves. Moving towards cleaner fuel, including electric cook stoves.	Investing in induction cookers/LPG bottles or efficient biomass cook stoves, pellet manufacturing and electricity distribution infrastructure to shift to cleaner cooking fuels.	Setting up refineries and pipeline infrastructure to deliver LPG, enhance the use of electric stoves.
Transport	Raising CAFÉ standards and switching to EVs and public transport.	Investing in manufacturing of efficient vehicles/EVs/ hybrids and higher spends on fuel-efficient vehicles.	Electric charging stations, hydrogen filling stations for FCVs and more CNG stations.
Buildings	Improving energy efficiency of all electrical appliances and adhering to the for all buildings with high energy use, including retrofits. Raising thermal efficiency of buildings.	Higher investment in buildings and domestic appliances with higher energy efficiency	Enhancing use of better insulation and construction materials.
Agriculture	Better efficiency of pumps and tractors.	Investment in efficient irrigation pumps, including solar/electric pumps for irrigation.	Laying sub-transmission infrastructure to electrify irrigation pumps and solar pumps and build efficient tractors.

Notes: BAT =. CAFÉ = Corporate Average Fuel Economy. CNG = Compressed natural gas. EV = Electric vehicle. FCV =. LPG = Liquefied petroleum gas. PAT = Perform, Achieve and Trade. *Source: NITI Aayog, 2017a*

5.3.1. Energy sector

Key strategies for mitigation in India include decarbonisation of electricity, electrification of end-uses and improvement in energy efficiency. Mitigation options in the energy sector are crucial as they influence the mitigation potential of most other sectors.

Enhancing energy efficiency by retrofitting energyefficient coal technologies across sectors, implementing supercritical coal combustion technology for all new power plants and phasing out relatively inefficient plants older than 20–30 years will lead to a decrease in overall demand (Vishwanathan & Garg, 2020). Between 2011 and 2050, the overall energy demand is estimated to decrease by 78 EJ under the NDC scenario, and by 38–71 EJ in deep decarbonisation scenarios (the inclusion of CCS increases overall energy demand in the power sector).

Supply-side options: The energy mix needed to meet the chosen level of energy demand should reduce import dependence and transition towards cleaner and sustainable supply options (NITI Aayog, 2017). The commercialisation of newer, cleaner technologies such as ultra-supercritical and Integrated Gasification Combined Cycle (IGCC) technologies in coal-based generation will lead to their increased penetration. Enhanced gasbased power generation capacity is acknowledged for encouraging cleaner power sources and balancing renewable energy capacities. The potential for CCS in coal and gas-based generation capacities in the medium-tolong term should also be considered (NITI Aayog, 2017).

While the continued use of coal and gas with CCS is an option, renewable energy is expected to be the key driver of mitigation in the energy sector. Achieving 175 GW of renewable energy capacity by 2022 and creating a market and facilitative mechanism for renewable energy post-2022 will lead to its increased adoption through autonomous growth (NITI Aayog, 2017). Concentrated Solar Power (CSP) and offshore wind capacities will contribute to renewable energy generation alongside solar PV, distributed Solar Photo Voltaic technology and onshore wind.

Areas of intervention: NITI Aayog (2017) identifies several areas of intervention:

- Energy consumption by businesses, households, transportation and agriculture.
- Energy efficiency/decarbonisation measures on the demand side.
- Production and distribution of coal.
- Electricity generation, transmission and distribution.

- Augmenting the supply of oil and gas through domestic exploration and production, and acquisition of overseas acreages.
- Refining and distribution of oil and gas.
- Installation, generation and distribution of renewable energy.

CCS is crucial for well below 2°C and 1.5°C scenarios (Shukla et al., 2015), especially if there is delayed mitigation action (Vishwanathan et al., 2018). CCS becomes economically viable at sites with high storage potential and low transportation and sequestration costs, such as depleted oil and gas wells. The main enabler for CCS is carbon price, which is expected to increase steadily. According to Anandarajah & Gambhir (2014), India can meet its emission reduction targets without CCS technology, but with greater contribution from renewables. However, CCS technologies can reduce long-term mitigation costs, as the unavailability of CCS triples the marginal abatement cost by 2050 when comparing scenarios with and without CCS.

Demand-side options: Demand-side options for emissions reduction in the energy sector primarily involve improving efficiency and energy usage patterns in enduse sectors. With end-use energy efficiency improvement policies in industries, buildings and transport, final energy consumption is estimated to decrease by 5 per cent in 2030, 8 per cent in 2050 and 16 per cent in 2090. Primary energy consumption is expected to similarly decline (Chaturvedi & Shukla, 2014).

High code compliance rates are critical to achieving intended savings, despite existing policies in different enduse sectors (Yu et al., 2017). Technical efficiency alone is not sufficient; alternative strategies focused on behavioural changes enabled through planning and policies are also necessary. In the transport sector, strategies like mobility management, shortening trip lengths and increasing vehicle occupancy are more effective than merely increasing vehicle fuel efficiency (Chaturvedi & Shukla, 2014). Emissions from the transport and building sectors can also be reduced through the spatial organisation of urban areas, particularly the geometric characteristics established by the relationship between roads, buildings, public structures, green spaces, land use distribution and the relative location of activities (Creutzig et al., 2016).

Smart grids are expected to play a crucial role in monitoring and conserving energy in urban areas (Vishwanathan et al., 2017). Power distribution relies on utilities to maximise efficiency and optimise the network to deliver power to consumers at minimal cost. Smart grid technologies offer promising solutions for dynamic optimisation of grid operations and resources, metering, and distribution automation in response to demand (Shamim & Rihan, 2017).

5.3.2. Transport

In 2050, electricity is projected to comprise 18 per cent of the transport energy mix in the 2°C scenario and 24 per cent in the 1.5°C scenario (Mittal et al., 2018). With expected increases in population and GDP, significant rise in vehicles and demand for road transport is anticipated. In 2019–20, about 21 million two-wheelers, 3.4 million passenger vehicles and 0.75 million commercial vehicles and were produced in India (Bazaz et al., 2022). Between 2001 and 2011, the percentage of households owning twowheelers increased by 2.5 times. The National Transport Development Policy Committee (NTDPC) estimates that travel demand served by road transport will increase to 163 trillion passenger-kilometres by 2031, nearly 17 times that of 2011 (NTDPC, 2014).

Transport energy demand is expected to increase from 1.7 EJ in 2010 to 12 EJ by 2050 under the NDC scenario (Dhar et al., 2018). In a conventional scenario, this demand rises to 15 EJ by 2050, while in a sustainable scenario, it reaches only 8 EJ (Shukla et al., 2015). The sustainable scenario, which includes population and demand-side interventions, aims to lower end-use demand. India's transport strategy focuses on sustainability, reducing dependency on imported energy and mitigating environmental impacts. Mass transit and urban planning will play a vital role in the transport mitigation strategy.

Significant CO_2 reductions in transport can be achieved through a combination of sustainable mobility strategies and fuel economy standards, with EVs playing a more substantial role post 2030 (Dhar, Shukla, et al., 2017). Improving service efficiency, such as ride-pooling or car sharing, and fuel switching to options like hydrogen buses and EVs can also reduce emissions (Creutzig et al., 2016). A holistic strategy involving planned interventions in both demand and supply is necessary for a decisive shift towards sustainable transport modes (TERI, 2015).

Supply-side options: Clean vehicle technologies and fuels are central to supply-side strategies. Upgrading fuel quality and efficiency can reduce emissions significantly (TERI, 2015). Alternatives like biofuels can aid in transitioning away from carbon-based fuels. India's National Policy on Biofuels (2018) sets blending targets for ethanol (20 per cent by 2030) and biodiesel (5 per cent by 2030). The 20 per cent ethanol blending target has now been advanced to 2025-26, with India achieving 10 per cent ethanol blending in 2022–23 (Mukherjee, 2024).

Fuel economy standards are regulated by the Central Pollution Control Board. In 2012, fuel mileage standards and labelling for new cars were introduced, requiring manufacturers to display certified efficiency labels on each car. The National Electric Mobility Mission set a sales target of 6–7 million EVs by 2020, potentially reducing emissions by 98 $MtCO_2$ between 2015 and 2030, and by 1,155 $MtCO_2$ between 2015 and 2050 (Gupta et al., 2018). India aims to make 30 per cent of its total vehicle stock electric by 2030 (Fekete et al., 2021).

Direct financial incentives and infrastructure investments are crucial for increasing EV adoption in the short-to--medium term (Dhar, Pathak, et al., 2017). There is significant potential for scaling up the share of electric two-wheelers in the short term (Dhar et al., 2017). This would also be an opportunity for India to develop the domestic EV industry and create an enabling environment, including charging infrastructure, which can facilitate diffusion of larger EVs. For EVs, policy support in terms of financial aid (subsidies), infrastructure (charging stations and proper roads) and training facilities for drivers are crucial in market penetration (Ahmed & Karmaker, 2019; Tu & Yang, 2019; Zhang et al., 2018)it has also caused tremendous damage to the global ecological environment. Therefore, humans are thinking seriously about the environment and its sustainable development. One of the solutions to environmental problems is new energy vehicles. Since the promulgation of the "Energy Saving and New Energy Vehicle Industry Development Plan (2012-2020.

Demand-side options: Demand-side strategies for passenger and freight transport include reducing the need for travel and shifting to low-emission modes (Sims et al., 2014). Enhancing conditions for walking and cycling, increasing public transport provision, and integrating urban planning with transport can significantly reduce emissions. Investments in high-speed rail and dedicated freight corridors are crucial for altering transport trends. Many cities are investing in mass transit systems like metros and bus rapid transit (BRT).

Integrated land use and transport planning can reduce travel demand and associated costs (TERI, 2015). Promoting non-motorised transport can be particularly beneficial in Indian cities due to short trip lengths and mixed land use structures. Innovation and strategies to reduce the cost of hybrid and electric public transport vehicles are also essential.

Spatial planners and policymakers play a significant role in reducing the demand for mobility services. Long-term housing near work hubs, improving lastmile connectivity and better service delivery in public transport can facilitate a shift towards sustainable modes. Comprehensive mobility plans in cities like Kolkata, Pune and Delhi aim for a 90 per cent modal share in public transport (Roy et al., 2018). Developing a userfriendly public transport environment and encouraging non-motorised modes are crucial. Innovation and intervention in service delivery can reduce the need for private transportation and facilitate mass transit (Roy et al., 2018). A supporting infrastructure provisioning is also an important enabler in reducing transport demand and affecting modal choices.

Policymakers and planners need to facilitate a userfriendly environment to use public transport (e.g., by providing information on bus routes, timetables, easy ticket payment and collection) and non-motorised modes of transport (e.g., specific lanes for walking and biking). Private players can also influence transport demand by changing their employees' transport allowances, which in turn can change the behaviour of commuters (Ahmad & Puppim de Oliveira, 2016; Roy et al., 2018).

Overall, demand-side policies have great potential in shaping the transport sector (Creutzig et al., 2016).

Projections for the transport sector show a marked difference between the conventional scenario (supplyoriented policies) and the sustainability scenario (both supply- and demand-oriented policies). Under the sustainable scenario, the share of transport sector CO_2 emissions in 2050 reduces to 16 per cent, compared to 28 per cent in the conventional scenario (Shukla et al., 2015).

5.3.3. Industry

Mitigation in the industry sector can be achieved through interventions in industrial processes, management and technologies. Key strategies include raw material management, process improvements, installation of systems such as waste heat recovery and reducing output wastage through better quality control. Reducing emissions intensity and improving energy efficiency can be accelerated through capand-trade mechanisms like the PAT scheme, which targets large energy-intensive consumers to reduce energy intensities and overall energy consumption. Fuel switching to gas from coal, automation and electrification of industry, modernisation of old plants, and CCS in steel and cement plant clusters are measures that can enhance energy efficiency (Vishwanathan & Garg, 2020).

Allwood et al., (2010) suggest four strategies for improving material efficiency: reducing material intensity, extending product life and usage, remanufacturing and reuse of components, and recycling. Reducing material intensity can be achieved by adopting lightweight design principles, upgrading material properties and material substitution. Studies indicate that applying lightweight design principles can reduce steel and aluminium requirements by 25-30 per cent (Seyfried et al., 2015). Substituting lowenergy materials in construction can reduce cement consumption by 5 per cent. Overall, material intensity reductions through lightweighting and material substitution can lower product demand by 10 per cent for steel and 15 per cent for cement by 2050, compared to conventional scenarios (Dhar et al., 2018).

Adequate investments in building and infrastructure are essential, as lack of investment translates to lower quality and shorter lifespan. Prolonging the service life of buildings and infrastructure through maintenance and reinvestment is a useful strategy to reduce steel and cement consumption and CO_2 emissions (Shi et al., 2012).

Electricity will play a crucial role in decarbonising the steel sector. In other words, the decarbonisation of steelmaking will rely heavily on the decarbonisation of electricity (Dhar et al., 2018). The reduction in CO_2 intensity in steel and cement will also depend on the uptake of CCS, which will require stringent carbon policies such as levying a high carbon tax or a cap on CO₂ emissions. NITI Aayog (2017) noted that electricity demand in their ambitious scenario would be more than the BAU scenario, since the technology employed in the former is more electricity-intensive rather than hydrocarbons-intensive. Hence the composition of electricity generation mix is an important determinant of the mitigation potential in the industry sector. Dhar et al., (2018) found that major contributors to decarbonisation in the steel sector include a larger share of electricity due to greater diffusion of electric arc furnace (EAF) technology and the rapid decarbonisation of electricity. In the cement sector, technological advancements like more efficient dry cement technology and CCS, are expected to have a larger impact than decarbonisation alone.

Establishing linkages between manufacturing and construction industry policies can amplify demand-side reductions. National and sub-national building codes and urban building by-laws could specify performance standards and waste management policies, such as the use of fly ash from power plants in the brick and cement manufacturing industries.

5.3.4. Buildings

The buildings sector primarily operates on the demandside, with minimal on-site fuel consumption, mainly for cooking, and the use of diesel generators in high-end commercial or residential buildings during frequent power blackouts. Most energy consumption comes from centralised grid electricity. Demand reduction strategies in this sector focus on minimising building footprint and lowering energy usage for heating/cooling, lighting, cooking and appliances (Creutzig et al., 2016). One approach to reducing energy-intensive materials like cement involves substituting them with alternatives such as fly ash, wood, or bamboo (Roy et al., 2021). Environmentally sustainable designs that incorporate natural daylight and efficient management of circulation areas can significantly lessen the need for heating, cooling, and artificial lighting (Lourenço et al., 2019). Research indicates that information and communication technology (ICT) and Internet of Things (IoT) devices that provide real-time consumption data can encourage energy-saving behaviors, particularly among environmentally conscious consumers (Fabi et al., 2017).

India is addressing mitigation options through initiatives such as upgrades to the ECBC, promoting green building ratings, energy certification and stimulating markets for low-carbon/high-efficiency technologies. NITI Aayog (2017) suggests that periodic revisions to the ECBC, improved urban planning, and the promotion of highefficiency lighting and appliances can significantly enhance energy efficiency in both commercial and residential buildings.

High Performance Buildings (HPBs) that focus on maximising efficiency in form and function, can play a crucial role in transforming India's carbon-intensive real estate sector. HPBs are designed to be resource and cost-efficient, using only 50 per cent to 25 per cent of the energy and water benchmarks established by current Indian codes (IIHS, 2024). They incorporate advanced technologies like high-performance windows, insulation, efficient HVAC systems, smart controls, and waterefficient designs to enhance thermal comfort, indoor air quality, and resilience throughout the building's life cycle.

A recent initiative, the Accelerating Sustainable and Super Efficient Real Estate (ASSURE) program, supported by Infosys, the Indian Institute for Human Settlements (IIHS), and the Alliance for Energy Efficient Economy (AEEE), aims to decarbonize commercial real estate in India by achieving 100 million square feet of high-performance commercial buildings by 2030 (ETTech, 2024). It is projected that if half of the projected commercial building stock for 2030 is built or retrofitted according to HPB principles, it could save businesses \$432 billion in energy costs, create 10 million skilled green jobs, and prevent 600 million tons of CO_2 emissions (IIHS, 2024). Capacity-building is vital to harness the energy-saving potential of regulatory and voluntary energy performance policies (Graham & Rawal, 2019). The fragmented nature of the building value chain necessitates on-the-ground support for stakeholders, requiring collaboration among industry, government, and experts to create a conducive policy and finance environment.

Encouraging energy-saving behaviors among occupants through smart thermostats and digital interfaces that provide feedback on energy use is a critical scaling-up strategy (Graham & Rawal, 2019). However, challenges such as inadequate documentation of design decisions, alterations during construction, informal building operations, and limited access to performance evaluation tools complicate the landscape (Khosla & Janda, 2019). Addressing these issues requires a new generation of third-party evaluators, architects, and engineers to bridge the energy and carbon savings gap.

Monitoring actual building energy consumption is essential for evaluating the impact of building energy codes and refining policies aimed at achieving energy savings and emissions reductions (Khosla & Janda, 2019). Disclosing energy performance at the point of sale or lease change can effectively stimulate markets for energy-efficient building renovations.

Vishwanathan et al., (2017) highlight several high-impact opportunities (HIO) in the building sector. LEDs stand out as promising HIOs in the short term, while mediumterm prospects include space-cooling appliances and the transition to clean energy stoves. Smart metering through ICT is expected to become a significant opportunity post-2025. Until 2030, key technologies for the Indian building sector include LED lights, efficient fans, air conditioners, and cleaner stoves (Vishwanathan et al., 2017).

5.3.5. Agriculture

Mitigation of GHG emissions from agriculture can be achieved by sequestering carbon and reducing emissions of methane and nitrous oxide through improved land use management and enhanced input-use efficiency. A winwin solution involves developing strategies that aid in climate change adaptation while promoting sustainable agricultural development. Improved management of agricultural land and livestock offers mitigation possibilities through three mechanisms: reducing or displacing emissions and enhancing removal (Sapkota et al., 2017). These mitigation activities often affect multiple gases in different ways, with the net benefit depending on the combined effects on all gases. Several practices in agro ecosystems have been advocated for emissions mitigation. Crop abatement options include a range of improved agronomic practices that increase crop yield, promote soil carbon storage, and ensure good management practices for fertilisers, water and other resources. These practices increase resource-use efficiencies, thereby reducing emissions associated with production inputs.

Sapkota et al., (2017) estimate that just three mitigation options—efficient fertiliser use, zero tillage, and rice water management—could deliver more than 50 per cent of the total technical abatement potential. Using slow-release fertiliser forms or nitrification inhibitors and applying fertilisers at the optimal time and place for plant uptake increases nutrient-use efficiency. This reduces fertiliserinduced field emissions and consumption, thereby decreasing emissions related to fertiliser production and transportation.

Livestock-related mitigation options are broadly identified as increased green fodder and concentrate feeding for lactating cattle and buffaloes, improved diet management for pigs and small ruminants, and enhanced manure management. Restoration of degraded land for crop production and vegetation establishment has the potential to increase carbon storage through enhanced photosynthesis and reduced soil erosion loss. Additionally, growing bioenergy crops on restored land can reduce dependency on fossil fuels, making this a viable mitigation practice (Jat et al., 2016; Olsson & Ardö, 2002).

Adopting zero tillage in crop production offers GHG mitigation by enhancing carbon sequestration and reducing fuel consumption (UNEP, 2013). Since soil disturbance stimulates soil carbon losses through enhanced decomposition and erosion, reducing tillage operations often results in soil carbon gain, although the effects may be small and variable (Baker et al., 2007; Powlson et al., 2016). Avoiding burning of crop residue also prevents the emission of aerosols and GHGs

generated from fire, while enhancing soil carbon (Sapkota et al., 2017), all of which contribute to mitigation.

Effective irrigation management in crops contributes to GHG mitigation by reducing water consumption and the associated energy use for irrigation, increasing yields and residue returns (Lal, 2004), and directly reducing methane emissions from rice fields (Wassmann et al., 2004). Other water management options, such as sprinkler or microsprinkler irrigation and fertigation, offer a technical mitigation potential of approximately 5.5 MtCO₂e but involve a large initial capital investment.

5.3.6. Technology as an enabler

New low-carbon, renewable energy sources and technologies will be crucial for mitigation, primarily led by the private sector. Demand-side management in domestic and commercial appliances and agriculture, will become more prominent as market penetration and greater adoption of available technologies takes place. These can be achieved through appropriate pricing policies, labelling and awareness-raising strategies, and attractive financing schemes, many of which are currently underway (Pahuja et al., 2014).

For most supply-side options, it is important to develop new technologies and facilitate market penetration by enabling policies and building institutional capacity. Supercritical power plants, ultra-supercritical power plants, IGCC and CCS are promising technologies for emissions abatement. In renewable energy, the government is pursuing solar power as a critical technology to achieve long-term energy security and lowcarbon growth. Options to reduce industrial emissions, especially in cement, iron and steel, and oil and gas, hinge on the development, adaptation and adoption of new technologies. Industry efforts have been instrumental in driving the development of technologies for emissions reduction. For example, India's cement industry, among the largest producers globally, is also one of the most technologically advanced (Riccardi et al., 2012). In recent years, facilities have gradually transitioned to dry process technology during cement production to replace the less efficient wet process dominant in the industry during the 1960s (Dutta & Mukherjee, 2010).

Table 5.5: High impact opportunities across different sectors

Sector	Short Term 2015–2020	Medium Term 2020–2030	Long Term 2030-2050	
Agriculture	Energy-efficient pumps		Energy-efficiency, solar pumps	
Transport	Metro	Metro, EVs		
Residential	LED, advanced space cooling systems, cleaner cooking	Energy-efficient fans, LED, advanced space cooling systems, cleaner cooking	Advanced space cooling systems (air conditioner with cool roof), solar concentrators for cooking, city/housing complexes-based heating and cooling systems.	
Industry	PAT	PAT with enhanced sectoral and plant coverage		
Power	Transmission and commercial loss reduction, supercritical coal-based power plants	Supercritical and ultra-mega power plants, transmission and commercial loss reduction, solar and wind energy, and smart grids	Supercritical and ultra-mega power plants, solar, wind and other renewables, and smart grids	

Source: Vishwanathan et al., 2017

Box 5.1: Green Hydrogen

Outlook: Green hydrogen is set to play a crucial role in decarbonizing hard-to-abate sectors such as iron, steel, cement, fertilizers, and refining, which collectively emit substantial CO₂. Several countries, including India are developing strategies to harness green hydrogen for its low-carbon transition. Green hydrogen is an important component of India's Long Term Low Emissions Development Strategy (LT-LEDS) and its updated NDCs. As part of LT-LEDS, India aims to set up a green hydrogen hub and increase its electrolyser manufacturing capacity, targeting a production capacity of 5 MMT (million metric tonnes) per annum by 2030 (MOEFCC,2022). Adoption of green hydrogen is estimated to reduce 3.6 giga tonnes of cumulative CO 2 emissions, save energy imports worth USD 246 billion to 358 billion between 2020 and 2050, and generate 6 lakh jobs (NitiAyog, 2022; RBI, 2023).

Current status: As of 2023, low-emission hydrogen accounted for just 1 MMT of the 97 MMT global hydrogen demand (IEA, 2024). The majority still relies on fossil fuels, particularly in refining and chemicals. Projections suggest low-emissions hydrogen production may reach 49 MMT per year by 2030, supported by approximately 520 GW of announced electrolysis capacity (IEA, 2024). Current projects with final investment decisions (FID) could yield 3.4 MMT of capacity, split between electrolysis (1.9 MMT) and fossil fuels with carbon capture (1.5 MMT). China currently leads in electrolysis capacity, while India has emerged as a significant player with a 1.3 GW FID (IEA, 2024). Approximately 115 green hydrogen projects have been announced in India across sectors like mobility and steel production, including NTPC's hub in Andhra Pradesh and plants in Noida, Ladakh, Gujarat, and Tamil Nadu (MNRE, 2024).

Challenges: Green hydrogen production costs range from \$4.10 to \$7 per kilogram, significantly higher than brown or grey hydrogen (NITI Aayog, 2022). To foster a competitive domestic and international market, India must lower these costs. Additionally, hydrogen's low density and flammability complicate storage and transportation, necessitating investments in new pipelines or repurposing natural gas lines, which only becomes feasible when demand reaches a critical level. Estimates suggest that green hydrogen could compete with grey hydrogen by 2030, with potential prices dropping to approximately \$1.60 per kilogram by 2030 and \$0.70 by 2050 under favorable conditions (NITI Aayog, 2022). Building a robust hydrogen economy will require clear standards, regulations, and significant financing, which are still in development.

The iron and steel industry, which provides key resources to sectors including construction, transportation and power transmission, has had mixed success in reducing emissions. Some Indian steel producers have indigenised and improvised on imported technology, and competition among domestic industries is likely to increase the energy efficiency of techniques used during the production process (Dutta & Mukherjee, 2010). However, there has been limited policy support for the formalisation of research and development (R&D) in this sector.

In the oil and gas sector, capturing fugitive emissions from industrial activities has recently emerged as a significant issue (India produced 21 MtCO₂e methane emissions in 2010, or 1.3 per cent of the global total).

For example, the country's largest producer, the Oil and Natural Gas Corporation (ONGC), is working to reduce methane emissions through awareness-raising workshops and capacity building initiatives. Since 2008, ONGC has been conducting measurement studies across seven company facilities with the greatest potential for emissions reductions. The company also mapped fugitive emissions from their facilities and is looking to develop a fugitive emission inventory (Global Methane Initiative, 2011).

Looking ahead, such industry-led improvements in technology mix and implementation of existing policies such as the PAT scheme will likely bring some reduction in emissions intensity. Nonetheless, technology transfer support, R&D to facilitate technology development and adaptation, using new technologies that suit Indian conditions, and the timely adoption of these technologies will be crucial for achieving the 'aggressive effort' targets in the industry (Planning Commission, 2011).

India is looking at setting up an ecosystem for green hydrogen production to slowly replace coking coal and natural gas in iron and steel production and act as chemical feedstock in production of fertilisers and chemicals (Srinivasan et al., 2023). The Union budget announced a Green Hydrogen Mission in 2023 with an outlay of INR 19,744 crore from 2023–24 to 2029–30 to make India a global hub for hydrogen production (GOI, 2023). However so far, the production and supply chain of green hydrogen is yet to take any kind of concrete shape (see Box 5.1).

The sharp decline in the prices of wind and solar technologies in recent years by about 60 per cent and 52 per cent, respectively, between 2010 and 2015 (in kWh terms) has led to a change in the relative importance of energy sources (NITI Aayog, 2017). Advancement in these technologies was one of the main reasons for reducing tariffs. EVs based on advanced battery technologies can achieve a faster reduction in costs; however, they would require large investments in R&D, demonstration projects and technology transfer (Dhar et al., 2017). They are found to be highly impactful opportunities in the medium-to-long term (Table 5.5).

5.4 Conclusion

India faces a pressing challenge as its greenhouse gas emissions continue to rise, having increased by 4.6 per cent from 2016 to 2019 and by approximately 115 per cent since 1994. The energy sector is the predominant contributor, accounting for about 76 per cent of total emissions and 93 per cent of CO_2 emissions in 2019. This underscores the critical need to decarbonise the energy sector, which not only impacts emissions but is also integral to India's broader development goals, such as poverty alleviation, increasing per capita income, employment generation, and boosting GDP growth.

Total CO_2 emissions must decline by about 46 per cent and 62 per cent by 2050 for the sustainable 2°C and 1.5°C scenarios to be realised, compared to a business-asusual trajectory (Vishwanathan et al., 2017). This study estimates only 20 per cent CO_2 emissions reduction in Nationally Determined Contribution (NDC) scenario, highlighting the urgency for more ambitious national action. Achieving these reductions requires an average annual decrease in carbon intensity of 1.3 per cent for the 2°C scenario and 1.9 per cent for the 1.5°C scenario, compared to 0.15 pe cent under the NDC.

Transitioning to low-carbon pathways will need significant improvements in energy efficiency across both supply and demand, increased reliance on renewable energy, and demand reduction strategies through dematerialisation, recycling, and behavioural changes. Effective mitigation must incorporate supply and demand strategies across key sectors such as energy, urban development, land use, and industry, with technology serving as a crucial enabler of these transformations.

Renewable energy can drive mitigation efforts in the country. However, while India has made strides in expanding its renewable capacity, continuous policy efforts are essential for its grid integration and facilitating a supportive market for renewable electricity. Studies indicate that energy efficiency and renewable energy will play nearly equal roles in CO_2 mitigation under the NDC scenario, with lifestyle changes and carbon capture and storage (CCS) becoming increasingly relevant for deeper decarbonisation. Supply-side strategies should include advancements in clean fuel technologies, such as biofuels and electric vehicles, along with the development of low-carbon building materials. On the demand side, interventions like enhancing energy efficiency in transportation, industry, and buildings are vital. This can be achieved through smart grid technologies, well-designed public transport systems, and sustainable urban planning. Recognising the interconnectedness of various sectors is key to optimizing mitigation actions. For instance, effective demand-side measures in transportation depend heavily on urban spatial planning and infrastructure, while construction practices impact the building sector.

Finally, fostering new low-carbon technologies, particularly those led by the private sector, will be essential for India's mitigation strategy. As seen with solar energy, technological advancements can reduce tariffs and offer several high impact opportunities across sectors. Innovations such as supercritical and ultra-supercritical power plants, integrated gasification combined cycle (IGCC) technologies, and CCS are promising avenues for emissions reduction. Additionally, the government's commitment to solar power and the development of green hydrogen are critical for decarbonising hard-to-abate sectors, ensuring both energy security and low-carbon growth for India's future.



Feasibility Assessment of Adaptation and Mitigation Options

This chapter should be cited as: Singh, C., Kodira, P., Sharma, S., Srinivasan, M., Kaur, H., Arvind, J., Madhavan, M., & Bazaz, A.B., 2024: Feasibility Assessment of Adaptation and Mitigation Options. In IIHS, 2024: Accelerating India's Climate Transition: pathways to the 1.5°C goal [Revi, A., Bazaz, A.B., Singh, C., Kodira, P., & Ghoge, K., (eds.)]. Indian Institute for Human Settlements. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.24943/AICT11.2024</u>

Chapter Authors: Chandni Singh, Prathijna Kodira, Swarnika Sharma, Madhumita Srinivasan, Harpreet Kaur, Jasmitha Arvind, Mythili Madhavan, and Amir Bazaz

6. Feasibility Assessment of Adaptation and Mitigation Options

- There is sufficient evidence on a range of feasible adaptation and mitigation strategies that are being and/or can be implemented at various scales across the country to achieve a 1.5°C-compatible climate future in India.
- Adopting the Climate Resilient Development (CRD) framework, this chapter assesses 23 adaptation and 16 mitigation options across key systems: land, oceans and ecosystems, urban and infrastructure, energy, industrial, and cross-cutting categories.
- In land, oceans and ecosystems transitions, suites of options are available, such as climate-resilient
 agriculture production (e.g., changing crop varieties or improved irrigation efficiency), sustainable
 and climate-proofed food supply chains, and incentivising food waste reduction.
- In urban and infrastructure systems, green and blue infrastructure-based options can meet adaptation and mitigation goals as well as Sustainable Development Goals (SDG), creating healthier and more liveable cities while reducing disaster risk and creating urban carbon sinks.
- In energy systems, solar photovoltaics (PV) and wind energy emerge as highly viable mitigation
 options, scoring high-to-medium feasibility across all the six assessed parameters. Other mitigation
 options, such as electricity storage, smart grids and power sector Carbon Capture and Storage (CCS),
 have medium feasibility due to institutional and technological challenges.
- Cross-cutting options—such as early warning systems, public health systems and, social security nets like the Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act (MGNREGA) and the Public Distribution System (PDS)—that reduce vulnerability to climate change also offer high feasibility across multiple parameters. However, significant policy attention is required for options that are politically and geophysically challenging, such as planned relocation and migration.

6.1 Introduction

India needs a new development paradigm to chart its future growth trajectory and combat the twin challenges of development and climate action. This paradigm must help meet the country's aspirations to become an advanced economy while creating jobs, providing climate protection, and ensuring social and income security for its people. As discussed briefly in Chapter 3, the Climate Resilient Development (CRD) framework, negotiated by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change

(IPCC) across 193 countries in its Sixth Assessment Report (AR6), offers a new development framework to integrate sustainable development, climate adaptation, mitigation and biodiversity goals (IPCC 2022; 2023). The CRD provides a clear menu of mitigation and adaptation options that can be implemented within both national and local contexts. It can be operationalised through a systems approach that calls for simultaneous transitions across five key systems—energy, land, oceans and ecosystems, urban

Box 6.1 What is feasibility?

Feasibility denotes the possibility and the conditions that shape the possibility for specific climate actions (Allen et al., 2018). In mitigation, feasibility refers to the range of possibilities for an option. For example, studies discuss the feasibility of meeting long-term climate targets, such as limiting global warming to 1.5°C by 2030 and achieving net-zero emissions by 2050.

In adaptation, there are relatively fewer assessments of feasibility due to the disparate and highly localised nature of adaptation evidence, contradictory metrics for assessing adaptation possibilities, outcomes and effectiveness (Ford et al., 2013), and inadequate data on several aspects of feasibility such as adaptation costs, limits and behavioral constraints (Klein et al., 2014).

The feasibility assessment approach adopts a 'barriers perspective', which argues that low barriers to a certain adaptation option can indicate high feasibility (Singh et al., 2020). Notably, the feasibility of adaptation is distinct from adaptation effectiveness, which focuses on the goals and outcomes of planned and implemented adaptation.

and infrastructure, industry, and societal—instead of siloed sectoral action. Using the CRD framework, this chapter undertakes a multidimensional feasibility assessment of 16 mitigation options and 23 adaptation options at the national scale, using the systems-framing approach across the first four transitions. We consider all the systems, except societal, for mitigation assessment, and for adaptation assessment, we consider land, oceans and ecosystems, urban and infrastructure, and a 'cross-cutting options' category. This category includes options such as disaster management, climate information services and health sector interventions, which are being planned and implemented across systems transitions.

Our feasibility assessment offers evidence-based, actionable pointers to policymakers and funders to implement adaptation and mitigation actions and their varied combinations to chart out the climate action trajectory for India to achieve the 1.5°C climate goal. This chapter synthesises a large but scattered literature on adaptation to offer insights on a subject that continues to be underplayed and underfunded in climate action. First, the chapter summarises the feasibility of 16 mitigation and 23 adaptation options across systems in section 6.2 with the help of Figures 6.1 and 6.2 and Table 6.1, highlights key findings, policy implications and knowledge gaps. Section 6.3 delineates the 16 mitigation options across key systems transitions, followed by a detailed feasibility assessment of the 23 adaptation options in section 6.4.

6.2 Feasibility of Mitigation and Adaptation Options

In this assessment, 16 mitigation options and 23 adaptation options relevant to India are considered within systems transitions. This assessment can help draw on combinations of these actions to best limit global warming and adapt to 1.5°C. Figure 6.1 summarises the feasibility assessment of 16 mitigation options relevant for the country across the four systems under study: energy, land, oceans and ecosystems, urban and infrastructure, and industrial. Figure 6.2 summarises the feasibility assessment of 23 adaptation options relevant to India, across two systems-land, oceans and ecosystems, urban and infrastructure-along with a 'cross-cutting options' category that runs across systems like public health and climate services. Table 6.1 summarises the key takeaways from these assessments along with policy implications and knowledge gaps.

Figure 6.1: Feasibility assessment of 16 Mitigation options

System transition	Mitigation options		$\hat{\mathbf{c}}_{\mathbf{c}}^{(\mathbf{c})}$	R	
	Wind energy (onshore and offshore)				
	Solar PV				
Energy system	Electricity storage				
transmons	Power sector CCS				
	Smart grids				
	Efficient lighting and appliances				
	Efficient food production				
Land and ecosystem	Sustainable intensification of agriculture				
transitions	Ecosystems restoration				
	Carbon dioxide removal with afforestation				
	Sustainable land-use & urban planning				
Urban and	Electric cars and buses				
infrastructure system	Public transport				
	Non-motorised transport				
	Low/zero-energy buildings				
Industrial system transitions	Enhanced energy efficiency				

Legend



High feasibility (Indicator poses little/no barriers to option's feasibility) Medium feasibility (on average, there are some barriers to option's feasibility)

Low feasibility (Indicator poses significant barriers to option's feasibility)

bility)

Note: CCS = Carbon capture and storage *Source: Authors' assessment*



System transition	Adaptation options				$\hat{\mathbf{G}}_{\mathbf{G}}^{\mathbf{G}}$	R	
	Conservation agriculture						
	Agricultural diversification						
	Improved cropland management				LE	LE	LE
	Improved grazing land management including reduced grassland conversion to cropland						LE
	Integrated soil management (soil salinization, mitigating soil erosion, reducing soil compaction, etc.)			LE		LE	LE
Land and ecosystem transitions	Water use efficiency and water resource management		LE				
	Efficient livestock						
	Agroforestry						
	Biodiversity management, conservation						
	Integrated coastal zone management including wetland, mangrove conservation						
	Coastal defence and hardening						LE
	Sustainable aquaculture						
	Sustainable land-use & urban planning						
Urban and	Sustainable water management	NE					
infrastructure system transitions	Green infrastructure & ecosystem services						
	Building codes & standards				NE		
	Disaster risk management						
	Risk spreading, and sharing						
	Climate services, including EWS						
Crosscutting options	Indigenous knowledge						
	Public health systems						
	Social safety nets (e.g., MGNREGA, PDS)						
	Resettlement, relocation and migration						

Figure 6.2: Feasibility assessment of 23 Adaptation options

Legend



High feasibility (Indicator poses little/no barriers to option's feasibility)
 Medium feasibility (on average, there are some barriers to option's feasibility)
 NE - No Evidence

 LE - Low Evidence
 LE - Low Evidence

Low feasibility (Indicator poses significant barriers to option's feasibility)

LE - Low Evidence



Feasibility

Economic Feasibility лП. Environmental / ecological Technological Feasibility

Institutional Feasibility 魰

Geophysical Feasibility

Note: EWS = Early warning system; MGNREGA = Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act; PDS = Public Distribution System Source: Authors' assessment

ٽ م ري

Ā

Table 6.1: Key takeaways on feasible options

System	Key Findings on Feasibility	Policy Implications	Knowledge Gaps
Energy	• All options demonstrate moderate-to-high feasibility, with solar PV and wind energy scoring high overall feasibility. Governance and institutional barriers remain in bioenergy, smart grids and efficient lighting/appliances.	• Strengthening governance and institutional enabling environment for energy systems is critical.	 No notable knowledge gaps reported, though more evidence on institutional and social barriers to energy options can improve feasibility and implementation.
Land, Oceans and Ecosystems	 Several adaptation options show moderate- to-high feasibility, notably agricultural diversification into climate-resilient crops/ varieties, conservation agriculture (including interventions such as climate-smart agriculture and zero-budget natural farming), agroforestry and improved grazeland management. Reducing food wastage is a highly feasible option with mitigation and SDG co-benefits. Ecosystem restoration emerges as a highly feasible strategy for meeting adaptation and mitigation goals. 	 Existing government interventions on climate- smart agriculture, agroforestry and horticulture have resulted in high feasibility of these options, providing lessons for scaling up. Certain measures such as integrated soil management face barriers of governance and public acceptance, and can be enabled by strengthening institutional capacity and public awareness. Targeted action is needed in certain options such as livestock efficiency and coastal defenses to address geophysical barriers. 	 There is low evidence on the environmental feasibility of grazeland and soil management, which requires evidence on how these options impact resilience and adaptive capacity. Evidence exists on how dietary shifts have sociocultural and gendered barriers, but its link to climate resilience/ greenhouse gas footprints in the Indian context needs further research.
Cross-cutting Adaptation Options	 National and state policy thrust on providing social security and public services through MGNREGA, public health infrastructure, climate services and early warning systems are notable, driving the high feasibility of these options. 	 Significant policy attention is required for options that are politically and geophysically challenging such as planned relocation and migration. Dedicated policy and practice attention is needed to reimagine how scientific and indigenous knowledge systems can be leveraged collaboratively for inclusive and contextual risk management. 	 Despite growing evidence on the climate change and migration nexus, gaps remain on almost all feasibility dimensions, especially on social, institutional and geophysical aspects.

Urban and Infrastructure	 Highly feasible adaptation options include green infrastructure options such as strengthening urban waterbodies, green spaces and building codes. Energy-efficient buildings and non-motorised transport show high feasibility. 	 There is a suite of feasible adaptation and mitigation strategies that can be mainstreamed into existing sectoral urban programmes such as 100 Smart Cities, National Urban Livelihoods Mission, Swachh Bharat Mission and Pradhan Mantri Awas Yojana. Critical barriers include inadequate finance, poor political acceptability and thrust, and institutional capacity. These are severe gaps considering India's urban transition. Climate-proofing key infrastructure is also an important intervention, where finance, technical capacity and context- appropriate interventions need immediate attention. 	 Economic feasibility of sustainable water management and sustainable land use planning requires further evidence and quantification. Certain infrastructural sectors such as aviation and shipping require more evidence on technological feasibility.
Industrial	 Improving industrial energy efficiency is a highly feasible option. 		 Negligible evidence on the environmental and sociocultural feasibility of bio-based and circularity- based options as well as electrification and switching to hydrogen.

Note: MGNREGA = Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act; SDG = Sustainable Development Goal *Source: Vishwanathan et al., 2017*

6.3 Feasibility of Mitigation Options across Systems

This section assesses the feasibility of 16 mitigation options relevant for India across four systems: energy, land, oceans and ecosystems, urban and infrastructure, and industrial (see Figure 6.1). The assessment shows high-to-medium feasibility for various mitigation options across systems, including for renewables like solar and wind under energy systems; ecosystem restoration under land, oceans and ecosystems; low-energy buildings and non-motorised transport (NMT) under urban and infrastructure systems; and energy efficiency under industrial systems. The assessment is discussed within the four systems transitions and six feasibility parameters: economic, technological, institutional, sociocultural, environmental and geophysical.

6.3.1 Energy systems

This section details eight options under the energy systems transition such as renewable energy and various aspects of power generation. While renewables such as wind energy and solar PV show high-to-medium overall feasibility, bioenergy has medium-to-low feasibility. Electricity storage has medium feasibility overall. The feasibility of power sector CCS and smart grids ranges from medium to low, and efficient lighting and nuclear energy show mixed scores, ranging from high to low across different indicators. These will be discussed further in the following sections. Mitigation actions in India's power sector prioritise energy security by providing modern energy resource access and affordability for all, diversifying energy resources, and enhancing renewable energy contributions (Ministry of Environment, Forest and Climate Change [MoEFCC], 2021). As of 31 March 2024, India has achieved total installed renewable capacity of 138 gigawatt (GW; excluding hydropower) out of the 500 GW energy capacity target set for 2030 (Ministry of New and Renewable Energy, 2024). The adoption of various energy-efficient programmes, such as the UJALA LED scheme, Perform, Achieve and Trade (PAT) scheme, and Building Energy Efficiency Programme (BEEP), has led to an overall emission reduction of 44 Mtoe or about 6 per cent of the total primary energy supply of the country for the year 2021–22 (MoEFCC, 2023). The equivalent reduction in carbon dioxide (CO_2) emissions is around 281 million tonnes annually.

Figure 6.3: Feasibility of mitigation options under energy systems



Ec: Economic | T: Technological | I: Institutional | S: Social | En: Environmental | G: Geophysical
 Note: CCS = Carbon capture and storage
 Source: Authors' compilation

6.3.1.1 Wind energy

Wind energy is cost-effective in many locations (IRENA, 2018). The feasibility of renewable energy options largely depends on the geophysical characteristics of the area where the option is implemented. However, technological advances and innovative policy instruments are making renewable energy options increasingly attractive in almost all areas (Renewable Energy Agency, 2017).

By 2011, India had become the world's fifth-largest market for wind energy (BP, 2012), accounting for 10 per cent of the total 416 GW installed capacity in the country (MOEFCC, 2023). Many areas across India, such as Gujarat and Rajasthan, have high wind capacity, capable of generating up to 4 GW. However, there is considerable daily and seasonal flux due to variability in climatic conditions. This, combined with the lack of demand projections and advanced scheduling techniques, makes transmission difficult and results in significantly lower output (Sareen, 2018). Institutional feasibility for wind energy is medium, as small businesses looking to install wind turbines often face bureaucratic inconsistencies (Sareen, 2018).

6.3.1.2 Solar PV

Solar PV forms a significant part of India's target of achieving 500 GW of installed renewable power capacity by 2030 (MoEFCC, 2023). The economic feasibility of solar PV is high as the fuel cost is zero compared to other sources like coal, and variable costs such as operations and maintenance (O&M) are minimal (Council on Energy, Environment and Water [CEEW], 2019b). The levelized cost of electricity (LCOE) is therefore low, driven primarily by the capital cost (CEEW, 2019b; Shakti Sustainable Energy Foundation, 2020a). Currently, solar power makes for 17 per cent of the total non-renewable power capacity in the country.

India has adopted a hybrid approach to enhance solar power, balancing grid-connected and off-grid solutions. Off-grid solutions are largely tied to a specific demand, such as the Ministry of New and Renewable Energy's Offgrid and Decentralised Solar PV Applications Programme, which promotes the installation of LED-based solar street lights throughout the country (MoEFCC, 2021). More recently, in February, 2024, the government announced the PM Surya Ghar: Muft Bijli Yojana, a rooftop solar programme that aims to provide INR 7,500 crore in subsidies to install grid-connected rooftop solar systems for nearly one crore homes, enabling consumers to reduce their electricity bills and allowing them to earn money by selling excess power to the grid (Press Information Bureau [PIB], 2024; Reuters, 2024). This was envisaged to help India meet its commitment to triple renewable energy capacity by 2030.

There has been considerable innovation in the governance and institutional dimensions of solar power development in India. These advancements are largely due to an impressive target-oriented approach (i.e., the National Solar Mission), dedicated budgetary support to offset viability gaps (capital subsidies and other incentives like the Production Linked Incentive schemes (PLI), and substantial institutional backing through the enhanced capacity of institutions like the Solar Energy Corporation of India (SECI), Power Grid Corporation of India and Rural Electrification Agency (Haldar et al., 2024; Sovacool et al., 2021). A range of policy instruments aimed at price discovery have also been tested and progressively stabilised, such as auction mechanisms (Bose & Sarkar, 2019; Thapar et al., 2018).

The socioculturalfeasibility of solar PV is high, with broad social acceptability of solar appliances. However, challenges remain with larger installations, particularly regarding land acquisition and ensuring just transitions (International Energy Agency (IEA), 2020; Mohan, 2017; Stock, 2022; Yenneti et al., 2016;). Environmentally, solar PV is beneficial in many ways, including having a lower water footprint than other comparable alternatives (Shakti Sustainable Energy Foundation, 2020a).

6.3.1.3 Electricity storage

Electricity storage has medium feasibility overall. While the costs and technical maturity of battery storage are increasingly positive, challenges of resource availability and the environmental impact of production remain concerning (Peters et al., 2017). The use of electric vehicles (EVs) as a form of storage has been modelled and evaluated as a promising opportunity, with emerging demonstrations (Dhar et al., 2018; Green & Newman, 2017), but upscaling challenges persist. Institutional and governance arrangements to develop a robust electricity storage ecosystem are still evolving and are linked to ongoing experiments. Although social acceptability is gaining traction, it is constrained by market dynamics and retrofitting requirements in some cases (NITI Aayog, 2021; Parihar & Urele, 2021).

Globally, pumped storage accounts for almost 96 per cent of existing world storage capacity (World Energy Council, 2019). India has identified 63 sites with pumped storage potential of 97 GW, but only 4.8 GW is designed to function as pumped storage units (World Energy Council, 2019). As of March 2020, India has 3,305 megawatt (MW) of installed pumped storage capacity, with 1,480 MW being non-operational, 1,580 MW to be commissioned by 2022–23 and 8,380 MW proposed (Shakti Sustainable Energy Foundation, 2020b). In February 2020, Greenko Group and Renew Power won an auction conducted by SECI for 1.2 GW of solar, wind and energy storage.

Developments in the storage sector have predominantly focused on batteries, mainly due to the rapidly falling costs of lithium-ion (Li-ion) batteries worldwide. The deployment of large-scale battery energy storage in India began in 2017, with Power Grid Corporation of India Limited (PGCIL) commissioning its first pilot project to test different battery performances in Puducherry. Progress has been slow and limited, primarily due to high costs. However, in 2019, India commissioned its first and largest battery storage system of 10 MW in Delhi at the Tata Power Delhi Distribution Ltd. (TPDDL) substation, developed by AES and Mitsubishi Corporation. The same year saw numerous storage tenders, driven by a steep decline in Li-ion battery prices globally, fueled by growing demand for EVs. A report estimated the energy storage requirement for grid support at 17 gigawatt hours (GWh) by 2021 and a total potential of 190 GWh of stationary energy storage from 2019 to 2025, with approximately 16 per cent expected for grid-scale applications and the majority for behind-the-meter applications (Shakti Sustainable Energy Foundation, 2020b). According to the Central Electricity Authority (CEA, 2019), India will require about 34 GW/136 GWh of grid-connected battery storage by 2030 to support the ambitious target of 455 GW of renewable energy (Shakti Sustainable Energy Foundation, 2020b).

6.3.1.4 Power sector CCS

CCS in the power sector can contribute to cost-effective emissions reduction requirements for limiting warming to 1.5°C. CCS may also offer employment and political advantages for fossil fuel-dependent economies (Kern et al., 2016), but it may provide fewer co-benefits compared to other mitigation options that generate power. Therefore, CCS relies on climate policy incentives for its business case and economic feasibility. Evidence suggests that CCS in the power sector has medium feasibility.

CCS has not been realised at scale in India's power sector, primarily due to the incremental costs of capture and the under-development of transport and storage infrastructures, which are not sufficiently compensated for by market or government incentives (IEA, 2017a). In sites with high potential and low transportation and sequestration costs, such as depleted oil and gas wells, CCS is economically viable (Anandarajah & Gambhir, 2014). However, CCS has technological challenges as it has not been widely tested or deployed at a commercial scale and the associated risks are not yet well characterised (Giri & Tiwari, 2013). Therefore, its economic and technological feasibility shows mixed characteristics.

CCS technologies are widely perceived as costly to deploy and are not sufficiently understood by the public, which is further heightened because of gaps in information provided by the government and other institutions (Giri & Tiwari, 2013). As a result, social acceptance is relatively low due to a lack of awareness and information gaps (Giri & Tiwari, 2013).

6.3.1.5 Smart grids

India initiated the National Smart Grid Mission in 2014 (MoEFCC, 2021) to be implemented in two phases. The first phase (2014–2017) focused on deploying smart meters, renovating and modernising substations, implementing GIS, developing microgrids and creating EV charging infrastructure. The second phase aimed to improve equity and justice outcomes, enhance existing infrastructure, and increase efficiency (Ministry of Power, n.d.).

Smart grids are transformative, enabling significant efficiency gains in infrastructure, monitoring power flows,

predicting storage requirements and dynamically managing demand responses. However, these benefits could lead customers to reduce or eliminate reliance on the broader grid, potentially increasing utility costs (Tongia, 2015). Thus, smart grids have medium economic feasibility.

The technological feasibility of smart grids is also medium. While technological innovation and advancements are critical for smart grid development, implementing premeditated interventions may lead to non-contextual or unnecessary interventions in new technologies (Kumar, 2019).

Institutional feasibility of smart grids is low, as social, financial and governmental interventions are central to 'smartness'. Multifaceted and relational socio-technical approaches are essential for building cost-effective, just, democratic and sustainable smart grids (Kumar, 2019). Progress is ongoing, with notable advancements through the Smart City Mission (Ministry of Urban Development, 2015).

6.3.1.6 Efficient lighting and appliances

To provide consumers with informed choices about energy savings and cost reduction, the Bureau of Energy Efficiency (BEE) initiated the Standards and Labelling scheme in 2006 (Chunekar, 2014). This scheme includes a star labelling programme for 26 appliances, 10 of which are under a mandatory regime (BEE, 2017; MoEFCC, 2021). In 2018–19, this programme achieved emissions reduction of 46 metric tonnes of carbon dioxide (MtCO₂) and energy savings of 56 billion units (MoEFCC, 2021).

In India, the phasing out of incandescent bulbs has been a success story of institutional innovation and market formation. Despite some challenges, India has successfully shifted its lighting load to LEDs (Chunekar et al., 2017), demonstrating economic feasibility for efficient lighting and appliances.

However, challenges remain in certain areas. For example, highly efficient fans with Brushless Direct Current (BLDC) motors and efficient blades are not yet commercially available in India. Barriers such as high purchase prices and lack of information (e.g., absence of labels recognising high efficiency) lead to limited adoption of these options (Shah et al., 2015). This is being addressed through the launch of the Energy Efficient Fans Programme (PIB, Ministry of Power, 2023), indicating growing economic, financial and institutional viability. The market penetration of efficient appliances also faces challenges, particularly in informal settlements. Households in these areas often prefer unrated appliances to save on upfront costs (Dubash et al., 2015). Innovative financing models are increasingly being employed to address this issue.

6.3.1.7 Nuclear energy

As of March 2023, there were 22 commercial nuclear reactors totalling 6.8 GW in India, with nuclear energy contributing about 3 per cent to the total generation of energy in the country over the past decade. By 2027, an additional capacity of 5.8 GW is expected to be commissioned, with the capacity of nuclear power generation to increase to 15.5 GW by 2030. This also means that the share of nuclear energy in the energy mix will continue to remain at around 2 per cent.

While technological feasibility for nuclear power is proven, uncertainties remain around nuclear fuel. Initial capital costs can drive the sellable power price to upwards of ₹7 per unit (Economic and Political Weekly [EPW], 2019), making it less competitive compared to coal and renewable energy. Additionally, the cost of establishing a nuclear plant is exceptionally high and can take decades to complete (EPW, 2019).There are ongoing debates about whether nuclear power is the best option for peak load management compared to hydropower, but the evidence is still evolving and remains inconclusive. Institutional arrangements and governance dynamics, particularly concerning the safe management and operation of nuclear power facilities, are still being strengthened.

6.3.2 Land, oceans and ecosystems

The land, oceans and ecosystems transition encompasses three mitigation options: efficient food production, agricultural intensification and ecosystem restoration. The feasibility of efficient food production and ecosystem restoration ranges from medium to high overall. Sustainable intensification of agriculture shows mixed evidence, with most dimensions exhibiting medium feasibility.

Mitigation actions within land, oceans and ecosystems transitions include initiatives such as crop diversification,

the System of Rice Intensification (SRI), food and nutrition security enhancement, and biodiversity protection. These initiatives contribute significantly to lowering emissions (MoEFCC, 2021). As part of the National Food Security Mission, SRI is being implemented in 24 states (MoEFCC, 2021). Between 2017 and 2019, a total of 33,487 hectares (ha) were brought under SRI (MoEFCC, 2021). can lead to cost savings in areas such as labour and waste disposal. To lower diet-related disease burdens and reduce the environmental footprint of the food system, it is essential to improve food production efficiency and reduce food waste while promoting healthy diets (Green et al., 2018).

Figure 6.4: Feasibility of mitigation options under land and ecosystems



Ec: Economic | T: Technological | I: Institutional | S: Social | En: Environmental | G: Geophysical Source: Authors' compilation

6.3.2.1 Efficient food production

Efficient food production and reduced food wastage exhibit medium-to-high feasibility overall. Elevated CO₂ concentration can alter food composition, impacting nutritional security (DaMatta et al., 2010; De Souza et al., 2015; Högy et al., 2009; Loladze, 2014; Taub et al., 2008), with varying effects depending on the region (Medek et al., 2017).

Economic feasibility shows mixed trends. Consumers' awareness of their food purchases and waste reduction

Increased food production has been linked to a decline in groundwater levels (Barik et al., 2017). There is a positive correlation between food production and electricity consumption, indicating a high dependency on groundwater-based irrigation, which leads to higher energy consumption (Barik et al., 2017). Methods such as using treated wastewater for agricultural activities sometimes yield higher productivity but could result in higher emissions than groundwater-based agriculture (Miller-Robbie et al., 2017). India has consistently focused on improving efficiency across the water-energy-food nexus. Public programmes like PM Krishi Sinchayee Yojana and PM Kisan Urja Suraksha evam Utthaan Mahabhiyan Yojana (KUSUM) have created viable institutional and governance regimes to synergise this nexus, leading to medium-to-high feasibility of these nexus-oriented interventions. Social acceptability has also improved, enabled by agile institutional and governance dynamics (Integrated Research and Action for Development (Integrated RaDE, 2017; Ministry of Finance, 2023).

6.3.2.2 Sustainable intensification of agriculture

Sustainable intensification of agriculture involves increasing production per unit area while managing potential adverse environmental impacts (Pretty & Bharucha, 2014). It can enhance input efficiency, health and food security (Ramankutty et al., 2018). Evidence across economic, technological, institutional, environmental and geophysical parameters shows medium feasibility, with both positive attributes and trade-offs observed in agricultural practices.

Crop intensification of rice fallows with winter crops like chickpea, lentil and safflower and following conservation tillage practices can achieve higher system productivity, economic returns, energy use efficiency and reduced greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions (Kumar et al., 2020). This practice is economically viable and benefits soil health (Sapkota et al., 2019). However, there is often a shortage of skilled labour to implement practices like SRI effectively, increasing labour costs (Geethalakshmi et al., 2016). Water management options like sprinkler or micro-sprinkler irrigation offer viable technical mitigation options but require significant initial capital investment (Wassmann et al., 2004).

SRI has positive implications for livelihood security, improving economic and social conditions (Sapkota et al., 2019). It enhances food security, equitable access to food, effective food utilisation and social stability (Geethalakshmi et al., 2016). Thus, social feasibility is high for sustainable intensification of agriculture.

Environmental feasibility is medium, with evidence indicating both positive and negative impacts. SRI offers

numerous benefits such as mitigating methane (CH_4) emissions from flooded rice soils. A study conducted in Tamil Nadu showed that methane emissions from an SRI plot were significantly lower compared to conventional practices (Geethalakshmi et al., 2016). Mitigating CH_4 emissions could improve soil properties by increasing carbon storage. However, nitrous oxide (N₂O) emissions were higher in SRI plots, representing a trade-off (Geethalakshmi et al., 2016). Sustainable intensification could minimise the crop yield gap without imposing environmental burdens, addressing a major challenge in Indian agriculture (Roth et al., 2018).

6.3.2.3 Ecosystems restoration

The feasibility of ecosystems restoration ranges from medium to high. The National Mission on Biodiversity and Human Well-Being exemplifies an integrated approach, combining biodiversity, ecosystem services, climate change, agriculture, health, bio-economy and capacity building. This mission effectively merges biodiversity conservation and management with sustainable development. By emphasising convergence and synergies among various goals, the mission has established an institutional mechanism to facilitate large-scale ecological management, restoration, and conservation agendas (Bawa et al., 2021). Consequently, this approach enhances the institutional and social dimensions of feasibility.

6.3.2.4 Carbon dioxide removal with afforestation and reforestation

Afforestation and reforestation exhibit medium feasibility overall. The National Mission for Green India (GIM), one of the eight national missions under India's National Action Plan for Climate Change (NAPCC), aims to double the area dedicated to afforestation and reforestation in India over the next decade as a primary climate mitigation strategy (MoEFCC, 2018).

The GIM, a part of the NAPCC, targets specific areas for agroforestry: 1.5 million hectares (Mha) of degraded agricultural lands and fallows; 0.8 Mha under improved agroforestry practices on existing lands; and an additional 0.7 Mha of new lands under agroforestry. The majority of India's carbon sequestration potential through afforestation will come from agroforestry on agricultural lands, given extensive cultivation across the country (Murthy et al., 2013).

Various afforestation and reforestation programmes have been active in India including social forestry since the early 1980s, the Joint Forest Management (JFM) programme since 1990, afforestation initiatives under the National Afforestation and Eco-development Board (NAEB) since 1992, and plantation forestry initiated by private farmers and industries (Ravindranath et al., 2008).

To derive economic benefits from afforestation and reforestation initiatives and to enhance their economic viability, a well-crafted strategy is essential. The emerging domestic carbon market presents a viable avenue. Additionally, in urban areas, afforestation efforts need to align with urban transformation initiatives. For instance, the Government of India's recent urban infrastructure improvement programme, the Atal Mission for Rejuvenation and Urban Transformation (AMRUT), incorporates provisions for urban greening. This is particularly valuable in light of increasing heat risks in cities, necessitating coordinated efforts across multiple institutional frameworks.

6.3.3 Urban and infrastructure systems

The urban and infrastructure systems transitions detail six mitigation options across urban planning, transportation (both motorised and non-motorised) and low/net-zero energy buildings. The feasibility of sustainable land use and urban planning ranges from medium to high overall, while energy-efficient transport options mostly show medium feasibility, with some parameters indicating low feasibility. Non-motorised transport options exhibit a mixed feasibility score, ranging from low to high based on context.

India's mitigation actions in the transport sector have focused on both structural and fuel-oriented strategies. For example, India progressed from Bharat Stage (BS) IV emission norms to BS VI norms in 2020 (MoEFCC, 2021). Notable interventions and programmes in the transport sector include the National Green Highways Mission, the Bus Rapid Transit programme and the National Electric Mobility Mission Plan. In aviation, the adoption of the Carbon Accounting and Management System (CAMS) aims to reduce GHG emissions at airports and facilitate the quantification and reporting of these emissions (MoEFCC, 2018; 2021). In the buildings sector, regulatory codes such as the National Building Code (NBC), which sets standards for construction activities across the country, and the reformed and updated Energy Conservation Building Code (ECBC) have been established (MoEFCC, 2021).

6.3.3.1 Sustainable land use and urban planning

Land use and urban planning exhibit medium overall feasibility. Designing public transit-oriented urban settlements offers multiple economic, social and environmental benefits, which are well documented. Indian cities have experienced considerable densification of urban regions, resulting in increased mobility demand due to ongoing structural transformations. This shift needs to be appropriately managed, particularly from a GHG mitigation perspective. Evidence around enhancing public transport and mass transit facilities is encouraging but requires expansion (Doll & Balaban, 2013; Grazi et al., 2008; Jain et al., 2016; Li, 2011; Maitra & Sadhukhan, 2013; Yang et al., 2020).

The literature on low-carbon transitions shows that population and infrastructure concentration in cities can foster innovative approaches to energy consumption and grassroots mitigation technologies. However, these efforts are challenged by mismatches between jurisdictional and ecological boundaries (Cook & Chu, 2018). Many climate actions require collaboration across jurisdictional boundaries, but most cities are fragmented with political boundaries dividing contiguous metropolitan regions (Cook & Chu, 2018).

Urban climate actions are often driven by immediate and local development needs (Khosla et al., 2019; Sethi & Puppim de Oliveira, 2018), partly because city leadership tends to prioritise development (Khosla et al., 2019). However, city-level actions in India depend largely on state and national directives (Khosla et al., 2019; Sharma & Tomar, 2010). Spatial planning can influence modal choice decisions and subsequently increase the share of public transport or cleaner transport. Cities like Kolkata, Pune and Delhi have set targets of achieving a 90 per cent modal share of public transport through their comprehensive mobility plans and master plans (Roy et al., 2018).
Fc

S

Ec

S



Figure 6.5: Feasibility of mitigation options under urban and infrastructure systems

Ec: Economic | T: Technological | I: Institutional | S: Social | En: Environmental | G: Geophysical Source: Authors' compilation

A health impact assessment of six cities estimated the effects of alternative land use and transport policy initiatives. Modelling land use changes to enable a compact city with increased density and diversity, and reduced distances to public transport resulted in health gains for all cities (Stevenson et al., 2016). In Bengaluru, studies show that street trees significantly impact microclimatic buffering (Vailshery et al., 2013). Suspended particulate matter (SPM) levels for road segments with and without trees range between 40-60 μ g/m3 and 150-300 μ g/ m3, respectively (Vailshery et al., 2013). In Nagpur, per capita green space of 31 sq. m correlates with lower concentrations of sulfur dioxide (SO2), nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and respiratory suspended particulate matter (RSPM) within permissible limits. Zones with better tree cover showed lower SO2, NO2 and RSPM concentrations as compared to zones with poor tree cover (Avni & Chaudhry, 2016; Murthy et al., 2013).

Sustainable land use and planning have immense potential for GHG reduction but face two structural challenges: centralised planning decisions and persistent institutional coordination efforts. These realities constrain institutional, including governance and social feasibility. Long-term city development plans, like master plans, have been ineffective from a climate perspective. Efforts are underway to create a template for long-term spatial planning and climate concern integration, but this will require effort (Brihanmumbai Municipal Corporation [BMC], 2022; Bruhat Bengaluru Mahanagara Palike [BBMP], 2023).

6.3.3.2 Electric cars and buses

Electric cars and buses show medium feasibility, with both positive and negative aspects across most indicators, except for technological feasibility, which is low. Evidence demonstrates the economic viability of electric cars and buses (Shakti Foundation & India Smart Grid Forum (ISGF(, 2017), with adequate support for viability gap funding (Global Green Growth Institute (GGGI), 2014) and enhanced human well-being through alternative livelihoods (Chandran & Brahmachari, 2015). Electric buses with a 100 kilowatt-hour (kWh) battery are highly cost-effective to own and can operate for more than ten years, with net savings of ₹70 lakh (almost the initial capital cost of a diesel bus) based on net present value.

Technological feasibility is low, with scalability and maturity showing lower trends. The phased adoption of EVs is expected to affect the entire automobile industry supply chain. Major value drivers like batteries, motors, controllers, chargers and other electronics are currently imported, although PLI schemes have altered the landscape (Gupta et al., 2021; Observer Research Foundation, 2024; Ministry of Commerce & Industry, 2024; Tripathy & Dastrala, 2023). Even in the least favourable scenario, where India imports all its li-ion cells and assembles battery packs, 25-40 per cent of the economic opportunity in battery manufacturing for India's EV ambitions can be captured domestically (Federation of Indian Chambers of Commerce and Industry (FICCI) & Rocky Mountain Institute (RMI), 2017). Advanced battery technologies can achieve faster cost reductions but require large investments in research and development (R&D), demonstration projects, and technology transfers (Dhar et al., 2016).

EV batteries are costly, heavy and bulky, and contain hazardous chemicals. The distance between battery factories and assembling units is crucial to keeping logistics, freight and insurance costs under control (BEE & EY, 2019). Battery management systems are critical for all chemical compositions, but they are essential for li-ion batteries as they pose a fire risk at high temperatures. This is particularly relevant for regions in India experiencing extreme summer temperatures, increasing the risk of EV battery fires (Shakti et al., 2019).

The Indian government has announced ambitious targets for vehicle electrification by 2030, with several states responding with sub-national policies, strategies and plans, although results have been mixed across vehicle segments (Dhar et al., 2020). Given the public value of shifting to electric mobility, it presents a strong case for public agencies to formulate supportive policies and regulations. Consequently, various central, state and local governments have initiated policies and plans to increase EV uptake (Shakti et al., 2019). Legal provisions have been made for charging points in residential and commercial properties, indicating modifications to building/property rules to establish a robust public charging infrastructure (Shakti et al., 2019; World Economic Forum, 2019).

According to the International Energy Agency, EVs are expected to have 35–45 per cent lower emissions than conventional internal combustion engines. Introducing EVs as a last-mile connectivity option could significantly reduce local air pollution and associated health issues (ICLEI & Shakti Foundation, 2019).

The shift towards greater adoption of EVs can result in a cumulative reduction of around 98 MtCO₂ between 2015 and 2030, and 1,155 MtCO₂ between 2015 and 2050 (Gupta et al., 2018). EVs can deliver significant local air quality benefits in the short and medium term (Shukla et al., 2015). In the 2°C and 1.5°C scenarios, EV diffusion will further reduce PM2.5 emissions to less than half of 2015 levels (Dhar et al., 2016). Introducing electric buses in public transportation systems will not only reduce particulate matter concentration in the air, but also reduce congestion and save lives (CSTEP & GGGI, 2016; Dhar et al., 2016; GGGI, 2014; NITI Aayog & Rocky Mountain Institute, 2017). Significant co-benefits emerge from a strong alignment with electric mobility options (Agora Verkehrswende, GIZ, 2023; Bazaz et al., 2022; Climate Action Tracker, 2020; Kamboj et al., 2022).

6.3.3.3 Public transport

Economic feasibility for public transport shows mixed evidence, indicating medium feasibility. Many studies in India highlight the benefits of a robust public transport system, including social acceptance, equity and local pollution reduction. Despite this, institutional inertia and lack of effective investment have constrained development. An overemphasis on NMT without balancing public transport has increased GHG emissions in the sector. Coordinated actions are needed to expand and densify the sector while reducing its GHG footprint.

Initiatives such as subsidies under the Faster Adoption and Manufacturing of Electric Vehicle (FAME) scheme for 5,595 electric buses encourage clean mobility in public transport (PIB, 2019). Balancing metro-based and busbased transit systems is essential, as metro rail projects are significantly more capital-intensive than Bus Rapid Transit Systems (BRTS) (Sharma et al., 2013). While BRTS is promoted as a low-cost alternative, it is not yet accessible to the urban poor, particularly women (Mahadevia et al., 2013). The World Bank estimates that 1,000 km of new BRTS corridors in 20 Indian cities could create 50,000-90,000 short-term jobs and 128,000 permanent jobs (Gota & Mejia, 2018).

As EV manufacturing expands in India, jobs will need to adapt to new systems, with state policies focusing on creating new job opportunities (Shakti Sustainable Energy Foundation et al., 2019). Electric buses are already deployed on a large scale globally, with mature and evolving technology (The Centre for Study of Science, Technology and Policy (CSTEP) & GGGI, 2016). The market for EVs is growing, with significant expansion anticipated (IEA, 2020). Technological innovation is crucial to reduce costs of hybrid and electric public transport vehicles (The Energy and Resources Institute (TERI), 2015).

Institutional feasibility remains low despite gains from the National Urban Renewal Mission (NURM) and National

Urban Transport Policy (NUTP) agendas, strengthened by subsequent urban programmes (Mahadevia et al., 2013). There is growing interest in rail-based systems to meet the mobility needs of expanding urban populations (Goel et al., 2015). However, other mass rapid transport modes like BRTS, monorail and light rail transit lack legislative support, leading to coordination and integration issues within urban transport governance (IIHS, 2015). The lack of institutional arenas to examine investment, infrastructure maintenance and regulation concerns further hinders the system's responsiveness (National Transport Development Policy Committee, 2014). Innovation and interventions in service delivery can reduce the need for private transportation and facilitate mass transit (Roy et al., 2018).

Early interventions in BRTS and metro corridors can prevent carbon-intensive infrastructure lock-ins and deliver environmental and health co-benefits from improved air quality, like in Ahmedabad (Dhar et al., 2016). Introducing electric buses will reduce particulate matter concentration and congestion, and save lives (CSTEP & GGGI, 2016; Dhar et al., 2016; GGGI, 2014; NITI Aayog & Rocky Mountain Institute, 2017).

6.3.3.4 Non-motorised transport

Promoting NMT such as walking and biking can significantly reduce infrastructure and operating expenses, freeing financial resources (FICCI & RMI, 2017). Substituting 50 per cent of short-distance work trips with NMT could save ₹27 billion in fuel expenses, with most savings from two-wheelers and cars (TERI, 2018). Providing bicycles to unskilled workers could save ₹112 billion in travel time annually, increasing work hours by 23 million (TERI, 2018). Since even subsidised transportation options remain inaccessible to many low-income groups working in the informal sector, cycling and walking are often the only modes of transport available to them (Rahul & Verma, 2018)calculation of the explanatory indicators for the scenarios before and after providing NMT infrastructure, and determination of the sustainability impact. The proposed framework is then used to determine the sustainability impact on providing NMT infrastructure inside the Central Business District (CBD. Strengthening the bicycle industry would create jobs and promote inclusive growth. Hence, economic feasibility and related social dimensions are high for NMT.

Technological feasibility for NMT is low due to multiple risks. Instead, pedestrians face significant risks from buses and cars. Safe crossings and pedestrian infrastructure are essential for road safety (Tiwari, 2015). Despite national policies encouraging walking and cycling, infrastructure like designated lanes and footpaths are often missing, making travel unsafe (Embarq India, 2014). Poor footpath conditions force people to walk on roads, increasing accident risk (Kapoor, 2019; Mahadevia, 2015; Shah et al., 2017). Knowledge gaps also exist in scaling up and maturing NMT technologies.

Institutional feasibility is low despite political acceptability. The NUTP encourages greater use of public transport and NMT, but local authorities lack the decision-making power and financial resources for this (CSTEP, 2015). An analysis of the transport budget shows minimal prioritisation of NMT (Sum Net India & Shakti Foundation, 2017). A review of public transport taxation and expenditures indicates a preference for private cars and rail systems. Despite pro-bus and pro-cycling rhetoric, the NURM allocated most of its funding to road widening and construction of flyovers, with minimal support for NMT infrastructure (IIHS, 2015). Further, urban transport planning and provision suffer from untrained manpower and a shortage of qualified staff (IIHS, 2015).

Social feasibility is medium, with high health benefits but low human capabilities. Providing bicycles can enhance student attendance and academic performance, increase visits undertaken by healthcare workers, and offer a safer mode of transport for women (World Bicycle Relief, 2019). Enhancing income potential, school enrollment rates and women's socioeconomic status are notable benefits (TERI, 2018). Promoting healthy lifestyles through active transport options like cycling is critical in countering sedentary lifestyle diseases (TERI, 2018), which has been a focus area for Indian climate action as indicated through the LiFE mission (MOEFCC, 2022). Most state- and citylevel agencies dealing with urban transport planning and provision suffer from overstaffing of untrained, unskilled manpower on the one hand and shortage of qualified technical staff and managerial supervisors on the other (IIHS, 2015), indicating a lack of institutional and governance related preparedness.

Environmental and geophysical feasibility is high for NMT. Substituting 50 per cent of two-wheeler and four-wheeler trips could save ₹241 billion over ten years and significantly reduce air pollution (TERI, 2018). NMT infrastructure will benefit all city sizes by reducing fuel consumption and vehicular emissions (Goel et al., 2015).

6.3.3.5 Low/net-zero energy buildings

The United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) estimates that improving embodied energy, thermal performance and direct energy use of buildings can reduce emissions by 1.9 giga tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (GtCO₂e) yr-1 (UNEP, 2017), with an additional reduction of 3 GtCO₂e yr-1 through energy-efficient appliances and lighting (UNEP, 2017). Further enhancements in energy efficiency of appliances and improvements in lighting, heating and cooling systems offer substantial potential for savings (Garg et al., 2017; Parikh & Parikh, 2016). Netzero energy buildings exhibit varying feasibility across indicators, with high feasibility in economic, environmental and geophysical aspects, medium feasibility in institutional dimensions.

The economic feasibility of net-zero energy buildings is high. Savings primarily arise from reduced operational costs, carbon credits, and potentially higher rental or capital values (Sharma & Rajput, 2017). Building thermally comfortable housing is crucial for resilience, particularly for the urban poor, who are vulnerable to climate impacts like increased temperatures and urban heat islands due to inadequate housing and services (Kumar, 2019; Shakti Foundation, 2018). Significant research highlights barriers such as extended payback periods, attributable to poorly designed incentives and market rules (International Finance Corporation, 2023).

Institutional feasibility remains low in the net-zero energy building sector. Implementation relies on multiple regulatory instruments and departments at state and city levels. Success hinges on existing frameworks, policies, and the capacity of states and cities. Substantial gaps exist due to outdated or absent master plans and city development plans in some states compared to more progressive ones, requiring a medium-to-long-term perspective for resolution (Kumar, 2019; Shakti Foundation, 2018). The social benefits of low-emission and green buildings are multifaceted, contributing positively across various scales. Improved working conditions enhance occupant productivity and reduce health issues (Sharma & Rajput, 2017). While research on thermally comfortable design and construction practices is extensive, integration into policy and housing development projects remains insufficiently mainstreamed (Kumar, 2019; Shakti Foundation, 2018).

Net-zero energy buildings demonstrate high feasibility from an environmental and geophysical standpoint, provided that clear metric systems are in place to account for their diverse environmental benefits (Khosla et al., 2017).

The NITI Aayog (2017) recommends strengthening the ECBC through periodic revisions in order to promote its wider adoption, enhance urban planning, and encourage transitioning to high-efficiency lighting technologies and appliances. Failure to significantly improve new building energy performance risks limiting India's building sector's mitigation potential amidst increasing construction rates and electricity demand (Graham & Rawal, 2019).

6.3.4 Industrial systems

The feasibility of mitigation options in industrial system transitions focuses on energy efficiency as a means to reduce emissions. Transitioning to low-carbon industrial production in hard-to-abate industries such as steel, cement, and chemicals requires new technologies that are still being explored. In India, regulatory and legislative initiatives for energy efficiency, including the Energy Conservation Act (ECA), the PAT scheme, and the National Mission for Enhanced Energy Efficiency (NMEEE) have been fairly successful.

6.3.4.1. Energy efficiency

The feasibility of energy efficiency initiatives varies from medium to high across economic, social, environmental, technological, institutional and geophysical aspects. The ECA, 2001 underwent significant amendments in 2010, and more recently in 2022, introducing stringent compliance norms to enhance energy efficiency. The operational framework of the revised ECBC has been actively implemented since then. For instance, through energy efficiency lighting programmes, sales of compact fluorescent lamps (CFLs) increased from 7.8 per cent of total lighting requirements in 2005 to 37 per cent in 2014 (MoEFCC, 2018).

The NMEEE serves as a comprehensive framework, guiding energy efficiency improvements in India. It aims to bolster the energy efficiency market through conducive regulatory and policy measures, and fostering innovative and sustainable business models. NMEEE encompasses four key initiatives: PAT scheme; Energy Efficiency Financing Platform; Market Transformation for Energy Efficiency; and Framework for Energy Efficient Economic Development. The PAT scheme, launched under NMEEE in 2008 to enhance energy efficiency in the industrial sector in its first three cycles, achieved significant energy savings of 24.5 Mtoe and avoidance of approximately 99 MtCO₂ emissions (MOEFCC, 2023).

Energy efficiency in the industrial sector demonstrates high feasibility on economic, environmental and geophysical dimensions, while scoring medium on institutional, governance and social dimensions. To fully realise the dual benefits of energy savings and carbon reduction, a coordinated approach is crucial and remains a work in progress. This necessitates aligning regulatory and institutional frameworks, alongside addressing social dynamics such as generating incremental employment across production and consumption value chains.

Figure 6.6: Feasibility of mitigation options under industrial systems



Energy efficiency

Ec: Economic | T: Technological | I: Institutional | S: Social | En: Environmental | G: Geophysical Source: Authors' compilation

6.4 Feasibility of Adaptation Options across Systems

This section assesses the feasibility of 23 adaptation options relevant for India across two systems: land, oceans and ecosystems, and urban and infrastructure, as well as a cross-cutting category with options that span across systems (see Figure 6.2). The assessment shows high-to-medium feasibility for many of the 12 adaptation options under land, oceans and ecosystems, including conservation agriculture, agroforestry and agriculture diversity, that are being practised with some success in various states. The four options examined under urban and infrastructure systems-sustainable land use planning, green infrastructure, sustainable water management and building codes-have high technical feasibility but are constrained due to institutional barriers. Green infrastructure has high feasibility across technical, economic and environmental parameters. Under the cross-cutting category, seven adaptation options are analysed, of which social safety nets like MGNREGA and PDS as well as early warning systems have overall highto-moderate feasibility across parameters.

6.4.1 Adaptation options for land, oceans and ecosystems transitions

This section assesses 12 adaptation options for land, oceans and ecosystems transitions, which include agriculture, forest and coastal ecosystems, against a set of six parameters, that is, economic, technological, environmental, social, institutional and geophysical. Agricultural options such as conservation agriculture, agricultural diversification, grazing land management and agroforestry have high-to-medium overall feasibility (see Figure 6.4). The efficient management of resources such as water offers multiple co-benefits including higher income, disaster risk reduction and livelihood diversification. Biodiversity management and coastal adaptation options have medium feasibility, with evidence suggesting that a mix of infrastructural and nature-based interventions are most feasible.

6.4.1.1 Conservation agriculture

Conservation agriculture is a set of farming practices that promotes minimum soil disturbance (no/low tillage),

maintenance of permanent soil cover and diversification of plant species (Food and Agriculture Organization [FAO], 2017). In India, these practices include zero-budget natural farming, permanent bed and zero tillage, and zero tillage dry-seeded rice/wheat (Bhan & Behera, 2014).

Overall, conservation agriculture practices have high economic feasibility due to higher net profits from reduced production costs, significant water, energy and labour savings, and higher yields (Bharucha et al., 2020; Jat et al., 2014b). Evidence from the Indo-Gangetic Plains, the North Eastern Region, north-western India and Andhra Pradesh highlights these economic benefits (Ghosh et al., 2010; Jat et al., 2014b; Parihar et al., 2016).

However, its adoption is constrained by gaps in locally relevant technical know-how and inadequate extension services such as farmer training and on-farm demonstrations (Kumar et al., 2011b). State extension services are often understaffed or inadequately trained to address the diverse social-ecological challenges faced by smallholders, particularly in dryland systems (Bharucha et al., 2020; Sapkota et al., 2015). Political acceptability is high at both national and state levels (e.g., Haryana and Andhra Pradesh), with dedicated programmes incentivising conservation agriculture, though these policies need scaling up (Aryal et al., 2016).

There is strong evidence that conservation agriculture improves nutrition, reduces health hazards and environmental pollution, and has intergenerational benefits by contributing to future income needs and sustainable resource use (Parihar et al., 2016; Pradhan et al., 2016). Sociocultural acceptance varies, with farming communities in north-western India and the Indo-Gangetic Plains being more receptive than those in Haryana (Aryal et al., 2016; Bhan & Behera, 2014; Pradhan et al., 2016).

Conservation agriculture also restores natural resources, improves soil health, and reduces soil erosion and water use (Bhan & Behera, 2014; Bharucha et al., 2020; Ghosh et al., 2010). It has strong mitigation synergies as it has reduced the use of fossil fuels, pesticides and other pollutants (Jat et al., 2019; 2011; Naresh et al., 2013). Additionally, it builds adaptive capacities in farming systems, especially for extreme events such as droughts and excessive rainfall. Adoption of these practices has

Er



Figure 6.7: Feasibility of adaptation options under land and ecosystems transitions

Ec: Economic | T: Technological | I: Institutional | S: Social | En: Environmental | G: Geophysical Source: Authors' compilation

En

En

been increasing over the past 8–10 years in India (Bhan & Behera, 2014), with zero tillage being a success story in north-western India, although uptake remains uneven (Aryal et al., 2016).

6.4.1.2 Agricultural diversification

Agricultural diversification includes practices such as diversifying crop types and cropping practices (e.g., intercropping and crop rotation). It also involves agricultural income diversification and resource diversification (Jha et al., 2015).

Overall, agricultural diversification enhances incomes and reduces poverty (Jat et al., 2012; Khatri-Chhetri et al., 2016; Mandal & Bezbaruah, 2013). However, its impact diminishes beyond a threshold due to constraints such as limited capital for smaller farms and limited labour for larger ones (Birthal et al., 2015). Local ecology, crop choice and farmland size influence the income gains from crop diversification. The shift from paddy to pulses, oilseeds and high-value crops in upland rainfed areas shows the most promise (Reddy, 2013). In specific regions like the Eastern Ghats and the Northern Plateau of Odisha, and in the hard rock areas of south India, larger farms, owner-operated farming and diversified cropping patterns yield higher average profit efficiencies (Manjunatha et al., 2013; Reddy, 2013).

There is limited evidence on the technical viability of agricultural diversification due to inadequate infrastructure such as reliable water supply, markets, fertiliser availability and post-harvest facilities (Acharya et al., 2011; Manjunatha et al., 2013). The feasibility of agricultural diversification is strongly influenced by institutional capacity and policy support, with increasing state and national policy support. For example, in Himachal Pradesh, the Horticultural Produce Marketing and Processing Corporation along with agricultural universities in the state have facilitated crop diversification by providing technical assistance and farmer advisories on cultivating high-value cash crops (Sharma, 2011). Improved irrigation coverage and credit access in Odisha and Assam have also enabled agricultural diversification (Reddy, 2013).

Crop diversification offers positive co-benefits for ecosystem services, such as improved soil quality (Jat et al., 2012) and human well-being through better nutrition, poverty alleviation and employment generation (Bhattacharyya, 2008). It also builds resilience against weather shocks and is an important adaptation measure to climatic risks (Birthal & Hazrana, 2019; Khatri-Chhetri et al., 2016).

6.4.1.3 Improved cropland management

Improved cropland management includes strategies such as SRI, improved seed management and laser land levelling. Despite high input costs in some cases, there is robust evidence that these strategies provide multiple economic benefits, including reduced input costs for water, seeds, fertilisers and energy; increased net returns; and higher crop productivity (Aryal et al., 2015b; 2018b; Aryal et al., 2020a; Barah, 2009; Jat et al., 2009; Jat et al., 2014b; Khatri-Chhetri et al., 2016).

In the Indo-Gangetic Plains, studies show that different combinations of cropland management techniques can more than double the net returns on initial investment in rice-wheat cropping systems (Aryal et al., 2015a;Aryal et al., 2015b; Jat et al., 2009; Khatri-Chhetri et al., 2016). In Maharashtra, improved technologies in the production of sorghum have increased net returns (170 per cent), grain yield (58 per cent), quality (78 per cent) and fodder yield (26 per cent) (Chapke & Tonapi 2018). In Uttar Pradesh, sustainable land management has tripled cropping intensity, increasing rice yields from 0.9 to 3.5 tonnes/ha and wheat yields from 0.4 to 3.0 tonnes/ha (Satapathy et al., 2011). Laser land levelling in the Indo-Gangetic Plains offered 97-120 per cent internal rate of return for service providers, with estimates showing that one laser unit can create employment opportunities of 270 to 330 person-days/year.

Climate-smart agriculture has emerged as a highly feasible strategy to adapt to climatic risks such as drought and floods, although it entails significant costs. For example, drought-tolerant rice can increase production by over 8 million tonnes by 2035 but would require investment of approximately US\$ 206 billion (2015–2030) (Aryal et al., 2019). These options would also generate local employment and higher incomes (Aryal et al., 2015b; Gill, 2014; Jat et al., 2014b; Mula & Sarker, 2013).

While technological capacity for improved cropland management is high, some strategies are expensive and

constrained by low awareness, ineffective implementation and lack of equipment (Bhatta et al., 2017; Khatri-Chhetri et al., 2016). However, increasing farmer awareness, government subsidies, better custom-hire services, extension and training services, and ICTs can improve uptake (Aryal et al., 2018a).

Numerous policies, schemes and institutions promote improved cropland management at national and state levels, such as the National Initiative on Climate Resilient Agriculture (NICRA), Weather-based Crop Insurance Scheme, Kisan Sanchar Samuha, Tamil Nadu Precision Farming Project, National Agroforestry Policy and National Mission for Sustainable Agriculture (Amjath-Babu et al., 2019; Aryal et al., 2020a; Chapke & Tonapi, 2018; Mondal & Basu, 2009; Satapathy et al., 2011). However, many existing policies suffer from transparency and accountability challenges, which can inadvertently incentivise maladaptive practices and cause lack of institutional flexibility (Aryal et al., 2019).

Improved cropland management provides social benefits such as improved food security, new investment opportunities, employment and reduced health impacts from chemical inputs (Agarwal & Pandey, 2017; Aryal et al., 2015b; Aryal et al., 2018b; Gill, 2014; Jat et al., 2014a;). However, the acceptance and penetration of these practices depend on factors such as land tenure, literacy, caste and gender (Aryal et al., 2018a; 2018c). Farmers with larger farm areas are more willing to adopt climatesmart agriculture practices compared to smallholders (Aryal et al., 2014; 2018a; 2018b). There is mixed evidence on the gender inclusiveness of these options. While there are more employment opportunities for women in specialised operations like SRI (Barah, 2009), many new technologies have not adequately addressed the unequal workload of women farmers (Bhatta et al., 2017). For instance, in Haryana and Bihar, women were reported to have had less awareness of improved agricultural practices (Aryal et al., 2014).

Environmentally, improved cropland management has positive impacts. In Uttar Pradesh, sustainable land management practices promote organic farming, reduce pests and diseases, and increase floral and faunal diversity as well as microbial biomass (Aryal et al., 2019; Barah, 2009; Satapathy et al., 2011). Seed banks in Uttar Pradesh, Bihar, West Bengal and Odisha have enhanced resilience against floods, increased productivity and diversified local food systems (Satapathy et al., 2011). Even small improvements in rice cropland management positively impact groundwater availability and water savings (Aryal et al., 2015b; Barah, 2009; Dourte et al., 2014; Gill, 2014; Jat et al., 2014a). Such practices mitigate the effects of high temperatures, thereby adapting agriculture to drought and heat stress (Aryal et al., 2014; 2018c).

Improved cropland management is physically feasible across most of India (e.g., more feasible in the north-east due to the climate, soil type, and existing practices of organic food production in the region; Das et al., 2017). However, there are barriers to land availability and tenure as well as the challenge of declining field sizes in some regions such as the Indo-Gangetic Plains (Aryal et al., 2018c; DeFries et al., 2016). Practices such as laser land levelling and climatesmart agriculture have mitigation co-benefits by reducing GHG emissions and substantially reducing the demand for irrigation water and energy for pumping water (Jat et al., 2014a). A combination of improved cropland practices, including reduced or no tillage, nutrient management and residue recycling, has a higher rate of soil organic carbon sequestration (427.9 kg/ha/year under the rice-rice system; Yadav et al., 2019). Laser land levelling reduces ~0.15 Mg of CO₂ eq/ha/year by decreasing water pumping and cultivation time (Aryal et al., 2020b).

6.4.1.4 Integrated soil management

Integrated soil management includes practices such as site-specific nutrient management, soil health and fertility management, and zero or minimum tillage. These practices offer substantial economic benefits by reducing input costs and cultivation expenses while increasing productivity, yield and net returns (Aryal et al., 2019; Phonglosa et al., 2015; Sharma et al., 2015). For example, compared to conventional tillage, a zero tillage-based rice-wheat cropping system can save input costs and increase net revenue by approximately ₹7,000/ha (Aryal et al., 2015c; Aryal et al., 2019; Gathala et al., 2011; Jat et al., 2014b; Keil et al., 2015; Khatri-Chhetri et al., 2016; Phonglosa et al., 2015; Sapkota et al., 2014; Sapkota et al., 2015). On-farm vermicompost and manure, ridge and furrow systems, zero tillage, and soil test-based balanced nutrition technologies also improve productivity and net returns (Chander et al., 2013; Keil et al., 2015; Parihar et al., 2012; Pathak, 2010; Sharma et al., 2015). However, some nitrogen management technologies can increase expenses and reduce net incomes (Pathak, 2010).

Adoption of soil management practices is constrained by low awareness, insufficient training, high equipment costs, lack of technology, and socio-economic incompatibility (Bhatta et al., 2017; Bhattacharyya et al., 2016;). Institutions such as the Cereal Systems Initiative for South Asia in Bihar (Keil et al., 2015), State Department of Agriculture in Karnataka (Kannan & Ramappa, 2017), Central Soil Water Conservation and Training Institute in Ooty (Bhattacharyya et al., 2016), and Central Soil Salinity Research Institute in West Bengal have developed, trained and driven the adoption of integrated soil management practices. Support from agricultural departments, panchayati raj institutions, watershed associations (Kannan & Ramappa, 2017) and access to credit (Aryal et al., 2018c) have enabled adoption in some regions, although lack of coordination remains a significant barrier (Bhattacharyya et al., 2016).

Integrated soil management provides significant health and socio-economic benefits. For example, it reduces infant mortality and morbidity in poor households by decreasing womens' exposure to fertiliser-derived toxins in paddy fields (Farnworth et al., 2017). It benefits marginal farmers who cannot afford expensive chemical fertilisers (Jat et al., 2015). Factors such as farm size, access to credit, caste and literacy of the household head influence adoption rates. For instance, in the Indo-Gangetic plains, these four factors influence the adoption of zero tillage and site-specific nutrient management, with educated, higher-caste farmers with larger landholdings adopting these practices more frequently (Aryal et al., 2018a; 2018c; Keil et al., 2017; 2019).

Integrated soil management enhances soil microbial activity (Parihar et al., 2020; Patra et al., 2020), improves soil water-holding capacity (Parihar et al., 2020; Srinivasarao et al., 2013), increases nutrient availability (Batabyal et al., 2017; Parihar et al., 2020; Patra et al., 2020; Sarkar et al., 2018) and boosts carbon sequestration potential in north-west India (Aryal et al., 2015c), Andhra Pradesh (Wani et al., 2014) and Central India (Kumar et al., 2018a). These impacts collectively build local resilience through improved soil health, leading to yield benefits in subsequent seasons (Chander et al., 2013).

The physical feasibility of soil management practices depends on geography, location, farm size and soil type (Kannan & Ramappa, 2017; Keil et al., 2017). Practices like zero tillage are more beneficial in rainfed agricultural systems and must be combined with residue retention and crop rotation to realise these benefits (Keil et al., 2015). Techniques such as contour grass barriers vary with grass types and site conditions; for instance, buffel grass in Andhra Pradesh or guinea grass in Uttarakhand (Mandal et al., 2017).

Most soil management practices increase soil carbon sequestration and reduce GHG emissions compared to conventional farming (Pathak, 2010; Sarkar et al., 2018; Yadav et al., 2019). For instance, zero tillage-based wheat production in Haryana reduced GHG emissions by 1.5 Mg CO₂ eq/ha/wheat season (Aryal et al., 2015c; 2019). In central India, reduced tillage increased soil organic carbon sequestration (Kumar et al., 2018a). Ridge and furrow systems and integrated fertiliser application in Indian conditions reduced the carbon footprint of pearl millet-mustard cropping systems and increased net returns, sustaining soil health and higher farm profitability (Parihar et al., 2012). A meta-analysis showed that using grasses can reduce soil carbon loss by 83 per cent in the Indian tropics (Mandal et al., 2017). In Andhra Pradesh, applying Jatropha de-oiled seed cake enhanced carbon sequestration on degraded wastelands in semi-arid tropic regions (Wani et al., 2014).

6.4.1.5 Water resource efficiency and water resource management

Improving irrigation efficiency through demand and supply management, along with integrated water management practices, is crucial for agricultural adaptation. These practices offer clear economic benefits by improving crop productivity, cropping and irrigation intensity, and achieving more sustainable yields (Gray & Srinidhi, 2013; Manjunatha et al., 2011; Sharma et al., 2010; Singh et al., 2009; Thind et al., 2010).

While technical barriers are low, institutional barriers persist, such as inadequate capacity to fully leverage

watershed programmes (Dhawan, 2017), ineffective community participation (Gray & Srinidhi, 2013) and limited local capacity to improve farm-level water efficiency (Senthilkumar et al., 2012). There is no universal institutional arrangement for water resource efficiency, but different states offer lessons in successful technical solutions and institutional design.

Furrow irrigation in Punjab and drip irrigation in Tamil Nadu and Karnataka are popular among farmers, with high adoption rates (Palanisamy et al., 2010; Thind et al., 2010). Greater efforts are needed to make water efficiency interventions more gender-sensitive. Water resource efficiency and management practices have high ecological feasibility. For example, in the Kumbharwadi watershed programme, efficient water use has enabled afforestation and carbon sequestration, and reduced land degradation (Gray & Srinidhi, 2013; Singh et al., 2009). However, physical characteristics of basins and subbasins can constrain water resources management, as seen in southern India's Upper Bhima River basin, where upstream watershed development impacts downstream farmers' access to water (Surinaidu et al., 2013).

6.4.1.6 Efficient livestock

Enhancing livestock efficiency involves optimising breeding, rearing and feeding practices, and improving animal health. Studies consistently show that improving livestock systems can boost incomes, promote sustainable livelihoods and empower poor households (Birthal & Negi, 2012; Hegde, 2019; Ranade & Mishra 2015). Notably, poorer households benefit more from livestock diversification than wealthier ones (Deshingkar et al., 2008). Current constraints on livestock productivity include low technology adoption, feed and fodder scarcity, and poor animal health (Birthal & Negi, 2012; Deshingkar et al., 2008; Rathod, 2017).

Barriers to improving livestock efficiency are multifaceted. Economically, practices like stall-fed dairying and intensive poultry production may be unaffordable for poorer households (Hegde, 2019). Technically, there is limited reach of ICT for animal health management, disease control, feeding, herd management and milk marketing (Meena & Singh 2013). Institutionally, livestock often receives low priority in national policy (Birthal & Negi, 2012; Deshingkar et al., 2008; Rathod, 2017). Although small landholders can scale up dairy production, they face production and marketing constraints, along with shrinking community pasture lands (Birthal, 2008; Deshingkar et al., 2008). There is an urgent need for institutional and policy support to improve livestock efficiency through investment, credit, insurance, extension services and market access (Birthal, 2008; Birthal & Negi, 2012; Deshingkar et al., 2008; Rathod, 2017). While livestock rearing is often managed by women, leading to potential income benefits (Birthal & Negi, 2012; Kristjanson et al., 2010), decision-making remains male-dominated in some contexts (Mishra et al., 2008). Additionally, caste-based inequalities can result in exclusion, such as high-caste households refusing to buy milk from marginalised caste groups (Deshingkar et al., 2008).

The environmental feasibility of efficient livestock systems, particularly integrated crop-livestock systems, is mixed. While there are negative impacts on natural resources, GHG emissions and community grazing lands (Deshingkar et al., 2008; Hegde, 2019), there are also positive outcomes such as manure nutrient cycling, reduced erosion, increased crop yields and enhanced soil biological activity (Gupta et al., 2012). Given India's large livestock population and low productivity, improving efficiency can offer significant economic and environmental co-benefits (Blummel et al., 2009).

6.4.1.7 Improved grazeland management

India's grasslands are biophysically diverse, serving as critical wildlife habitats and the foundation of pastoral livelihoods (Kumar et al., 2015). Improved grazing land management includes practices like rotational and controlled grazing, managed silvopasture systems, controlled or prescribed burning, sustainable use of common property resources, fodder management, improved grass varieties, and the cut-and-carry system. These practices effectively increase land productivity, livestock carrying capacity and fodder production (Pathak & Dagar, 2016; Satapathy et al., 2011).

Grazing land management programmes can economically benefit local communities, as seen in Madhya Pradesh (Tetra Tech, 2017) and Gujarat (Kumar et al., 2015). Both formal and informal technologies are available to improve pasture land management (Kumar et al., 2011a; Kumar et al., 2015; Satapathy et al., 2011; Tetra Tech, 2017), with various research and academic institutions developing, refining and testing multiple grassland management technologies, supported by government agencies (Roy & Singh, 2013).

Despite government and local agency efforts to incentivise improved grazing land management across India, significant barriers include the lack of a comprehensive policy, ineffective implementation, lack of ownership and political inefficiency. Although India has one of the world's largest livestock populations, there is no national grazing policy, and forest regulations only address grazing restrictions, leading to conflicts. Some states, like Madhya Pradesh, Karnataka and Andhra Pradesh, have limited grazing policies, but they lack comprehensive management plans (Roy & Singh, 2008). For example, a special programme launched in Rajasthan's desert districts in 2003-2004 for community land improvement was discontinued by the subsequent government (Chaudhry et al., 2011). Government agencies often focus on temporary relief supplies rather than developing permanent solutions (Kumar et al., 2015). Traditional village-level institutions that ensured sustainable grassland management have deteriorated, and no agency is currently responsible for overseeing management issues (Roy & Singh 2013). The Government of India's Task Force on Grasslands and Deserts highlighted the importance of rotational grazing, controlling free-ranging animals, protecting selected grassland plots, securing tenure for pastoralists and improving livestock genetics. However, these measures have not been integrated into national animal husbandry programmes (Kumar et al., 2011a).

There are some successful grassland management programmes. Multipurpose programmes like JFM aim to balance tree products and herbaceous fodder (Roy & Singh, 2008). The Kangayam region in Tamil Nadu has sustained grassland production systems for over a century through technological and social practices (Kumar et al., 2011a). Traditional grazing governed by informal institutions has supported pastoral adaptations in Arunachal Pradesh, showing that local pastoralists can sustain ecosystems through rangeland management (Singh et al., 2018c).

Effective implementation of improved grassland management practices offers social co-benefits, including

increased income, better health, gender equity and crosscultural knowledge exchange (Kumar et al., 2011a; Singh et al., 2018c). Involving local communities at the planning stage enhances the acceptability of these programmes (Joshi et al., 2009).

Improved grazing land management can restore ecosystem services by enhancing forest health, restoring flora and fauna in Madhya Pradesh (Tetra Tech 2017), reducing run-off and erosion (Mandal et al., 2017), and maintaining swamp plant communities in endangered wetland ecosystems (Mohandass et al., 2016). Silvopastoral components reduce temperatures, increase soil moisture and humidity, enhance dry matter production for understory grasses and legumes, and improve fodder availability and livestock health (Pathak & Dagar, 2016). Moderated grazing enhances soil microbial biomass (Devi et al., 2014), increases drought resilience (Satapathy et al., 2011), and improves grassland productivity (Pathak & Dagar, 2016). While these management options yield several ecological benefits, careful planning and assessment are required to avoid unintended consequences, such as large-scale fires (Sriramamurthy et al., 2020) or the introduction of invasive species (Joshi et al., 2018).

The feasibility of integrated grazing land management depends heavily on local ecology, and most evidence recommends developing site-specific management plans (Tetra Tech, 2017). Grasses can reverse land degradation and reduce soil carbon loss by 83 per cent (Mandal et al., 2017). Silvopastoral systems enrich soil carbon and nitrogen pools, with grasses and trees on degraded lands sequestering 1.9 petagram of carbon in seven years, compared to 2.27 Pg of emissions in the same period, thereby slowing global warming (Pathak & Dagar, 2016). Adopting high-density silvopasture systems on at least 3 Mha can help meet half of India's carbon emission reduction target under the Intended Nationally Determined Contributions (INDC) commitment over ten years (Varsha et al., 2017).

6.4.1.8 Agroforestry

Agroforestry holds significant economic promise, offering higher incomes, income security in case of crop failure and robust livelihood support, especially in states as diverse in agro-ecology as Punjab, Haryana, Uttarakhand, western Uttar Pradesh, arid Rajasthan, and Northeast India (Basu, 2014; Chavan et al., 2015; Parihaar et al., 2015; Roy & Tewari, 2012; Sharma et al., 2015). Technical challenges to agroforestry include gaps in scientific knowledge and operational capabilities (Murthy, 2013; Sharma et al., 2015).

The political acceptability of agroforestry is bolstered by national policies like the National Agroforestry Policy (2014), which underscores the tree-crop interface as pivotal for promoting climate-smart agriculture (Chavan et al., 2015). Strengthening existing institutions such as Krishi Vigyan Kendras, Regional Agricultural Research Stations of Indian Council of Agriculture Research (ICAR), Indian Council of Forestry Research and Education (ICFRE) and State Agriculture Universities (SAUs), and R&D extension institutions under state bodies is crucial for fostering locally suited agroforestry models (Chavan et al., 2015).

The uptake of agroforestry is influenced by ecological, institutional and sociocultural factors as well as market development levels. For instance, in north-western India, poplar-based agroforestry has gained popularity due to significantly higher economic returns from timber as compared to traditional rice–wheat rotations (Sharma et al., 2015). In the commercialised regions of western and southern India, farmers opt for woodlots over risk-prone crops like groundnut or cotton (Basu, 2014). In rural Kashmir, the tangible benefits of agroforestry influence community attitudes positively (Islam et al., 2015).

Agroforestry offers substantial socio-economic and ecological co-benefits, including improved local water quality, increased fodder availability, enhanced timber for fuel and construction, and strengthened food security (Basu, 2014; Chavan et al., 2015). Extensive evidence suggests that agroforestry enhances land use efficiency through microclimate regulation, biodiversity conservation, water source protection, erosion control and substantial carbon storage potential (Murthy, 2013; Nandy & Kumar Das, 2013; Roy & Tewari, 2012; Sharma et al., 2015; 2016). Agroforestry also enhances farming system resilience by sustaining production during dry periods (Roy & Tewari, 2012).

6.4.1.9 Biodiversity conservation and management

Biodiversity conservation enhances the trade of non-

timber forest products (NTFP), creates wage labour opportunities, and boosts incomes for forest-dependent populations (GIM-MOEFCC, 2016). Valued at ₹100 billion (US\$ 1.4 billion) based on carbon sequestration potential, the Western Ghats forests play a crucial role in climate mitigation efforts (Ramachandra & Bharath, 2019). Forest regeneration activities, including afforestation and soil conservation, generate substantial employment through community-based forest management initiatives (Singh, 2008). Forest conservation also contributes to income generation through sustainable forest product use and eco-tourism (Satapathy et al., 2011).

India has established robust legal and institutional frameworks for biodiversity management, encompassing multiple central and state regulations, policies, and schemes. Key legislations include the Wildlife (Protection) Act, 1972; Environment Protection Act, 1986; Joint Forest Management Policy 1993; Biological Diversity Act, 2002; Biological Diversity Rules, 2004; and National Environment Policy 2006 (GIM-MOEFCC, 2016; Iftekhar, 2008). State Biodiversity Boards have been set up across India post the enactment of the Biological Diversity Act, further bolstering conservation efforts (Kumar et al., 2020a). Apart from these, the Compensatory Afforestation Fund Management and Planning Authority (CAMPA) Act, 2016 supports the establishment of a permanent National Compensatory Afforestation Fund in order to enhance afforestation initiatives (Bhan et al., 2016). GIM is a pivotal component of India's climate change strategy, focusing on enhancing forest cover and quality. Furthermore, revenue distribution from forest tax revenues incentivises states to protect and restore forests (Busch & Mukherjee, 2017).

Inadequate capacity of state governments to implement and monitor afforestation activities; lack of viable longterm institutional framework conducive to the objective of increased biomass for the poor; social equity and resource sustainability; and underutilisation of funds accrued under CAMPA threaten long-term biodiversity conservation (Bhan et al., 2016; Singh, 2008). There is also variable implementation of forest management policies in different states (Das & Behera, 2019).

Biodiversity management offers co-benefits for health, food security (Mishra, 2019), education and environmental awareness (Ramadoss & Moli, 2011), preservation of cultural heritage (Satapathy et al., 2011), and overall human well-being (Kumar et al., 2020a; Mallick & Chakraborty, 2018a). While several policies target stakeholder engagement and participatory conservation, exclusionary management practices hamper public acceptability and overall feasibility (Dhanapal, 2019; Faizi & Ravichandran, 2016).

Biodiversity management and conservation enhances ecosystem services significantly (Mallick & Chakraborty, 2018a), contributes to maintenance of nutrient and water flow, aids habitat conservation of forest plants and animal species (Das & Behera, 2019; Hussain et al., 2016; Pradhan et al., 2019; Saniotis, 2011), causes less erosion, and stabilises degraded areas (Agarwal et al., 2017; Satapathy et al., 2011). However, focusing on monocultures (e.g. teak in Central India or *Casuarina equisetifolia* and *Acacia auriculiformis* in Odisha) can constrain effectiveness (Dhanapal, 2019; Hussain et al., 2016; Roy & Datta, 2018).

Land availability, location, transaction costs and landscape properties influence the physical feasibility of biodiversity management. For instance, identifying and earmarking land for afforestation is challenging due to finite land resources and competing demands. Unclear land tenure and difficulties in complying with land acquisition procedures further hinder implementation (Bhan et al., 2016). Location and connectivity also play crucial roles; for instance, Forest Protection Committees located close to local forests experience lower transaction costs (Ray & Bhattacharya, 2011).

Shifting land use through biodiversity conservation can achieve significant carbon sequestration and restore soil carbon stocks (Kumar et al., 2020a; Satapathy et al., 2011). Indian plantations from 2000 to 2050 have the potential to sequester up to 7 billion tonnes of carbon credits, with 153 Temperature guage/year expected by 2030 (Singh, 2008). Conservation efforts in the Western Ghats forests could increase carbon sequestration potential to 1.5 million gigagrams (MGg) by 2031 with enhanced protection and minimal disturbances (Ramachandra & Bharath, 2019). In Northeast India, substantial carbon stock recovery was observed as secondary forests regenerated, with a 30-year fallow storing approximately half the carbon of an old-growth forest. Preserving old-growth forests through protected areas and intensifying cropping in the remaining shifting cultivation areas represents the optimal strategy for carbon storage (Borah et al., 2018).

Forest conservation and planned vegetation contribute significantly to maintaining nutrient and water flows, preventing landslides, conserving flora and fauna habitats, reducing erosion, enhancing availability of wood and other forest products, and stabilising degraded areas (Gupta & Nair, 2012; Satapathy et al., 2011). While scientific biodiversity management practices can mitigate environmental hazards, ineffective implementation may prove to be counterproductive.

6.4.1.10 Integrated Coastal Zone Management

Integrated Coastal Zone Management (ICZM) encompasses multiple adaptation strategies, including mangrove management, coastal zoning and vulnerability assessments, and socio-economic interventions for coastal communities. In India, ICZM activities are notably concentrated in states such as West Bengal, Odisha, Tamil Nadu, Maharashtra and Gujarat.

ICZM delivers significant economic benefits through livelihood generation (Ghosh, 2015; Pitchaikani, 2020; Roy & Datta, 2018), income generation from mangrove products like fish, dyes and medicines, improved employment opportunities, and enhanced food security (Satapathy et al., 2011). It is supported by various legislative and institutional frameworks across India (DasGupta & Shaw, 2013; Iftekhar, 2008; Kathiresan, 2010; 2018), including GIM, Coastal Regulation Zone (CRZ) Notifications, and initiatives like JFM and Eco-Development Committees (Datta, 2017; Datta & Deb, 2017). Further, ICZM is enabled by strong civil society and funder attention (DasGupta & Shaw, 2013; Jayakumar et al., 2019; Portman et al., 2012).

Despite this, ICZM faces institutional constraints such as inadequate financial and human resources, poor infrastructure, and insufficient political will (Kathiresan, 2018). Additionally, challenges like environmental factors originating outside the coastal zone (e.g., reduced freshwater flow upstream) remain unaddressed (Krishnamurthy et al., 2014), along with weak monitoring and enforcement processes (Iftekhar, 2008; Panigrahi & Mohanty, 2012; Puthucherril, 2011; Roy & Datta, 2018).

Technological feasibility of ICZM is moderate, with GISbased technologies being employed in specific regions such as Udupi in Karnataka, the Chennai coast in Tamil Nadu and Subarnarekha River in eastern India (Dwarakish et al., 2009; Kankara et al., 2014; Roy & Datta, 2018).

ICZM yields numerous social co-benefits, including poverty alleviation and improved livelihoods through programmes like Joint Mangrove Management (Kathiresan, 2018), increased catches of mangrove-dependent fish (Das, 2017), and higher incomes from forestry and fisheries (Hussain & Badola, 2010). However, it also faces socioeconomic challenges such as human-wildlife conflicts and diseases like malaria (Badola et al., 2012).

Participatory resource management is integral to ICZM across India, emphasising public awareness and local capacity building for sustainable resource use (Panigrahi & Mohanty, 2012). Despite the health, livelihood and sociocultural benefits of ICZM, public acceptability is mixed, influenced by factors such as community reluctance to protect areas that restrict fishing rights and use of NTFPs (Badola et al., 2012; Chouhan et al., 2016;DasGupta & Shaw, 2013; Ghosh, 2015). ICZM initiatives can also inadvertently increase vulnerability among certain social groups; for example, in Bhitarkanika, Odisha, restrictions associated with ICZM have disproportionately excluded women from resource use (Badola et al., 2012), while in the Sundarbans, insufficient involvement of economically marginalised groups in decision-making has hindered inclusive mangrove management (Datta, 2017), contributing to widening income disparitiy (Ghosh, 2015).

Mangroves and other coastal ecosystems, such as seagrass beds and coral reefs, provide a wide array of ecosystem services, including biodiversity conservation (Chouhan et al., 2016; Datta & Deb, 2017; Satapathy et al., 2011) and risk mitigation benefits such as flood buffering, cyclone protection and storm surge attenuation (Badola et al., 2012; Coppenolle & Temmerman, 2020; DasGupta & Shaw, 2013; Parthasarathy, 2011). They also play crucial roles in preventing soil erosion, stabilising shorelines, and enhancing habitat conservation for flora and fauna (Chouhan et al., 2016; Datta, 2017). Despite covering only 0.3 per cent of India's coastal area, mangroves are estimated to sequester carbon 50 times more effectively than tropical forests, contributing significantly to carbon sequestration efforts (Kathiresan, 2010).

However, significant physical barriers exist against converting mangroves for commercial purposes. In the Sundarbans, for instance, the high costs associated with land use conversion in tidal, saline environments, coupled with international administrative boundaries and the presence of endangered species like the Royal Bengal Tiger, pose formidable challenges to ICZM (Iftekhar, 2008).

6.4.1.11 Coastal defence and hardening

Coastal defence options across India include constructing seawalls, groins, breakwaters, and revetments; establishing bio-shields such as mangrove plantations; deploying Multipurpose Artificial Surfing Reefs (MPASRs); and implementing innovative structures like bamboo pile walls.

Coastal defences such as bio-shields offer economic benefits, providing daily wages, fuelwood, and small timber to local communities when they participate in planting efforts (Feagin et al., 2010; Mukherjee et al., 2015). The multipurpose Kovalam Reef in Kerala, for instance, protects the shore and promotes quality surfing, boosting tourism and enabling small businesses centered around surfing (Asian Development Bank [ADB], 2017).

Innovative coastal defence structures can result in substantial cost savings, though effectiveness varies by type. Bamboo pile walls are both economically and environmentally advantageous, while sand dykes are costly due to the need for large amounts of sand, often transported from distant locations (Harihar & Verhagen, 2017). The unit cost of sea dikes in India is approximately €5.7 million per km or ₹45-48 crore (at 2019-2020 rates), one of the highest in the world (Nicholls et al., 2019). While seawalls are relatively inexpensive and easy to construct, the Swaminathan Committee Report on the CRZ warns against 'hard engineering options' like seawalls, identifying them as serious threats to coastal ecosystems and livelihoods (Rodriguez et al., 2008).

Over the past two decades, India has implemented various coastal defences with the involvement of government and civil society. The techniques used include bio-shields, geotextile tubes and other site-specific designs, showing varying degrees of effectiveness (Chinchmalatpure & Thakor, 2020; Noujas & Thomas, 2018). Strong political will is evident through numerous national and state-level projects along India's coastline. Institutional support from national and international agencies, as well as public and private organisations, is available for such practices. However, challenges like poor management, inappropriate methods and insufficient maintenance budgets constrain the feasibility of coastal protection efforts.

Sociocultural acceptance of coastal defences is mixed. While some techniques offer livelihood support (e.g., additional income from tree plantations), others face issues like inappropriate locations (e.g., seawalls hindering boat movement), negative impacts (e.g., saltwater intrusion due to embankments, planting of exotic species such as *Casuarina*), inequitable benefit distribution, and poor maintenance (ADB, 2017; Feagin et al., 2010; Rodriguez et al., 2008).

Environmental feasibility of coastal defences also varies. While interventions like MPASRs have restored beaches, enhanced ecological capacity, mitigated land degradation, reduced saline water intrusion and enabled recreational activities (Lokesha et al., 2013), issues like poor maintenance, discontinuous protection and planting of exotic species have caused significant ecological and socio-economic damage (Jebarathanam et al., 2014; Mukherjee et al., 2015; Murthy et al., 2020). Conventional shore protection measures such as groins and seawalls often fail to restore lost beaches and may exacerbate erosion (Nair et al., 2018; Selvan et al., 2016). Seawalls, in particular, have been shown to cause beach loss across India (ADB, 2017).

A mix of infrastructural and ecosystem-based interventions often provides greater benefits, though feasibility depends heavily on local geomorphology. For example, in West Bengal, a mangrove belt in front of a dyke offers more ecological benefits compared to conventional dykes with a rock revetment (Verhagen, 2019). In Gujarat, however, mangrove plantations for erosion control were counterproductive, likely due to discontinuous planting (Das, 2020).

Land ownership and coastal morphology influence the feasibility of protection interventions. Seawalls along dynamically stable and accreting beaches do not significantly alter morphology, but on eroding beaches, they are prone to toe scouring and slumping, leading to the disappearance of frontal beaches (Thankappan et al., 2018). Both infrastructural and ecosystem-based interventions are effective in reducing the impacts of tsunamis, cyclones and storm surges (Sonak et al., 2008; Verhagen, 2019). While the efficacy of seawalls remains debatable due to high economic, aesthetic and environmental costs (Rodriguez et al., 2008), MPASRs are increasingly being adopted for coastal protection (Lokesha et al., 2013). Sand dunes are notably effective in protecting against wave inundation and saltwater intrusion (Namboothri et al., 2008).

6.4.1.12 Sustainable aquaculture

Sustainable aquaculture involves the implementation of better management practices in fish and seafood farming. This includes integrating aquaculture with agriculture (e.g., shrimp and rice cultivation), improving nutrient management, clustering small-scale farmers and reorienting the aquaculture supply chain towards lowinput, organic practices.

The economic feasibility of sustainable aquaculture is high, as it can enhance income, particularly during th elean fishing season (Apine et al., 2019; Babu et al., 2012; Edwards, 2008). Integrating native fish cultures with SRI practices (Bunting et al., 2014) and reducing feed and fertiliser costs (Chakrabarty et al., 2009) can further support economic viability. Organic shrimp farming with eco-labelling and certification mechanisms also offers high potential financial returns (Knowler et al., 2009).

Sustainable aquaculture is supported by state-led and nongovernmental legal, institutional and financial mechanisms. Examples include the Coastal Aquaculture Authority Act, 2005, and the National Centre for Sustainable Aquaculture (Bunting et al., 2014; Puthucherril, 2016; Salunke et al., 2020; Valderrama et al., 2014). Key constraints to sustainable aquaculture include high input costs, timely supply of quality fish seed and disease prevalence (Bhuyan et al., 2017; Valderrama et al., 2014). Additionally, there are challenges such as lack of followup, multi-ownership of waterbodies (Bhuyan et al., 2017; FAO/NACA, 2012; Valderrama et al., 2014), inadequate infrastructure and capacity building along the supply chain, and poor transfer of technology (Apine et al., 2019; Bhuyan et al., 2017; Valderrama et al., 2014). Another critical barrier to uptake is a lack of local experience, knowledge and skills, as well as the availability of quality fish seed from local stocks of indigenous species (Bunting et al., 2014; Umesh et al., 2009).

Sustainable aquaculture offers numerous social benefits, including the transfer of ecological knowledge, livelihood generation, stronger social networks and increased community cohesion (Bunting et al., 2014; Umesh et al., 2009). It also enhances nutritional security (Edwards, 2008) and mitigates disease risks (Valderrama et al., 2014).

Environmentally, sustainable aquaculture provides benefits such as reduced stocking densities, decreased pollution, increased environmental awareness, enhanced nutritional security, improved water management, chemical-free aquaculture and reduced dependency on external nutrients (Bunting et al., 2014; FAO/NACA, 2012; Umesh et al., 2009). However, environmental feasibility can be constrained by exceeding carrying capacity and introduction of invasive species (Bunting et al., 2014; Knowler et al., 2009).

Sustainable aquaculture offers numerous social benefits, including the transfer of ecological knowledge, livelihood generation, stronger social networks and increased community cohesion (Bunting et al., 2014; Umesh et al., 2009). It also enhances nutritional security (Edwards, 2008) and mitigates disease risks (Valderrama et al., 2014).

Physical constraints such as land type, water availability and market linkages limit aquaculture to certain regions. Nevertheless, these constraints are gradually being addressed through better institutional support and capacity building. Key regions with potential for offshore mariculture include Gujarat, Maharashtra, Kerala, Tamil Nadu, Odisha, Andaman and Nicobar Islands, and Andhra Pradesh (Jha et al., 2017).

Overall, sustainable aquaculture can enhance carbon sequestration potential (Adhikari et al., 2012) while reducing the risk of diseases and viral outbreaks (Valderrama et al., 2014), solid waste management issues (Edwards, 2008), and wastewater management problems (Umesh et al., 2009). However, main constraints to feasibility include topographic challenges, land tenure issues, improper maintenance and input cost-related issues.

6.4.2 Adaptation options for urban and infrastructure system transitions

This section evaluates the feasibility of four adaptation options for urban and infrastructure systems transitions: sustainable land use planning, sustainable water management, green infrastructure, and building codes and standards (Figure 6.8). Overall, the technological feasibility of all these options is high. However, governance and financial constraints significantly limit their implementation.

6.4.2.1 Sustainable land use and urban planning

Sustainable land use and urban planning involve integrating climate considerations into urban planning through infrastructure strategies, land development and management tools such as zoning regulations.

Experience from the ground shows that over the years, urban planning and investment projects have frequently neglected participatory and comprehensive planning. Operating with limited local revenue and conflicting objectives, the design and implementation of urban projects often lack connection to larger infrastructure networks or policy frameworks (Mahadevia & Pathak, 2020). In Kolkata and Bengaluru, overlapping administrative boundaries and undefined institutional roles and responsibilities result in ineffective service delivery and poor accountability (Rathee, 2017).

Meanwhile, in Surat, land use redevelopment measures have primarily focused on protecting economically valuable assets, such as textile mills, from flood risks. However, this has led to the displacement of communities from floodplain regions. Although these communities



Sustainable land use & urban planing

Figure 6.8: Feasibility of adaptation options under urban and infrastructure systems transitions



Building codes and standards



Sustainable water management



Green infrastructure & ecosystem services



Ec: Economic | T: Technological | I: Institutional | S: Social | En: Environmental | G: Geophysical Source: Authors' compilation

are often relocated to less vulnerable areas, the new locations are typically far from economic opportunities (Anguelovski et al., 2016). Surat's resilience strategy has attempted to integrate local strategies into development planning, but poor and disadvantaged communities continue to lack sufficient access to resilience schemes (Chu, 2016).

Vulnerability is also exacerbated by expansion onto high-risk land, with anthropogenic activities significantly contributing to extreme events (Chandel et al., 2016). Inaccurate implementation of these measures could expose people to hazards. For example, in Chennai, encroachment and construction on wetlands, which act as sinks for excess rainwater, exacerbated flooding during the heavy rains of December 2015 (Jain et al., 2017a).

Sustainable land use faces significant institutional barriers, including low political acceptability and challenges in implementing land use adaptation measures. For example, in Kerala, policy barriers for agricultural land use aim to restrict unsustainable land transitions, but weak implementation and monitoring due to the growing population undermine these efforts (Jose & Padmanabhan, 2015). Furthermore, inadequate land use regulations based on land suitability (Dutta, 2012) and poor coordination among urban planning actors (Rathee, 2017) impede progress.

In rapidly urbanising transition zones, such as periurban areas, governance challenges and barriers to sustainable land use planning are more pronounced (Roth et al., 2018; Vij & Narain, 2016). While cities like Surat and Indore have received technological assistance to integrate climate change adaptation into urban planning (Cook & Chu, 2018), smaller, rapidly growing cities often lack evidence of long-term sustainable land use planning.

6.4.2.2 Sustainable water management

Sustainable water management involves maintaining sustainable water supply through practices such as rainwater harvesting, urban flood management (e.g., integrated flood management systems) and upgrading urban stormwater drainage infrastructure. Effective water management systems are crucial for ensuring long-term household water security, as the impact of poor management is typically experienced through repeated droughts (Srinivasan, 2015).

Traditional and indigenous water management technologies in India were often designed with consideration for the region's topography, hydrology and ecosystems (Seenivasan, 2014). In contrast, colonial water management systems, such as canals, prioritised perennial water supply and flood management (D'Souza, 2006). However, unchecked and irregular urbanisation has rendered many of these systems ineffective in large cities like Chennai and Bengaluru (Revi, 2008).

While sustainable water management can have socioeconomic co-benefits, such as improved household water security, it is important to undertake interventions specific to household conditions. Adoption of these technologies at the household level can be encouraged through incentives or subsidies. For instance, in Dehradun, rainwater harvesting schemes were difficult for many households to adopt due to affordability and installation challenges (Barthwal et al., 2013).

Institutional barriers, such as overlapping government agencies with minimal interaction, constrain sustainable water management (Randliawa & Marshall, 2012). Although the public water supply system requires comprehensive institutional, administrative, managerial and financial reforms, the existing political economy of urban water and lack of administrative will remain significant barriers (Bassi & Kumar, 2012).

Economic costs of sustainable water management can be reduced through innovative measures. For example, expenses for manhole covers incurred by conventional sewer technologies can be mitigated by using simplified local sewerage systems (Kurian & Reddy, 2013). The cost of operating and maintaining these systems can be recovered by increasing the surcharge on the water bill. Cost recovery could also be supported by the effective reuse of domestic wastewater in secondary towns that support peri-urban agriculture (Kurian & Reddy, 2013).

6.4.2.3 Building codes and standards

Building codes and standards include technical interventions to increase resilience, such as still housing to protect from floods, and passive heating and cooling technologies to adapt to rising temperatures. Adhering to these codes and standards is essential to ensure safety of buildings and mitigating the risk of hazards like earthquakes, cyclones, landslides and fires (Mehta et al., 2018).

While technical measures to strengthen and retrofit buildings are cost-effective (ranging from 5-15 per cent of the initial investment), their implementation in India has been limited due to the need for institutional and financial innovation, as well as structured incentives (Revi, 2008). The high capital cost associated with green buildings is a significant barrier to investment in such projects (Abraham & Gundimeda, 2017). Nevertheless, there have been attempts at more affordable interventions. For example, the Ahmedabad Heat Action Plan (2017) includes an initiative to provide affordable cool roofing technology to people vulnerable to heat stress.

In terms of environmental feasibility, non-compliance with building regulations for environmental protection impacts the sustainability and ecological appropriateness of hill towns (Kumar & Pushplata, 2013; Sharma & Singh, 2016). This non-compliance can have devastating consequences, as evidenced in Uttarakhand, where poor enforcement of building codes led to the destruction of many houses during a cloudburst in 2013 (Uniyal, 2013).

6.4.2.4 Green infrastructure and ecosystem services

Green infrastructure and ecosystem services aim to improve human well-being and reduce exposure to climate risks, such as the urban heat island effect, through interventions like rainwater harvesting, green roofs, bioswales, and urban parks and gardens.

These interventions create opportunities for local economic development by providing green jobs in

urban parks and enhance provisioning of regulatory, sociocultural and supporting ecosystem services (Adegun, 2017). For instance, rainwater harvesting recharges groundwater resources, offering the greatest net present value (₹21,764– ₹38,851), the fastest payback period (0.3– 1 year), and recharges over 40 per cent of onsite rainfall in cities like Bengaluru, Delhi, Hyderabad, Kolkata, Srinagar and Mumbai (Stout et al., 2015). It also provides sociocultural benefits, such as irrigating urban farms and improving food and nutritional security.

Valuation of ecosystem services can support urban decision-making and strategic planning by conserving energy and enhancing the well-being of residents (Dhyani et al., 2018). Evidence from Bengaluru suggests that greenery plays a significant role in the lives of people residing in informal settlements, providing critical social, cultural, religious, medicinal and food-related ecosystem services (Adegun, 2017).

Technical resource availability is crucial for improving adaptation to extreme conditions like drought. In Nagpur, evidence shows that water shortages during the summer can be substantially reduced by ecosystembased approaches supported through civil engineering. Phytorid technology, which mimics wetland ecosystems for wastewater treatment, combined with rainwater harvesting, can improve groundwater recharge levels (Chavan et al., 2015).

Ecosystem services in cities are also enhanced through various sociocultural practices. For example, practices like protecting culturally valuable species of flora and fauna, aid in ecosystem protection and enhance the resilience of urban green spaces (Nagendra et al., 2013).

6.4.3 Cross-cutting adaptation options

This section assesses the feasibility of seven adaptation options that span various systems transitions (Figure 6.9). These include strategies for adapting to extreme events such as disaster risk management, climate services, leveraging indigenous knowledge, and risk spreading and sharing mechanisms. Several development interventions that have adaptation cobenefits are increasingly recognised as integral to adaptation strategies. Under this framework, the feasibility of public health systems and social safety nets is evaluated. Both options exhibit high economic feasibility but can be limited by institutional leakages and issues of unequal access. In contrast, adaptation strategies related to resettlement, relocation, and migration exhibit low feasibility, primarily due to socio-institutional barriers, particularly in destination areas.

6.4.3.1 Public health systems

Public health systems include well-functioning primary healthcare centres (PHCs), capacity building for healthcare workers, disease prevention, adequate sanitation infrastructure, and policies to improve access to affordable healthcare treatment and infrastructure. These systems are crucial to reduce the vulnerability of poor communities and improve their resistance to illnesses caused by extreme temperatures and disease outbreaks (Dasgupta et al., 2016).

In India, higher public expenditure on health benefits vulnerable populations and positively impacts poverty reduction. Conversely, low public investment increases out-of-pocket health expenses, pushing people further into poverty (Balarajan et al., 2011; Kasthuri, 2018; Narain, 2016; Reddy & Paul, 2020). Budgetary allocation towards public health has been low across India, with the country's public health budget being among the lowest globally (Barik & Thorat, 2015). Rapid economic growth has increased financial commitments to support the public health system, improving the relevance, quantity and quality of nursing, medical and public health education in the country (Balarajan et al., 2011). Despite these efforts, health outcomes in India remain low, with a high burden of preventable diseases and healthcare that is neither equitable nor affordable (Rajan et al., 2013).

A significant barrier to inclusive healthcare delivery is the lack of basic infrastructural facilities at PHCs, including beds, wards, toilets, drinking water, clean labour rooms, regular electricity and adequate human workforce (Narain, 2016). Although technological capacities to reduce extreme indoor heat are available (Mahadevia & Pathak, 2020), there is a need for a long-term urban housing strategy to address the impact of indoor temperatures, particularly for low-income households and residents of informal housing.



Figure 6.9: Feasibility of cross-cutting adaptation options

Ec: Economic | T: Technological | I: Institutional | S: Social | En: Environmental | G: Geophysical Source: Authors' compilation

Adaptation barriers in public health include inadequate policy support for proactively addressing the health impacts of climate change (e.g., higher disease incidence, morbidity and mortality), lack of trained human resources and gaps in downscaled risk assessments (Dasgupta et al., 2016; Garg et al., 2009; Moors et al., 2013; Ravindra et al., 2019). State disaster management plans have enabled disaster preparedness, with select states like Karnataka and Punjab pioneering the use of technology to track specific health conditions for improved responses (Dhiman et al., 2010). Community-level initiatives actively support health provisions during disasters and disease outbreaks following flooding (Krishnan & Patnaik, 2020). Cities and states are also implementing heat action plans (e.g., Ahmedabad, Nagpur, Bhubaneswar and Telangana) with extensive public and media outreach on the health risks of extreme heat (Knowlton et al., 2014; Mahadevia & Pathak, 2020).

6.4.3.2 Social safety nets

Prominent social safety nets in India include PDS and MGNREGA. These schemes aim to reduce rural poverty, transform livelihoods and provide a safety net for the poor, and empower women and marginalised communities (Breitkreuz et al., 2017; Desai et al., 2015;). They also act as safety nets to reduce risks and improve the resilience of vulnerable populations to climatic risks (Adam, 2015; Fischer, 2020; Godfrey-Wood & Flower, 2017; Kaur et al., 2017; Steinbach et al., 2017).

Social safety nets such as PDS and MGNREGA have been shown to reduce the poverty gap in rural areas (Khera, 2011; Verma & Shah, 2012;), though they may not always provide substantial help to the most vulnerable (Breitkreuz et al., 2017; Dreze et al., 2017). While they fulfil their role in providing economic and livelihood security, there are notable gaps in employment provided and demanded, resource allocation, asset work completion, payments, incomplete record keeping of job cards and passbooks, and coordination problems due to the separation of implementing and payment agencies (Ambasta et al., 2008; Bassi & Kumar, 2010).

There is evidence of legitimate state intervention, especially in southern states such as Tamil Nadu (Dreze & Khera, 2013; 2015). In Andhra Pradesh, state governments have opened themselves to social audits of MGNREGA, demonstrating political will towards transparency and accountability (Basu & Das, 2015). MGNREGA focuses on empowering vulnerable sections of Indian society, including small and marginal farmers, Scheduled Castes and Scheduled Tribes (SC and ST), Other Backward Classes (OBCs), people below the poverty line, and women (Carswell & Neve 2013). Establishing crèches for women workers, abolishing contractors, effectively implementing transparency, and establishing a schedule of rates more favourable to women will significantly enhance women's participation in MGNREGA (Dreze & Khera, 2013).

The ecological feasibility of social safety nets such as MGNREGA is high. Most activities under MGNREGA have ecological co-benefits, such as rainwater harvesting structures, drought-proofing rainfed agriculture, and developing small-scale, natural resource-focused infrastructure (Adam, 2015; Fischer, 2020; Verma & Shah, 2012). These activities contribute to reducing GHG emissions through plantation development, afforestation, horticulture, land development, construction of wells renovation of ponds (Carswell & Neve, 2013).

6.4.3.3 Risk spreading and sharing

Risk spreading and sharing includes government and

private sector insurance mechanisms to buffer against climatic risks, as well as autonomous adaptation strategies to manage and prevent climate impacts, such as seed saving and sharing by farmers or rotational grazing by pastoralists (Centre for Budget and Governance Accountability (CBGA), 2017; Singh et al., 2018b). It also includes practices like group leasing of land and sharecropping, where landowners and small farmers form arrangements for resource sharing (Deshingkar et al., 2003).

India's National Adaptation Fund (NAF) for agriculture, managed by the National Bank for Agriculture and Rural Development (NABARD), aims to protect vulnerable populations against climate change events. This fund could extend protection to vulnerable populations and enhance their ability to adopt sustainable practices (Singh, 2017). However, most risk-sharing schemes in the country operate on a small scale, and there is no standard procedure for monitoring their performance (Singh, 2017). Moreover, government schemes primarily benefit large-scale farmers, while small farmers and farm labourers often struggle to access these existing schemes (Deshingkar, 2012).

Risk-sharing initiatives are most prevalent in the agriculture sector. Common methods include strengthening capacity and infrastructure through better seed banks, specifically designed local tools, and innovative financial methods (Dey et al., 2019). Agricultural and pastoral societies in India practice various conservation agriculture methods, such as crop and herd diversification, intercropping, and mixed cropping, increasing their ability to manage climatic risks (Wu et al., 2014).

Grassroots agricultural initiatives have been shown to add value and generate employment (Dey et al., 2019). However, regional equality is not always achievable due to information unavailability, accessibility issues, and the varying strength of local governments (Kodirekkala, 2018). In urban areas, damages from extreme events are usually uninsured in the informal sector, and repair costs are often met through loans and savings. Few government schemes have provisions to insure property and reduce collective risks for the urban informal sector. The informal nature of settlements and employment further decreases access to risk alleviation schemes, leading residents to adopt informal techniques (Patankar & Patwardhan, 2016).

6.4.3.4 Indigenous knowledge

Indigenous knowledge includes localised traditional governance systems, methods of sustainable resource production and consumption, and risk management strategies for extreme events. Indigenous knowledge has high feasibility as indigenous communities have a better understanding of long-term local environmental conditions and changes (Inaotombi & Mahanta, 2019).

Indigenous people are often more vulnerable to climate change as their livelihoods are resource-based. However, they possess the knowledge and ability to grow high-value traditional crops and trees, which often have medicinal uses and high nutritional value, such as the Himalayan Yew (Meena et al., 2019). These communities frequently practice diverse livelihoods, being both pastoralists and cultivators.

There is increasing potential and demand for indigenous plants and cultivation techniques (Meena et al., 2019). Indigenous people have knowledge of climate change and have traditionally developed ecologically sensitive livelihoods. For example, fishers in Andhra Pradesh possess knowledge of climate change and weather patterns, and are attuned to changes in the daily characteristics of the sea (Dey & Sarkar, 2011). Traditional adaptation strategies also exist among the communities of the Upper Brahmaputra floodplains, who have learned to live with the floods (Hazarika et al., 2016). Indigenous communities in Rajasthan have traditional systems to manage drought and soil change, harvest water, and store grains and feed (Sarkar et al., 2015).

Despite high sociocultural feasibility, coordinating and managing indigenous knowledge systems can be challenging, as these communities are often located in less accessible areas, making them institutionally isolated and inadequately recognised and supported (Inaotombi & Mahanta, 2019). Indigenous communities should not be treated as 'closed systems' and can be carefully integrated into mainstream economic, social and political systems with the communities' active involvement and preferences taken into account (Swami & Parthasarathy, 2020).

As their livelihoods are largely dependent on natural resources, indigenous people tend to inhabit ecologically

fragile environments such as coastal areas, mountains and floodplains. Though they have developed indigenous knowledge to adapt to changing environments, the rate of climate change is unprecedented and will require additional adaptation efforts (Wu et al., 2014).

6.4.3.5 Climate services and Early Warning Systems

Climate services provide daily and seasonal weather forecasts and longer-term climate information to inform decision-making and risk management (Singh et al., 2018a; Srinivasarao et al., 2020). India has a well-established system of climate services, including weather forecasts, agricultural advisories, two-way extension services and event-based early warnings (Venkatasubramanian et al., 2012).

Weather forecasts and agrometeorological advisories are economically feasible, offering benefits such as reduced input costs for irrigation, pesticides and fertilisers, and increased net profits for farmers (Maini & Rathore, 2011; Mittal & Hariharan, 2018; Pandey & Singh, 2019; Singh, 2011; Vashishth et al., 2013).

India has strong technical capacity to develop climate information, though mismatches in the spatial and temporal scale pose barriers to climate information uptake (Ramakrishna, 2014; Singh et al., 2018a; Venkatasubramanian et al., 2014). For example, in Tamil Nadu, spatial resolution and utility of climate forecasts were reported as key barriers, with farmers requesting higher resolution forecasts, more accurate predictions and longer lead-times (Rengalakshmi et al., 2018; Venkatasubramanian et al., 2014).

The country also has a long history of technological advances in climate services and EWS, with a strong government mandate, and is a leader in providing districtlevel agricultural advisories (Ramakrishna, 2014). However, institutional barriers persist, including inadequate skills for interpreting forecasts, limited human and financial resources to train end-users, and insufficient information exchange between government departments (Manjula & Rengalakshmi, 2015; Ramakrishna, 2014).

Barriers to the uptake of climate information include limited reach and delays in communication, mobile

phone ownership, and geographic location (Manjula & Rengalakshmi, 2015; Singh et al., 2018a). Sociocultural acceptance of climate services is medium, constrained by issues of trust, acceptance and relevance of information (Singh et al., 2018a; Srinivasan et al., 2011; Tall et al., 2012; Venkatasubramanian et al., 2012). Access to climate information is gendered, with female farmers less likely to be aware of agro-advisories than male farmers, though efforts to make climate services inclusive have seen advances and successes (Mittal & Hariharan, 2018; Rengalakshmi et al., 2018; Venkatasubramanian et al., 2018; Venkatasubramanian et al., 2018; Venkatasubramanian et al., 2014;).

The environmental feasibility of climate services and EWS is high as they minimise risks related to climate and extreme events through early warnings and forecasts and have strong potential to build local adaptive capacities (Lobo et al., 2017; Mittal & Hariharan, 2018; Singh et al., 2018a). Seasonal forecasts aid in determining seed stocking, crop choice, crop combinations and flexible weather-based agriculture planning (Manjula a& Rengalakshmi, 2015; Mittal & Hariharan, 2018; Lobo et al., 2017).

6.4.3.6 Disaster risk management

Disaster risk management projects and reconstruction activities typically require substantial funding, which can be particularly challenging for smaller communities (Rautela et al., 2020).

India has high technical resource availability for disaster preparedness and management, with various dedicated bodies such as the National Disaster Management Authority, the Ministry of Earth Sciences, and the Indian Meteorological Department. These bodies have strong technical capacities in improving forecasting technology, disseminating early warnings, setting standard operating procedures, and using ICT- and GIS-based applications (Mehta et al., 2018; Mohanty et al., 2010; Pal et al., 2017; Pal & Shaw, 2018). However, governance challenges remain. For instance, while cyclone monitoring and warning systems have improved significantly, barriers such as state- and district-level hazard detection and monitoring, last-mile warning communication, and realtime impact-based forecasts and risk-based warnings persist (Mohapatra & Sharma, 2019). Additionally, existing legal frameworks are inadequate for handling

complex interventions such as the relocation of people, and insufficient local participation of key stakeholders and vulnerable populations, as well as trust issues, often lead to resistance or poor uptake of disaster risk management initiatives (Choudhary & Neeli, 2018; Ghosh & Boyd, 2019; Goyal, 2019; Jain et al., 2021).

Disaster risk reduction has significant socio-economic cobenefits, such as improved health during heat waves (Das & Smith, 2012) and reduced exposure and vulnerability to hazard risk. However, the impacts are highly contingent on the type of intervention and its suitability and acceptability to local populations. Ecosystem-based disaster risk reduction has emerged as an effective way to manage risk while protecting and strengthening existing ecosystem services (Dhyani et al., 2018).

6.4.3.7 Migration and relocation

Moving away from risk, either through voluntary migration or planned relocation, has long been practiced as an adaptive strategy across India. While not always driven by climate change, environmental degradation and climatic variability increasingly contribute to these movements (Bhatta et al., 2015; Dallmann & Millock, 2017; Deshingkar, 2012; Jha et al., 2018; Maiti et al., 2014; Pradhan & Narayanan, 2020; Viswanathan & Kavi Kumar, 2015).

The outcomes of migration for vulnerable communities are mixed. While migration can increase income and improve asset ownership, it often reduces subjective well-being (Krishna, 2013; Mitra, 2010; Maharjan et al., 2020; ; Singh & Basu, 2019). Planned relocation measures also yield mixed economic impacts, with resettlement typically associated with unequal livelihood outcomes (Jain et al., 2021; Michael et al., 2018). Although migration and relocation can reduce risk exposure and diversify livelihoods (Deshingkar, 2012), migrants frequently face challenges such as insecure tenure, unaffordable rents, precarious livelihoods, increased conflict in destination areas, heightened risk exposure, and loss of social networks and political capital (Abbas & Verma, 2014; Jain et al., 2017b; Michael et al., 2018; Singh & Basu, 2019).

Institutional feasibility of migration is low, with officials often unwilling to accept documentation from migrants,

sometimes due to discrimination or in order to obtain bribes (Abbas & Verma, 2014). Additionally, internal migration is not legally recognised in India, and migrant workers typically lack the ability to make political demands for entitlements or to seek reforms (Bhagat, 2017; Chu & Michael, 2019; Michael et al., 2018). While national and state disaster management authorities are mandated to ensure resettlement as a last resort, significant governance challenges remain (Jain & Bazaz, 2020).

The sociocultural feasibility of migration and relocation is mixed. In some cases, migration negatively impacts children's education (Afifi et al., 2016; Murali & Afifi, 2014), while in others, it can improve opportunities to earn and hence educate children (Singh & Basu, 2019). Migration can have varied intergenerational consequences depending on the type of movement and the livelihoods pursued. For example, inadequate access to education for children of migrants can perpetuate intergenerational poverty, hindering skill-building and education necessary for improved life quality, health and stable livelihoods (Abbas & Verma, 2014; Afifi et al., 2016).

Political will to recognise the importance of migration and public acceptability, particularly in destination areas, remains a critical barrier. There is strong evidence that migrants often remain politically, socially and economically disenfranchised at their destinations (Krishna et al., 2014; Kundu & Ray Saraswati, 2012; Michael et al., 2018). The acceptability of disaster-related relocation varies and depends on the type of relocation and the process undertaken. Evidence shows that phased recovery with public consultation has greater acceptability (Jain et al., 2021; Joshi & Nishimura, 2016).

Migration can also erode ecosystem services (Singh et al., 2018b), but the implications for ecological resilience are less clear. Increased use of agrochemicals can pollute soil and water systems, and migration can lead to intensified agriculture through capital investment on larger farms, adversely impacting soil and water conservation (Deshingkar, 2012).

6.5 Conclusion

India's ambition to be an advanced economy by 2047 hinges on its capacity to grow while generating jobs, ensuring climate protection, and safeguarding social and economic security of its citizens. To effectively confront the climate change challenge, the country must implement adaptation and mitigation actions that are feasible within our socio-economic contexts and geographical realities, and aligned to our development goals.

Adopting the CRD framework, this chapter offers a suite of such feasible adaptation and mitigation options that can be implemented across scale to address the climate change challenge in India. The options assessed, initially drawn from the IPCC's Fifth Assessment Report (AR5) and Special Reports, were strategically selected based on India's targets and national communication to UNFCC (see methodology in Annexure A). Our six-dimensional framework assessments reveal several climate adaptation and mitigation options with moderate-to-high feasibility across all key evaluated system: energy, land, oceans and ecosystems, urban and infrastructure, industry, and a cross-cutting category.

For instance, in energy systems, solar PV and wind energy emerge as highly viable mitigation options, scoring high-to-medium feasibility across all six assessed parameters. Solar PV has high feasibility across economic, social, technological and environmental parameters and medium feasibility for institutional and geophysical parameters. Existing policies have significantly advanced solar power development, and there is substantial potential to expand both grid connected and off-grid solar power solutions in the country, such as solar parks in low-carbon industrial clusters, expanding rooftop solar programme, developing reliable grid infrastructure for solar.

In land, oceans and ecosystems, adaptation options like conservation agriculture, agricultural diversification, grazing land management, agroforestry and water resource management have high-to-medium overall feasibility. Many of these have been supported by existing government initiatives like NMSA, NICRA, zerobudget farming and the National Agroforestry Policy. However, these options also face challenges like that of low adoption due to lack of technical know-how, inadequate extension services, low awareness and lack of equipment, among others.

Adaptation options like water resource management also offer multiple co-benefits like higher incomes, disaster risk reduction and livelihood diversification. However, its adoption is hindered by institutional barriers such as inadequate capacity to fully leverage watershed programmes (Dhawan, 2017) and ineffective community participation (Gray & Srinidhi, 2013). Mitigation options like reducing food wastage and ecosystem restoration for land, oceans and ecosystems transition also offer robust adaptation pathways and yield co-benefits for mitigation and Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), but face governance and public acceptance challenges that must be addressed to unlock their full potential.

Green infrastructure is among the most feasible adaptation options in the urban and infrastructure systems. Integrating green and blue infrastructure including green roofs, bioswales, urban agriculture, urban parks into ongoing urban development and planning can promote multiple co-benefits with development and mitigation actions. Nevertheless, challenges such as inadequate financing and institutional capacity hinder progress. Low- and net-zero-energy buildings, electric mobility and public transport similarly offer high-tomoderate feasible mitigation options in urban systems but require strong institutional and policy support.

In the industrial sector, improving energy efficiency emerges as a moderate to highly feasible mitigation option. Public health systems and social safety nets among the cross-cutting adaptation options exhibit high economic feasibility but can be limited by institutional leakages and issues of unequal access. In contrast, adaptation strategies related to resettlement, relocation and migration exhibit low feasibility, primarily due to socio-institutional barriers, particularly in destination areas.

Overall, the chapter offers actionable insights into adaptation and mitigation options across key systems, assessing each against six parameters to identify those with multi-dimensional feasibility and potential for quick wins. These insights can be applied to local, regional and national contexts in India to inform broad policy lessons, support evidence-based interventions and shape a climate action trajectory towards a sustainable future. However, it is important to acknowledge that while many adaptation and mitigation strategies are feasible, significant knowledge gaps remain, particularly in the social, institutional and geophysical dimensions. To fully harness the potential of these options, targeted research and policy attention are needed.

7.

Climate change Mitigation, Adaptation, and Sustainable Development: Synergies and Trade-offs

This chapter should be cited as: Kodira, P., Sharma, S., Srinivasan, M., Singh, C., Kaur, H., Arvind, J., Madhavan, M., Mascarenhas, K., & Ghoge, K., 2024: Climate Change Mitigation, Adaptation, and Sustainable Development : Synergies and Trade-offs. In IIHS, 2024: Accelerating India's Climate Transition: pathways to the 1.5°C goal [Revi, A., Bazaz, A.B., Singh, C., Kodira, P., & Ghoge, K., (eds.)]. Indian Institute for Human Settlements. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.24943/AICT11.2024</u>

Chapter Authors: Prathijna Kodira, Swarnika Sharma, Madhumita Srinivasan, Chandni Singh, Harpreet Kaur, Jasmitha Arvind, Mythili Madhavan, Kenrick Mascarenhas, and Ketaki Ghoge

7. Climate change Mitigation, Adaptation, and Sustainable Development: Synergies and Trade-offs

- The integration of climate action into sustainable development is increasingly critical for India as the impacts of climate change escalate, threatening global development goals and reversing progress in improving living conditions.
- The Climate Resilient Development (CRD) framework as proposed by the Sixth Assessment Report (AR6) of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) and the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, both based on principles of equity and inclusion, are closely aligned and offer numerous opportunities for synergies and co-benefits.
- To attain the 1.5°C goal, India will have to leverage synergies between mitigation and adaptation and its co-benefits with the SDGs while minimising trade-offs. Trade-offs can have distributional consequences and potentially exacerbate existing inequalities, vulnerabilities and regional disparities.
- Assessment of synergies and trade-offs (S&Ts) between existing and proposed adaptation and mitigation options, along with the 17 SDGs across key systems: urban and infrastructure, land, oceans and ecosystems, and energy; and the cross-cutting category shows multiple synergies between climate actions and the 17 SDGs. This analysis offers actionable insights for implementing the right mix of interventions to achieve CRD.
- The adaptation options demonstrate greater potential synergies with the SDGs than the mitigation
 options, particularly within land, oceans and ecosystems transitions, which exhibit maximum synergies
 and minimal trade-offs. Notably, 12 adaptation options in land, oceans and ecosystems align strongly
 with SDG 8 (decent work and economic growth) and SDG 12 (responsible consumption and production).
- Among the mitigation options, energy systems, particularly solar energy, show the most positive linkages with the SDGs, including significant synergies with SDG 7 (affordable and clean energy) and SDG 13 (climate action), while also fostering economic development through the creation of green jobs.
- Overall, the S&T assessment highlights substantial opportunities to leverage climate action and SDG synergies to achieve the 1.5°C target and the 2030 Agenda. This chapter suggests that ongoing climate initiatives can be reformulated for enhanced climate benefits while addressing trade-offs.

7.1 Introduction

As the impacts of climate change become increasingly severe, integrating climate action into sustainable development is more crucial than ever. Following the Paris Agreement and the IPCC's Fifth and Sixth Assessment Reports (AR5 and AR6), there is growing international consensus that climate action must be integrated with sustainable development (IPCC, 2022b).

Climate change threatens development goals and can reverse decades of progress in the improvement of living conditions worldwide.

Recognising this, the Climate Resilient Development (CRD) framework (see Chapter 3 and Chapter 6), introduced by the IPCC, presents a new development paradigm based on equity and inclusion, integrating climate action—both mitigation and adaptation—with the sustainable development and biodiversity conservation agenda. The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, which is rooted in the principles of equity and inclusion, offers 17 internationally accepted development goals and 169 targets that promise to 'leave no one, no place and no ecosystem behind' (Revi & Ghoge, 2024). This agenda is closely tied to climate action, as many mitigation and adaptation actions align with the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). Evidence suggests that there are more potential synergies than trade-offs between climate action and sustainable development (IPCC, 2023). However, literature also suggests that some trade-offs are inevitable when striving to meet the SDGs (IPCC, 2022b).

To achieve the Paris Agreement's goal of limiting global temperature rise to 1.5°C or well below 2°C, it is essential to leverage the synergies between adaptation and mitigation, and its co-benefits with the SDGs while minimising trade-offs. The IPCC AR6 cycle outlines global solution space for climate action that also identifies these synergies and trade-offs (S&Ts). However, it is vital to transfer this scientific and technical knowledge from the global scale to the local scale so that national, regional and municipal governments, businesses, and communities can effectively implement these solutions (Revi & Ghoge, 2024). This requires identifying clear priorities for both climate action and sustainable development, along with mechanisms to achieve complementary goals (IPCC 2022b; Revi & Ghoge, 2024; Stern & Stiglitz, 2023). This approach is particularly relevant for India, where trade-offs can exacerbate existing economic and social inequities, increase vulnerabilities, and accelerate regional disparities.

To enable climate-resilient growth in India, assessing the S&Ts between climate adaptation and mitigation actions (both existing and proposed) in relation with the SDGs becomes crucial. Building on the feasibility assessment of adaptation and mitigation options across systems in Chapter 6, this chapter evaluates the S&Ts of climate action with sustainable development.

There are multiple synergies between adaptation, mitigation and the SDGs across systems, though some initiatives may also have potential negative impacts. For example, increasing access to clean energy sources reduces emissions and offers health co-benefits (SDG 3), particularly for women and children (IPCC, 2023). Accessible and affordable public transport can help reduce emissions, improve air quality, boost health, enhance employment opportunities and promote equity, thereby meeting adaptation-mitigation targets as well as many of the goals (e.g., SDG 4 on quality education, SDG 5 on gender equality, and SDG 8 on decent work and economic growth). Conversely, initiatives, such as afforestation, that enable carbon sequestration may also negatively affect socio-economic and environmental factors, impacting biodiversity, food and water security, local livelihoods, and the rights of indigenous peoples (IPCC, 2023).

In this chapter, the assessment of S&Ts with the 17 SDGs is examined across key systems, with the extent of S&Ts with specific SDGs identified as 'strong' or 'weak' based on literature relevant to India. Section 7.2 summarises the key S&Ts focused on adaptation actions across land, oceans and ecosystems, urban and infrastructure, and a cross-cutting category that spans all systems. Section 7.3 assesses S&Ts with mitigation actions across energy, land, oceans and ecosystems, and urban and infrastructure. This is followed by a brief conclusion in section 7.4.

7.2 Synergies and Trade-offs of Adaptation Actions with Mitigation Actions and

Sustainable Development Goals

Sustainable development is generally aligned with climate change adaptation as it enhances adaptive capacity by tackling poverty, addressing socio-economic inequalities, promoting livelihood security, and improving inclusion and

Figure 7.1: Adaptation, mitigation and SDG synergies and trade-offs under land and ecosystem transitions

Adaptation-Mitigation	SDG Synergies
Synergies Carbon sequestration potential is significant for adaptation options like improved cropland management, agroforestry, biodiversity management and ICZM. Adaptation options increase and restore soil organic content and soil microbes while reducing soil carbon loss and conserving carbon stock. Conservation agriculture and improved cropland management can lead to a substantial reduction in the energy input, leading to reduced secondary emissions.	 Improved cropland management and biodiversity management have synergies with 16 SDGs, followed by sustainable aquaculture (15 SDGs), water use efficiency (14 SDGs), ICZM (13 SDGs) and coastal defence (13 SDGs). Most options have strong synergies with SDG 8 (decent work and economic growth), SDG 12 (responsible consumption and production) and SDG 13 (climate action). Improvements in agriculture, livestock and aquaculture practices, biodiversity conservation, coastal zone management, and coastal defence can help achieve SDG 1 (no poverty) and SDG 2 (zero hunger) by alleviating poverty and enhancing food as well as nutritional security. Conservation agriculture, improved cropland management and efficient livestock also have strong synergy with SDG 3 (good health and well-being). Ecosystem restoration has synergies with all the 17 SDGs, out of which 10 are shown to be strong synergies. Sustainable intensification of agriculture has synergies with 13 SDGs. Reduced food wastage, efficient food production and sustainable intensification of agriculture have strong synergies with SDG 1, SDG 2, SDG 12 and SDG 13.
Adaptation-Mitigation Trade-offs	SDG Trade-offs
Improved cropland management, ICZM and integrated soil and nutrient management have mitigation trade- offs, possibly leading to increased carbon emissions based on the type of intervention.	ICZM exhibits weak trade-offs with a maximum of three SDGs (SDG 3, SDG 5 on gender equality and SDG 10 on reduced inequalities), followed by water use efficiency with two SDGs (SDG 5, and SDG 11 on sustainable cities and communities).

Note: ICZM = Integrated Coastal Zone Management *Source:* Authors' assessment

institutions (IPCC, 2022b). Climate change adaptation aims to reduce risks and vulnerability and improve resilience of people to climate change. As such, climate adaptation actions have several synergies with SDGs including reducing poverty, hunger, gender and economic inequalities; improving access to clean water and health; and accelerating the creation of sustainable cities and communities. At the same time, trade-offs also exist, especially when adaptation strategies prioritise single development objectives like food security or heat-stress risk reduction or favour expensive solutions that have implications for budget allocations and equity (IPCC 2022b).

7.2.1 Land and ecosystem transitions

Figure 7.1 summarises the S&Ts between adaptationmitigation and adaptation actions with the SDGs under land, oceans and ecosystems. As shown in the figure, land, oceans and ecosystems transitions have significant synergies between adaptation and mitigation actions as well as a majority of the SDGs. Most of the adaptation options have co-benefits with mitigation by removing, reducing or displacing the emissions of atmospheric carbon dioxide (CO_2), methane (CH_4) and nitrous oxide (N₂O; Rao et al, 2019). This includes adaptation options like conservation agriculture, improved cropland management and agroforestry, among others. For example, studies have shown that zero tillage, one of the key methods of conservation agriculture, increases soil organic carbon (SOC), thereby reducing greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. Similarly, crop residue management reduces the burning of crop residue, reducing the emission of N₂O and CH_4 into the atmosphere (Aryal et al, 2019). At the same time, certain interventions within improved cropland management, Integrated Coastal Zone Management (ICZM), and integrated soil and nutrient management can lead to mitigation trade-offs, increasing carbon emissions.

All the adaptation options demonstrate significant synergies with SDG 8 (decent work and economic growth; see Figure 7.2) as they can enhance the productivity of farms, fish ponds, and other terrestrial and aquatic systems, resulting in increased net returns and profits. For instance, improved cropland management practices such as laser land levelling can generate 270–330 person-days of employment annually per unit (Jat et al., 2014a), while

agroforestry can provide 450 person-days per hectare (ha)/year, contributing up to 4,000 million person-days/ year (Chavan et al., 2015). Options like biodiversity and coastal zone management also boost potential for ecotourism, thereby revitalising local economies (Asian Development Bank [ADB], 2017; Mallick & Chakraborty, 2018a Pitchaikani, 2020; Roy & Datta, 2018) and offering alternative livelihood and investment opportunities.

Many options, such as improved grazing land management, ICZM and biodiversity conservation, enhance resilience against droughts and floods (Bargout, 2014; Krishnamurthy et al., 2014; Mukherji et al., 2016). Conservation agriculture, crop diversification and improved cropland management provide socio-ecological resilience to vulnerable farming communities, contributing to the development of climate-resilient agriculture systems (Bharucha et al., 2020; Birthal & Hazrana, 2019; Food and Agriculture Organization [FAO], 2017; Sapkota et al., 2015). Integrated crop-livestock systems, such as efficient livestock practices, are recognised as optimal strategies for climate adaptation, improving soil health, water retention and resource efficiency (Erenstein & Thorpe, 2010; Kumar et al., 2015).

Overall, nine out of the 12 adaptation options show strong synergies with SDG 12 (responsible consumption and production) through enhanced ecosystem services, sustainable food production, low-emission alternatives, water and energy conservation, increased resource efficiency, and combating land degradation. Five adaptation options under land, oceans and ecosystems transitions align strongly with SDG 6 (clean water and sanitation). Practices such as improved cropland management and biodiversity management can enhance water security, even in drought-prone regions (Aryal et al., 2015; Gill, 2014; Mallick & Chakraborty, 2018a; National Mission for Green India [GIM] & Ministry of Environment, Forest and Climate Change [MOEFCC], 2016). Many of these practices improve water use efficiency by increasing productivity with reduced irrigation. Targeted strategies like water use efficiency and water resource management contribute to SDG 6 by employing improved irrigation practices, rainwater harvesting, water markets and watershed management, ensuring efficient, reliable and equitable access to water (Manjunatha et al., 2011; Srinivasan et al., 2010). Sustainable aquaculture enhances Figure 7.2: Synergies of adaptation options with SDGs under land and ecosystem transitions

System							Syne	srgy/trade	offs with SE)Gs				
			1 NO POVERTY	2 ZERO HUNGER	3 GOOD HEALTH And Well-Being	5 GENDER EQUALITY	G CLEAN WATER AND SANITATION	B DECENT WORK AND ECONOMIC GROWTH	9 INDUSTRY, INNOVATION And Infrastructure	10 REDUCED INEQUALITIES	12 RESPONSIBLE CONSUMPTION AND PRODUCTION	13 CLIMATE ACTION	15 UFF ON LAND	17 PARTNERSHIPS FOR THE GOALS
	Adaptation Options	SDGs 🔶	⋔ ໍ ≄ີ⇔ _* ⋔	€)	•/~-	[@+	Þ	Æ		ŵ	8			&
	Conservation agriculture		*	* *	*			*	*		*	***		
	Agricultural diversification		* *					* * *	*	*	* *	* *		
	Improved cropland manage	ment	* * *	* * *	*	* * *	* * *	* * *	* * *	* * *	* * *	* * *	* *	* *
	Improved grazing land mane	agement	* * *	*			*	* * *	* *		* * *	* * *	* * *	*
	Integrated soil management	t	* * *	* *			* *	* *	* *	* *	* *	* *	***	
Land and	Water use efficiency and wa management	ater resource		*		* *	* * *	* *	*	* * *	* *	* * *	*	
Ecosystem Transition	Efficient livestock		* *	* * *				* * *	*	* *	*	* * *		
	Agroforestry		* * *	* * *			*	* * *	*	* * *	* * *	* * *	* * *	
	Biodiversity management, c	onservation	* *	* * *	*	* *	* * *	* * *	*	* * *	* * *	* * *	* **	* *
	Integrated coastal zone man	agement	* *	* * *	*		* *	* * *	*	* * *	* *	* * *	* * *	* * *
	Coastal defence and harden	ing	* * *	*			* *	* * *	* * *	* *	* *	* * *	* *	* * *
	Sustainable aquaculture		* * *	* * *	* *		*	* * *	* *	* * *	* * *		*	*

Legend:

 High evidence (5 or more papers)

 **
 Medium evidence (3-4 papers)

 *
 Limited evidence (2 papers)

Strong synergy of the adaptation option with the SDG Weak synergy of the adaptation option with the SDG

Weak trade-off between the adaptation option and the SDG No positive or negative impact Note: The images in this chapter represent two major aspects for each adaptation and mitigation option: (a) the extent of synergy/trade-off with different SDGs and (b) the availability of evidence supporting this relationship (represented by the number of asterisks). The darker the colour, the stronger the relationship between the options and the respective SDGs. The higher the number of asterisks, the stronger the evidence supporting this relationship. *Source: Authors' assessment*

waterbody productivity by reusing wastewater, reducing pollution and minimising the use of harmful chemicals (Chakrabarty et al., 2009; Edwards, 2008; FAO/Network of AquaCulture Centres in Asia Pacific[NACA], 2012). Coastal zone management and defence practices also contribute to SDG 6 by mitigating saltwater intrusion (Krishnamurthy et al., 2014; Namboothri et al., 2008).

Multiple adaptation options demonstrate strong synergy with SDG 1 (no poverty) and SDG 2 (zero hunger) by generating profits and nutritional benefits for marginalised populations. Efficient livestock practices, for instance, contribute to reducing rural poverty (Hegde, 2019) and improving food security (Ranade & Mishra, 2015). Three options-biodiversity management, agroforestry and improved grazing land managementalign with SDG 14 (life below water) and SDG 15 (life on land). Biodiversity management enhances terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems by significantly increasing ecosystem resilience. For instance, watershed management involving local communities can multiply ecosystem services from restored forests and wetlands by three to eight times (Mallick & Chakraborty, 2018a). Agroforestry supports threatened wildlife by safeguarding habitats through microclimate regulation, protecting water sources, preventing soil erosion and providing fodder (Chavan et al., 2015; Roy & Tewari, 2012). Options such as improved cropland and integrated soil management also contribute to SDG 15 by reducing land degradation through enhanced soil microbial biomass (Das et al., 2017; Patra et al., 2020).

Ten out of the 12 adaptation options under land, oceans and ecosystems transitions show synergy with SDG 10 (reduced inequalities), while five also show synergy with SDG 5 (gender equality). Most adaptation options contribute to reducing inequalities by benefitting vulnerable populations. Agroforestry, conservation agriculture and agricultural diversification benefit smallscale and impoverished farmers, breaking the cycle of poverty and food insecurity (Basu, 2014; Birthal et al., 2015; Roy & Tewari, 2012). While biodiversity management and coastal defence interventions can benefit vulnerable communities, evidence suggests that these options may deepen poverty among marginalised groups due to unequal resource distribution and access restrictions (Faizi & Ravichandran, 2016). Options such as improved cropland management and sustainable aquaculture can promote gender equity and inclusivity (FAO, 2018; National Fisheries Development Board [NFDB], 2018), though certain technologies require gender-sensitive approaches to enhance equality (Bhatta et al., 2017).

Options like conservation agriculture, improved cropland management and efficient livestock practices also align strongly with SDG 3 (good health and well-being). These options mitigate serious health impacts associated with conventional agriculture and chemical use while improving overall health outcomes (Agarwal & Pandey, 2017; Bharucha et al., 2020; Hegde, 2019), including enhanced nutrition and other public health benefits. However, certain practices within three adaptation options-soil management practices, ICZM and increased water use efficiencymay negatively impact SDG 10 (reduced inequalities). For example, certain ICZM practices might exclude local and marginalised communities through restrictive and non-participatory implementations, particularly affecting women and economically disadvantaged groups (Badola et al., 2012; Datta, 2017; Ghosh, 2015; Krishnamurthy et al., 2014). Further, some practices under options like coastal defence, ICZM and biodiversity conservation can have untoward consequences such as introducing invasive species and negatively impacting fragile aquatic ecosystems, thereby affecting SDG 15 (Bunting et al., 2014; Chowdhury & Maiti, 2016; Jebakumar et al., 2019; Mukherjee et al., 2015; Roy & Datta, 2018).

Practices like efficient livestock management may also pose conflicts across multiple SDGs, such as SDG 15 (life on land), SDG 12 (responsible consumption and production) and SDG 16 (peace, justice and strong institutions), due to environmental concerns of resource scarcity and degradation of grazing lands (Blummel et al., 2009; Deshingkar et al., 2008; Hegde, 2019) alongside institutional challenges like limited market access and policy support (Birthal, 2008; Birthal & Negi, 2012). Water resource management practices have also led to conflicts between upstream and downstream communities (Surinaidu et al., 2013) and unequal resource access (Balasubramaniam et al., 2014), highlighting trade-offs with SDG 11 (sustainable cities and communities).

7.2.2 Urban and infrastructure systems transitions

Figure 7.3: Adaptation, mitigation and SDG synergies and trade-offs under urban and infrastructure systems transitions

Adaptation-Mitigation Synergies All adaptation options under urban and infrastructure systems transitions have strong mitigation co-benefits.	 SDG Synergies Green infrastructure and ecosystem services show strong synergies with SDG 11 (sustainable cities and communities) and SDG 15 (life on land) as they reduce disaster risk, enhance livelihood capacities, improve quality of life, restore ecosystems and enable biodiversity conservation. Sustainable land use and urban planning has synergy with 10 SDGs. Low-energy buildings have strong synergies with most SDGs, especially SDG 3 (good health and well-being). Electric vehicles, hybrids, and non-motorised transport have synergies with ten SDGs.
Adaptation-Mitigation Trade-offs	SDG Trade-offs
NA	Sustainable water management has a strong trade-off with SDG 3 and weak trade-offs with as many as five SDGs (SDG 1 on no poverty, SDG 2 on zero hunger, SDG 9 on industry, innovation and infrastructure, SDG 14 on life below water, and SDG 15). The building codes and standards option has a weak trade-off with five SDGs (SDG 4 on quality education, SDG 6 on clean water and sanitation, SDG 11, SDG 12 on responsible consumption and production, and SDG 15), while sustainable land use and urban planning have weak trade-offs with four SDGs (SDG 7 on affordable and clean energy, SDG 10 on reduced inequalities, SDG 14, and SDG 16 on peace, justice and strong institutions). Public transport has trade-offs with SDG 5 (gender equality). Although public transport improves mobility and contributes to overall emissions reduction, women continue to face threats of sexual harassment at a high frequency.

Source: Authors' assessment

Figure 7.3 summarises the S&Ts between adaptation-mitigation actions and the SDGs under urban and infrastructure systems. All the adaptation options under urban systems have strong mitigation co-benefits. For example, green infrastructure and ecosystem services like urban parks, green roofs and conservation of wetlands can help sequester carbon and reduce the impact of urban heat islands and carbon emissions. They also have significant synergies with the SDGs, as discussed in Figure 7.4.

S
Ē
0
÷.
. <u></u>
č
a
5
+
S
7
5
Ť
S
\geq
S
Φ
5
t d
¥
1
÷
S
2
Ŧ
_
Q
Э
_
Э
č
¥
5
Ř
2
5
S
(ワ
ž
0)
÷
vith
with
s with
ns with
ons with
ions with
otions with
ptions with
options with
ר options with vith
on options with
ion options with
ation options with
tation options with
ptation options with
aptation options with
daptation options with
adaptation options with
adaptation options with
of adaptation options with
of adaptation options with
is of adaptation options with
ffs of adaptation options with
offs of adaptation options with
-offs of adaptation options with
e-offs of adaptation options with
de-offs of adaptation options with
ade-offs of adaptation options with
trade-offs of adaptation options with
I trade-offs of adaptation options with
d trade-offs of adaptation options with
ind trade-offs of adaptation options with
and trade-offs of adaptation options with
s and trade-offs of adaptation options with
es and trade-offs of adaptation options with
jies and trade-offs of adaptation options with
rgies and trade-offs of adaptation options with
ergies and trade-offs of adaptation options with
nergies and trade-offs of adaptation options with
vnergies and trade-offs of adaptation options with
Synergies and trade-offs of adaptation options with
Synergies and trade-offs of adaptation options with
4: Synergies and trade-offs of adaptation options with
.4: Synergies and trade-offs of adaptation options with
7.4: Synergies and trade-offs of adaptation options with
? 7.4: Synergies and trade-offs of adaptation options with
re 7.4: Synergies and trade-offs of adaptation options with
ure 7.4: Synergies and trade-offs of adaptation options with
gure 7.4: Synergies and trade-offs of adaptation options with
igure 7.4: Synergies and trade-offs of adaptation options with

Adaptation Options SDGs —	1 ^{NURRIY} กำรัสร้าส์ท ี่	2 ZERO HUNGER {{{		4 BUAUTY EDUCATION	5 Equatory	6 CLEAN WATER AND SANITATION	7 AFFORDABLE AND DLEAN ENERGY	8 BECENT WORK AND ECONOMIC GROWTH	9 AND INFRASTRUCTURE AND INFRASTRUCTURE
Sustainable land-use & urban planning	*	*	*		*	* *		*	* *
Sustainable water management	* * *	* * *	* * *	* *	* *	* *			* *
Green infrastructure & ecosystem services	*	*	*			*		* *	*
Building codes & standards			* *	* *		* *	***	*	* *

options SDGs →	10 REDUCED INEQUALITIES	11 AND COMMUNITIES	12 RESPONSIBILE CONSUMPTION AND PRODUCTION	13 GLIMATE Action	14 UR BRIOW WATER		16 PEACE, JUSTICE AND STRONG INSTITUTIONS	17 PARTNERSHIPS FOR THE COALS
land-use & urban planning	* *	* * *		* * *				
water management	*	*						
structure & ecosystem services	*	*		* *		*		*
des & standards				*		*		

Legend:



Strong synergy of the adaptation option with the SDG Weak synergy of the adaptation option with the SDG



Strong trade-off between the adaptation option and the SDG Weak trade-off between the adaptation option and the SDG No positive or negative impact

Source: Authors' assessment

Urban green infrastructure and ecosystem services exhibit strong synergy with SDG 11 (sustainable cities and communities) through reduced disaster risk, enhanced livelihood capacities and improved quality of life (Adegun, 2017; Singh et al., 2013). Sustainable land use, urban planning, and urban water management practices also demonstrate synergy with SDG 11 by helping cities adapt to hazards (Chu, 2016; Revi, 2008), improving public health (Chu, 2016), controlling air pollution (Chandigarh Administration, 2018), and enabling equitable water supply and management (NITI Aayog, 2017). However, prevailing land use, urban planning and water management practices in cities have resulted in vulnerable infrastructure, increased hazard risks, reduced resilience and heightened pollution (Bhat et al., 2013; Chandel et al., 2016; Nagendra & Ostrom, 2014), thus impacting synergy with SDG 11 negatively.

Green infrastructure and ecosystem services also show strong synergy with SDG 15 (life on land) by increasing tree cover, restoring ecosystems and conserving biodiversity (Dhanya et al., 2014; Gopalakrishnan et al., 2011; Rishi & Khuntia, 2012). They can promote poverty alleviation through enhanced agricultural and fishery outputs, exhibiting some synergy with SDG1 (no poverty; Kumar et al., 2011a; Sharma et al., 2007). Sustainable land use, urban planning, green infrastructure, and ecosystem services also impact SDG 2 (zero hunger) as they generally improve food and nutritional security (DeFries et al., 2016), though they may expose vulnerable populations to market shocks (Behera et al., 2016) and restrict their ability to meet food requirements (Sandhu & Sandhu, 2014). These options offer synergy with SDG 3 (good health and well-being) by promoting better health, increased human well-being, improved water quality, enhanced quality of life, stronger social relations, freedom of choice and improved liveability (Das & Behera, 2019; Khan et al., 2011; Sharma et al., 2007; Surat Climate Change Trust, 2017).

Building codes and standards have synergies with SDG 1, SDG 3, SDG 7 (affordable and clean energy), and SDG 13 (climate action) as they increase savings in the building and power sectors, reduce local air pollution, improve ventilation, enhance energy-use efficiency, and mitigate potential hazards (Bardhan & Debnath, 2016; Kumar & Pushplata, 2013; Somvanshi & Avikal, 2019; Yu et al., 2017). For example, passive building cooling can improve working conditions and productivity and provide health benefits (Sharma & Rajput, 2017), contributing to SDG 3 and SDG 8 (decent work and economic growth). However, evidence suggests that although sustainable building technologies are included in building by-laws, compliance in cities is often lacking (Ramaswami et al., 2017) and the high capital costs associated with green buildings affect SDG 8 (Abraham & Gundimeda, 2017).

Urban water management practices exhibit synergies with SDG 6 (clean water and sanitation) as they ensure affordable and equitable water supply to all citizens (NITI Aayog, 2017) and foster social inclusion (DISE, 2012). However, some interventions like sewage treatment plants in apartments could lead to unequal access to clean water and sanitation (Evans et al., 2009). Sustainable urban water management practices enhance education and empower women (Bharat et al., 2020; Patel, 2018). For instance, water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) practices in schools can improve menstrual hygiene among girls and reduce school dropout rates (DISE, 2012), aligning with SDG 4 (quality education) and SDG 5 (gender equality). Proper building design can enhance health benefits and energy savings for middle- and low-income groups in metropolitan cities (Bardhan & Debnath, 2016), thus contributing to SDG 10 (reduced inequalities). Sustainable water management and green infrastructure also contribute to SDG 10 by ensuring equitable water supply (NITI Aayog, 2017). However, some practices under these options fail to prioritise the needs of the local population, leading to unequal access and distribution of resources (Kumar, 2011).

Sustainable land use, urban planning, green infrastructure and ecosystem services have synergies with SDG 8 by enhancing employment opportunities and productivity (Jose & Padmanabhan, 2015; Tiwari et al., 2016), supporting small-scale commercial activities (Gopalakrishnan et al., 2011), and promoting local economic development (Adegun, 2017). These options also align with SDG 9 (industry, innovation and infrastructure) and SDG 13 by promoting sustainable water resource utilisation (Dhyani et al., 2018; Rockefeller Foundation, 2019), increasing resilience and reducing climate-related risks (Chu et al., 2016; Cook & Chu, 2018; Singh et al., 2013; Tauhid & Zawani, 2018). However, challenges such as urban expansion and difficulties in community relocation hinder these synergies (Anguelovski et al., 2016; Chandel et al., 2016). Additionally, these options contribute to SDG 17 (partnerships for the
goals) as Indian metro cities collaborate to achieve urban sustainability (Sharma & Singh, 2016), and international funding and cooperation enable green infrastructure projects (Tauhid & Zawani, 2018), despite occasional stakeholder conflicts (Mell, 2017).

7.2.3 Cross-cutting adaptation options

Figure 7.5: Synergies and trade-offs of cross-cutting adaptation options with mitigation and SDGs

Adaptation-Mitigation Synergies	SDG Synergies
Most options have some mitigation synergies. Social safety nets like MGNREGA can sequester carbon. Options like disaster risk management and climate services can also have mitigation co-benefits.	Most options have synergies with SDG 3 (good health and well- being), SDG 11 (sustainable cities and communities) and SDG 13 (climate action). Social safety nets have strong synergy with SDG 1 (no poverty), SDG 2 (zero hunger), SDG 5 (gender equality), SDG 8 (decent work and economic growth), SDG 10 (reduced inequalities), SDG 13 and SDG 16 (peace, justice and strong institutions) as tools like MGNREGA and PDS help in poverty reduction, food security, rural employment and gender equity. Climate services and early warning systems have strong synergy with SDG 9 (industry, innovation and infrastructure), SDG 11 and SDG 17 (partnership for the goals) as they have positive impacts on the resilience of industrial/housing infrastructure, reduce exposure to disasters and encourage public-private partnerships.
Adaptation-Mitigation Trade- offs	SDG Trade-offs
NA	Disaster risk management, risk spreading and sharing as well as resettlements, and relocation and migration each have weak trade- offs with three SDGs. Most options have weak trade-offs with SDG 5 and SDG 10.

Note: MGNREGA = Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act; PDS = Public Distribution System *Source:* Authors' assessment

Figure 7.5 summarises the S&Ts between adaptation-mitigation actions and with the SDGs in the cross-cutting category that runs across systems. Seven cross-cutting adaptation options—public health, social safety nets, risk spreading and sharing, indigenous knowledge, climate services and early warning systems, disaster risk management, and resettlement, relocation and migration—are considered in this assessment, in continuation of the feasibility assessment in Chapter 6. Most of these options have some synergies with mitigation. For example, social safety nets like the Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act (MGNREGA), which guarantees fixed days of employment, can help to sequester carbon through tree plantation, forest restoration work, grassland development and land development activities like land levelling, stone bunding and earth bunding. These activities can also help India meet its Nationally Determined Contribution (NDC) target of creating 2.5–3 billion tonnes of carbon sink by 2030.

S&Ts
adaptation
cross-cutting
SDGs and
7.6:
Figure

Adaptation Options SDGs>	1 ^{พิงษณ} า กำร่าร่าก ่า	2 HUNGER		4 EDUCATION		6 CLEAN WATER AND SANITATION		В есономис екомин
Disaster risk management	*	* *	*	*	* *	*	*	*
Risk spreading and sharing	*	* *			*	*		*
Climate services, including EWS	* *	* *			* *		*	
Indigenous knowledge	*	*	*	*		*		
Public Health Systems	*				*			*
Social safety nets (e.g. MGNREGA, PDS)	* *	*			*	*		* *
Resettlement, relocation and migration	* **	* *			*	* *		* *

Adaptation Options SDGs	9 AND INFRASTRUCTURE		11 SUSTAINABLE CITIES AND COMMUNITIES	12 REPONSIBILE CONSUMPTION AND PRODUCTION	13 cluate	15 MIAND	16 FRACE, JUSTICE INSTITUTIONS INSTITUTIONS	17 PARTNERSHIPS FOR THE COALS
Disaster risk management	* *	* * *	* *		* *		*	
Risk spreading and sharing		* *	*					
Climate services, including EWS	* *	* *	* *		* * *	*	*	*
Indigenous knowledge				*	*			
Public Health Systems	* *	* * *	* *		*		* *	*
Social safety nets (e.g. MGNREGA, PDS)	* *	* *	* * *	* *	*		* *	
Resettlement, relocation and migration		* * *	* * *		* *			*

Legend:

* * *	High evidence (5 or more papers)
* *	Medium evidence (3-4 papers)
*	Limited evidence (2 papers)

Strong synergy of the adaptation option with the SDG Weak synergy of the adaptation option with the SDG

 ith the SDG
 Weak trade-off between the added

 h the SDG
 No positive or negative impact

Weak trade-off between the adaptation option and the SDG

Note: EWS = Early warning system; MGNREGA = Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act; PDS = Public Distribution System Source: Authors' assessment Among the cross-cutting adaptation options, climate services and social safety nets show strong synergies with SDG 1 (no poverty), while social safety nets also align closely with SDG 2 (zero hunger). Climate services contribute to poverty alleviation by boosting crop yields and agricultural incomes, whereas social safety nets, including effective implementation of tools like the Public Distribution System (PDS), play a crucial role in reducing poverty and enhancing food security. Estimates indicate that the poverty gap index for rural poverty is reduced by 18–22 per cent nationwide with the help of PDS programmes (Dreze & Khera, 2013), ensuring food security for the rural poor (Basu & Das, 2014; Khera, 2011).

Climate services indirectly contribute to improved food availability, nutritional security and increased crop yields, thereby reducing hunger and contributing to SDG 2 (Attri, 2020; Bal & Chandran, 2021; Ramakrishna, 2014). Options like risk spreading and sharing and indigenous knowledge offer synergies with SDG 1 and SDG 2 by alleviating poverty, cutting costs, enhancing productivity and income, and promoting balanced nutrition (Dey et al., 2019;Pradhan et al., 2018; Priyadarshini & Abhilash, 2019).

Low investment in public health and weak health infrastructure can exacerbate poverty (Balarajan et al., 2011; Kasthuri, 2018; Reddy et al., 2011), indicating weak synergy between public health systems and SDG 1. Indigenous communities, being more vulnerable to climate change, face challenges due to increasing detachment from land and productivity, particularly in economically disadvantaged regions (Datta et al., 2015). Evidence on migration as an adaptation option for poverty alleviation is mixed (Abbas & Verma, 2014; Choithani, 2017; Jain et al., 2017a; Singh, 2019; Singh & Basu, 2019). Migration can enhance food security through increased purchasing power, although this is contingent upon the type and destination of migration (Choithani, 2017; 2020).

Most cross-cutting options show synergy with SDG 3 (good health and well-being) through policy guidelines for hospital safety, public health awareness campaigns and timely warnings. Disaster risk management can mitigate disease outbreaks following disasters (Krishnan & Patnaik, 2020), although some disasters can disrupt the healthcare system (Rautela et al., 2020).

Social safety nets like MGNREGA also improve health outcomes by enhancing socio-economic conditions in rural households (Aggarwal et al., 2012; Dev & Dev, 2011; Khera & Nayak, 2009). Resettlement, relocation and migration also enhance material well-being, although this is contingent upon migration type, destination and livelihoods (Jain et al., 2017b; Jha et al., 2018; Michael et al., 2018; Mitra, 2010; Singh & Basu, 2019). Disaster risk management practices ensure the safety of school children and bolster school resilience, enabling them to access education (National Disaster Management Authority [NDMA], 2009; 2016).

Indigenous knowledge, migration and social safety nets contribute to SDG 4 (quality education) through improved child education (Dev & Dev, 2011; Dey & Sarkar, 2011; Priyadarshini & Abhilash, 2019), particularly for the next generation of permanent migrants (Krishna et al., 2014). Social safety nets strongly support SDG 5 (gender equality) and SDG 10 (reduced inequalities). For instance, rural welfare programmes like MGNREGA empower women by providing employment opportunities, better wages and safer working conditions (Azam, 2012; Khera & Nayak, 2009; Pellissery & Jalan, 2011).

Options like indigenous knowledge strongly align with SDG 6 (clean water and sanitation) by promoting better water resource management through traditional practices, especially in vulnerable areas (Priyadarshini & Abhilash, 2019; Sarkar et al., 2015). Risk spreading and sharing and social safety nets enhance access to clean water and sanitation through sustainable agricultural practices (Bassi & Kumar, 2010; Das & Smith, 2012; Pradhan et al., 2018). However, the intangibility of water as a public good poses challenges for insurance and cost assessment of damages (Patankar & Patwardhan, 2016).

SDG 8 (decent work and economic growth) strongly aligns with social safety net adaptations like MGNREGA (Adam, 2015; Azam, 2012; Basu, 2014; Khera & Nayak, 2009). Disaster risk management and risk-sharing practices also support vulnerable populations through livelihoodcentred approaches and insurance schemes (Pradhan et al., 2018). Additionally, public health systems contribute to SDG 8 by protecting the working population from risks like heat stress (Venugopal et al., 2015) and fostering sustainable healthcare systems (Balarajan et al., 2011). Risk spreading and sharing, and indigenous knowledge promote SDG 12 (responsible consumption and production) through sustainable agricultural and pastoral practices (Kodirekkala, 2018; Wu et al., 2014). Social safety nets like MGNREGA contribute to SDG 12 by restoring and enhancing natural capital assets such as ecosystems and forests for biomass production and carbon sequestration, alongside civic work like canal and pond clearing (Adam, 2015; Basu, 2014; Carswell & De Neve, 2014).

Climate services and early warning systems strongly align with SDG 11 (sustainable cities and communities) by reducing disaster exposure (Andimuthu et al., 2019; Mohanty et al., 2020; Singh et al., 2018a). Other options such as disaster risk management, public health systems, risk sharing and social safety nets contribute to SDG 11 by enhancing urban and community resilience (Adam, 2015; Carswell & De Neve, 2014; Revi, 2008), and improving disaster adaptation capacities (Dhyani & Thummarukuddy, 2016; Knowlton et al., 2014; Krishnan & Patnaik, 2020; Nambiar, 2015).

Resettlement and migration can increase income and asset ownership but often lower the quality of life for migrating populations, thus impacting SDG 10 (Abbas & Verma, 2014; Chu & Michael, 2019; Cronin & Guthrie, 2011; Jain et al., 2017b; Michael et al., 2018; Mitra, 2010;Singh & Basu, 2019). Migration may also increase gendered work burdens, especially for the women left behind, thereby showing trade-offs with SDG 5 (Chindarkar, 2012; Bhagat, 2017; Jain et al., 2017b; Singh & Basu, 2019).

7.3 Synergies and Trade-offs of Mitigation Actions with Adaptation Options and Sustainable Development Goals

Mitigation aimed at reducing GHG emissions, by avoiding, removing or sequestering, is central to addressing climate risks and pursuing CRD. By limiting emissions and accelerating decarbonisation, mitigation actions alter development trajectories, which can affect the existing economic structure, markets, income distribution and consumption (IPCC, 2022b). This can also have impacts on achieving the SDGs including access to clean energy, food security, poverty reduction and income equality. Mitigation actions aligned with limiting warming to 1.5° C could make it easier to achieve the SDGs, even though there are likely to be some trade-offs in the process. CRD can be achieved by enabling mitigation synergies with sustainable development, accounting for trade-offs and taking measures to offset them through appropriate policy interventions, which include safety nets (e.g., direct cash payments, food support and revenue recycling; IPCC, 2022b). Many mitigation actions can also have both trade-offs and synergies. Potential synergies between mitigation and sustainable development are found in renewable energy, energy efficiency, promoting public transport, Carbon Dioxide Removal (CDR) methods, among other actions.

7.3.1 Energy systems transitions

Figure 7.7: Adaptation, mitigation and SDG synergies and trade-offs under energy systems transitions

Adaptation- Mitigation Synergies	SDG Synergies
NA	 Mitigation options such as solar PV have strong synergies with SDG 5 (gender equality), SDG 7 (affordable and clean energy), SDG 8 (decent work and economic growth), SDG 9 (industry, innovation and infrastructure) and SDG 13 (climate action). Efficient lighting and appliances have strong synergies with SDG 7, SDG 11 (sustainable cities and communities) and SDG 13. Wind energy and smart grids also have a higher proportion of positive externalities on multiple SDGs. SDG 7, SDG 8, SDG 9 and SDG 13 have more synergies with the options under this system transition. A climate-compatible energy transition has socio-economic implications since renewable energy provides employment opportunities and scope for economic growth. Some mitigation options have synergies with SDG 16 (peace, justice and strong institutions) and SDG 17 (partnership for the goals). Cross-boundary energy trade optimises energy transitions between the countries involved and strengthens partnerships. Options like EVs can improve air quality, with reduced disease risk and improved health, thereby contributing to SDG 3 (good health and well-being). EVs can generate 1.2 lakh jobs in powertrain, battery and charger manufacturing, thus enabling SDG 8 (CEEW 2019a; Shakti Sustainable Energy Foundation 2020a).
Adaptation- Mitigation Trade-offs NA	SDG Trade-offsHydropower exhibits maximum trade-offs against the SDGs, with as many as three strong trade-offs and six weak trade-offs.Wind energy and hydropower have strong trade-offs with both SDG 14 and SDG 15, as they impact life both on land and below water.Energy systems transition options have the highest number of trade-offs with SDG 3 and SDG 6 (clean water and sanitation).

Note: CEEW = Council on Energy, Environment and Water; EV = Electric vehicle Source: Authors' assessment

Figure 7.7 summarises the S&Ts between adaptation-mitigation actions and the SDGs under energy systems. Nine energy options are considered under energy systems transitions to assess synergies between adaptation, mitigation and the SDGs. These include wind energy, solar energy, hydropower, bioenergy, nuclear energy, energy-efficient lighting and appliances, smart grids, electricity storage, and carbon capture and storage (CCS) in the power sector.

Mitigation Options	SDGs 🚽	1 ^{NO VERTY} ที่ร่สำคั ่สำ	2 HUNGER	3 GOOD HEALTH AND WELL-BEING	4 EDUCATION	5 Equality	G CLEAN WATER AND SANTATION	7 AFFORDABLE AND CLEAN ENERGY	8 есономис скоитн	9 AND INPLASTICUATION AND INPLASTICUATION
Wind energy (onshore and offshore)		*		*				* *	*	* *
Solar PV		* * *	*	* *	* *	* *	* *	* * *	* * *	* * *
Bioenergy		* * *	* *	* * *		*	*	* * *	*	
Hydropower		* * *	*			*	* *	* *	* *	
Electricity storage				*				* *		* *
Power sector CCS								* *		*
Smart grids								* * *		*
Efficient lighting, appliances		*					*	* *	*	* *
Nuclear				*				*	*	*
Mitigation Options	SDGs 🚽	10 REDUCED INFORMATINES	11 SUSTAINABLE OTTING	12 REPORSIBLE CONSUMPTION AND PRODUCTION	13 clanate Agridon	14 LIFE MAKITER	15 UFE ON LAND	16 PEACE. JUSTICE AND STRONG INSTITUTIONS	17 PARTNERSBIFS FOR THE COALS	
Wind energy (onshore and offshore)					* * *	* *	*			
Solar PV				* *	* * *		*			
Bioenergy					* *					Energy Svstem
Hydropower					* *	* *	* *		* *	Transition
Electricity storage				* *	* *					
Power sector CCS					* *				* *	
Smart grids					*					
Efficient lighting, appliances			*	*	* *					
Nuclear				*	*		*			

Figure 7.8: SDG and mitigation S&Ts under energy system transitions

Legend:

High evidence (5 or more papers)	Medium evidence (3-4 papers)	Limited evidence (2 papers)
***	*	*

Note: CCS = Carbon capture and storage

Source: Authors' assessment

Strong synergy of the adaptation option with the SDG Weak synergy of the adaptation option with the SDG



There is insufficient evidence in the Indian context to comment on the possible synergies or trade-offs between energy systems transition options and SDGs related to gender (SDG 4), inequalities (SDG 10), and biodiversity (SDG 14 and SDG 15). There is also a lack of studies on externalities from smart grids, nuclear energy, CCS and electricity storage. Despite government support and international partnerships, CCS deployment remains in its nascent stages in India. Thus, research on the developmentmitigation nexus related to CCS is underexplored. Research on nuclear energy also predominantly focuses on technological aspects.

Solar energy and energy efficiency improvements have positive impacts on related SDGs. Wind energy and smart grids also show predominantly positive externalities on the SDGs. SDG 7 (affordable and clean energy), SDG 8 (decent work and economic growth) and SDG 9 (industry, innovation and infrastructure) exhibit the highest synergy with options under this system. Some of the synergies with SDGs are discussed in greater detail below.

7.3.1.1 Affordable and clean energy (SDG 7)

Renewable energy, particularly solar and wind, has become economically competitive, with their levelized cost of electricity (LCOE) now equal to or lower than that of coal (Gadre et al., 2020; Shrimali et al., 2015). India's levelized auction tariffs for wind and solar energy are among the world's lowest, despite relatively higher borrowing costs and the absence of hidden subsidies. A significant reduction in India's future power sector-related CO_2 emissions could result from the ancillary benefit of reducing renewable energy costs (Lu et al., 2020).

Off-grid solar energy access in remote or inaccessible areas provides clean energy to the bottom of the pyramid (BoP) communities (Joshi et al., 2019). Climate modelling and forecasting studies emphasise the crucial role of solar and wind energy in increasing the share of renewables in India's total energy mix (Mittal et al., 2018; Shukla et al., 2015; Vishwanathan et al., 2018; Zhou et al., 2020). In a 1.5°C scenario energy mix by 2050, renewables like solar photovoltaics (PV) and hydropower are projected to significantly increase their share compared to a 2°C scenario (Mittal et al., 2018).

Bioenergy also offers a viable alternative to coal. Biogas technologies, for example, have the potential to conserve an estimated 79 metric tonne (MT) of fuelwood annually, resulting in the avoidance of 16 MT of carbon emissions, assuming 40 per cent of fuelwood needs are currently met by unsustainable sources (Ravindranath & Balachandra, 2009). The total carbon abatement potential of biomass power, including combustion and gasification, based on technical potential is estimated at 89 million tonnes of carbon (MTC), with a 45 per cent capacity factor (Ravindranath & Balachandra, 2009).

Several demand-side interventions, such as improved energy efficiency (International Energy Agency [IEA], 2020) and smart grids (Jha et al., 2014) contribute to emission reduction efforts. Enhanced energy efficiency is associated with a reduction in marginal abatement costs (Chaturvedi & Shukla, 2014). India's initiatives to improve energy efficiency have collectively saved an additional 15 per cent of annual energy demand and avoided 300 MT of CO_2 emissions from 2000 to 2018, according to IEA analysis (2020).

Experimental results indicate that power consumption can be reduced by 40–55 per cent. Further energy savings of up to 60–65 per cent can be achieved through individual lighting device control, dimming control technology, and voltage optimisation (Gopal et al., 2018). The potential energy savings from improved room air conditioner (AC) efficiency in India, using the best available technology, are projected to exceed 118 terawatt hours (TWh) by 2030, with potential peak demand savings estimated at 60 gigawatt (GW). This is equivalent to avoiding the need for 120 new 500 megawatt (MW) coal-fired power plants (Phadke et al., 2019).

7.3.1.2 Decent work and economic growth (SDG 8)

Energy transition has socio-economic implications as renewable energy creates employment opportunities and fosters economic growth. Renewable energy technologies are typically more labour-intensive than conventional ones (Council on Energy, Environment and Water [CEEW], 2019a). Distributed renewables like small-scale hydro, rooftop solar and biomass generate significant employment per MW of installed capacity. Biomass employs 16 persons for constructing and running a one-megawatt plant. Small-scale hydro and rooftop solar employ 14 persons and 25 persons, respectively, for the same capacity (CEEW, 2019a). Ground-mounted solar projects create approximately 3.5 job-years per MW (National Resources Defense Council [NRDC], 2017). Solar energy and biomass are expected to drive substantial employment, with projections up to 1.1 million and 2 million employees, respectively, by 2050 (NRDC, 2017).

The rising sales of off-grid solar solutions can translate into increased job opportunities, expanding energy access and stimulating economic activity in previously isolated communities. To meet India's targets for solar and wind energy, over 0.3 million workers are anticipated to be employed in these sectors between 2018 and 2023, with a significant proportion in rooftop solar (NRDC, 2017). Apart from direct employment, some energy systems transition options enhance labour productivity. For example, studying the adoption of energy-efficient LED lighting in garment factories around Bengaluru, Adhvaryu et al., (2018) found that LED lighting increases labour productivity on hot days. The average factory in the study saved about US\$ 2,880 in power consumption and earned about US\$ 7,500 in productivity gains.

7.3.1.3 Industry, innovation, and infrastructure (SDG 9)

Renewable energy interventions can alleviate the financial burden of power subsidies on states and redirect resources towards the capital costs of renewable energy deployment (Swain, 2020). The deployment of solar energy serves as a catalyst for micro, small and medium enterprises (MSMEs), creating multiple opportunities in infrastructure, power and energy (KPMG, 2015). Ancillary activities related to renewable energy deployment also offer infrastructure development prospects and subsequent industrial opportunities. For instance, the Make in India initiative supports electric vehicles (EVs), aiming to attract global companies to manufacture solar PV, lithium-ion batteries, solar charging infrastructure and other advanced technologies in India. To boost foreign direct investment, the government conducts competitive tenders for large-scale manufacturing facilities for EVs, charging stations, solar PV cells and lithium-ion batteries, and offers financial incentives for adopting EVs.

Prominent research and development (R&D) centres, such as the National Institute of Solar Energy, National Institute of Bio-Energy and National Institute of Wind Energy, were established under various technological initiatives for renewable energy in India (Kumar et al., 2019). Low tariff rates for wind and solar energy also foster an environment conducive to industrial growth in these sectors. Transparent bidding processes further facilitate progress. The wind energy sector has developed a robust ecosystem to support project execution capabilities and local manufacturing. State-of-the-art technologies for wind turbine production are now available, with major global players having established their presence in India. India exports wind turbines and components to USA, Europe, Australia, Brazil and other Asian countries. Domestic production accounts for 70-80 per cent of the market, driven by strong local manufacturing companies (Kumar & Majid, 2020).

Continuous efforts in clean energy have spurred rigorous R&D across various sectors. For example, the National Thermal Power Corporation (NTPC) and Bharat Heavy Electricals Limited (BHEL) are collaborating on numerous experimental initiatives to enhance these technologies. BHEL conducted oxyfuel testing at the Fuel Evaluation Test Facility (FETF) in 2010. India's largest gas and energy supplier, Oil and Natural Gas Corporation (ONGC), is exploring CO₂ injection for enhanced oil recovery (EOR) at the Ankleshwar petroleum field (Shukla et al., 2020). Research into new battery chemistries and hybrids is an active field in both basic and applied research (de Sisternes et al., 2019). Moreover, hydrogen and its derivatives are gaining attention, particularly renewable-generated hydrogen, to produce synthetic fuels for construction, transport and industrial applications. There are also feedback loops between technological innovation in various energy systems transition options. Lazkano et al., (2017) found a positive effect of electricity storage on renewables innovation, as storing electricity is crucial for mitigating intermittency in renewable electricity generation. Increased knowledge about internal storage is associated with greater innovation in both renewable and conventional technologies.

7.3.1.4 Peace, justice, and strong institutions, and partnerships for the goals (SDG 16 and 17)

Certain options have synergies with SDG 16 and SDG 17 through cross-boundary energy trade, optimising energy transitions and fostering partnerships. In South Asia, the Bangladesh, Bhutan, India, Nepal (BBIN) sub-region stands out as the first to demonstrate cooperation in cross-border energy trade (Dhakal et al., 2021; Haran, 2018). The Chukha hydropower project in Bhutan, for instance, exemplifies successful cooperation between countries, with Bhutan receiving a significant investment of US\$ 404 million from India, comprising 60 per cent as a grant and 40 per cent as a loan at 5 per cent interest. Such South–South financial flows are expected to mutually benefit hydropower production in the region (Timilsina, 2018; Vaidya et al., 2021).

7.3.1.5 Other synergies

The renewable energy sector also addresses poverty (SDG 1) by creating employment, increasing income and improving living standards, thereby reducing energy poverty. Buragohain (2012) found that implementing solar PV through the Remote Village Electrification Programme (RVEP) improved overall living standards and children's education, while decreasing reliance on traditional energy sources, ultimately helping households move out of poverty in the long term. Energy efficiency measures and expanded energy access can free up resources (i.e., financial resources and time savings) that can then be redirected towards other productive uses (e.g., education and employment opportunities), especially benefiting women and children in poor rural areas (Pueyo & Maestre, 2019).

Renewables also benefit health by reducing air pollution since they are emissions-free. Increased adoption of solar and wind energy leads to lower emissions of GHGs and other harmful pollutants such as SO₂, various nitrogen oxides and by-products of fossil fuels, which contribute to environmental degradation and health issues (Chaurasiya et al., 2019).

7.3.2 Land, oceans and ecosystems transitions

Four mitigation options are reviewed under land and ecosystems transitions including reduced food wastage

and efficient food production, dietary shifts, sustainable intensification of agriculture, and ecosystem restoration. The literature review found no evidence linking dietary shifts and reduced food wastage in India to several SDGs, including SDG 4 (quality education), SDG 5 (gender equality), SDG 6 (clean water and sanitation), SDG 9 (industry, innovation and infrastructure), SDG 14 (life below water), SDG 15 (life on land), SDG 16 (peace, justice and strong institutions) and SDG 17 (partnership for the goals), highlighting a significant knowledge gap for these adaptation strategies. The shift towards a vegan and organic diet and its implications have been extensively discussed globally but remain underexplored in the Indian context.

Four of the five mitigation actions reviewed align well with two goals: SDG 12 for responsible consumption and production, and SDG 13 for climate action. Reduced food wastage and efficient food production contribute to efficient resource management (Ray & Ghose, 2014), lower energy consumption (Premalatha et al., 2011), reduced disease burden, diminished environmental footprint (Aleksandrowicz et al., 2019) and decreased GHG emissions (Agrawal & Nag, 2013). Dietary shifts can also promote a healthy and sustainable lifestyle, reduce environmental impact, lower GHG emissions and improve climate mitigation outcomes (Pathak et al., 2010; Rao et al., 2018; Sadhukhan et al., 2020; Sharma et al., 2020). For instance, a shift towards coarse cereals like millets and leafy vegetables could potentially reduce India's agricultural GHG emissions by 25 per cent (Rao et al., 2018). However, such shifts need to consider nutritional implications since recommendations often involve reduced consumption of milk and eggs, which are associated with higher emissions (Vetter et al., 2017).

Ecosystem restoration also contributes to SDG 12 and SDG 13 by restoring vegetation (Adam, 2015; Foundation for Ecological Security [FES], 2020), enhancing resilience against climate-induced disasters (Bawa et al., 2021; Laulikitnont, 2014), promoting ecological rehabilitation, improving soil quality and increasing carbon sequestration (Awasthi et al., 2017; Brahma et al., 2018; Edrisi et al., 2018). For example, in a revegetated mine, total sequestered carbon increased by 712 per cent over 19 years, demonstrating an annual carbon sequestration potential of 3.64 t C ha–1 yr–1 (Tripathi et al., 2014). Mangrove restoration through replanting in the Sundarbans increased organic carbon

							I							
В Есономис веригн	* *	* *	*	* *		* *			llrhan &	Infrastructure	system Transition			
7 AFORDABLE AND CLEAN ENERGY	*	* *	*	*	* *	* * *		17 FOR THE COALS		*				
6 CLEAN WATER AND SANITATION	*				*	* *		15 MIAND	*	*		*		* *
5 GRUARTY			* *	*				13 CLIMATE Action	*	*	* *	*	*	* *
4 BUCATION	*		*	*		*		12 RESPONSIBLE CONSUMPTION AND PRODUCTION		* *			* *	*
3 AND WELL-BEING	*	*	* *	*	*	* *		11 AND COMMUNITIES	* *	*	*	*	* *	*
2 tero	*							10 REDUKED INCOLATINES	*	* *	*	*		
ן ^{אס אינאזי} ראי אין אין אין אין אין אין אין אין אין א			*	*				9 моизпех миомалон Ало интеалистине	*	* *			*	*
SDGs								SDGs →						
Mitigation Options	Land-use & urban planning	Electric vehicles, hybrids	Public transport	Non-motorised transport	Aviation & shipping	Low/zero-energy buildings		Mitigation Options	Land-use & urban planning	Electric vehicles, hybrids	Public transport	Non-motorised transport	Aviation & shipping	Low/zero-energy buildings

Figure 7.9: SDG and mitigation S&Ts under energy system transitions

Legend:

* * *

Strong synergy of the adaptation option with the SDG Weak synergy of the adaptation option with the SDG

Strong trade-off between the adaptation option and the SDG Weak trade-off between the adaptation option and the SDG No positive or negative impact

Source: Authors' assessment

density from 54–69 t/ha to 83–132 t/ha over five years (Chowdhury et al., 2019).

Techniques under sustainable intensification of agriculture conserve water and energy (Sapkota et al., 2017), reduce the use of chemical fertilisers (Bunting et al., 2014), improve soil quality and enhance productivity (Choudhary et al., 2018a; 2018b). Sustainable intensification also aids climate change mitigation by reducing GHG emissions from agriculture through efficient energy use and increased soil carbon sequestration (Hazra & Bohra, 2020; Kumar et al., 2020a; Yadav et al., 2018). In north-west India, adopting reduced-till or full conservation agriculture-based cropping systems could potentially reduce total global warming potential by 15–30 per cent (Kumar et al., 2018b).

These mitigation options also significantly align with SDG 1 (no poverty), SDG 2 (zero hunger) and SDG 3 (good health and well-being). Ecosystem restoration supports rural livelihoods (Abhilash, 2021; Awasthi et al., 2017; Edrisi et al., 2018; Mallick & Chakraborty, 2018a), enhances food and nutritional security through increased farm and fish productivity (Bawa et al., 2021; Das, 2017; Edrisi et al., 2018), and potentially builds resilience against zoonotic diseases and future epidemics (Bawa et al., 2021; Singh et al., 2021). Reduced food wastage and efficient food production can alleviate poverty, enhance food security (Bharucha, 2018) and reduce diet-related health burdens (Aleksandrowicz et al., 2019). Sustainable intensification of agriculture can address socio-economic challenges associated with endemic poverty (Bharucha et al., 2020; Bunting et al., 2014) and improve food and nutritional security by enhancing crop productivity with fewer resources (Islam et al., 2019 in the eastern Gangetic plains; Kumar et al., 2020; Parihar et al., 2016 in north-west India; Pradhan et al., 2018; Prasad, 2016).

Sustainable intensification of agriculture, ecosystem restoration, and afforestation and reforestation show strong synergies with SDG 8 (decent work and economic growth). Ecosystem restoration can support rural livelihoods, create new jobs (Awasthi et al., 2017;Tripathi et al., 2016; Valencia, 2019), provide regional socio-economic benefits (Edrisi et al., 2018; Mallick & Chakraborty, 2018a), and promote ecological and rural tourism (Singh et al., 2021). Sustainable intensification of agriculture also enhances livelihoods based on agriculture (Bunting et

al., 2014) and increases agricultural productivity and profits (Kumar et al., 2020a). For instance, the System of Rice Intensification (SRI) has increased net returns by 31 per cent and reduced input costs by 26 per cent in Tamil Nadu (Barah, 2009). Meanwhile, in West Bengal, integrating diversified aquatic biodiversity with SRI contributed an additional income of ₹30,150 to vulnerable communities (Bunting et al., 2014).

Many programmes and strategies under afforestation, such as community-based forest management, the National Afforestation Programme (NAP) and MGNREGA, provide income and livelihood opportunities to marginalised communities throughout the year (Murthy, 2013; Press Information Bureau [PIB], 2019; Ramprasad et al., 2020; Singh, 2008; Wolosin, 2017). This option also reduces the risk of crop failure, provides alternative income, offers financial incentives, supports livestock, provides fuelwood and contributes to food production (Murthy, 2013; Sekar, 2015; Tripathi, 2015). For instance, GIM aims to improve ecosystem services on 10 million ha of land across India, potentially increasing forest-based livelihood opportunities and offering additional income for around 3 million forest-dependent households (Sharma & Chaudhry, 2013). The Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) also supports reforestation and afforestation activities, yielding substantial economic returns for farmers (Gera, 2012, in Andhra Pradesh; Tripathi, 2015, in Himachal Pradesh). This option, as evidenced, also has strong synergy with SDG 1.

Overall, afforestation and reforestation could contribute to an 11 per cent increase in the carbon stocks of Indian forests from 2006 to 2030 (Geelani et al., 2018; Ravindranath et al., 2008). Afforestation with poplar plantations could also help increase carbon sequestration potential (Gera, 2012) while building resilience to climate hazards like droughts, flash floods and landslides (Roy, 2020).

Limited evidence also suggests that urban afforestation programmes can yield multiple benefits such as reduced GHG emissions, better air quality and direct cooling of the microclimate (Imam & Banerjee, 2016), demonstrating strong synergy with SDG 11 (sustainable cities and communities). These options also exhibit synergy with SDG 9 and SDG 17, as programmes like Tamil Nadu Afforestation Programme, NAP, and those supported by

S
5
· 🖂
÷
ŝ
đ
5
1
5
Θ
St
Š
S
Φ
5
Ę
$\underline{\circ}$
2
÷
ŝ
<u> </u>
f
.≒
σ
Ē
Э
b
0
1
~
5
ŏ
ē
Π
S
÷
∞ ∞
0)
0
÷
g
. <u>0</u>
÷:
3
-
2
F
.0
ŝ
×
Ľ,
0)
ö
ĭ
N
-
ž
n
G
ΪĒ.

Mitigation Options SDGs	1 ^{NO} FOURETY	2 zero	3 AND WELL-BEING	4 OUALITY EUCATION	5 Equatory	G CLEAN WATER AND SANITATION	7 AFFORDABLE AND CLEAN ENERGY	В весент иовк ано весономис сагоитн	9 AND INFRASTRUCTURE
Reduced food wastage & efficient food production		* *	*				*	*	
Dietary shifts		* *	* *						
Sustainable intensification of agriculture		* *				* * *	* *	* * *	*
Ecosystems restoration	* *	* *		*		***	* *	* * *	* *
Afforestation & reforestation	***	* *			*		*	* * *	* * *
Soil carbon sequestration & biochar	*	* * *	* *			*	*	*	*

		Land and Ecosystem	Transition	***	* *	
16 Рыск. лизпок Ами затионая икатитоная				* *	* *	* *
			*	* * *	* * *	*
14 DELOW WATER				* *		
13 AUTOR ACTION		* * *	* * *	* * *	* *	* *
12 REPONSIBLE CONSUMPTION AND PRODUCTION	* * *	* * *	* * *	* * *		* *
11 AND COMMUNTES						
10 REDUCED INEQUALITIES		*		* * *	* * *	
Mitigation Options SDGs —	Reduced food wastage & efficient food production	Dietary shifts	Sustainable intensification of agriculture	Ecosystems restoration	Afforestation & reforestation	Soil carbon sequestration & biochar

Legend:

High evidence (5 or more papers)	Medium evidence (3-4 papers)	Limited evidence (2 papers)
----------------------------------	------------------------------	-----------------------------

Strong synergy of the adaptation option with the SDG Weak synergy of the adaptation option with the SDG

Strong trade-off between the adaptation option and the SDG Weak trade-off between the adaptation option and the SDG No positive or negative impact

Source: Authors' assessment

Japan Bank for International Cooperation (JBIC), Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency (SIDA), and various state forest departments encourage the transfer and adoption of improved technologies (PIB, 2019; Sekar, 2015; Shashidharan, 2012).

Afforestation and reforestation also support a wide range of rural and wood-based industries (Kaul, 2010; Murthy, 2013) and have enabled numerous multilateral, national and international partnerships and investment opportunities for Indian governments and institutions (Sekar, 2015; Sharma & Chaudhry, 2013). Additionally, they have established several local- and regional-level institutions like joint forest management and forest development agencies (Lok Sabha Secretariat, 2015; PIB, 2019; Sharma & Chaudhry, 2013), underlining synergies with SDG 16 and SDG 17. At the same time, while some evidence suggests increased food productivity (Murthy, 2013), studies also highlight reduced food security for marginalised communities due to exclusionary and monoculture afforestation practices (Roy, 2020; Valencia, 2019), exhibiting weak trade-off with SDG 2.

Ecosystem restoration also exhibits synergy with SDG 4 and SDG 5 by promoting equal employment opportunities for women and enhancing education opportunities for children (Abhilash, 2021). These options also align strongly with SDG 6, as ecosystem restoration rejuvenates traditional waterbodies (Adam, 2015), facilitates water recycling (Edrisi et al., 2018), restores degraded wetlands and streams (Krishnamurthy et al., 2014; Kumari et al., 2020; Mondal and Patel, 2018), promotes groundwater recharge (Mallick & Chakraborty, 2018a), and enriches aquatic and terrestrial biodiversity, thereby supporting SDG 14 and SDG 15 through the restoration of degraded habitats (Adam, 2015; Awasthi et al., 2017; Mondal & Patel, 2018; Nawab & Hussain, 2012). However, lack of safeguards can lead to unscientific restoration practices such as the use of fast-growing commercial species that can adversely affect native forests (Busch & Mukherjee, 2017).

Sustainable intensification of agriculture also demonstrates synergy with SDG 6 and SDG 7 by reducing groundwater depletion (Jat et al., 2020), enhancing water and energy use efficiency (Barah, 2009; Bharucha et al., 2020; Pretty & Bharucha, 2014), promoting biodiversity (Bharucha et al., 2020; Bunting et al., 2014), and conserving natural resources and ecosystem services (Choudhary et al., 2018a; Hazra & Bohra, 2020).

Accelerating India's Climate Transition: Pathways to the 1.5°C Goal

Given current agricultural and food pricing scenarios, promoting dietary shifts for health and environmental benefits could be unaffordable for more than 50 per cent of India's population, which earns less than PPP US\$ 2 per day (Gupta & Bharati, 2019), demonstrating a trade-off with SDG 10 (reduced inequalities).

7.3.3 Urban and infrastructure systems transitions

Low-energy buildings have the strongest synergies with SDG 3 (good health and well-being) as they often incorporate passive cooling, which has been shown to improve the overall health of occupants in India (Kumar et al., 2018). These buildings also align with SDG 7 (affordable and clean energy) by reducing energy consumption by over 30 per cent in new residential buildings and by 40 per cent in new commercial buildings. Additionally, they support SDG 9 (industry, innovation and infrastructure; Kumar et al., 2018).

Aviation and shipping have strong synergy with SDG 13 (climate action), as many cities in India have taken effective climate action measures to improve fuel efficiency and renew fleets. Currently, three airports—Mumbai, Delhi and Bengaluru—are operating under the Airport Carbon Accreditation Scheme (Maurya, 2013).

EVs have significant synergy with SDG 8 (decent work). A projected 30 per cent increase in new vehicle sales by 2030 is expected to generate 120,000 jobs in the EV industry and related sectors, such as EV battery, charger and powertrain manufacturing (Soman et al., 2020). This initiative also aligns strongly with SDG 11 (sustainable cities and communities). Major cities in India, including Bengaluru and Pune as well as some cities in Kerala, have taken steps to promote EVs and support infrastructure like charging stations (Majumdar et al., 2015).

157

7.4 Conclusion

The assessment of S&Ts between adaptation-mitigation actions and SDGs in India using the IPCC systems transitions framework provides actionable insights to identify and implement the right mix of interventions and enable the transition to CRD pathways. The analysis shows that both adaptation and mitigation options have multiple synergies with SDGs across systems, although many interventions can have mixed impacts and some can lead to trade-offs.

Overall, the adaptation options show greater potential synergies with the SDGs than the mitigation options. For instance, adaptation options under land, oceans and ecosystems transitions exhibit maximum synergies with SDGs and minimal trade-offs. All the 12 adaptation options under land, oceans and ecosystems have strong synergy with SDG 8 (decent work and economic growth), while nine of the 12 options have strong synergies with SDG 12 (responsible consumption and production). Nearly 11 of the actions also synergise with SDG 13 (climate action), SDG 1 (no poverty) and SDG 2 (zero hunger). This indicates significant potential to accelerate adaptation options, like improved cropland management, improved grazing land management, biodiversity management and conservation, and conservation agriculture, that reduce vulnerability to climate extremes and improve resilience among farming families. Many of these interventions that are practised in India and included within missions and policies need to be accelerated and implemented across a wider ambit.

Similarly, the assessment of four adaptation options under urban and infrastructure systems show strong synergy with SDG 11 (sustainable cities and communities). For instance, urban green infrastructure and ecosystem services have significant potential to achieve both climate gains and help meet SDGs (synergies with nine of the 17 SDGs) in Indian cities as these interventions can reduce disaster risks, improve resilience and enhance quality of life in urban areas. However, some of these options also show mixed impacts. For instance, sustainable urban water management practices have the potential to contribute to SDG 10 (reduced inequalities) by promoting equitable access, but some of these practices also lead to unequal access by failing to prioritise the needs of the local population. The assessment also shows that majority of the adaptation interventions (six out of the seven considered) in the cross-cutting category have significant synergies with SDG 1, SDG 2, SDG 3 (good health and well-being), SDG 11 and SDG 13. Adaptation options like social safety nets (e.g., MNREGA and PDS) align with 12 of the 17 SDGs. Social safety nets can improve food security, reduce poverty, provide decent work, improve health outcomes, reduce inequalities and improve gender equity.

Among the mitigation options, those under energy systems transitions, followed by land, oceans and ecosystems transitions, and then urban and infrastructure systems transitions, have the most positive linkages with SDGs. For instance, solar energy has synergies with 12 SDGs and no negative impacts. It has significant positive linkages with SDG 7 (affordable and clean energy), SDG 8, SDG 9 (industry, innovation and infrastructure) and SDG 13. All the mitigation options under energy systems, barring hydropower, have strong synergies with climate action. Solar PV, wind and hydropower also show significant potential for creating green jobs and opening multiple low-carbon pathways in the manufacturing sector to produce aligned low-carbon technologies and infrastructure. These renewable energy options contribute to economic development in the country through both the service sector by creating new green jobs and the manufacturing sector through the production of new low-carbon technology and infrastructure-aligned products.

The mitigation options under land, oceans and ecosystems transitions, such as ecosystem restoration (which has synergies with all the SDGs), and afforestation and reforestation, show positive synergies with SDG 1, SDG 8, SDG 9 and SDG 13 and a weak trade-off with only SDG 2. Under urban and infrastructure systems, mitigation options like low-energy buildings, promoting EVs and public transport can reduce emissions, improve energy efficiency and have positive linkages with decent work, innovation and building sustainable cities. With 50 per cent of India poised to be urban by 2047, mitigation options under this system can be key to a climate-resilient urban transition.

Overall, the S&Ts assessment shows significant scope to leverage climate action and SDG synergies to meet the goal of 1.5°C and Agenda 2030. Many of the ongoing climate adaptation and mitigation options can help achieve various SDGs, including those related to reducing poverty and hunger, decent work, access to clean water and sanitation, climate action, affordable energy and innovation, among others. At the same time, various development actions and policies have synergies with climate action and can be reformulated and tweaked for better climate benefits. For instance, policies linked to improving access to environmental services, such as Atal Mission for Rejuvenation and Urban Transformation (AMRUT) and Swachh Bharat Mission (SBM), and those linked to housing such as Pradhan Mantri Awas Yojana (PMAY), have synergies with climate action. AMRUT, aiming for water-secure cities and towns, has a component for restoration of ecosystems and creation of urban green spaces, which can be widened for greater benefits. PMAY, which envisages affordable housing for all, can be made more climate resilient with additional top-up funding to make way for climate-resilient building materials. Overall, it is possible to implement both adaptation and mitigation actions together across systems considering their synergies as well as trade-offs with sustainable development (IPCC, 2023).



Enabling 1.5°C in India

This chapter should be cited as: Kodira, P., Singh, C., Madhavan, M., Arvind, J., Kaur, H., Wangchuk, T., Banerjee, N., Surampally, S., Ghoge, K., Bazaz, A.B., Revi, A., 2024: Enabling 1.5°C in India. In IIHS, 2024: Accelerating India's Climate Transition: pathways to the 1.5°C goal [Revi, A., Bazaz, A.B., Singh, C., Kodira, P., & Ghoge, K., (eds.)]. Indian Institute for Human Settlements. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.24943/AICT11.2024</u>

Chapter Authors: Prathijna Kodira, Chandni Singh, Mythili Madhavan, Jasmitha Arvind, Harpreet Kaur, Tsomo Wangchuk, Nishita Banerjee, Swati Surampally, Ketaki Ghoge, Amir Bazaz, and Aromar Revi

8. Enabling 1.5°C in India

- The implementation of 1.5°C-compatible adaptation and mitigation options relies upon a supportive financial, institutional, technological and behavioural environment.
- We examine six conditions to enable the four system transitions: enhancing multi-level governance; improving institutional capacities; strengthening policy instruments; climate finance; enabling technological innovation; and behavioural and lifestyle change.
- While progress has been made in technology and innovation, multi-level governance, policy instruments, and institutional capacities, more attention must be paid to climate finance—what the finance need is, where sectoral gaps exist and leveraging different sources of funding.
- Gaps also remain on understanding how to incentivise lifestyle and behavioural change for mitigation and adaptation. Further research and development (R&D) is required on developing national and sub-national data repositories on all aspects of climate action and national monitoring exercises in progress.

8.1 Introduction

The successful implementation of 1.5°C-compatible adaptation and mitigation options relies on a supportive financial, institutional, technological and behavioural environment. This ecosystem is shaped by specific enabling conditions that enhance the feasibility of adaptation and mitigation actions, accelerate systems transitions, and ultimately shift developmental pathways towards Climate Resilient Development (CRD; Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [IPCC], 2023). It is essential to have the right enabling conditions in place, including policies, frameworks, engagement strategies and investments, for transformative action (Summary for Urban Policymakers [SUP], 2023).

Building on discussions of the feasibility of mitigation and adaptation actions in Chapter 6, and synergies and trade-offs in Chapter 7, this report concludes with an analysis of the enabling conditions that can guide India's 1.5°C climate trajectory. Using the IPCC framework, this chapter assesses six enabling conditions that can facilitate the four key system transitions essential for CRD. These conditions include enhancing multi-level governance, improving institutional capacities, strengthening policy instruments, facilitating climate finance, promoting technological innovation, and fostering behavioural and lifestyle changes. The chapter examines India's current policy direction and presents evidence related to these six enabling conditions across the key systems transitions.

Further, the chapter highlights fourteen case studies that illustrate adaptation and mitigation actions across the country (Table 8.1). These examples, spanning various regions and sectors, demonstrate how incremental and transformative measures can support India's transition to 1.5°C pathways. The success of these case studies often relies on a combination of enabling conditions. For instance, the success of India's National Solar Mission (see Case Study 3) is based on three enabling conditions: multi-level governance, policy instruments and finance.

The chapter is organised as follows. Section 8.2 looks at multi-level governance and its role in successful adaptation

supported by two case studies. Similarly, section 8.3 while section 8.4 examines how policy instruments examines institutional capacity building and its role in drive effective climate action through evidence shown

and mitigation in land, oceans and ecosystems transition, climate mitigation initiatives in energy and urban systems,

\mathbf{I}	Table 8	.1: Illustrative	case studies	demonstrate	how system	transitions	towards 1.	5°C can	be enable
--------------	---------	------------------	--------------	-------------	------------	-------------	------------	---------	-----------

	Illustrative Case Study	Adaptation/ Mitigation/ Both	Enabling Conditions						
System Transition			Multi-level Governance	Institutional Capacity	Policy Instruments	Finance	Technological Innovation	Behavioural and Lifestyle Change	
Energy	National Solar Mission	Mitigation	Ø		Ø	•			
	Electric vehicles	Mitigation			Ø	Ø	Ø	•	
	PAT scheme	Mitigation		Ø	Ø		Ø		
	Rent a Roof policy	Mitigation		Ø					
Land, oceans and	Zero Budget Natural Farming	Both	Ø		Ø	0			
ecosystems	CAMPA and GIM	Mitigation			Ø	Ø			
	Integrated soil management	Both			•	•	•		
	Integrated Coastal Zone Management	Adaptation							
	Improved irrigation efficiency	Adaptation	Ø		•	Ø	•	•	
Urban and Infrastructure	Building codes and standards	Adaptation			Ø	•			
Cross-cutting Options	Heat action planning in Ahmedabad, Gujarat	Adaptation		Ø	Ø		Ø	⊘	
	MGNREGA	Adaptation	•	•	•	Ø		•	
	Early warning systems in Odisha	Adaptation		Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø		
	National Agrometeorological Advisory Services	Adaptation	•	•		•	⊘		

Note: CAMPA = Compensatory Afforestation Fund Management and Planning Authority; GIM = National Mission for Green India; MGNREGA = Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act; PAT = Perform, Achieve and Trade. Different cases showcase adaptation and mitigation implementation across scales (national, state and local) and from different states in India. Source: Authors' compilation

across land, oceans and ecosystems, energy, urban and infrastructure systems and the cross-cutting category. Section 8.5 highlights the pivotal role of climate finance in climate transformative action and section 8.6 emphasises the importance of technological innovation. Finally, section 8.7 addresses the importance of behavioural change in achieving climate goals, followed by a brief conclusion in section 8.8.

8.2 Enhancing Multi-level Governance

Enabling multi-level governance across different scales holds significant potential for facilitating India's transition towards a 1.5°C-consistent pathway. Governance mechanisms that span various levels-local, municipal, regional and national-and engage with diverse stakeholders can effectively support robust strategies for climate adaptation and mitigation while also promoting sustainable development. Multi-level governance can foster inclusive, transparent and equitable decision-making, enhance access to finance and technology, and strengthen monitoring and evaluation processes (IPCC, 2023). It can help build consensus among different stakeholders and diverse interest groups, improve coordination, and help address context-specific vulnerabilities and inequities through well-designed policies, legal frameworks, participatory processes and interventions.

In India's federal system States have the primary responsibility for governing many sectors that impact and are impacted by climate change. The State Action Plans on Climate Change (SAPCCs) that are meant to contextually outline the implementation plan for climate action in accordance with the national framework i.e. the National Action Plan on Climate Change (NAPCC) can be considered a strong overarching step towards enhancing multilevel governance.

8.2.1 Enhancing multi-level governance in land, oceans and ecosystems transitions

In the context of land, oceans and ecosystems transitions, the adoption of Zero Budget Natural Farming (ZBNF) in Andhra Pradesh serves as a notable example of multi-level governance via a policy-driven shift towards sustainable agriculture at both national and state levels, thereby incentivising adaptation (see Case Study 1). A critical factor contributing to the successful scaling of ZBNF in Andhra Pradesh was the layered approach to implementation, allowing for a build-up of momentum and expertise over time (Bharucha et al., 2020). Practically, it involves engaging multiple institutions at various tiers-from local gram panchayats to state-level departmentsalongside a supportive network of peers, practitioners and agronomists. This network is designed to facilitate a knowledge-based transition from resource-intensive farming practices to ZBNF (Bharucha et al., 2020). In addition, ZBNF's success can be traced to two other enabling conditions: adequate financial support and strengthening of policy instruments.

ZBNF initiatives have been replicated in other regions of India as well. For example, in Himachal Pradesh, the Prakritik Kheti Khushal Kisan Scheme (PKKKS), launched in 2018, provides financial support to promote ZBNF among farmers. In Punjab, conservation agriculture techniques such as laser land levelling in rice fields, planting on raised beds and zero tillage for wheat have gained traction (Sidhu et al., 2010). Similarly, there has been a gradual shift towards sustainable agriculture in the Indo-Gangetic Plains. However, wider acceptance of ZBNF in this region has been hindered by the initial costs associated with machinery such as zero-tillage equipment (Sapkota et al., 2015).

Multi-level governance is also evident in Case Study 2, which examines mangrove management under Integrated Coastal Zone Management (ICZM), where state forest departments partner with communities and non-governmental organisations (NGOs) for joint mangrove management and protection.

Box 8.1: Case Study 1 - Zero Budget Natural Farming

Zero Budget Natural Farming (ZBNF) refers to a suite of agricultural practices aimed at minimising farm costs by reducing non-synthetic inputs and embracing natural methods. It is a policy-driven initiative in Andhra Pradesh and Karnataka, expanding into the Indo-Gangetic belt and the eastern states of India (Bharucha et al., 2020). Sustainable agriculture is a priority under national mandates like the National Mission for Sustainable Agriculture (NMSA), supported by institutions such as the National Initiative on Climate Resilient Agriculture (NICRA), with ZBNF becoming pivotal in achieving goals of climate-resilient and economically viable farming (Khadse & Rosset, 2019). ZBNF can meet both climate adaptation and mitigation goals as it enhances farm biodiversity, improves soil health, increases soil carbon sequestration and reduces small farmers' vulnerability by increasing incomes. Along with this, ZBNF helps meet several of the SDGs as it promotes decent livelihoods and food self-sufficiency, increases farm incomes, and promotes gender equality.

Policy and governance: In Andhra Pradesh, ZBNF is a state policy with a goal of transforming 6 million farms to zero-budget farms by 2027. The roll-out is managed by Rythu Sadhikara Samstha (RySS), a public sector body under the Department of Agriculture, collaborating closely with farmers through extensive extension and support networks (Bharucha et al., 2020). RySS was set up by the Andhra Pradesh government to train farmers and promote farmer-to-farmer learning. ZBNF's rapid expansion in the state can be attributed to programme's network of fellows that train farmers and its linkages with women's self-help groups (SHGs). It illustrates a successful state-led model, promoting female leadership and collective learning at the local level (Khadse & Rosset, 2019).

Institutional capacity: Andhra Pradesh leveraged its experience with group approaches, particularly through the widespread women's SHG movement, integrating ZBNF as an initiative for food and livelihood autonomy (Khadse & Rosset, 2019). SHGs mobilise farmers to adopt ZBNF, help prepare their plans, monitor progress and also offer financial credit during their transition phase.

Finance: The sustained implementation of the scheme is supported by substantial government funding. Approximately ₹100 crore comes from private philanthropy organisations like the Azim Premji Foundation for technical assistance (Bharucha et al., 2020). The government has also taken a loan of about 90 million euros or Rs 711 crore (2020-21 rates) from the German KfW bank out of the Rs 1, 015 crore to be spent on the scheme from 2020-2025 (Das et al., 2024; The New Indian Express, 2020). Besides this the scheme was allocated Rs 305 crore by the state government from 2016-17 to 2020-21.

Some other examples of multi-level governance mechanisms aiding the implementation of effective measure in land, oceans and ecosystems measures come from improved grazing land management and reduced grassland conversion to cropland. Administrative measures have emphasised building community capacities to develop and maintain pastures, and to create and manage fodder buffer stocks (Satapathy et

Box 8.2: Case Study 2 - Mangrove management under Integrated Coastal Zone Management

Integrated Coastal Zone Management (ICZM) encompasses mangrove management as well as soft coastal defence strategies such as bioshields, which offer cost-effective defences with enhanced ecological benefits. Joint mangrove management is particularly prominent in Tamil Nadu, Odisha, West Bengal and Gujarat (Dasgupta & Shaw 2013).

Enhancing institutional capacity: Forest departments partner with communities and nongovernmental organisations (NGOs) for joint forest/mangrove management (Datta 2017; Roy & Datta 2018). State governments have made institutional arrangements to support mangrovedependent communities. Further, various organisations, such as the MS Swaminathan Research Foundation (MSSRF), World Wide Fund for Nature (WWF), Wildlife Protection Society of India (WPSI) and Mangroves for the Future (MFF), are working to promote biodiversity and create awareness to aid mangrove-dependent communities economically (Dasgupta & Shaw 2013). State initiatives to enable ICZM include the Gujarat Coastal Zone Management Authority that oversees coastal management with local support (Agoramoorthy et al., 2014) and the Maharashtra Mangrove Cell that implemented GIZ's 'Sustainable Management of Coastal and Marine Protected Areas', which led to the Thane Flamingo Sanctuary (Kathiresan, 2018).

Finance: The Government of India initiated an ICZM project at both national and state levels, with financial assistance of US\$ 222 million from the World Bank to implement a comprehensive coastal management approach (World Bank, 2017). Additionally, the government has made significant financial contributions to mangrove protection. Currently, 38 mangrove areas in the country are under active management action plans, receiving 100 per cent financial support from the Ministry of Environment, Forest and Climate Change (MoEFCC; Kathiresan, 2010; 2018).

Scalability and regional differentiation: Bioshield plantations on private and village lands face land use challenges, contrasting with plantations in government land that are less susceptible to anthropogenic change (Mukherjee et al., 2008; 2015). Shoreline variations near coastal protection structures depend mostly on the morphology of the coast. Seawalls along dynamically stable beaches and accreting beaches do not cause any significant morphological modifications, while along eroding beaches they are affected by toe scouring and slumping, leading to the disappearance of frontal beaches (Thankappan et al., 2018).

al., 2011). Programmes such as Joint Forest Management (JFM) promote multi-purpose management, aiming to balance tree products and herbaceous fodder through techniques like pruning, pollarding, lopping and grazing/ browse rotations to ensure desired regeneration of trees and ground-cover vegetation (Roy & Singh, 2008).

In Rajasthan, the Maru Gochar Yojana (Desert Pasture Lands Development Plan), launched during 2003–04 by the central government, allocated funds directly

to village panchayats to rehabilitate community lands through silvopastoral models such as 'orans' (sacred groves) and 'gauchars' (village grazing lands). The plan integrated traditional knowledge with scientific practice, demonstrating effective land management (Chaudhry et al., 2011). Similarly, the Partnership for Land Use Science (Forest-PLUS), a collaborative initiative between USAID India and the Ministry of Environment, Forest and Climate Change (MoEFCC), aims to promote sustainable forest management. It has developed and piloted simple yet effective grazing management techniques to enhance ecological resilience (USAID, 2017).

8.3 Improving Institutional Capacities

Building institutional capacities is crucial to achieve 1.5°C-consistent development pathways for India. Strengthening the capabilities of various institutions, from national-level bodies to local community-based organisations, will create a robust framework for climate change adaptation and mitigation. This section provides examples from energy, land, oceans and ecosystems, urban and infrastructure, and the crosscutting category to illustrate how enhanced capacities have enabled positive climate action.

8.3.1 Institutions for energy system transitions

Improved institutional capacities have significantly facilitated transitions in energy systems, particularly in solar energy. Two notable examples are the National Solar Mission (Case Study 3) and the Rent a Roof policy (Case Study 4).

Box 8.3: Case Study 3 - National Solar Mission

The Jawaharlal Nehru National Solar Mission (JNNSM), established by the Government of India in 2010, is one of the eight missions under the National Action Plan on Climate Change. It aims to promote solar power in India, ensuring energy security while fostering sustainable and energy-efficient growth. The mission's broad objectives include: (a) establishing 20,000 megawatt (MW) of solar power by 2022; (b) expanding the supply of grid-connected solar power to 20 gigawatt (GW) by 2022; (c) advancing off-grid solar power applications to over 2 GW; (d) increasing solar-powered home lighting systems in rural areas to 20 million; (e) expanding solar thermal collectors to 20 million sq. m by 2022; and (f) creating favourable conditions for increasing solar manufacturing and consumption capability.

Stakeholder capacity building: The solar energy sector involves various actors, including business enterprises (solar firms), policy institutions, regulatory authorities (Ministry of New and Renewable Energy), research institutions (National Institute of Solar Energy), financial institutions, industry associations (Solar Energy Society of India) and NGOs. Under JNNSM, significant research and development is undertaken through the participation of these diverse actors. The R&D programme evaluates emerging technologies and identifies policy and market conditions conducive to a thriving solar industry. Workshops and training programmes disseminate and promote knowledge on solar energy. For instance, the Ministry of New and Renewable Energy has introduced a fellowship for solar science (Akoijam & Krishnan, 2017).

The solar rooftop project, conducted in collaboration with the Solar Energy Corporation of India, involves large-scale grid-connected solar rooftops. This scheme engages the residential sector, with financial assistance provided by the Central Finance Assistance and incentives for distribution companies based on the grid capacity installed. The active participation of various actors, including policymakers, the financial industry and commercial solar producers, is crucial for the success of these schemes. Regular feedback from stakeholders can significantly enhance the effectiveness of the scheme (Shrimali & Rohra, 2012). Thus, despite significant progress under the National Solar Mission, further policies are needed to commercialise solar technology, strengthen market conditions and improve access to finance.

Box 8.4: Case Study 4 - Rent a Roof

The Rent a Roof business policy, part of the Grid Connected Solar Rooftop Programme, allows developers to lease rooftop spaces to capture solar power for feeding into the grid. Anchored by the Ministry of New and Renewable Energy, this policy is crucial for generating renewable energy, offering developers a lease amount in exchange for using rooftop spaces.

The policy extends the earlier net metering system. Previously, consumers were billed for the electricity consumed, in addition to what was generated by their rooftop panels, and they bore the responsibility for maintaining the structures. Under Rent a Roof, developers take on the installation, operation and maintenance of the panels. By providing financial incentives to homeowners while placing the responsibility of maintenance on developers, the policy aims to attract more households.

In Karnataka, the Soura Gruha Yojane by the Bangalore Electricity Supply Company (BESCOM), part of the Grid Connected Rooftop Solar Programme, aligns with the Karnataka Electricity Regulatory Commission's (KERC) 2019 order recognising third-party investments in Solar Roof Top Photovoltaic (SRTPV). Developers can now install, own and operate solar panels on rooftops on the payment of a monthly rent to households. Under this arrangement: (a) third-party investments with domestic and low-tension consumers follow net metering; (b) third-party investments with non-residential and low-tension consumers follow a gross metering system; (c) domestic consumers do not pay a cross-subsidy surcharge and can obtain energy from the third party without additional costs.

Gujarat has also successfully incentivised solar installations, resulting in 50,915 subsidised residential rooftop solar plants as of March 2020, the highest number of such installations in any state. In a new initiative, residential consumers can sell surplus power at ₹2.25 per unit after adjusting their consumption. Recognising the importance of domestic consumers in advancing solar energy, Gujarat has introduced projects where owners are entitled to either rent or a share in the developer's profits.

8.3.2 Institutions for land, oceans and ecosystems transitions

Widespread participation, flexibility and integration of stakeholders, along with prioritising community-based measures over institutional ones, are crucial for sustained adaptation. Building the capacity of institutional functionaries through training and ensuring widespread dissemination of both scientific and local/indigenous knowledge by forming and strengthening networks are essential. These efforts, coupled with flexibility, integration and equity, are integral to enhancing institutional capacities. We can see these attributes in many of the initiatives under the land, oceans and ecosystems transitions that are discussed below. Agricultural diversification is facilitated through effective institutional practices and enhanced capacity building. For example, in Himachal Pradesh, technical know-how from institutions has been transferred to rural communities through a network of regional research stations and government departments of agriculture and horticulture, accelerating crop diversification (Sharma, 2011).

Efforts to build institutional capacity have significantly advanced cropland management. For example, India has established the Kisan Sanchar Samuha, which provides weather information and farm-specific solutions to farmers via mobile phones, enhancing market connectivity (Aryal et al., 2020a). The National Initiative on Climate Resilient Agriculture (NICRA), launched by the Indian Council of Agricultural Research (ICAR) in 2011, aims to enhance the resilience of agriculture to climate change through strategic research and technology demonstration.

Several institutions provide professional training and capacity building for forest management. The Indira Gandhi National Forest Academy and the Directorate of Forest Education organise training for Indian Forest Service (IFS)officers, state forest service officers and forest range officers (Krishnan et al., 2012). Other institutions like the Wildlife Institute of India, Indian Plywood Industries Research and Training Institute, and Indian Institute of Forest Management conduct training and research to equip personnel with requisite skills.

Efforts in building institutional capacity for ICZM have led to the setting up of the National Centre for Sustainable Coastal Management (NCSCM), which promotes sustainable management of coastal and marine areas and advises on policy and scientific matters (NCSCM, 2020). Apart from this, the various coastal zone management authorities regulate and enforce matters concerning the Coastal Regulation Zone (CRZ) Notification of 2011, improving integration across government levels, sectors, and public and private interests (Portman et al., 2012). State governments and NGOs have also made institutional arrangements to support mangrove-dependent communities.

Sustainable aquaculture is enabled through effective institutions and partnerships. Government and nongovernment organisations actively conduct trainings and promote certain species (Apine et al., 2019). The ICAR Central Marine Fisheries Research Institute initiated mariculture activities in the 1980s, leading to small-scale commercial practices by the 1990s (National Fisheries Development Board, 2018).

8.3.3 Institutions for urban and infrastructure system transitions

Building institutional capacity for urban and infrastructure system transitions is especially important, given the multiplicity of actors, institutions and mandates in urban areas. Decentralising climate action from national and state to city level require robust institutional frameworks and setups. City level climate action plans are decentralised, contextual and strategic frameworks that could provide guidance for climate action for cities. The Mumbai Climate Action Plan (MCAP) prepared by the Brihanmumbai Municipal Corporation in 2022 serves as a good example. The MCAP, framed as a policy document, provides strategic guidance for sector-specific mitigation and adaptation apart from identifying the climate risks and vulnerabilities that the city faces. The MCAP has also institutionalised the setting up of a 'Climate Cell' that coordinates the implementation and monitoring of all climate change related activities in the city, ensuring interdepartmental coordination for climate action.

Case Study 5, through the example of heat action planning, provides a notable example of how multiple enabling conditions-institutional capacity building, technological innovation, and increasing policy recognition of changing climate risks-can shape proactive risk management. The Ahmedabad Heat Action Plan (HAP) has set a precedent for other cities in managing extreme heat. Key lessons from this plan include recognising heatwaves as significant and increasing health risks, mapping high-risk communities, establishing public cooling centres, and issuing heatwave alerts through various media channels (Guleria, 2018). In 2020, the central government collaborated with 23 states and over 100 cities and districts to develop and implement HAPs across India (Natural Resources Defense Council [NRDC], 2020). This widespread initiative marks a significant step towards a coordinated national response to extreme heat.

At the state level, the Odisha State Disaster Management Authority has developed a HAP with critical components such as early warning systems, public outreach through online and telephone services, medical upgrades, and administrative measures like issuing notices for early school hours during extreme heat conditions (Guleria, 2018). Similarly, Andhra Pradesh has emphasised dissemination of information about heatwave risks. An awareness campaign advises citizens to avoid peak heat times (11 a.m. to 5 p.m.) and urges extra precautions for pregnant women. Several districts also undertake the distribution of oral rehydration solution (ORS) and provision of drinking water in public places (NRDC, 2020). Telangana's Heatwave Action Plan includes adaptation strategies similar to those of the Ahmedabad Municipal Corporation. Additionally, it incorporates mitigation

Box 8.5: Case Study 5: Heat action planning in Ahmedabad

Heatwaves, qualified as maximum temperatures of at least 40°C in the plains and at least 30 °C in hilly areas, are common across India and account for approximately 20 per cent of deaths resulting from extreme weather events (Mahapatra et al., 2018). Due to global warming, extreme heat events are expected to become more frequent and severe (Jacobs et al., 2019). India's average temperature has risen by ~0.7°C from 1901 to 2018 and is projected to increase by ~4.4°C by 2100 (Krishnan & Patnaik, 2020).

Adapting to increasing heat exposure is critical for risk reduction. Heat Action Plans (HAPs) are comprehensive strategies that include early warning systems and preparedness plans (Natural Resources Defense Council [NRDC], 2019). Ahmedabad's experience in May 2010, when temperatures reached 47°C and resulted in 1,344 deaths, underscored the need for such plans (NRDC, 2019). Consequently, Ahmedabad developed a HAP to mitigate extreme heat exposure.

Policy instruments: At the national level, the National Disaster Management Authority (NDMA) supports local heat action plans through the NDMA Heat Guidelines 2019 (NRDC, 2019). Additionally, the Indian Meteorological Department issues five-day heatwave warnings, updated four times a day, through the All India Weather Forecast Bulletin.

Enhancing institutional capacity: The Ahmedabad HAP strengthened institutional capacity by converging various government departments, building partnerships and recommending the appointment of a central authority within the AMC to coordinate across departments, including disaster management, health, transport, and civil society (AMC, 2016).

Implementation and impact : Ahemdabad HAP was piloted in 2013 and launched in 2014 through a partnership between the Ahmedabad Municipal Corporation (AMC), the Public Health Foundation of India, and international organizations (Hess et al., 2018). It has since become a model for 30 cities in India, focusing on protecting vulnerable populations from extreme heat (Jacobs, 2019). The plan includes public outreach on health risks, improved coordination between government agencies, and an early warning system to forecast heat events with longer lead times, enabling better preparedness (Knowlton et al., 2014). Evidence from Ahmedabad shows a reduction in mortality during heatwaves in the first two years after the HAP's implementation.

Technological innovation: Ahmedabad's Heat Action Plan (HAP) addresses the built environment by mapping high-risk areas, increasing access to cooling spaces, and launching a citywide 'cool roof' program aimed at reducing indoor temperatures by 2–5°C, particularly in informal settlements (AMC, 2016). The city planned to install 15,000 cool roofs in 2020, including on government buildings and low-income housing. Local NGOs, such as the Mahila Housing SEWA Trust, also contribute to the installation efforts. The Indian Cooling Action Plan 2019, which emphasizes cool roofs as a key strategy, aligns with these local initiatives to reduce air conditioning demand nationwide. strategies such as maintaining waterbodies in forest areas for wildlife and promoting afforestation and plantation efforts. These efforts underscore the importance of both adaptation and mitigation in combating the effects of extreme heat.

At the central level, the National Disaster Management Authority (NDMA) is leading efforts by supporting state and local HAPs through the recently updated NDMA Heat Guidelines (2019). These guidelines provide a comprehensive roadmap for states and cities to develop effective HAPs.

Another example of institutional capacity building in urban and infrastructure systems, particularly in sustainable land use and urban planning, is the Asian Cities Climate Change Resilience Network (ACCCRN) project in Surat. This project leverages existing networks of private actors to delegate responsibilities for creating and implementing local adaptation and development strategies. To strengthen stakeholder engagement, a City Advisory Committee was established, facilitating planning for socio-economic development and addressing the city's major climate challenges. Regular interdepartmental meetings and community awareness programmes were conducted to support these efforts (TARU, 2011).

8.3.4 Role of institutions in cross-cutting adaptation options

This section discusses some successful examples of how improved institutional capacities have enabled better implementation of adaptation interventions in public health, climate services and information and communication technologies (ICT).

Enhanced institutional capacity and networks have enabled the implementation of ICT programmes for disaster risk management in India. The India Disaster Resource Network is a nationwide electronic inventory of essential as well as specialist resources for disaster response, covering specialist equipment, labour resources and critical supplies.

Installing new weather stations is a straightforward investment to support data collection for index insurance scale-up and risk spreading and sharing. This is being effectively pursued in India through robust institutions. Insurance has stimulated new markets for weather data and in some cases private companies are stepping in to fill the void. In India, for example, there is active effort from the private sector to build new weather stations and sell the data to insurance providers.

Public health initiatives have also undertaken efforts to build institutional capacity and expand networks for sharing relevant knowledge. NDMA has published several standards on specific hazards. The Disaster Management Act, 2005 requires state governments to formulate State Disaster Management Plans, detailing how to prepare for, mitigate, respond to and recover from disasters.

Additionally, the NDMA has laid out guidelines for hospital safety. The India Disaster Resource Network is also helpful in building networks to share relevant knowledge and limit risks. To detect and monitor disease outbreaks systematically, the Ministry of Health and Family Welfare, with the support of the World Bank, established the Integrated Disease Surveillance Programme (IDSP) in 2004. IDSP monitors trends in the occurrence of communicable and non-communicable diseases across the country. Its plan includes integrating existing surveillance systems, strengthening public health laboratories, and training and deploying rapid response teams for timely action during potential epidemic situations. For trauma care, a national programme on Capacity Building for Developing Trauma Care Facilities in Government Hospitals on National Highways was started, with training provided by the All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS; Krishnan & Patnaik, 2018).

8.4 Strengthening Policy Instruments

There is mounting evidence that the policy framework on climate change interacts across governance levels and is influenced by various drivers at these levels. India actively engages in climate diplomacy, where international policies are more likely to gain acceptance if they align with domestic policies. Similarly, states are inclined to adopt national recommendations when these are tailored to address local issues (Atteridge et al., 2012). This section outlines the programmes and initiatives implemented as a result of conducive policy instruments, and measures for climate change adaptation and mitigation across the systems of energy, land, oceans and ecosystems, urban and infrastructure, and the cross-cutting category.

Box 8.6: Case Study 6: Perform, Achieve and Trade scheme

Policy framework: Over the years, energy efficiency policies have evolved from taking a regulatory approach to incorporating market-based measures. The Perform, Achieve and Trade (PAT) scheme is an example of a market-driven cap-and-trade policy instrument (Misra, 2019; Sarangi & Taghizadeh-Hesary, 2020). The scheme currently covers several sectors, including aluminium, cement, chlor-alkali, fertiliser, iron and steel, pulp and paper, textiles, thermal power plants, railways, refineries, distribution companies (DISCOM) and petrochemicals.

In its first cycle (2012–2015), the PAT scheme covered eight energy-intensive industries and achieved energy savings of 8.7 Mtoe, surpassing the target of 6.7 Mtoe, and avoiding 31 metric tons of carbon dioxide equivalent ($MtCO_2$) emissions (Bureau of Energy Efficiency [BEE], 2023a). In the second cycle (2016–2019), the scheme expanded to 11 sectors, including refineries, railways and DISCOMs, resulting in energy savings of 14.1 Mtoe and avoiding 68 MtCO₂ emissions (BEE, 2023a). The third cycle achieved energy savings of approximately 1.8 Mtoe. From PAT Cycle III onwards, the roll-out has been happening annually, with new designated consumers and new sectors being added in some cycles. Seven cycles have been announced so far, with estimated savings of about 26 Mtoe, which can help avoid 70 million tonnes of CO_2 emissions. The duration of each cycle is three years, with no interim targets (Chunekar & Apte, 2023).

Strengthening policy interventions: The institutional and regulatory structure of PAT is administrated by BEE, the Central Electricity Regulatory Commission (CERC) and Power System Operation Corporation (PSOC), with India Energy Exchange (IEX) and Power Exchange India Limited (PXIL) being responsible for the power exchanges (Ministry of Power, 2017). Based on energy consumption in the pilot years, energy caps are arrived at for each designated consumer (DC)/firm. If the DC limits its energy consumption to the prescribed norms, it is issued an energy savings certificate (ESCert), which can be traded at the end of a cycle (Sarangi & Taghizadeh-hesary, 2020). If a DC exceeds its target, it is penalised by the BEE. The cement and fertiliser sectors have made significant energy savings by adhering to PAT guidelines, but the policy has not been as effective in improving energy intensity in the iron and steel and pulp and paper industries (Misra 2019; Oak & Bansal 2017; 2019).

Technological innovation: By incentivising reductions in energy consumption, BEE encourages DCs to develop innovative mechanisms and efficient technologies to reduce energy intensity. Best practices have been employed across all major sectors, resulting in energy savings. For instance, technology upgrades were observed in all sectors during the first cycle. Even the thermal power plant sector, which narrowly missed its target, adopted efficient technologies such as LED lamps, variable frequency drives, washed coal, vapour absorption machines and dynamic coal balancing (Ministry of Power, 2017).

In the aluminium sector, operational practices such as switching off cooling fans when not in use, interconnecting pumps, modifying compressed air systems, and stopping driers in the service air system were implemented. In the fertiliser sector, revamp and retrofit measures were adopted, especially in ammonia production. These measures include adopting radial-axial flow converters and vapour absorption refrigeration, replacing urea strippers with bi-metallic strippers, suction cooling of carbon dioxide compressors, replacing rotating machines and turbines, using efficient catalysts, and better heat integration methods (Ministry of Power, 2017).

8.4.1 Policy instruments for energy system transitions

Under the energy and industrial systems transitions, a key policy instrument is the Perform, Achieve and Trade (PAT) scheme, launched by the Bureau of Energy Efficiency (BEE) in 2012. The PAT scheme operates under the National Mission for Enhanced Energy Efficiency (NMEEE) and incentivises energy efficiency by setting sectoral targets for industries. NMEEE is one of the eight national missions under the National Action Plan on Climate Change (NAPCC).

Under the PAT Scheme, designated consumers (DCs), which are energy-intensive entities that consume less energy than the prescribed norms, can avail themselves of Energy Saving Certificates (ESCerts). These certificates can be traded on the Indian Energy Exchange and Power Exchange India. DCs that exceed their consumption targets can purchase these ESCerts to meet their energysaving obligations (Bhandari & Shrimali, 2017).

8.4.2 Policy instruments for land, oceans and ecosystems transitions

Several state governments in India have undertaken policies for climate change adaptation to strengthen conservation agriculture initiatives. For example, the Haryana state government provides subsidies for the purchase of Turbo Happy Seeder machines, which are essential for conservation agriculture with straw management. The economic benefits of this subsidy outweigh the costs (Aryal et al., 2016). Institutionalising conservation agriculture production systems within government ministries, departments and regional institutions is crucial for the sustainability of these technologies.

Efforts to strengthen policy instruments are visible in various initiatives aimed at improved cropland management. NAPCC, with its eight missions—especially the National Mission for Sustainable Agriculture (NMSA) plays a critical role. Other major domestic strategies include the National Agroforestry Policy and NICRA (Amjath-Babu et al., 2019). India also has a well-developed disaster management authority (NDMA) and several resilience-building programmes, such as crop insurance schemes (Food and Agriculture Organization [FAO], 2017). Several initiatives by the Government of India, through the respective missions, address the need for sustainable and 'climate-smart' agriculture. For instance, the NMSA seeks to transform Indian agriculture into a climateresilient production system through suitable adaptation and mitigation measures in crops and animal husbandry.

The Paramparagat Krishi Vikas Pariyojana (Traditional Agriculture Development Programme) promotes organic farming, eco-friendly cultivation practices that reduce dependency on agro-chemicals and fertilisers, and efficient utilisation of local natural resources. Recent policy pronouncements, such as the Pradhan Mantri Krishi Sinchai Yojana (PMKSY), emphasise the need for greater investment in irrigation. PMKSY focuses on expanding and improving the effectiveness of water use in irrigation. It includes four major sub-programmes: Accelerated Irrigation Benefits Programme; Har Khet Ko Pani; Per Drop More Crop; and Watershed Development (FAO, 2018). A significant example of a policy initiative that has driven successful adaptation is the uptake of drip and sprinkler irrigation under PMKSY and other relevant state policies, which are discussed in Case Study 7 below.

Inintegrated soil management, the Government of India has initiated two major schemes: the Soil Health Management (SHM) scheme and the Soil Health Card scheme. SHM, a key intervention under the NMSA, promotes sustainable soil health management, links soil fertility maps with macro- and micro-nutrient management, and encourages judicious fertiliser application and organic farming practices (Agricoop, 2017; DAC, 2020).

The agroforestry sector has also made use of effective policy instruments. The implementation of the National Agroforestry Policy 2014 recognises the tree-crop interface as an important option to support climatesmart agriculture and scale up carbon benefits with appropriate technological and market support (Sharma et al., 2015). The National Mission for a Green India (GIM) under the NAPCC aims to bring 1.5 million hectare (ha) of degraded agricultural lands and fallows under agroforestry (Murthy, 2013).

Strengthening of policy instruments is also evident in biodiversity management and conservation initiatives. The Government of India launched GIM (see Case Study 9) by

Box 8.7: Case Study 7: Improving irrigation efficiency through drip and sprinkler methods

Improving irrigation efficiency is a key adaptation strategy in the agriculture sector to buffer against rainfall changes, reduce irrigation leakages, address the growing water demand and adapt to climate change. This focus is evident in both national and state policies across India, emphasising integrated watershed management, changing irrigation practices (e.g., drip and sprinkler irrigation), and water harvesting and storage techniques.

Policy instruments: The central government has a Centrally Sponsored Scheme on micro-irrigation to improve efficiency and encourage the use of water-conserving technologies such as drips and sprinklers. The Prime Minister Krishi Sinchayee Yojana (PMKSY), launched in 2015, subsumed ongoing schemes like Micro Irrigation (More Crop Per Drop) and the Accelerated Irrigation Benefits Programme (AIBP). Drip irrigation is a highly effective option to achieve 'more crop per drop' (Narayanamoorthy et al., 2018; PMKSY, 2019). Various state initiatives have also supported this focus, such as:

- 1. Gujarat Green Revolution Company Ltd. (GGRC): Incorporated in 2005, GGRC acts as a special purpose vehicle (SPV) and a 'single window clearance' for micro-irrigation schemes in the state, offering a 60–85 per cent subsidy without enforcing limits on the scale of adoption.
- Andhra Pradesh Micro Irrigation Project (APMIP): Launched in November 2003, APMIP acts as the nodal agency for all micro-irrigation subsidy programmes in the state, offering subsidy of 50 per cent or ₹2 lakh per family for medium and large farmers, whichever is less.
- 3. Karnataka implements micro-irrigation programmes through several line departments, with the horticulture (drip irrigation among horticulture farmers) and agriculture (sprinkler irrigation systems for row crops) departments being the main implementers. The state offers an 80 per cent subsidy on drip irrigation for 'general category' beneficiaries and a 90 per cent subsidy for Scheduled Caste (SC) and Scheduled Tribe (ST) beneficiaries.

Technological innovation: Examples of low-cost technological innovations that have improved access to micro-irrigation technologies include: (a) Madhya Pradesh, where Pepsi allowed poor farmers to experiment with drip irrigation without significant capital investments, using laterals made out of low-grade plastic straw. This approach encouraged several farmers to eventually adopt conventional drip irrigation systems. (b) Karnataka, where a wide range of low-cost micro-irrigation technologies (e.g., tape drips, Chennai drips and Euro drips), both in quality and price, are found in and around Kolar town, allowing farmers to experiment with low-cost forms of technology before eventually adopting conventional systems based on positive experiences.

Scalability and regional differentiation: In states like Maharashtra and Tamil Nadu, most micro-irrigation adopters are large farmers due to the high initial investment required for drip and sprinkler irrigation (Kumar & Palanisami, 2010; Palanisami & Raman, 2012). However, with ambitious Centrally Sponsored Schemes, states such as Andhra Pradesh, Karnataka, Odisha and Punjab have seen a majority of micro-irrigation adopters among small farmers (Palanisami & Raman, 2012). Among various states, the implementation of micro-irrigation promotion and subsidy schemes has been most successful in Andhra Pradesh and Gujarat, largely due to the creation of SPVs for micro-irrigation, such as APMIP and GGMC (Palanisami & Raman, 2012).

improving forest cover and quality (MoEFCC, 2016). Key policy, legal and regulatory provisions include the National Environment Policy 2006 and Joint Forest Management Policy 1993, which support the implementation of the Ecosystem Services Improvement Project.

ICZM instruments, such as the CRZ Notification of 1991, developed by the MoEFCC, aim to protect and improve the quality of the coastal environment (Sonak et al., 2008). The notification includes provisions to enhance transparency and stakeholder participation. District-level committees with local representatives assist ICZM authorities in implementing the coastal law, and public hearings during the preparation of ICZM projects enhance stakeholder participation in the ICZM regime (Puthucherril, 2011). The re-engineered CRZ Notification also ensures livelihood security for fishing and other local communities, encourages conservation of coastal stretches, and promotes development based on scientific principles. Meanwhile, the Island Protection Zone Notification is being implemented for the Andaman and Nicobar Islands and Lakshadweep.

Box 8.8: Case Study 8: Building codes and standards in Indian towns

The Model Building Bye-Laws (MBBL) 2016, issued by the Ministry of Housing and Urban Affairs (MoHUA), is a robust policy framework that integrates various elements of green buildings. These include provisions for rainwater harvesting, sustainability, water conservation and management, solar energy utilisation, energy efficiency (via passive solar building design), and organic waste management. This framework serves as a template for states and union territories to tailor their own by-laws according to local needs (Singh & Raghubanshi, 2020).

In Mumbai, the building by-laws mandate allocation of space for wastewater treatment and recycling plants in layouts exceeding plot size of 4,000 sq. m for single residential layouts, 2,000 sq. m for group housing, and 1,500 sq. m for other uses. The Brihanmumbai Municipal Corporation (BMC) further incentivises compliance by offering fiscal benefits in property tax, ranging from 5–15 per cent, to tenements and societies that manage their waste effectively (Government of Maharashtra, 2015). Such regulations and incentives play a crucial role in the reducing daily waste collection and water demand, thereby enhancing resilience to various climate pressures (Chappelle et al., 2019).

The implementation of green building certification in India, initiated with the establishment of the Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) India chapter in 2001, has expanded significantly through bodies like Green Rating for Integrated Habitat Assessment (GRIHA) and Indian Green Building Council (IGBC) across different states and districts. This expansion has built local capacity to enhance climate resilience in built infrastructure. For instance, Shimla has successfully incorporated regulations on solar passive design and energy conservation in public, government and semi-government buildings, making it a pioneer among Indian hill towns (Kumar & Pushplata, 2015).

However, scalability barriers persist. While MBBL 2004 provided a blueprint for states and union territories to adapt their building by-laws, some regions like Andaman and Nicobar Islands, Punjab, Sikkim, and Tamil Nadu are yet to amend their regulations, and Tripura lacks any building by-laws altogether (Singh & Raghubanshi, 2020). Moreover, building regulations borrowed from the National Building Code (NBC) and the Delhi master plans, which do not suit the unique geographical and socio-economic contexts of Indian hill towns, continue to pose challenges (Kumar, 2016).

8.4.3 Policy instruments for urban and infrastructure systems transitions

Under urban and infrastructure systems, a range of policy instruments covering multiple sectors, including but not limited to urban planning, transport, buildings, urban water and water management, can enable a sustainable, climateresilient transition in the system. Planning and policy instruments such as master plans, city development plans and, more recently, city-level climate action plans and heat action plans are laying the roadmap for the convergence of development and climate action. In the building sector, building codes and standards exemplify improved policy instruments for enhanced risk management (Case Study 8). In the transport sector, the National Urban Transport Policy (NUTP) 2006 and the subsequent National Urban Transport Mission 2014, issued by Ministry of Urban Development, focus on comprehensive improvements in urban transport services and infrastructure, prioritising moving people instead of vehicles.

Box 8.9: Case Study 9: Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act

The Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act (MGNREGA), 2005 is a national law, establishing the legitimate and justiciable 'right to work' for all rural households (Khera & Nayak, 2009). Funded primarily by the union government and implemented nationwide, it guarantees 100 days of unskilled manual labour to all adult members willing to work in a household (Joyita, 2013). A recent draft has proposed an additional 50 days of wage employment specifically for drought-affected or calamity-prone areas (Ministry of Rural Development [MoRD], 2019), reflecting a shift towards investing in climate-proofing villages (Adam, 2015; Fischer, 2020; Verma & Shah, 2012).

Key policy instruments with legal mandates: MGNREGA stands out for its rights-based framework, ensuring legal entitlements to wage employment (Gandhi et al., 2010). Supported by comprehensive guidelines from the Ministry of Rural Development, it mandates allowances and compensation in case of failure to provide work on demand or delays in wage payments (MoRD, 2019). To enhance accountability, the act incorporates provisions for social auditing, monitoring and grievance redressal (Raabe et al., 2010), emphasising transparency to combat corruption and ensure quality in rural works.

Institutional capacities: Implementation of MGNREGA involves central, state and local government institutions across India, including zilla panchayats at the district level, taluk panchayats at the block level and gram panchayats at the village level (Raabe et al., 2010). The scheme promotes decentralisation by empowering Panchayati Raj Institutions to plan and execute climate-resilient development projects (Joyita, 2013).

Financial structure: MGNREGA's funding is shared between the central and state governments. The expenditure covers wages for unskilled, semi-skilled and skilled labour, materials, and administrative costs (Babu, 2014). The central government disburses funds directly to districts through the National Employment Guarantee Fund, covering 75 per cent of the material and wage expenses for semi-skilled and skilled workers. The central government fully funds the wages of unskilled workers, while the state government finances the remaining 25 per cent of expenses, along with unemployment allowance payments and administrative costs of the State

8.4.4 Policy instruments for cross-cutting transitions

One of the cross-cutting options that has been enabled by strong policy instruments is the Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act (MGNREGA), 2005. MNREGA is a development policy with strong adaptation and mitigation synergies (Case Study 9).

8.5 Climate Finance

Climate finance is a pivotal enabling condition in achieving CRD in India. To meet the 1.5°C target and transition to a low-carbon economy, India needs to invest 7–18 per cent of its GDP (McCollum et al., 2018; Srinivasan et al., 2023). For a detailed analysis of climate finance trends and priorities, refer to our report *Climate Finance in India* (2023), which this section is largely drawn from.

To meet its Nationally Determined Contribution (NDC) targets, India requires approximately US\$ 167 billion annually from 2016 to 2030, which is about 8 per cent of its GDP_{2015} . Achieving the 2°C goal will necessitate annual energy investments of 4–16 per cent of India's GDP_{2019} , while the 1.5°C target will require 7–18 per cent over the period 2016–2050 (McCollum et al., 2018).

In 2019 and 2020, India's climate finance flows were about US\$ 44 billion per year. However, this amount is insufficient to meet the 1.5°C target (Climate Policy Initiative [CPI], 2022; Srinivasan et al., 2023). Of the green finance tracked in these years, approximately 87 per cent was raised from domestic commercial finance and 83 per cent from public budget allocations. However, nearly 90 per cent of the available finance is directed towards mitigation efforts, with only about 10 per cent for adaptation.

Private climate finance is limited, mainly consisting of loans, private equity, venture capital and green bonds (Prasad & Sud, 2019; Singh, 2017). International funding from multilateral development banks (MDBs) and bilateral institutions are modest and mainly in the form of concessional loans. For example, MDB climate finance to India rose from US\$ 1.9 billion in 2015 to US\$ 3.7 billion in 2022 (European Investment Bank, 2023). Adaptation funding is largely drawn from public budgets. According to India's Third National Communication to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), adaptation expenditure was about 5.6 per cent of GDP (₹13.35 trillion) in 2021–2022, up from 3.7 per cent in 2015 (Government of India, 2023). The business-asusual scenario estimates a need for ₹57 trillion by 2030, which could increase to ₹72 trillion when factoring in climate-induced damages.

While government investments in adaptive capacity for vulnerable sectors like urban areas, agriculture and water have increased, they do not fully meet adaptation needs. Public and budgetary finance for climate action is through allocations to the MoEFCC. State governments can also seek additional resources to implement their state climate action plans through the national missions under NAPCC as well as channels set up under the Climate Change Finance Unit by the central government such as the National Clean Energy and Environment Fund, the National Adaptation Fund, Compensatory Afforestation Fund Management and Planning Authority (CAMPA) and the National Disaster Response Fund (Singh, 2017).

Other resources include allocations by the Finance Commission, funds from bilateral and multilateral agencies, carbon offsetting and trading schemes (domestic and international), and green bonds (Arif, 2024; MOEF, 2023). Mitigation efforts have been supported by a strong focus on renewable energy, facilitated by budgetary increases for the Ministry of New and Renewable Energy and various market mechanisms. Regulatory frameworks like the PAT scheme and Feed-in-Tariffs have improved energy efficiency and supported investments in low-carbon generation (Srinivasan et al., 2023).

However, to ensure a just energy transition and sustainable infrastructure, greater private investment is essential. While renewable energy policies have attracted some private funding, more emphasis is needed on demandside initiatives like green buildings and energy efficiency (Srinivasan et al., 2023). Public co-investment strategies, including loan guarantees and concessional grants, can help mitigate risks for private investors.

Building effective partnerships across India's financial system, including ministries, banks and development institutions, is crucial for a successful transition. Multilateral and regional development banks can strengthen financial commitments and boost private investment confidence. Additionally, aligning private investments with adaptation programmes will require government incentives and policy support.

Ultimately, India must shift investments from carbon-intensive sectors toward low-carbon and resilient development, prioritising energy transitions and sustainable land use to address gaps in infrastructure and ecosystem services.

8.5.1 Financing land, oceans and ecosystems transitions

Climate finance in India is typically channelled through ongoing initiatives. One notable example of financing land, oceans and ecosystems transitions through national legislature and policy is the role of CAMPA and GIM (Case Study 10). In addition, in 2014, the 14th Finance Commission added forest cover to the devolution formula that determines the amount of tax revenue distributed annually by the central government to each of the 29 states. Indian states now have a sizeable new fiscal incentive to protect and restore forests. India's tax revenue distribution reform created the world's first ecological fiscal transfers (EFTs) for forest cover and serves as a potential model for other countries (Busch & Mukherjee, 2017). The 15th Finance Commission also included forest cover in its devolution formula, assigning it a weight of 7.5 per cent to compensate states for the opportunity costs of forest protection and conservation.

Box 8.10: Case Study 10 - Compensatory Afforestation Fund Management and Planning Authority (CAMPA) and National Mission for Green India (GIM)

India's Nationally Determined Contribution (NDC) has targeted the creation of additional carbon sinks of 2.5–3 billion tonnes of CO_2 emissions by 2030 (Ministry of Environment, Forest and Climate Change of India [MoEFCC], 2023). This goal highlights afforestation as a key mitigation strategy, aligning with the long-term plan to bring 33 per cent of the country's area under forest cover. As part of the Bonn Challenge, India aims to restore 26 million ha of land by 2030 using critical policy and financial instruments like the Compensatory Afforestation Fund Management and Planning Authority (CAMPA) and National Mission for Green India (GIM; MoEFCC, 2021).

Compensatory afforestation serves as a financial lever to incentivise state governments to accelerate afforestation activities. CAMPA, established in 2016, has legislative and financial backing of ₹20,000 crore to support state governments in conserving, protecting and expanding forest resources. While 90 per cent of these funds are allocated to the states, 10 per cent is retained at the national level for monitoring and evaluation. However, as of 2017, only 26 per cent of the state funds had been disbursed, indicating significant underutilisation (Singh, 2017). Additionally, under the CAMPA Act, 2016, ₹60,070 crore has been allocated to the National Compensatory Afforestation Fund (NCAF). Out of this, ₹48,477 crore had been transferred to 31 states by the end of 2020 (MoEFCC, 2021).

GIM, with a budgetary allocation of ₹46,000 crores, is a national scheme under the National Action Plan for Climate Change (NAPCC). It aims to reduce forest degradation, restore carbon stocks in 10 million ha and strengthen institutional capacity. The mission focuses on increasing forest and green cover while enhancing the quality of existing forests (MoEFCC, 2018). By emphasising multiple ecosystem services, GIM seeks to leverage the co-benefits of greening as a carbon sequestration and emission reduction strategy. Additionally, a key objective of the mission is to increase forest-based livelihood income for households living in and around forests (MoEFCC, 2021). Bringing India's total degraded land under restoration will cover about 28 per cent of globally degraded land area (-350 million hectares). This can potentially help the country receive more international funds to invest in biodiversity and ecosystem restoration. With this available expenditure, considering ecosystem restoration and biodiversity conservation at the centre of all policies, various restoration outcomes can support socio-economic and ecological sustainability (Singh et al., 2021b).

Several national policies with significant financial allocations support adaptation in land, oceans and ecosystems transitions. Notable national interventions include the Pradhan Mantri Fasal Bima Yojana (PMFBY), which has an allocation of ₹9,000 crore to enhance agricultural resilience to extreme events and climate change (FAO, 2018). Additionally, state schemes like Gujarat's Suryashakti Kisan Yojana (SKY) aim to boost solar power usage in agriculture. Launched in 2018, SKY's first phase involved an investment of ₹870 crore, aiming to build about 137 feeders and install solar photovoltaics with a capacity of 175 MW (Singh et al., 2019d). The central government also finances sustainable intensification of agriculture by increasing investments in efficient irrigation.

8.5.2 Financing urban and infrastructure systems transitions

Financing climate-resilient, sustainable urbanisation in India that is 1.5°C-compliant is a significant challenge. Currently, there are no comparative estimates of urban climate finance in India, though there are specific examples from different sectors. Urban climate action is seeing more funding in mitigation with a focus on sectors such as energy-efficient buildings, public and private electric transport, and urban greening (to a lesser extent), as discussed below.

 Earmarking funds for climate action: In Hyderabad, 10 per cent of the municipal budget is designated as a 'green budget' to support the city's greening initiatives (Singh et al., 2021a). Similarly, the Brihanmumbai Municipal Corporation (BMC) had allocated 32 per cent of its total capital expenditure budget for climate-relevant activities for FY 2024–25, alongside an additional ₹2,163 crore to implement components of the Mumbai Climate Action Plan (BMC) Climate Budget Report: FY 2024–25). The Greater Cochin Development Authority's budget for FY 2024– 25 aims to achieve carbon neutrality while promoting sustainable urban development. This includes investments in renewable energy infrastructure, compact urban design, enhanced public transport networks, energy-efficient building practices, and the conservation of green spaces and biodiversity (The New Indian Express, 2024).

.

- Financing green buildings: Several green building technologies are commercially available and most of them provide positive financial returns within a relatively short span of time (Maharashtra Energy Development Agency [MEDA] & Shakti Foundation, 2017). The scaling up of green buildings can be achieved by considering specific climatic zones, utilising local energy-efficient materials, and implementing various available energy-efficient technologies (Kumar et al., 2018; Shakti Foundation, 2018). Notably, 'green buildings' is one of the sectors identified by the Reserve Bank of India (RBI) for allocating proceeds from green deposits for regulated entities (RBI, 2023). Additionally, the Pradhan Mantri Awas Yojana (Housing for All [Urban] Mission) includes a sub-mission on technology that integrates green technologies and building materials into its framework along with the facilitation for preparation and adoption of geo-climatically suitable house layouts and designs. Under the latest version of the PMAY- U 2.0, innovative, sustainable, green and climate responsive special or demonstration projects are eligible for an additional Technology Innovations Grant (financial grant) in addition to the existing fund under PMAY-U 2.0. The Pradhan Mantri Awas Yojana - Gramin (PMAY - G) scheme in rural areas also provide guidance for the construction of green houses within the scheme, with an aim to promote green and sustainable housing in rural areas. The scheme grants the states and UTs to come up with their own incentive structures to promote the adoption of green technologies and construction materials.
- **Promoting electric vehicles in India**: The central government, through the Faster Adoption and Manufacturing of Hybrid and Electric Vehicles (FAME) scheme, promotes the use of electric vehicles (EVs). In its

first phase (2015–2019), FAME incentivised 2.8 lakh EVs by providing subsidies worth ₹343 crore and sanctioned 465 e-buses to various states. In the second phase (2019–2024), with a budgetary allocation of ₹10,000 crore, the scheme focused on creating charging infrastructure and encouraging EV adoption through incentives.

Multiple states in India have also implemented policies to encourage the adoption of EVs through financial incentives

for consumers (Shekhar et al., 2019). For instance, Andhra Pradesh has introduced a five-year plan that reimburses road taxes and registration charges for EV owners until 2024. Additionally, producers will benefit from the reimbursement of the goods and services tax (GST). The state government aims to convert all public transport buses to EVs by 2029 and is working to develop Amaravati and Tirupati as 'electric mobility cities', with further plans to promote EVs in Vijayawada and Visakhapatnam (Shekhar et al., 2019).

Table 8.2: Key enablers and barriers to urban climate finance in Indian cities

Fir	nance Enablers	Finance Barriers				
•	Government schemes such as AMRUT can be leveraged for climate-oriented actions, supporting integrated master plans, public transportation focused on non- motorised mobility, sustainable water management, and green spaces (Padigala, 2014; Sami, 2016).	 Funding from state or central governments often lacks mandatory measures that promote climate co-benefits (Sethi et al., 2018). Urban financing is predominately led by the central government, leaving city municipalities under-resourced for implementing development and climate-resilient initiatives (Khosla & Bhardwaj, 2019). 				
•	Revenue sources such as taxes and user charges can be allocated for adaptation expenditure, including maintenance of infrastructure and incremental actions (Cook & Chu 2018).	• Deficits in intergovernmental adaptation resources force cities to depend on private actors for strategy and project financing to safeguard against climate change damages (Anguelovski et al., 2016).				
•	Multiple funding channels can help overcome barriers. For example, Surat transitioned from relying on external adaptation finance to utilising local funds, mainstreaming adaptation actions into urban development (Cook & Chu 2018).	 Donor-driven urban climate action may prioritise global priorities over local needs (Khosla et al., 2017). Financial instruments like municipal bonds tend to favour projects that generate an increase in cash flow (e.g., through user charges), often excluding adaptation investments such as storm water drains or emergency shelters for the urban poor (Cook & Chu 2018). 				
•	Tamil Nadu's pooled water infrastructure funds were established through bonds from which 14 municipalities have effectively financed small water infrastructure projects (Hogue, 2012).	 Cities have limited autonomy to modify existing tax structures (Cook & Chu 2018), reducing their ability to adapt and diversify revenue sources. Fragmentation of authority and decision-making further constrains effective action (Sami, 2016). High capital costs for green buildings deter investments in 				
		such sustainable projects (Abraham & Gundimeda, 2017)				
While cities do not have clearly demarcated funding for adaptation, there are growing examples of internationally, public and privately funded projectbased interventions that invest in actions, such as in flood risk mitigation and urban greening, that can have adaptation co-benefits (Singh et al., 2021a). Yet, while finance can enable urban adaptation, significant barriers remain (Table 8.2).

8.6 Enabling Technological Innovation

Technological innovation is a key enabler to achieve 1.5°C-consistent climate action. Alongside dedicated financing and human capacity building, technological innovation in emerging sectors such as biotechnology, artificial intelligence and Internet of Things (IoT) can facilitate multiple adaptation and mitigation strategies. These innovations can drive effective interventions like smart water and electricity metering, fuel-efficient vehicles, precision farming and climatesmart agriculture.

8.6.1 Land and coastal ecosystems

Technological innovation in agriculture is transforming risk management and improving irrigation efficiency, soil health and crop yields. Key practices include laser land levelling (Aryal et al., 2015b; Jat et al., 2014a), permanent raised bed planting (Sidhu et al., 2010), residue management (Sapkota et al., 2015), and zero-tillage farming (Gathala et al., 2011). These methods have been shown to enhance agricultural productivity and sustainability. For example, the System of Rice Intensification (SRI) has significantly reduced input costs and increased returns in states like Uttarakhand, Tamil Nadu and Bihar (Dass & Chandra, 2012; Diwakar et al., 2012). Research into rice varieties, genetic expression and cropping patterns, alongside effective pest and weed management, has led to greater adoption of SRI practices (Barah, 2009).

Innovation and experimentation on developing droughtand heat-tolerant crops is also being enabled at government and private agriculture research institutes across India (see Chapke & Tonapi, 2018; Dar et al., 2020; Mottaleb et al., 2017). Significant funding and capacity building efforts support the development of appropriate agricultural technologies (Roy & Singh, 2013). The ICAR Indian Grassland and Fodder Research Institute (IGFRI) has pioneered initiatives such as the 'round the year fodder production system' and 'Azolla as supplement feed for livestock' through various collaborative projects (ICAR-IGFRI, 2015; 2019).

Conservation efforts have also advanced, with Indian biologists developing conceptual tools to document biodiversity and employing digital mapping for classification of vegetation. They have utilised molecular techniques for the conservation of threatened species and examined indigenous knowledge and community management systems (Bawa et al., 2021). The Department of Biotechnology's project on threatened plants demonstrates the efficacy of ecological niche modelling (ENM) in guiding conservation surveys and addressing data gaps related to species distribution (MoEFCC, 2019).

Additionally, the National Natural Resource Management System employs remote sensing technology combined with traditional data tracking to inform policies for managing natural resources (MoEFCC, 2019). Remote sensing and geographic information systems (GIS) are instrumental in sustainable coastal management, monitoring coastal habitats, and conducting impact assessments for hazards like cyclones and rising sea levels (Kankara et al., 2014; Nayak, 2017; Roy & Datta, 2018).

Innovative coastal protection technologies are being tested to enhance resilience against extreme weather events. These include a combination of natural and built defence structures (Kudale et al., 2014; Murthy et al., 2020), along with low-cost solutions for coastal communities (Verhagen, 2019). In aquaculture, low-cost organic systems, such as using vermicompost to reduce feed and fertiliser costs, are being explored for sustainable fish production (Chakrabarty et al., 2009).

Technology also plays a critical role in addressing food production challenges (exacerbated due to climate change and environmental degradation). There is a thrust on increasing yields while reducing environmental externalities through sustainable intensification (Pingali et al., 2019).

Box 8.11: Case Study 11 - Integrated soil management

Integrated soil management (ISM) includes Soil Health Management (SHM) and Integrated Nutrient Management (INM). SHM promotes sustainable soil practices tailored to specific locations and crops, including soil fertility mapping, balanced nutrient management and organic farming (AGRICOOP, 2017). INM aims to enhance soil fertility by optimising nutrient inputs, such as replacing chemical fertilisers with vermicompost, farmyard manure and biofertilisers.

Multi-level policy instruments and institutional capacity building: To support these practices, the Government of India has launched two key initiatives: the Soil Health Management (SHM) scheme and the Soil Health Card scheme. Effective from 2014, SHM operates under the National Mission for Sustainable Agriculture (NMSA) and promotes organic farming through programmes like the Paramparagat Krishi Vikas Yojana (Traditional Farming Improvement Programme). The Soil Health Card scheme, introduced in 2015 with a budget of ₹568 crores, has reached approximately 45 million farmers in its initial two years (Indian Chamber of Food and Agriculture, 2017).

The government aims to cover all farmers nationwide, providing funding to states for issuing soil health cards. Various states are implementing these national policies. For instance, the Karnataka State Department of Agriculture has distributed over 78 lakh soil health cards in the first cycle (2015–16 and 2016–17) and 67 lakh cards in the second cycle (2018–19) (Annual Report of Agriculture Department Karnataka, 2018–19). Training programmes educate farmers on soil health maintenance and appropriate fertiliser application based on soil tests (Kannan & Ramappa, 2017). Capacity building is crucial, as research indicates that educated farmers are more likely to adopt ISM practices (Aryal et al., 2018c; Kannan & Ramappa, 2017).

Technological innovation: Technological innovations play a significant role in ISM. Practices such as zero tillage, nitrogen management and balanced nutrition management offer evidence-based improvements in soil health (Parihar et al., 2020; Pathak, 2010). Institutions like the Cereal Systems Initiative for South Asia in Bihar and the Central Soil Water Conservation and Training Institute in Ooty facilitate the adoption of these techniques. Additionally, effective soil management enhances the its water-holding capacity, helping to mitigate drought in dryland regions (Srinivasarao et al., 2013).

Finance: Financial support for ISM includes the National Project on Management of Soil Health and Fertility, implemented by the Department of Agriculture and Cooperation (DAC) during the 11th Five-Year Plan, with an outlay of ₹430 crore (AGRICOOP, 2008). The establishment of soil testing laboratories continues, often providing services to farmers at minimal or no cost (AGRICOOP, 2017). In Karnataka, soil testing is mandatory to access agricultural subsidies, promoting technology adoption (Kannan & Ramappa, 2017).

Scalability and regional differentiation: While many ISM technologies benefit small-scale farmers, challenges such as land availability and declining field sizes can hinder adoption in regions like the Indo-Gangetic Plains (Aryal et al., 2018a; DeFries et al., 2016). Practices like zero tillage, particularly beneficial in rain-fed systems, require integration with residue retention and crop rotation to maximise their effectiveness (Keil et al., 2015).

8.6.2 Urban and infrastructure systems

Technological innovation can enable adaptation and mitigation in cities through improved land use planning and management, smart energy and water systems, developing dynamic decision support systems, and reduced disaster exposure (Dhyani et al., 2018; Rockefeller Foundation, 2019). For example, Chennai, Hyderabad and Bengaluru have pilot projects on metering and measurement of water using electromagnetic meters (Shah, 2016) to minimise water loss.

Since the 2000s, there has been a global push to make cities 'smarter' through technology, driven by major companies such as IBM, CISCO and SIEMENS. This movement inspired India's 100 Smart Cities initiative (Kapur & Sequeira, 2015). Within the Smart Cities Mission (SCM), the 'Climate Smart Cities' initiative aims to foster climatefriendly solutions. Currently operational in Bhubaneswar, Kochi and Coimbatore, the Climate Smart Cities project focuses on making urban infrastructure and development more resource efficient, disaster resilient, and inclusive of both mitigation and adaptation measures (Nandan, 2018). Initiatives includes urban design initiatives, promoting green spaces, constructing green buildings and improving storm water drains (National Institute of Urban Affairs [NIUA], 2020). For example, Surat has incorporated smart LED street lighting and greening of urban pathways, yielding mitigation co-benefits (Surat Climate Change Trust, 2017).

A key feature of SCM is the Integrated Command and Control Centres (ICCCs) that facilitate continuous data analysis and the creation of dashboards for effective decision-making across various sectors such as water, streetlights, solid waste management and road development (MoHUA, 2023). Cities under SCM have also experimented with Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA) to optimise water supply, water meters, intelligent transportation system (ITS) to improve public transportation service (MoHUA, 2023).

In Bengaluru, the Bangalore Water Supply and Sewerage Board has installed bulk meters at key locations across the city, employing geotagged meters to gather information on water usage. This metering system aims to improve water supply efficiency and can also identify illegal connections when the usage exceeds acceptable levels (NITI Aayog, 2017b).

8.6.3 Cross-cutting options

States are pioneering the use of technology to track specific health impacts of climate change, enhancing preventive response. For example, the Ahmedabad Heat and Climate Study Group has developed a HAP featuring a novel early warning system that forecasts extreme heat days with extended lead times, allowing for a broad range of public health preparedness activities to be coordinated effectively (Knowlton et al., 2014). However, nationally, government expenditure on health needs to increase from less than 2 per cent to at least 5-6 per cent of GDP in the short term (Kasthuri, 2018b). This increase would provide a much-needed infrastructure boost in rural and marginalised areas, ultimately enhancing access to healthcare services, infrastructure and personnel (Kasthuri, 2018b).

While technology is being used to improve social security programmes such as MGNREGA and the Public Distribution System (PDS), its implementation remains inadequate (Ambasta et al., 2008). In Tamil Nadu and Chhattisgarh, monitoring systems have introduced simple, user-friendly technologies with potential for scaling up (Khera, 2011).

Significant technological innovations have emerged in the space of decision-making under uncertainty, particularly through investments in Agrometeorological Advisory Services (AAS; see Case Study 13) and early warning systems (Case Study 14). However, large-scale implementation of AAS in India faces challenges. A field study in Maharashtra found that district-level weather forecasts, covering 7,000-8,800 sq. km, often encompass multiple agroclimatic zones, leading to broad-scale forecasting and inaccurate weather predictions (Lobo et al., 2017a). Additionally, seasonal climate forecasts are often presented in probabilistic language that is difficult for users to interpret. They lack detailed location of rains, timing, lead times, duration and rainfall volumes, which are key to decision-making (Manjula & Rengalakshmi, 2015).

Private climate information service providers have made inroads into the forecasting space, thanks in part to their vast observation networks and computational facilities. Their flexibility allows them to operate without the constraints that often hinder government responses (Singh et al., 2018b)

Box 8.12: Case Study 12 - National Agrometeorological Advisory Services

India's labour-intensive and subsistence-based agriculture sector is particularly vulnerable to climatic risks (Gopalakrishnan & Subramanian, 2020). Agrometeorological Advisory Services (AAS) have contributed to high productivity and increased resilience in agriculture by encouraging farmers to adopt modern agricultural practices, weather-based irrigation and pest management, and improved the use of post-harvest technologies (Maini & Rathore, 2011).

Multi-level governance: AAS fall under the ambit of the Indian Meteorological Department (IMD), Ministry of Earth Sciences and was created after a series of pilot experiments that started in the 1980s, led by the National Centre for Medium Range Weather Forecasting (Venkatasubramanian et al., 2014). IMD issues quantitative district-level weather forecasts for up to five days, twice a week. Weather is forecasted on seven parameters: rainfall, maximum and minimum temperatures, wind speed and direction, relative humidity, and cloudiness. Weekly cumulative rainfall forecasts are also generated. This information is further transferred to the IMD's Regional Meteorological Centres and 130 AgroMet Field Units (AMFUs) representing agroclimatic zones in the country (Venkatasubramanian et al., 2012).

Improved institutional capacities: In 2008, the IMD launched a District-level Agrometeorological Advisory Service (DAAS) to provide relevant district-level weather information and management advisories across the country (Venkatasubramanian et al., 2014). DAAS has a four-tiered system to inform farmer decisions: meteorological (weather forecasting), agriculture advisories, extension (two-way communication with users) and information dissemination (through social media, mobile phones etc.; Singh et al., 2016). It sustains a multi-institutional information dissemination partnership involving multiple stakeholders such as the Indian Council of Agricultural Research (ICAR); SAUs; Krishi Vigyan Kendras (KVKs); Department of Agriculture and Cooperation; state departments of agriculture, horticulture, animal husbandry and forestry; development NGOs and media agencies (Venkatasubramanian et al., 2014; Tall et al., 2014)

Technology and innovation: Operational numerical weather forecasting services have utilised advances in atmospheric modelling capabilities. The dissemination of information is carried out at district and sub-district levels. State Composite Bulletins and National Agrometeorological Advisory Services Bulletins are also issued (Singh et al., 2018a). A pilot project in Ahmednagar district of Maharashtra has demonstrated the effective use of multimodal delivery system for disseminating agrometeorological advisories, using mobile telecommunication (SMS), announcements over the village public address system (loudspeakers); and weekly posters in prominent places and on walls/blackboards (Lobo et al., 2017b). These practices were in addition to the existing execution of training and technology support provided by agricultural professionals and use of farmer networks for communicating climate information (Lobo et al., 2017a; Rengalakshmi et al., 2018).

Box 8.13: Case Study 13 - Early warning systems

Early warning systems (EWS) are understood as the set of capacities needed to generate and disseminate timely and meaningful warning information to enable individuals, communities and organisations threatened by a hazard to prepare and act appropriately and in sufficient time to reduce the possibility of harm or loss (United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction [UNISDR], 2012). India has developed robust EWS through dedicated public funding to build domestic technical expertise as well as creation of tiered institutional architecture to implement EWS across the country.

Institutional capacities: A key aspect of driving EWS in India is through the central institutional authority of National Disaster Management Authority (NDMA), with its legal binding under the Disaster Management Act, 2005. The act empowers constituting national and state executive committees as well as a National Institute of Disaster Management (NIDM) for capacity building, National Disaster Response Force (NDRF) for response, and the Disaster Mitigation Fund (Government of India, 2005). This conjugation can be seen from the coordination of cyclone warning where operations at the national level is done by the 'weather central' at Pune. The Cyclone Warning Division (CWD) at New Delhi is responsible for international coordination, supervision of cyclone warning activities and liaising with the central government. CWD also functions as the Regional Specialised Meteorological Centre - Tropical Cyclones (Ministry of Earth Sciences, 2021)

Technological innovation: The impact of Paradip cyclone in 1999 triggered Odisha to strengthen state EWS. Odisha is the country's first state to have adopted an early warning dissemination system through a chain of ICTs, which includes sensors, incident monitoring and decision-making subsystems. These include alert tower siren systems, digital mobile radio, mass messaging system, location-based alert system and satellite communication (Rajendran & Shyam, 2021).

Scaling, regional variations: Across India, various models for EWS have been studied. An initiative by Kolkata Municipal Corporation supported by the Asian Development Bank (ADB) presents a case of the first comprehensive city-level EWS for flood forecasting in India. The initiative is centred around communities and other stakeholders to act quickly and appropriately to reduce flood risk and includes weather forecasts; flood models for various intensities of rainfall; real-time information on key pump status, sump and canal water levels, actual rainfall, inundation levels; and a messaging system to provide warnings and real-time information to city officials and citizens (ADB, 2018). In some districts of Uttar Pradesh, a community-based early warning system has been established by the Poorvanchal Gramin Vikas Sangathan (PGVS). This initiative is considered unique because it empowers local communities through capacity building to identify and manage their own risks (Seneviratne, 2019).

8.7 Behavioural and Lifestyle Change

Addressing climate change effectively requires both individual and social change, particularly in India, where rapid population growth is accompanied by rising affluence and carbon-intensive consumption, albeit among a small segment of the population. Behavioural and lifestyle changes in key sectors can significantly reduce carbon emissions, as illustrated in Table 9.3. However, to achieve the 1.5°C target, these changes must be integrated into broader systemic transformations, supported by policy measures, financial incentives and behavioural nudges rooted in psychology.

Table 8.3: Examples of mitigation behaviour and their potential to reduce greenhouse gas emissions

		Example and Status in India	Emissions Reduction	
Land and Ecosystem Transitions	Reduced Food Wastage	 While there are some initiatives to reduce food wastage in India, clear links to reduction in greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions are lacking. Effective interventions should focus on bringing about behavioural change; for example, through public education on food waste (Morone et al., 2019). Alongside healthier diets, improving food production efficiency and reducing waste can minimise environmental impacts and address diet-related health issues (Aleksandrowicz et al., 2019). Local Initiatives: Micro-management of restaurant waste: Initiatives like the 'public fridge' in Mumbai aim to redistribute excess food (Bharucha, 2018). Annakshetra: This organisation collects surplus food from weddings for distribution to disadvantaged communities, thus preventing waste (Agrawal & Nag, 2013). 	GHG emissions from food surplus have risen from 130 Mt CO ₂ eq/year to 530 Mt CO ₂ eq/year over the past 50 years. Projections suggest that by 2050, food surplus could increase to 850 kcal/capita/day, potentially raising emissions from food waste to 1.9–2.5 Gt CO ² eq/year (Hic et al., 2016).	
	Dietary Shifts	 India's dietary shift is marked by increased consumption of milk, dairy and processed foods (Green et al., 2018; Tak et al., 2019). This rising consumption of livestock products could elevate GHG emissions unless perproduct emissions are mitigated (Vetter et al., 2017). While sustainable diets could enhance nutrition, they come at a 50% higher cost (Chaudhary & Krishna, 2021). As incomes rise, rice and meat will become more common in diets. Rice-based diets contribute to higher GHG emissions and green water footprints, while wheat-based diets have larger blue water footprints. Compared to less diverse diets, rice and meat combinations yield 31% higher GHG emissions and increased water usage (Green et al., 2018). Research in Mumbai indicated a willingness to pay a premium for plant-based and cell-based meats, presenting an opportunity to encourage behavioural changes (Arora et al., 2020). Incorporating edible insects into diets can provide a sustainable and nutritionally adequate food source, reflecting traditional practices in many cultures (Premalatha et al., 2011). 	 instead of refined cereals could reduce malnutrition-related premature deaths by 14-30%, meet nutritional needs, and lower water demand by up to 65%. It may also decrease GHG emissions by 26-34% and resource inputs by 40% (Damerau et al., 2020). Adopting healthy diets alongside improving food production efficiency and reducing waste can further mitigate environmental impact and address diet-related health issues (Aleksandrowicz et al., 2019). For example, a non-vegetarian meal with mutton emits 1.8 times more GHG than a vegetarian meal and 1.5 times more than a chicken meal; thus, shifting diets can significantly aid in GHG mitigation (Pathak et al., 2010). 	
	Ecosystem Restoration	The National Mission on Biodiversity and Human Well- Being aims to foster pride in India's natural heritage and engage citizens in biodiversity conservation (Bawa et al., 2021).	Ecosystem restoration can have significant mitigation benefits, for example, through mangrove restoration and blue carbon conservation (Chowdhury et al., 2019).	

		Example and Status in India	Emissions Reduction
	Afforestation and Reforestation	While farmers may not prioritise tree planting for carbon sequestration, significant economic returns from carbon credits can motivate such efforts (Gera, 2012).	Carbon sequestration from poplar plantations in agroforestry currently stands at 542 metric tonnes of carbon per year, excluding wood products (Gera, 2012). The estimated carbon sequestration potential of agroforestry in India ranges from 0.25 to 19.14 Mg C/ha/year for trees and from 0.01 to 0.60 Mg C/ha/year for crops (Dhyani et al., 2016).
Urban and Infrastructure Systems	Transportation	The National Urban Transport Policy (NUTP) promotes quality and pricing strategies to shift users from private vehicles to public transport (NUTP, Ministry of Urban Development, 2006). Currently, many public transport users in India rely on non-motorised options, such as cycling and walking, for last-mile connectivity, with 35- 65% of households in medium-to-large cities owning at least one bicycle (Tiwari & Jain, 2013). However, this trend is changing as vehicle emissions rise. To combat this, Andhra Pradesh has launched a five- year plan to transform Amaravati and Tirupati into 'electric mobility' cities by providing incentives like GST reimbursement and waiving registration fees (Shekhar et al., 2019).	
	Low/Zero-energy Buildings	The UJALA scheme promotes energy-efficient lighting by providing affordable LEDs, expected to save 100 billion kWh annually. The Bureau of Energy Efficiency (BEE) implemented the Energy Conservation and Building Code (ECBC), requiring 75% of new commercial buildings to be compliant and enabling 20% of existing buildings to retrofit for reduced energy consumption from 2012 to 2017. BEE's standards and labelling programme assigns star ratings to appliances, making energy performance labels mandatory for high-energy equipment and establishing minimum energy performance standards. This initiative resulted in energy savings of 121 billion units from 2011 to 2018 (MoEFCC, 2018). Additionally, awareness and education on energy-efficient buildings enhance public acceptance of these regulations (Chandel et al., 2016).	The UJALA scheme is expected to have annual estimated greenhouse gas emission reductions of 79 Mt CO ² (MoEFCC, 2018).

Source : Authors' compilation

To promote sustainable and environmentally conscious behaviour, the Indian government launched Mission LiFE in 2021, aiming to make at least 80 per cent of villages and urban local bodies environmentally friendly by 2028. The mission envisions three core shifts—changes in demand, supply and policy—across seven themes: energy, water, single-use plastics, waste, e-waste, sustainable food systems and healthy lifestyles.

This section examines behavioural and lifestyle change as an enabling condition for climate adaptation and mitigation across land, oceans and ecosystems, and urban and infrastructure systems. Table 9.3 gives examples of mitigation behaviour and its potential to reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions across these two systems. This is followed by a look at what shapes adaptation behaviour, with the help of a case study on what is prompting the shift to EVs (Case Study 14).

For climate change adaptation, perceptions, local values and beliefs, and perceived efficacy of interventions influence behaviour shifts towards adoption of adaptation strategies. For example, evidence shows that leveraging traditional risk management practices and knowledge systems in land restoration, forest conversation and agrarian systems is effective. However, a lack of knowledge about conservation strategies and its benefits limits adoption (Aryal et al., 2016) as does a traditional mindset regarding crop management practices (Sapkota et al., 2015).

- Perceived efficacy enables adaptation: In Odisha, where saline-resistant fish varieties are adopted more by local communities due to expectations of increased productivity gains in flooded areas (Satapathy et al., 2011).
- Clear monetary benefits motivate adaptation: For instance, higher income from forest-based livelihood activities motivate households to follow better conservation practices (Mishra, 2019).
- Build on traditional risk management practices: Pastoralists in Rajasthan demonstrate resilience to climate variability through established risk management strategies (Mukherji et al., 2016). Religious conservation ethics, such as sacred

groves, promote sustainable practices (Das & Behera, 2019; Saniotis 2011). Additionally, strong cultural ties can foster self-regulation in resource sharing, as seen in communities where fishers choose elevated coastal areas for safety and views (Namboothri et al., 2008).

- Education and awareness building: Literacy is a key factor in adopting sustainable practices like minimum tillage and nutrient management (Aryal et al., 2018a). Educated farmers have a better grasp over technical knowledge, leading to improved soil management (Kannan & Ramappa, 2017). Initiatives targeting children, such as gendersensitive disaster management puppet shows in Tamil Nadu, have also been effective in promoting awareness (UNDP, 2010).
- Knowledge networks: Climate knowledge risk gateways and networks, like The Honey Bee Network, facilitate the exchange of ideas and solutions across various sectors, linking both formal and informal science and scientists (Dey et al., 2013).
- Collective action: Programmes like Paryavaran Mitra (Friends of Nature) foster networks of young environmental leaders in schools, promoting environmental awareness and encouraging positive behaviour at the individual, school, family and community levels. Over 1,62,000 students have participated in this programme across India (MoEFCC, 2019).

In urban and infrastructure systems, the top-down nature of interventions often limits communities participation, isolating local knowledge and experience from the decision-making process for climate change actions (Archer et al., 2014). However, innovative programmes are emerging to encourage urban adaptation. For instance, Chennai's 'Shut the Tap' initiative employs behavioural economics to 'nudge' certain sections of the city to adopt water conservation practices, educating school children and households on methods and technology for conserving water and reducing waste. Similarly, Bengaluru's Zero Energy Development Housing scheme, the first residential project to earn a platinum rating by IGBC India, utilises low-energy materials and passive solar design to reduce energy consumption and green roofs to improve indoor thermal comfort. This has led to an increased community awareness on sustainable living (Garg et al., 2017a) and generated a demand for such housing (Bulkeley & Castán Broto, 2014).

Box 8.14: Case Study 14 - Enabling adoption of electric vehicles through financial incentives

Electric vehicles (EV) have multiple benefits such as reduced vehicular emissions and health co-benefits; reduced energy consumption for transportation (Fady M. A Hassouna et al., 2020); reduced congestion (NITI Aayog & Rocky Mountain Institute, 2017; Dhar et al., 2016; Global Green Growth Institute [GGGI], 2014; CSTEP & GGGI, 2016); and mitigation synergies projected to be approximately 1,155 MtCO₂ between 2015 and 2050 (Gupta et al., 2018).

Policy thrust: The National Electric Mobility Mission Plan 2020 (NEMMP), provides a roadmap for faster manufacturing and adoption of EVs in India. Towards this end, Faster Adoption and Manufacturing of Hybrid and Electric Vehicles (FAME) scheme was launched as part of NEMMP in 2015 (Ministry of Heavy Industries and Public Enterprises, 2019). The first phase of FAME (2015–2019) covered all vehicle segments where the demand incentive is availed by buyers at the point of purchase and the same is reimbursed to the manufacturers from Department of Heavy Industry (DHI) on a monthly basis (IEA, 2020b; The Energy and Resources Institute [TERI], 2019). The second phase (2019 onwards) encompassed speed, range and energy efficiency requirements in a more stringent manner where 90 per cent of the remaining lithium-ion battery driven models were excluded (IEA, 2020b). The second phase is not based on battery size, unlike the first phase, even though the idea behind both the phases is incentive allocation. It is applicable mainly for public transportation vehicles but includes privately-owned two-wheelers as well (TERI, 2019). The demand incentive was limited to vehicles with advanced batteries defined as 'motor vehicles' as per the Central Motor Vehicle Rules (CMVR) by the Ministry of Road Transport and Highways and it is also based on proportion in domestic manufacturing, installation of mileage monitoring device and compliance to CMVR standards (TERI, 2019).

Behavioural change by financial incentives: The FAME scheme promoted EVs by providing financial incentives for their purchase, charging infrastructure deployment and research and development (R&D) of EVs (Gadepalli et al., 2019). The demand incentive for buyers of EVs in the form of an upfront reduced purchase price was to enable wider adoption (Ministry of Heavy Industries and Public Enterprises, 2019). Eighty-six per cent of the budget in second phase of FAME scheme is allocated for demand incentives where purchase subsidies are provided to two-wheelers, three-wheelers, four-wheelers and buses over a period of three years (TERI, 2019).

8.8 Conclusion

Effective climate action and the transition to CRD in India depend on creating an enabling environment. This environment must include appropriate governance across levels, converging legal and regulatory frameworks, aligned policies and incentives, technological innovation, strategic cross-sectoral partnerships, and adequate finance to drive transformative change.

This chapter, informed by the CRD framework, outlined in the IPCC's AR6, highlights six enabling conditions essential for facilitating climate mitigation and adaptation across key systems in India: multilevel governance, institutional capacity building, policy instruments, adequate finance, technological innovation, and behavioural and lifestyle change.

The evidence presented illustrates how multi-level governance, effective policy instruments, technological innovations and institutional capacity have accelerated climate actions across key systems. For example, in land, oceans and ecosystems, the promotion of sustainable agriculture through conservation practices, cropland management, and soil health management has thrived in several states due to robust central institutional frameworks, such as NMSA and NICRA. Capacity building at the state and local levels, along with community engagement, has supported this progress, backed by effective policy interventions like SHM and PMKSY, as well as a multi-stakeholder governance approach and targeted technological advancements.

In the energy sector, market-driven policy instruments like the PAT scheme have resulted in significant energy savings and spurred technological innovations in energy-intensive industries. The success of the PAT scheme underscores the importance of a cohesive policy framework, continuous technological advancements and strengthened institutional capacity.

Urban and infrastructure systems have also seen progress, with many states and cities developing climate action plans and implementing initiatives like heat action plans, model building by-laws, and shifts to low-carbon transportation, including promoting EVs. However, challenges remain due to inadequate financing and limited policy and fiscal autonomy for municipal governments, hindering the scaling of these efforts.

In the cross-cutting category, technological innovations, strong policy instruments and improved institutional capacities have enhanced early warning systems and strengthened social security and livelihood security policies such as PDS and MGNREGA, which help reduce climate vulnerability among marginalised populations.

The remaining two enabling conditions, climate finance and behavioural change, require urgent attention. Although there have been investments in the renewable energy sector and electrification, followed by the transport sector (i.e., through EVs), much more is required to channel climate finance into broader adaptation and mitigation strategies crucial to meet India's 1.5°C targets. Currently, domestic funding is inadequate, emphasising the need to attract private investment to accelerate the energy transition, and build resilient infrastructure and ecosystem services for all. Building effective partnerships among all levels of government, banks and financial institutions is critical for creating a unified climate action agenda. This is essential to redirect all investments away from carbon intensive sectors towards low-carbon development and incentivise private investments into adaptation and mitigation projects.

Additionally, significant knowledge gaps persist regarding effectively promoting lifestyle and behavioural changes that align with climate goals. While India has made a beginning with Mission LiFE, concrete examples of how behavioural change can enable adaptation or mitigation at scale are still lacking.

The case studies on ZBNF, the PAT scheme, National Solar Mission and HAPs illustrate the synergy of multiple enabling conditions in making climate action more feasible. These insights can inform future policies and interventions, paving the way for systems transitions in key areas and a climate-resilient future in India.



Conclusion

This chapter should be cited as: Revi, A., Ghoge, K., & Singh, C., 2024: Conclusion. In IIHS, 2024. Accelerating India's Climate Transition: pathways to the 1.5°C goal [Revi, A., Bazaz, A.B., Singh, C., Kodira, P., & Ghoge, K.] Indian Institute for Human Settlements. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.24943/AICT11.2024</u>

Chapter Authors: Aromar Revi, Ketaki Ghoge and Chandni Singh

Conclusion

India faces a serious challenge of addressing climate change while meeting its development goals and tackling persistent socio-economic issues such as poverty, inequality, and unemployment. This report adapts the IPCC's Climate Resilient Development (CRD) framework to the Indian context, offering evidence-based insights to achieve 1.5°C-compatible development that aligns with the country's sustainable development goals and its economic aspirations.

While conventional thinking suggests climate action can undermine growth, emerging scholarship shows that the two can be complementary. Strong climate policies that foster systemic change, innovation, and investment can create 'a sustainable growth story' (Stern and Stiglitz 2023, pp. 278–279). The IPCC's CRD framework brings together climate action (adaptation and mitigation), sustainable development, and biodiversity conservation agendas, based on complementary development interventions rather than trade-offs (Stern and Stiglitz, 2023; IPCC 2022; IPCC, 2023). While CRD articulates a global solution space and outlines feasible adaptation and mitigation options, these need to be tailored to specific national and sub-national contexts.

This report synthesises from a wide-range of secondary sources - peer reviewed literature, national and subnational government reports, policy papers, and practice reports, to provide analysis of India's current climate trends and projections (Chapter 1), climate impacts and risks (Chapter 2), its broad macroeconomic indicators and national circumstances (Chapter 3), existing climate policy framework (Chapter 4) and mitigation pathways (Chapter 5). Together, these sections provide the necessary context to operationalise the CRD framework in India.

The findings highlight the significant climate risks India faces due to changes in climate-impact drivers (temperature and precipitation changes), which are increasing the frequency and intensity of extreme events like floods, drought, and heat waves. Key sectors such as agriculture, water, urban and infrastructure, health and terrestrial ecosystems are particularly vulnerable to these risks, which can destabilise the Indian economy and adversely impact the well-being of its people and ecosystems. These risks will worsen as temperatures rise, with each half degree increase leading to disproportionately severe impacts and losses and damages. Furthermore, the most vulnerable groups - economically weaker and socially marginalised communities – bear the brunt of these climate impacts.

Beyond climate challenges, India must address significant deficits in infrastructure and essential services, social and economic inequalities, a growing urban population and increasingly mobile rural population, and slow employment growth. These issues must be tackled to ensure resilient development and realise the goal of becoming an advanced economy. Thus, CRD in India is critical to ensuring economic and social security, creating new green jobs, promoting climate protection and resilience, particularly for country's most vulnerable populations.

To implement CRD, India must shift from siloed sectoral approaches to simultaneous, system-wide transitions in key economic systems/sectors: energy, agriculture and forestry (land, oceans and ecosystems), urban and infrastructure and industry. Transforming these sectors is crucial, as they each play a key role in the economy and are essential for reducing emission intensity and enhancing climate resilience.

India's climate policies have tried to balance development needs, such as secure livelihoods and access to universal basic services, with addressing climate risks and environmental degradation. The country has focused on climate actions that also promote development, such as clean cookstoves, resilient infrastructure, and afforestation. While the country's commitment to a lowcarbon development pathway is evident through its NDCs, much more needs to be done to accelerate the transition and ensure a climate-resilient future.

An analysis of adaptation actions and policies in India shows some progress in vulnerable sectors like water, agriculture, and urban. However, challenges remain in improving risk assessments, ensuring effective sub-national implementation, securing adaptation financing, and strengthening synergies between adaptation and mitigation.

On the mitigation side, while India is on its track to meet its renewables target, a clear roadmap is still missing, to implement energy efficiency at scale and phase out coal power while ensuring alternate jobs for lost livelihoods, both necessary for deeper decarbonisation.

Within this larger context, the report uses the IPCC's CRD framework to assess 16 mitigation and 23 adaptation options (Chapter 6) at a national scale across key systems for their feasibility across six-dimensions. The options, narrowed down based on India's NDC targets and relevance to 1.5°C pathways and are assessed across key systems: energy, industrial, land, water and ecosystems, urban and infrastructure, and a cross-cutting category of options that run across systems. These first-of-its kind feasibility assessments of adaptation and mitigation actions for India offer several actionable insights on which options can provide quick wins because they have moderate to high feasibility. These assessments are also useful to identify barriers to the implementation of climate actions.

For instance, in land, oceans and ecosystems, adaptation options like conservation agriculture, agricultural diversification, grazing land management, agroforestry, and water resource management have high to medium overall feasibility. Many of these have been supported by existing government initiatives like zero budget farming, National Agroforestry Policy, NICRA. However, these options also face challenges like that of low adoption due to lack of technical know-how, inadequate extension services, low awareness, and lack of equipment, which hinders their effective scale-up.

In energy systems, solar PV and wind energy emerge as highly viable mitigation options, scoring high to medium feasibility across all six assessed dimensions. While existing policies have significantly advanced solar PV power development there is substantial potential to expand both grid-connected and off-grid solar power solutions in the country, such as solar parks in low-carbon industrial clusters, expanding rooftop solar installation, and developing reliable grid infrastructure for widespread solar deployment.

To remain below 1.5°C, India will have to leverage synergies between mitigation and adaptation and its co-benefits with the SDGs while minimising trade-offs. Our assessment of synergies and trade-offs (Chapter 7) between adaptation and mitigation options, and SDGs, shows multiple synergies between climate actions and the 17 SDGs. For example, 12 adaptation options in land, oceans and ecosystems align strongly with SDG 8 (decent work and economic growth) and SDG 12 (responsible consumption and production). Among the mitigation options, energy systems, particularly solar energy, show the most positive linkages with the SDGs, including significant synergies with SDG 7 (affordable and clean energy) and SDG 13 (climate action), while also fostering economic development through the creation of green jobs.

Finally, the report examines six enabling conditions (Chapter 8) that enhance the feasibility of adaptation and mitigation actions in India to accelerate systems transitions, and ultimately shift developmental pathways towards CRD. These enabling conditions include multilevel governance, building institutional capacities, strengthening policy instruments, technological advancements, adequate finance, and societal and behavioural change. Through illustrative case studies across states and sectors, the chapter demonstrates how incremental and transformative measures can support India's transition to 1.5°C pathways.

Taken together, the report's feasibility assessments, evaluation of synergies and trade-offs of adaptation and mitigation actions and the 17 SDGs, along with the analysis of enabling conditions provides a comprehensive solutions framework that can guide climate action policy in India. This framework can support interventions at national and sub-national scales to shape a 1.5°C trajectory towards a resilient and sustainable India.

Annexes

ANNEX 1

Sector	1994	2000	2007	2010	2014	2016	2019
Energy	744	1027	1374	1510	1910	2129	2374
Industry	103	89	142	172	202	226	264
Agriculture	344	356	373	390	417	408	421
LULUCF	14	-223	-177	-253	-301	-308	-485
Waste	23	53	58	65	78	75	73
Total (without LULUCF)	1214	1524	1947	2137	2607	2839	3132
Total (with LULUCF)	1229	1301	1772	1884	2306	2531	2647

Table 5.1: Sector-wise national greenhouse gas emissions (in $MtCO_2e$) for 1994–2019**Note:** LULUCF = Land Use, Land-Use Change and Forestry.

Source: MoEFCC, 2023

ANNEX 2

Methodology: Multidimensional Feasibility Assessment

The guiding question of this assessment is: **What adaptation and mitigation options are feasible in a 1.5°C India?** Across systems transitions, we chose 23 adaptation options and 16 mitigation options. We first created a longlist of adaptation and mitigations options from the Fifth Assessment Report (AR5) and the three Special Reports of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). Next, these options were narrowed down based on whether they are relevant for 1.5°C pathways and reported new literature. Finally, the options were strategically selected based on India's targets and commitments as evidenced in India's Second National Communication to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC; Government of India [GOI], 2012), the country's Intended Nationally Determined Contribution (INDC) (Union Environment Ministry, 2015), and the Biennial Update Report to the UNFCCC (Ministry of Environment, Forest and Climate Change [MoEFCC], 2015).

To conduct the feasibility assessment, we answer the following questions:

- What are the economic, sociocultural, technological, environmental, governance and physical barriers to specific adaptation options?
- Which options are feasible for multiple dimensions, thereby presenting quick wins? (see Figure 1, Figure 2)
- Which adaptation options present multiple synergies with specific Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and climate change mitigation? (see Chapter 8)
- What are the enabling conditions that can facilitate systems transitions to 1.5°C? (see Chapter 9)

Each adaptation and mitigation option was assessed using a six-dimensional feasibility framework (Table A1). These dimensions were then divided into 19 indicators based on the literature. For example, 'technological feasibility' had two indicators: technical resource availability (for the adaptation option) and risks mitigation potential of the option (which included stranded assets and unforeseen impacts).

Dimension	Indicators	Questions Guiding the Adaptation Indicators	
Economic	Micro-economic viability	What are the economic costs and trade-offs of the option?	
	Macro-economic viability	Would the option lead to higher productivity?	
	Socio-economic vulnerability reduction potential	To what extent does the option reduce inequalities?	
	Employment and productivity enhancement potential	How many people can be employed or how much can a sys- tem's productivity increase under the option?	
Technological	Technical resource availability	Are the technological and associated human, financial and ad- ministrative resources needed available?	
	Risk mitigation potential	To what degree can the option reduce the likelihood and/or consequences of risks?	
Institutional	Political acceptability	Is the option politically acceptable? Does the option reflect stakeholder perceptions about the meaning and purpose of adaptation?	
	Legal and regulatory feasibility	Is the option appropriate to jurisdictional context? Is it challeng- ing to implement the legal changes needed for the option? Are there known legal and regulatory barriers?	
	Institutional capacity and administrative feasibility	Would current institutions be able to implement the option? Is the option administratively supported? Are human resources to support implementation of the adaptation option clearly identi- fied? Are responsibilities delineated for managing implementa- tion of the option?	
	Transparency and accountability potential	Are policy goals and targets for the option explicitly articulat- ed; monitoring and evaluation protocols set up to track imple- mentation; and transparent reporting mechanisms in place to synthesise progress and gaps?	
Environmental	Ecological capacity	Does the option enhance supporting, regulating or provisioning ecosystem services in any way?	
	Adaptive capacity/ resilience building potential	Does the option enhance the ability of systems, institutions and humans to adjust to potential damage, take advantage of opportunities, or respond to consequences? Does the option contribute to resilience building (i.e., ability to cope with stress- ors and reorganise to maintain structures and functions, retain capacity to transform)?	

Table A1: Six-dimensional feasibility assessment. The dimensions were further divided into 19 indicators

Geophysical	Physical feasibility	Is the physical potential of the adaptation option a constraint?	
	Land use change enhancement potential	Does the option enhance carbon stocks (e.g., through forest restoration)?	
	Hazard risk reduction potential	Does the option reduce the number of people exposed to a hazard?	
Social	Social co-benefits	Are there health and education benefits to be had from the option? Does the option minimise negative trade-offs with oth development policy goals, or identify positive synergies with other policy goals?	
	Sociocultural acceptability	Is there public resistance to the option? Does the option typical- ly find acceptance within existing sociocultural norms, or does itutilise diverse knowledge systems including indigenous and local knowledge?	
	Social and regional inclusiveness	Are different social groups and remote regions included in the option? Does the adaptation option adversely affect vulnerable groups or other areas?	
	Intergenerational equity	Does the option compromise the ability of future generations to meet their own needs in any way?	

Source: de Coninck et al., 2018; Singh et al., 2020

For each adaptation option, an assessment was conducted at an indicator level, giving scores of high, medium and low based on peer-reviewed literature. Where there was insufficient evidence, options were scored as 'low evidence' or 'no evidence', highlighting knowledge gaps. These indicator-level scores were then averaged to develop high, medium and low feasibility scores for each dimension. The full methodological approach is given in Figure A1.

Figure A1: Methodological process used to assess the feasibility of adaptation options under five systems transitions

1 Defined scope

National feasibility assessment in India covering 5 system transitions (energy; land and ecosystems; urban and infrastructure; industry; and crosscutting transitions), and 23 adaptation options

2 Developed indicators

Developed 19 indicators across six feasibility dimensions (economic, institutional, socio-cultural, environmental, and geophysical feasibility)

3 Created literature database

Conducted review of peer-reviewed and grey literature for each adaptation option (2000-2020)

4 Conducted assessment

Assessed each option at indicator level, giving scores of high, medium, low feasibility. Where evidence was sparse options were scored as having low/no evidence

Source: Singh et al., 2021

5 Combined indicators

Combined indicator-level assessments by taking an arithmetic mean of the relevant underlying indicators to develop dimension-level scores for each option (NE scores were not included).

6 Checked robustness

Cross-checked dimension-level scores through expert elicitation (3-5 experts per system transition). Feasibility scores adjusted based on feedback.

7 Assessed synergies and trade-offs

Assessed positive or negative implications of adaptation option for mitigation and the SDGs.

8 Reviewed enabling conditions

For each option, five enabling conditions were reviewed (multilevel governance, finance, institutions, behavioural change, and technological).

After the feasibility assessment, we also assessed the synergies and trade-offs of adaptation options with (a) mitigation; and (b) specific SDGs to assess options that present triple wins and thus should be prioritised (Step 7 in Figure A1). A final step involved examining the conditions that enable adaptation, using empirical evidence and case studies from across different states and sectors in India (Step 8 in Figure A1).

References

References

Aadhar, S., & Mishra, V. (2019). A substantial rise in the area and population affected by dryness in South Asia under 1.5°C, 2.0°C, and 2.5°C warmer worlds. Environmental Research Letters, 14(11), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab4862

Abbas, R., & Verma, D. (2014, March 3). Internal labour migration in India raises integration challenges for migrants. Migration Information Source. https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/internal-labor-migration-india-raises-integration-challenges-migrants

Abergel, T., Dean, B., & Dulac, J. (2017). Towards zero-emission efficient and resilient buildings: Global status report. Global Alliance for Buildings and Construction.

Abhilash, P. C. (2021). Restoring the unrestored: Strategies for restoring global land during the UN Decade on Ecosystem Restoration (UN-DER). Land, 10(3), 201. https://www.mdpi.com/2073-445X/10/2/201

Abhyankar, N., Shah, N., Park, W., & Phadke, A. (2017). Accelerating energy efficiency improvements in room air conditioners in India: Potential, costs-benefits, and policies. Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory.

Abraham, P. S., & Gundimeda, H. (2017). 'Greening' the buildings: An analysis of barriers to adoption in India. Cities and the Environment, 10(1), 10.

Acharya, S. P., Basavaraja, H., Kunnal, L. B., Mahajanashetti, S. B., & Bhat, A. R. S. (2011). Crop diversification in Karnataka: An economic analysis. Agricultural Economics Research Review, 24(2), 351–357.

Adam, H. N. (2015). Mainstreaming adaptation in India – the Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act and climate change. Climate and Development, 7(2), 142–152. https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2014.934772

Asian Development Bank. (2017). Climate change adaptation guidelines for coastal protection and management in India.

Asian Development Bank. (2018). Toward resilient Kolkata: Introducing India's first comprehensive city-level flood forecasting and early warning system.

Adegun, O. B. (2017). Green infrastructure in relation to informal urban settlements. Journal of Environmental Engineering and Landscape Management, 25(4), 22–33. https://doi.org/10.3846/20297955.2017.1296791

Adhikari, S., Lal, R., & Sahu, B. C. (2012). Carbon sequestration in the bottom sediments of aquaculture ponds of Orissa, India. Ecological Engineering, 47, 198–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2012.06.007

Adhvaryu, A., Kala, N., & Nyshadham, A. (2018). The light and the heat: Productivity co-benefits of energy-saving technology. The Review of Economics and Statistics, 102(4), 779–792. https://doi.org/10.1162/rest_a_00886

Afifi, T., Milan, A., Etzold, B., Schraven, B., Rademacher-Schulzb, C., Sakdapolrak, P., Reif, A., van der Geest, K., & Warner, K. (2016). Human mobility in response to rainfall variability: Opportunities for migration as a successful adaptation strategy in eight case studies. Migration and Development, 5(2), 254–274. https://doi.org/10.1080/21632324.2015.1022974

Ahmed, S. H., Shaikh, T. G., Waseem, S., Zahid, M., Mohamed Ahmed, K. A. H., Ullah, I., & Hasibuzzaman, M. A. (2024). Water-related diseases following flooding in South Asian countries – a healthcare crisis. European Journal of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, 22(1), 232–242. https://doi.org/10.15584/ejcem.2024.1.29

Aggarwal, A., & Kannappan, S. (2003, June 6). National electricity plan: No coal expansion, renewable capacity to dominate in India by 2031-32. Down to Earth. https://www.downtoearth.org.in/blog/renewable-energy/national-electricity-plan-no-coal-expansion-renewable-capacity-to-dominate-in-india-by-2031-32-89847

Agarwal, P. K., & Pandey, D. (2017). Impact of pesticide: An overview. Trends in Biosciences, 10(6), 1341-1344.

Agarwal, S., Marathe, A., Ghate, R., Krishnaswamy, J., & Nagendra, H. (2017). Forest protection in Central India: Do differences in monitoring by state and local institutions result in diverse social and ecological impacts? Biodiversity and Conservation, 26(9), 2047–2066. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10531-017-1344-6

Aggarwal, A., Gupta, A., & Kumar, A. (2012). Evaluation of NREGA wells in Jharkhand. Economic and Political Weekly, 47(50), 24–27. Aggarwal, P. (2017). 2°C target, India's climate action plan and urban transport sector. Travel Behaviour and Society, 6, 110–116. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.tbs.2016.11.001

Agoramoorthy, G., Patel, P., Basu, S. K., Chakraborty, C., & Hsu, M. J. (2014). India's coastal zone management with an emphasis on rapidly developing Gujarat state. Journal of Coastal Conservation, 18(4), 683–690. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11852-014-0344-x

Agrawal, V. S., & Nag, A. (2013). Sustainable food waste prevention strategies to achieve food security in India. International Journal of Agricultural and Food Science Technology, 4(3), 189–194.

Agricoop. (2008). Guidelines on the national project on management of soil health and fertility. Department of Agriculture and Cooperation, Government of India.

Agricoop. (2017). National mission for sustainable agriculture (NMSA). Department of Agriculture and Cooperation, Government of India.

Ahmad, S., & Choi, M. J. (2010). Urban India and climate change: Mitigation strategies towards inclusive growth. Theoretical and Empirical Research in Urban Management, 5(6(15)), 60–73.

Ahmad, S., & Puppim de Oliveira, J. A. (2016). Determinants of urban mobility in India: Lessons for promoting sustainable and inclusive urban transportation in developing countries. Transportation Policy, 50, 106–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranpol.2016.04.014

Ahmed, M., & Suphachalasai, S. (2014). Assessing the costs of climate change and adaptation in South Asia. Asian Development Bank.

Ahmed, M. R., & Karmaker, A. K. (2019). Challenges for electric vehicle adoption in Bangladesh. In 2019 International conference on electrical, computer and communication engineering (pp. 1–6). IEEE.

Ahmedabad Municipal Corporation. (2016). Ahmedabad heat action plan 2016: Guide to extreme heat planning in Ahmedabad, India.

Aleksandrowicz, L., Green, R., Joy, E. J. M., Harris, F., Hillier, J., Vetter, S. H., Smith, P., Kulkarni, B., Dangour, A. D., & Haines, A. (2019). Environmental impacts of dietary shifts in India: A modelling study using nationally representative data. Environmental International, 126, 207–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.02.004

Alfieri, L., Bisselink, B., Dottori, F., Naumann, G., de Roo, A., Salamon, P., Wyser, K., & Feyen, L. (2017). Global projections of river flood risk in a warmer world. Earth's Future, 5(2), 171–182. https://doi.org/10.1002/2016EF000485

Ali, H., & Mishra, V. (2018). Increase in subdaily precipitation extremes in India under 1.5 and 2.0°C warming worlds. Geophysical Research Letters, 45(14), 6972–6982. https://doi.org/10.1029/2018GL078689

Ali, H., Mishra, V., & Pai, D. S. (2014). Observed and projected urban extreme rainfall events in India. Journal of Geophysical Research, 175, 238. https://doi.org/10.1038/175238c0

Ali, H., Modi, P., & Mishra, V. (2019). Increased flood risk in the Indian subcontinent under the warming climate. Weather and Climate Extremes, 25, 100212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wace.2019.100212

Allen, M. R., Dube, O. P., Solecki, W., Aragón-Durand, F., Cramer, W., Humphreys, F., Kainuma, M., Kala, J., Mahowald, N., Mulugetta, Y., Perez, R., Wairiu, M., & Zickfeld, K. (2018). Framing and context. In V. Masson-Delmotte, P. Zhai, H.-O. Pörtner, D. Roberts, J. Skea, P.R. Shukla, A. Pirani, W. Moufouma-Okia, C. Péan, R. Pidcock, S. Connors, J.B.R. Matthews, Y. Chen, X. Zhou, M.I. Gomis, E. Lonnoy, T. Maycock, M. Tignor & T. Waterfield (Eds.) Global warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC special report (pp. 49–92). Cambridge University Press.

Allwood, J. M., Cullen, J. M., & Milford, R. L. (2010). Options for achieving a 50% cut in industrial carbon emissions by 2050. Environmental Science and Technology, 44(5), 1888–1894. https://doi.org/10.1021/es902909k

Ambasta, P., Shankar, P. S. V., & Shah, M. (2008). Two years of NREGA: The road ahead. Economic and Political Weekly, 43(9), 41-50.

Amjath-Babu, T. S., Aggarwal, P. K., & Vermeulen, S. (2019). Climate action for food security in South Asia? Analyzing the role of agriculture in nationally determined contributions to the Paris Agreement. Climate Policy, 19(3), 283–298. https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2018.1501329

Anandarajah, G., & Gambhir, A. (2014). India's CO2 emission pathways to 2050: What role can renewables play? Applied Energy, 131, 79–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2014.06.026

Andimuthu, R., Kandasamy, P., Mudgal, B. V., Jeganathan, A., Balu, A., & Sankar, G. (2019). Performance of urban storm drainage network under changing climate scenarios: Flood mitigation in an Indian coastal city. Scientific Reports, 9, 7783.

Angelsen, A., & Dokken, T. (2018). Climate exposure, vulnerability, and environmental reliance: A cross-section analysis of structural and stochastic poverty. Environmental and Development Economics, 23(3), 257–278. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355770X18000013

Anguelovski, I., Shi, L., Chu, E., Gallagher, D., Goh, K., Lamb, Z., Reeve, K., & Teicher, H. (2016). Equity impacts of urban land use planning for climate adaptation: Critical perspectives from the Global North and South. Journal of Planning Education and Research, 36(3), 333–348. https:// doi.org/10.1177/0739456X16645166

Apine, E., Turner, L. M., Rodwell, L. D., & Bhatta, R. (2019). The application of the sustainable livelihood approach to small-scale fisheries: The case of mud crab Scylla serrata in south west India. Ocean & Coastal Management, 170, 17–28.

Archer, D., Almansi, F., DiGregorio, M., Roberts, D., Sharma, D., & Syam, D. (2014). Moving towards inclusive urban adaptation: Approaches to integrating community-based adaptation to climate change at city and national scale. Climate and Development, 6(4), 345–356. https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2014.918868

Arif, A. (2024). Climate finance in India: Bridging the gap in international efforts for equitable allocation. SPRF. https://sprf.in/climate-finance-in-india-bridging-the-gap-in-international-efforts-for-equitable-allocation/

Arora, R. S., Brent, D. A., & Jaenicke, E. C. (2020). Is India ready for alt-meat? Preferences and willingness to pay for meat alternatives. Sustainability, 12(11), 4377. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12114377

Aryal, J. P., Farnworth, C. R., Khurana, R., Ray, S., & Sapkota, T. B. (2014). Gender dimensions of climate change adaptation through climatesmart agricultural practices in India [Paper presentation]. Innovation in Indian Agriculture: Ways Forward, New Delhi, India.

Aryal, J. P., Jat, M. L., Singh, R., Gehlawat, S. K., & Agarwal, T. (2015). Framework, guidelines, and governance for designing local adaptation plans of action to mainstream climate-smart villages in India. International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center.

Aryal, J. P., Mehrotra, M. B., Jat, M. L., & Sidhu, H. S. (2015). Impacts of laser land leveling in rice-wheat systems of the north-western Indo-Gangetic plains of India. Food Security, 7(4), 725-738. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12571-015-0460-y

Aryal, J. P., Sapkota, T. B., Jat, M. L., & Bishnoi, D. K. (2015). On-farm economic and environmental impact of zero-tillage wheat: A case of northwest India. Experimental Agriculture, 51(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1017/S001447971400012X

Aryal, J. P., Sapkota, T. B., Stirling, C. M., Jat, M. L., Jat, H. S., Rai, M., Mittal, S., & Sutaliya, J. M. (2016). Conservation agriculture-based wheat production better copes with extreme climate events than conventional tillage-based systems: A case of untimely excess rainfall in Haryana, India. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 233, 325–335. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2016.09.013

Aryal, J. P., Jat, M. L., Sapkota, T. B., Khatri-Chhetri, A., Kassie, M., Rahut, D. B., & Maharjan, S. (2018). Adoption of multiple climate-smart agricultural practices in the Gangetic plains of Bihar, India. International Journal of Climate Change Strategies and Management, 10(4), 407–427. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCCSM-02-2017-0025

Aryal, J. P., Rahut, D. B., Jat, M. L., Maharjan, S., & Erenstein, O. (2018). Factors determining the adoption of laser land leveling in the irrigated rice-wheat system in Haryana, India. Journal of Crop Improvement, 32(4), 477–492. https://doi.org/10.1080/15427528.2018.1457584

Aryal, J. P., Rahut, D. B., Maharjan, S., & Erenstein, O. (2018). Factors affecting the adoption of multiple climate-smart agricultural practices in the Indo-Gangetic Plains of India. Natural Resources Forum, 42(3), 141–158. https://doi.org/10.1111/1477-8947.12152

Aryal, J. P., Sapkota, T. B., Khurana, R., Khatri-Chhetri, A., Rahut, D. B., & Jat, M. L. (2019). Climate change and agriculture in South Asia: Adaptation options in smallholder production systems. Environment, Development and Sustainability, 22, 5045–5075.

Aryal, J. P., Jat, M. L., Rahut, D. B., & Sapkota, T. B. (2020). Agricultural sustainability under emerging climatic variability: The role of climatesmart agriculture and relevant policies in India. International Journal of Innovation and Sustainable Development, 14(3), 219–245. https://doi. org/10.1504/IJISD.2020.106243

Aryal, J. P., Rahut, D. B., Sapkota, T. B., Khurana, R., & Khatri-Chhetri, A. (2020). Climate change mitigation options among farmers in South Asia. Environment, Development and Sustainability, 22(4), 3267–3289. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-019-00345-0

Atteridge, A., Shrivastava, M. K., Pahuja, N., & Upadhyay, H. (2012). Climate policy in India: What shapes international, national, and state policy? Ambio, 41(1), 68–77. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-011-0242-5

Attri, S. D. (2020). Climate services for managing climate change impacts on agriculture. In V. Venkatramanan, S. Shah & R. Prasad (Eds.) Global climate change: Resilient and smart agriculture (pp. 301–314). Springer.

Attri, S. D., & Tyagi, A. (2010). Climate profile of India. India Meteorological Department, Ministry of Earth Sciences, Government of India.

Avni, A., & Chaudhry, P. (2016). Urban vegetation and air pollution mitigation: Some issues from India. Chinese Journal of Urban and Environmental Studies, 4(1), 1650001. https://doi.org/10.1142/s2345748116500019

Awasthi, A., Singh, K., & Singh, R. P. (2017). A concept of diverse perennial cropping systems for integrated bioenergy production and ecological restoration of marginal lands in India. Ecological Engineering, 105, 58–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2017.04.049

Azam, M. (2012). The impact of the Indian job guarantee scheme on labor market outcomes: Evidence from a natural experiment [Discussion paper]. IZA.

Babu, A. P. D., Thomas, S., Lekshmi, P. S. S., & Sasikumar, G. (2012). Adoption of sustainable capture-based aquaculture practices by traditional fishermen of Karnataka. Indian Journal of Fisheries, 59(1), 49–52.

Babu, S. (2014). Operational guidelines on MGNREGA, 2005. Ministry of Rural Development, Government of India.

Badola, R., Barthwal, S., & Hussain, S. A. (2012). Attitudes of local communities towards conservation of mangrove forests: A case study from the east coast of India. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 96, 188–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2011.11.016

Baker, J. M., Ochsner, T. E., Venterea, R. T., & Griffis, T. J. (2007). Tillage and soil carbon sequestration—What do we really know? Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 118(1-4), 1-5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2006.05.014

Bal, S. K., & Chandran, M. A. S. (2021). Minimizing weather-related risks in agriculture through agromet advisory services in India. In V. K. B. Mallappa & M. Shirur (Eds.) Climate change and resilient food systems (pp. 245–260). Springer.

Bala, G., Caldeira, K., Wickett, M., Phillips, T. J., Lobell, D. B., Delire, C., & Mirin, A. (2007). Combined climate and carbon-cycle effects of large-scale deforestation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 104(16), 6550–6555. https://www.pnas.org/doi/10.1073/pnas.0608998104

Balarajan, Y., Selvaraj, S., & Subramanian, S. V. (2011). Health care and equity in India. Lancet, 377(9764), 505–515. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/21227492/

Balasubramaniam, B. D., Chatterjee, S., & Mustard, D. B. (2014). Got water? Social divisions and access to public goods in rural India. Economica, 81(321), 140–160.

Banerjee, S., Das, S., Mukherjee, A., Mukherjee, A., & Saikia, B. (2014). Adaptation strategies to combat climate change effects on rice and mustard in Eastern India. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change, 21, 249–261. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11027-014-9595-y Barah, B. C. (2009). Economic and ecological benefits of the system of rice intensification (SRI) in Tamil Nadu. Agricultural Economics Research Review, 22(2), 209–214.

Bardhan, R., & Debnath, R. (2016). Energy for sustainable development towards daylight inclusive by-law: Daylight as an energy-saving route for affordable housing in India. Energy for Sustainable Development, 34, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esd.2016.06.005

Bargout, R. N. (2014). Ecological agriculture and sustainable adaptation to climate change: A practical and holistic strategy for Indian smallholders. Conservation Journal of Sustainable Development, 12, 95–122.

Barik, B., Ghosh, S., Sahana, A. S., Pathak, A., & Sekhar, M. (2017). Water-food-energy nexus with changing agricultural scenarios in India during recent decades. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences, 21(6), 3041–3060. https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-21-3041-2017

Barik, D., & Thorat, A. (2015). Issues of unequal access to public health in India. Frontiers in Public Health, 3, 1–3. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fpubh.2015.00245

Barthwal, S., Chandola-Barthwal, S., Goyal, H., Nirmani, B., & Awasthi, B. (2013). Socio-economic acceptance of rooftop rainwater harvesting: A case study. Urban Water Journal, 11(3), 231–239. https://doi.org/10.1080/1573062X.2013.765489

Bassi, N., & Kumar, M. D. (2010). NREGA and rural water management in India: Improving the welfare effects. Institute for Resource Analysis and Policy.

Basole, A. (2022). Structural transformation and employment generation in India: Past performance and the way forward. The Indian Journal of Labour Economics, 65(2), 295–320. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41027-022-00380-y

Bassi, N., & Kumar, M. D. (2012). Addressing the civic challenges: Perspective on institutional change for sustainable urban water management in India. Environment and Urbanization Asia, 3(1), 165–183. https://doi.org/10.1177/097542531200300109

Basso, B., Dumont, B., Maestrini, B., Shcherbak, I., Robertson, G. P., Porter, J. R., Smith, P., Paustian, K., Grace, P. R., Asseng, S., Bassu, S., Biernath, C., Boote, K. J., Cammarano, D., De Sanctis, G., Durand, J.-L., Ewert, F., Gayler, S., Hyndman, D. W. ... Rosenzweig, R. (2018). Soil organic carbon and nitrogen feedbacks on crop yields under climate change. Agricultural & Environmental Letters, 3(1), 180026. https://doi.org/10.2134/ael2018.05.0026

Basu, D., & Das, D. (2014). Social hierarchies and public distribution of food in rural India [Working paper]. Department of Economics, University of Massachusetts.

Basu, J. P. (2014). Agroforestry, climate change mitigation and livelihood security in India. New Zealand Journal of Forestry Science, 44(Suppl 1), S11. https://doi.org/10.1186/1179-5395-44-S1-S11

Batabyal, K., Mandal, B., Sarkar, D., & Murmu, S. (2017). Assessment of nutrient management technologies for eggplant production under subtropical conditions: A comprehensive approach. Experimental Agriculture, 53(4), 588–608. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0014479716000600

Bawa, K. S., Sengupta, A., Chavan, V., Chellam, R., R. Ganesan, Krishnaswamy, J., Mathur, V. B., Nawn, N., Olsson, S. B., Pandit, N., Quader, S., Rajagopal, P., Ramakrishnan, U., G. Ravikanth, Sankaran, M., Shankar, D., Seidler, R., Shaanker, R. U., Vanak, A. T. (2021). Securing biodiversity, securing our future: A national mission on biodiversity and human well-being for India. Biological Conservation, 253, 108867. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.biocon.2020.108867

Bureau of Energy Efficiency. (2020). Impact of energy efficiency measures for the year 2018-19.

Bureau of Energy Efficiency & EY. (2019). Propelling electric vehicles in India: Technical study of electric vehicles and charging infrastructure.

Behal, D. (2023, September 30). How efficient buildings can help India meet its climate goals. India Spend. https://www.indiaspend.com/ climate-change/how-efficient-buildings-can-help-india-meet-its-climate-goals-877297

Behera, R. N., Nayak, D. K., Andersen, P., & Måren, I. E. (2016). From jhum to broom: Agricultural land-use change and food security implications on the Meghalaya Plateau, India. Ambio, 45, 63–77. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-015-0691-3

Betts, R. A., Alfieri, L., Bradshaw, C., Caesar, J., Feyen, L., Friedlingstein, P., Gohar, L., Koutroulis, A., Lewis, K., Morfopoulos, C., Papadimitriou, L., Richardson, K. J., Tsanis, I., & Wyser K . (2018). Changes in climate extremes, fresh water availability, and vulnerability to food insecurity projected at 1.5°C and 2°C global warming with a higher-resolution global climate model. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A, Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 376(2119). https://doi.org/10.1098/rsta.2016.0452

Bhagat, R. (2017). Migration, gender and the right to the city. Economic and Political Weekly, 52(32), 35-40.

Bhan, M., Sharma, D., Ashwin, A. S., & Mehra, S. (2016). Critical observations on National CAMPA Bill, 2016. Current Science, 111(7), 2015–2016.

Bhan, S., & Behera, U. K. (2014). Conservation agriculture in India: Problems, prospects, and policy issues. International Soil and Water Conservation Research, 2(4), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2095-6339(15)30053-8

Bhandari, D., & Shrimali, G. (2017). The perform, achieve, and trade scheme in India: An effectiveness analysis. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 81, 1286–1295. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2017.05.074

Bharat, G. K., Dkhar, N. B., & Abraham, M. (2020). Aligning India's sanitation policies with sustainable development goals (SDGs) [Discussion paper]. The Energy and Resources Institute.

Bhardwaj, A., & Khosla, R. (2020). Superimposition: How Indian city bureaucracies are responding to climate change. Environment and Planning E: Nature and Space, 4(3), 1139-1170. https://doi.org/10.1177/2514848620949096

Bharucha, J. (2018). Tackling the challenges of reducing and managing food waste in Mumbai restaurants. British Food Journal, 120(3), 639–649. https://doi.org/10.1108/BFJ-06-2017-0324

Bharucha, Z. P., Mitjans, S. B., & Pretty, J. (2020). Towards redesign at scale through zero-budget natural farming in Andhra Pradesh, India. International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability, 18(1), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/14735903.2019.1694465

Bhat, G. K., Karanth, A., Dashora, L., & Rajasekar, U. (2013). Addressing flooding in the city of Surat beyond its boundaries. Environment and Urbanization, 25(2), 429–441.

Bhat, P. A., Shafiq, M. ul, Mir, A. A., & Ahmed, P. (2017). Urban sprawl and its impact on land use/land cover dynamics of Dehradun City, India. International Journal of Sustainable Built Environment, 6(2), 513–521. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJSBE.2017.10.003

Bhatta, G. D., Aggarwal, P. K., Poudel, S., & Belgrave, D. A. (2015). Climate-induced migration in South Asia: Migration decisions and the gender dimensions of adverse climatic events. Journal of Rural and Community Development, 10(4), 1–23.

Bhatta, G. D., Ojha, H. R., Aggarwal, P. K., Sulaiman, V. R., Sultana, P., Thapa, D., Mittal, N., Dahal, K., Thompson, P., & Ghimire, L. (2017). Agricultural practices amid climate change: Empirical evidence from diverse agro-ecologies in South Asia. Environmental Development and Sustainability, 19, 497–525. Bhattacharyya, R. (2008). Crop diversification: A search for an alternative income for farmers in the state of West Bengal in India. International Conference on Applied Economics, 83–94.

Bhattacharyya, R., Ghosh, B. N., Dogra, P., Mishra, P. K., Santra, P., Kumar, S., Fullen, M. A., Mandal, U. K., Anil, K. S., Lalitha, M., Sarkar, D., Mukhopadhyay, D., Das, K., Pal, M., Yadav, R., Chaudhary, V. P., & Parmar, B. (2016). Soil conservation issues in India. Sustainability, 8(6), 1–37. https://doi.org/10.3390/su8060565 for rice crops in the western zone of Tamil Nadu. Journal of Agrometeorology, 16(1), 38–43.

Bhuyan, P. C., Goswami, C., & Kakati, B. K. (2017). Perceived constraints of fish farmers in adoption of composite carp culture in Assam, India. International Journal of Advanced Biological Research, 7(4), 679–686.

Birthal, P., & Negi, D. S. (2012). Livestock for higher, sustainable, and inclusive agricultural growth in India. Economic and Political Weekly, 47(26–27), 89–99.

Birthal, P. S. (2008). Linking smallholder livestock producers to markets: Issues and approaches. Indian Journal of Agricultural Economics, 63(1), 19–37.

Birthal, P. S., & Hazrana, J. (2019). Crop diversification and resilience of agriculture to climatic shocks: Evidence from India. Agricultural Systems, 173, 345–354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2019.03.005

Birthal, P. S., Roy, D., & Negi, D. S. (2015). Assessing the impact of crop diversification on farm poverty in India. World Development, 72, 70–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2015.02.015

Bisht, D. S., Mohite, A. R., Jena, P. P., Khatun, A., Chatterjee, C., Raghuwanshi, N. S., Singh, R., & Sahoo, B. (2020). Impact of climate change on streamflow regime of a large Indian river basin using a novel monthly hybrid bias correction technique and a conceptual modeling framework. Journal of Hydrology, 590, 125448. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2020.125448

Blummel, M. et al., (2009). Potential and limitations of by-product based feeding systems to mitigate greenhouse gases for improved livestock management. Agricultural Systems.

Borah, J. R., Evans, K. L., & Edwards, D. P. (2018). Quantifying carbon stocks in shifting cultivation landscapes under divergent management scenarios relevant to REDD+. Ecological Applications, 28(6), 1581–1593. https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.1764

Brahma, B., Pathak, K., Lal, R., Kurmi, B., Das, M., Nath, P. C., Nath, A. J., & Das, A. K. (2018). Ecosystem carbon sequestration through restoration of degraded lands in Northeast India. Land Degradation & Development, 29(1), 15–25.

Breitkreuz, R., Stanton, C. J., Brady, N., Pattison-Williams, J., King, E. D., Mishra, C., & Swallow, B. (2017). The Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Scheme: A policy solution to rural poverty in India? Development Policy Review, 35(3), 397–417. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/dpr.12220

Brown, S., Nicholls, R. J., Lázár, A. N., Hornby, D. D., Hill, C., Hazra, S., Addo, K. A., Haque, A., Caesar, J., & Tompkins, E. L. (2018). What are the implications of sea-level rise for a 1.5, 2, and 3°C rise in global mean temperatures in the Ganges-Brahmaputra-Meghna and other vulnerable deltas? Regional Environmental Change, 18, 1829–1842. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-018-1311-0

Brown, S., Nicholls, R. J., Goodwin, P., Haigh, I. D., Lincke, D., Vafeidis, A. T., & Hinkel, J. (2018). Quantifying land and people exposed to sea-level rise with no mitigation and 1.5°C and 2.0°C rise in global temperatures to year 2300. Earth's Future, 6(3), 583–600. https://doi. org/10.1002/2017EF000738

Bulkeley, H., & Castán Broto, V. (2014). Urban experiments and climate change: Securing zero-carbon development in Bangalore. Contemporary Social Science, 9(4), 393–414. https://doi.org/10.1080/21582041.2012.692483

Bunting, S. W., Mishra, R., Smith, K. G., & Ray, D. (2014). Evaluating sustainable intensification and diversification options for agriculture-based livelihoods within an aquatic biodiversity conservation context in Buxa, West Bengal, India. International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability, 13(4), 275–293.

Buragohain, T. (2012). Impact of solar energy in rural development in India. International Journal of Environmental Science and Development, 3(4), 334–338.

Bureau of Energy Efficiency. (2017). Buildings. https://beeindia.gov.in/en/buildings-1

Busby, J. W., & Shidore, S. (2017). When decarbonization meets development: The sectoral feasibility of greenhouse gas mitigation in India. Energy Research & Social Science, 23, 60–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2016.11.011

Busch, J., & Mukherjee, A. (2017). Encouraging state governments to protect and restore forests using ecological fiscal transfers: India's tax revenue distribution reform. Conservation Letters, 11(2), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1111/conl.12416

Byjesh, K., Kumar, S. N., & Aggarwal, P. K. (2010). Simulating impacts, potential adaptation, and vulnerability of maize to climate change in India. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change, 15, 413–431. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11027-010-9224-3

Byravan, S., & Rajan, S. C. (2013). An evaluation of India's National Action Plan on Climate Change. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi. org/10.2139/ssrn.2195819

Carswell, G., & Neve, G. D. E. (2013). Women at the crossroads: Implementation of the employment guarantee scheme in rural Tamil Nadu. Economic and Political Weekly, 48(52), 82–93.

Singh, D. (2017). Climate finance architecture in India. Centre for Budget and Governance Accountability

Coalition for Disaster Resilient Infrastructure. (n.d.). CDRI Overview. https://cdri.world/cdri-overview

Central Electricity Authority. (2019). Annual report. Ministry of Power, Government of India. https://cea.nic.in/old/reports/annual/annualreports/ annual_report-2020.pdf

Central Electricity Regulatory Commission. (2023). Report on short-term power market in India. https://cercind.gov.in/2023/market_monitoring/ Annual-2022-23/Chapter-I/AR-22-23_Chapter1.pdf

Central Ground Water Board. (2022). National compilation on dynamic ground water resources of India, 2022. https://cgwb.gov.in/ Council on Energy, Environment and Water. (2019a). Future skills and job creation with renewable energy in India: Assessing the co-benefits of decarbonising the power sector. https://www.ceew.in/sites/default/files/future.pdf

Council on Energy, Environment and Water. (2019b). India's energy transition: The impact of the Goods and Services Tax on solar photovoltaic and coal power costs.

Census of India. (2011). Census of India 2011 highlights. Government of India. https://mospi.gov.in/sites/default/files/reports_and_publication/ statistical_publication/social_statistics/WM16Highlights.pdf

Chaitra, A., Upgupta, S., Bhatta, L. D., Mathangi, J., Anitha, D. S., Sindhu, K., Kumar, V., Agrawal, N. K., Murthy, M. S. R., Qamar, F., Murthy, I. K., Sharma, J., Chaturvedi, R.K., Bala, G., Ravindranath, N. H. (2018). Impact of climate change on vegetation distribution and net primary productivity of forests of Himalayan river basins: Brahmaputra, Koshi, and Indus. American Journal of Climate Change, 7(2), 271–294. https://doi. org/10.4236/ajcc.2018.72018

Chakrabarty, D., Das, S. K., Das, M. K., & Biswas, P. (2009). Application of vermitechnology in aquaculture. Dynamic Soil, Dynamic Plant, 3(2), 41–44.

Chakraborty, A., Joshi, P. K., Ghosh, A., & Areendran, G. (2013). Assessing biome boundary shifts under climate change scenarios in India. Ecological Indicators, 34, 536–547. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2013.06.013

Chandel, S. S., Sharma, A., & Marwaha, B. M. (2016). Review of energy efficiency initiatives and regulations for residential buildings in India. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 54, 1443–1458. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.10.060

Chander, G., Wani, S. P., Sahrawat, K. L., Kamdi, P. J., Pal, C. K., Pal, D. K., & Mathur, T. P. (2013). Balanced and integrated nutrient management for enhanced and economic food production: Case study from rainfed semi-arid tropics in India. Archives of Agronomy and Soil Science, 59(12), 1643–1658. https://doi.org/10.1080/03650340.2012.761336

Chandigarh Administration. (2018). Action plan for control of air pollution in non-attainment city of Chandigarh.

Chandran, N., & Brahmachari, S. K. (2015). Technology, knowledge, and markets: Connecting the dots—electric rickshaw in India as a case study. Journal of Frugal Innovation, 1, 3. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40669-015-0003-5

Chapke, R. R., & Tonapi, V. A. (2018). Socio-economic impact and adoption of improved post-rainy sorghum (Sorghum bicolor) production technologies in Maharashtra. Indian Journal of Agricultural Sciences, 88(7), 992–997.

Chappelle, C., McCann, H., Jassby, D., Schwabe, K., & Szeptycki, L. (2019). Managing wastewater in a changing climate. Public Policy Institute of California.

Chaturvedi, S., & Dwivedi, S. (2021). Understanding the effect of climate change in the distribution and intensity of malaria transmission over India using a dynamical malaria model. International Journal of Biometeorology, 65(7), 1161–1175 doi: 10.1007/s00484-021-02097-x. Epub 2021 Mar 18.

Chaturvedi, R. K., Kattumuri, R., & Ravindranath, D. (2014). Mainstreaming adaptation to climate change in Indian policy planning. International Journal of Applied Economics and Econometrics, 22(1), 23–56. http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/51065/

Chaturvedi, R. K., & Ravindranath, N. H. (2017). Assessment of the impact of climate change on forests and biodiversity of Meghalaya. A study by Government of Meghalaya, 146, https://www.indiaspend.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/IISC-

Chaturvedi, R. K., Gopalakrishnan, R., Jayaraman, M., Bala, G., Joshi, N. V., Sukumar, R., & Ravindranath, N. H. (2011). Impact of climate change on Indian forests: A dynamic vegetation modeling approach. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change, 16, 119–142. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11027-010-9257-7

Chaturvedi, V., & Shukla, P. R. (2014). Role of energy efficiency in climate change mitigation policy for India: Assessment of co-benefits and opportunities within an integrated assessment modeling framework. Climatic Change, 123, 597–609. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-013-0898-x

Chaubey, P. K., Mall, R. K., Jaiswal, R., & Payra, S. (2022). Spatio-temporal changes in extreme rainfall events over different Indian river basins. Earth and Space Science, 9(3), e2021EA001930. https://doi.org/10.1029/2021EA001930

Chaudhry, P., Bohra, N. K., & Choudhary, K. R. (2011). Conserving biodiversity of community forests and rangelands of a hot arid region of India. Land Use Policy, 28(3), 506–513. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2010.10.005

Chaurasiya, P. K., Warudkar, V., & Ahmed, S. (2019). Wind energy development and policy in India: A review. Energy Strategy Reviews, 24, 342–357. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esr.2019.04.010

Chavan, S. B., Dhyani, S. K., Handa, A. K., Newaj, R., Rajarajan, K., & Keerthika, A. (2015). National agroforestry policy in India: A low hanging fruit. Current Science, 108(10), 1826–1834.

Chinchmalatpure, A. R., & Thakor, J. (2020). Bio-shielding coastal saline soils to combat climate change in coastal areas: Coastal region of western India as a case study. Advances in Agricultural Research and Technology Journal, 4(1), 49–62.

Chindarkar, N. (2012). Gender and climate change-induced migration: Proposing a framework for analysis. Environmental Research Letters, 7(2), 025601. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/7/2/025601

Chitale, V. S., Behera, M. D., & Roy, P. S. (2014). Future of endemic flora of biodiversity hotspots in India. PLoS One, 9, 1–15. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0115264

Choithani, C. (2017). Understanding the linkages between migration and household food security in India. Geographical Research, 55(2), 192–205.

Choithani, C. (2020). Gendered livelihoods: Migrating men, left-behind women and household food security in India. Gender, Place and Culture, 27(10), 1373–1394.

Choudhary, B. B., & Sirohi, S. (2022). Economic losses in dairy farms due to heat stress in sub-tropics: Evidence from North Indian Plains. Journal of Dairy Research, 89(2), 141-147. doi:10.1017/S0022029922000371

Choudhary, C., & Neeli, S. R. (2018). Risk governance for improving urban disaster risk reduction. In I. Pal & R. Shaw (Eds.), Disaster Risk Governance in India and Cross Cutting Issues (pp. 211–224). Springer.

Choudhary, M., Jat, H. S., Datta, A., Yadav, A. K., Sapkota, T. B., Mondal, S., Meena, R. P., Sharma, P. C., & Jat, M. L. (2018). Sustainable intensification influences soil quality, biota, and productivity in cereal-based agroecosystems. Applied Soil Ecology, 126, 189–198. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2018.02.027

Choudhary, M., Datta, A., Jat, H. S., Yadav, A. K., & Gathala, M. K. (2018). Changes in soil biology under conservation agriculture-based sustainable intensification of cereal systems in Indo-Gangetic plains. Geoderma, 313, 193–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2017.10.041

Chouhan, H. A., Parthasarathy, D., & Pattanaik, S. (2016). Urban development, environmental vulnerability, and CRZ violations in India: Impacts on fishing communities and sustainability implications in Mumbai coast. Environmental Development and Sustainability, 19, 971–985. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10668-016-9779-6

Chowdhury, A., & Maiti, S. K. (2016). Assessing the ecological health risk in a conserved mangrove ecosystem due to heavy metal pollution: A case study from Sundarbans Biosphere Reserve, India. Human Ecology Risk Assessment: An International Journal, 22(7), 1519–1541. https://doi.or g/10.1080/10807039.2016.1190636

Chowdhury, A., Naz, A., Bhattacharyya, S., & Sanyal, P. (2019). Cost-benefit analysis of 'Blue Carbon' sequestration by plantation of few key mangrove species at Sundarban Biosphere Reserve, India. Carbon Management, 9(6), 575–586. https://doi.org/10.1080/17583004.2018.1518105

Chu, E. (2016). The political economy of urban climate adaptation and development planning in Surat, India. Environmental Planning C: Government and Policy, 34(2), 281–298. https://doi.org/10.1177/0263774X15614174

Chu, E., & Michael, K. (2019). Recognition in urban climate justice: Marginality and exclusion of migrants in Indian cities. Environment and Urbanization, 31(1), 533–550. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956247818814449

Chu, E., Anguelovski, I., & Carmin, J. A. (2016). Inclusive approaches to urban climate adaptation planning and implementation in the Global South. Climate Policy, 16(3), 372–392. https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2015.1019822

Chunekar, A., Mulay, S., & Kelkar, M. (2017). Understanding the impacts of India's LED bulb programme 'UJALA.' Prayas Energy Group. https:// energy.prayaspune.org/images/pdf/02-peg-report-on-impacts-of-ujala.pdf

Climate Action Tracker. (2020). India. https://climateactiontracker.org/countries/india/

de Coninck, H., Revi, A., Babiker, M., Bertoldi, P., Buckeridge, M., Cartwright, A., Dong, W., Ford, J., Fuss, S., Hourcade, J.-C., Ley, D., Mechler, R., Newman, P., Revokatova, A., Schultz, S., Steg, L., & Sugiyama, T. (2018). Strengthening and implementing the global response. In V. MassonDelmotte, P. Zhai, H.-O. Pörtner, D. Roberts, J. Skea, P.R. Shukla, A. Pirani, W. Moufouma-Okia, C. Péan, R. Pidcock, S. Connors, J. B. R. Matthews, Y. Chen, X. Zhou, M. I. Gomis, E. Lonnoy, T. Maycock, M. Tignor & T. Waterfield (Eds.), Global warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC special report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.

Cook, M. J., & Chu, E. K. (2018). Between policies, programs, and projects: How local actors steer domestic urban climate adaptation finance in India. In S. Hughes, E. Chu & S. Mason (Eds.), Climate change in cities: Innovations in multi-level governance (pp. 255–277). Springer.

Coppenolle, Van R., & Temmerman, S. (2020). Identifying global hotspots where coastal wetland conservation can contribute to nature-based mitigation of coastal flood risks. Global and Planetary Change, 187, 103125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloplacha.2020.103125

Creutzig, F., Fernandez, B., Haberl, H., Khosla, R., Mulugetta, Y., & Seto, K. C. (2016). Beyond technology: Demand-side solutions for climate change mitigation. Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 41, 1–32. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-110615-085428

Cronin, V., & Guthrie, P. (2011). Community-led resettlement: From a flood-affected slum to a new society in Pune, India. Environmental Hazards, 10, 310–326.

Center for Study of Science, Technology and Policy & Global Green Growth Institute. (2016). Electric buses in India: Technology, policy, and benefits.

Central Water Commission. (2021). Water information.

D'Souza, R. (2006). Water in British India: The making of a 'colonial hydrology.' History Compass, 4(4), 621–628. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1478-0542.2006.00336.x

Department of Agriculture and Cooperation. (2010). National Mission for Sustainable Agriculture: Strategies for meeting the challenges of climate change.

Dallmann, I., & Millock, K. (2017). Climate variability and inter-state migration in India. CESifo Economic Studies, 63(4), 560–594. https://doi. org/10.1093/cesifo/ifx014

DaMatta, F. M., Grandis, A., Arenque, B. C., & Buckeridge, M. S. (2010). Impacts of climate changes on crop physiology and food quality. Food Research International, 43(7), 1814–1823. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2009.11.001

Dar, M. H. et al., (2020). Drought tolerant rice for ensuring food security in Eastern India. Sustainability, 12(7), 2214. https://doi.org/10.3390/ su12072214 Das, A., Patel, D. P., Kumar, M., Ramkrushna, G. I., Mukherjee, A., Layek, J., Ngachan, S. V., & Buragohain, J. (2017). Impact of seven years of organic farming on soil and produce quality and crop yields in eastern Himalayas, India. Agricultural Ecosystems & Environment, 236, 142–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2016.09.007

Das, P., & Behera, M. D. (2019). Can the forest cover in India withstand large climate alterations? Biodiversity and Conservation, 28, 2017–2033. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-019-01759-y

Das, S. (2017). Ecological restoration and livelihood: Contribution of planted mangroves as nursery and habitat for artisanal and commercial fishery. World Development, 94, 492–502. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2017.02.010

Das, S. (2020). Does mangrove plantation reduce coastal erosion? Assessment from the west coast of India. Regional Environmental Change, 20, 58. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-020-01637-2

Das, S., & Smith, S. C. (2012). Awareness as an adaptation strategy for reducing mortality from heat waves: Evidence from a disaster risk management program in India. Global Environmental Change, 22(1), 235–244.

Das, S. K., & Avasthe, R. K. (2018). Development of innovative low-cost production technology. Journal of Krishi Vigyan, 7(2), 223–225. Dasgupta, P., Ebi, K., & Sachdeva, I. (2016). Health sector preparedness for adaptation planning in India. Climatic Change, 138(1), 107–121. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-016-1745-7

Dasgupta, R., & Shaw, R. (2013). Changing perspectives of mangrove management in India: An analytical overview. Ocean & Coastal Management, 80, 107–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2013.04.010

Dass, A., & Chandra, S. (2012). Effect of different components of SRI on yield, quality, nutrient accumulation, and economics of rice (Oryza sativa) in the tarai belt of northern India. Indian Journal of Agronomy, 57(2), 250–254.

Datta, D. (2017). Assessment of mangrove management alternatives in village-fringe forests of Indian Sunderbans: Resilient initiatives or short-term nature exploitations? Wetland Ecology and Management, 25(3), 465–481. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11273-017-9582-7

Datta, D., & Deb, S. (2017). Forest structure and soil properties of mangrove ecosystems under different management scenarios: Experiences from the intensely humanized landscape of Indian Sunderbans. Ocean & Coastal Management, 140, 22–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ocecoaman.2017.02.022

Datta, D., Pradhan, S. K., & Chhotaray, D. (2015). Poverty and vulnerability amid plenty: Perspectives of people in the highland forested region of Odisha, India. Journal of Poverty, 19(1), 41–70.

DeFries, R., Mondal, P., Singh, D., Agrawal, I., Fanzo, J., Remans, R., & Wood, S. (2016). Synergies and trade-offs for sustainable agriculture: Nutritional yields and climate resilience for cereal crops in Central India. Global Food Security, 11, 44–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2016.07.001 Department of Agriculture and Cooperation. (2010). National Mission for Sustainable Agriculture.

Department of Science and Technology. (2019). Climate vulnerability assessment for adaptation planning in India using a common framework. Ministry of Science and Technology.

Desai, S., Vashishtha, P., & Joshi, O. (2015). Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act: A catalyst for rural transformation. Indian Human Development Survey.

Deshingkar, P. (2012). Environmental risk, resilience and migration: Implications for natural resource management and agriculture. Environmental Research Letters, 7(1), 015603. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/7/1/015603

Deshingkar, P., Kulkarni, U., & Rao, L. (2003). Changing food systems in India: Resource-sharing and marketing arrangements for vegetable production in Andhra Pradesh. Development Policy Review, 21(5), 627–639.

Deshingkar, P., Farrington, J., Rao, L., & Akter, S. (2008). Livestock and poverty reduction in India: Findings from the ODI livelihood options project. Overseas Development Institute & International Livestock Research Institute.

Dev, S. M., & Dev, S. M. (2011). NREGS and child well-being. Economic and Political Weekly, 46(38), 41-48.

Devi, T. I., Yadava, P. S., & Garkoti, S. C. (2014). Cattle grazing influences soil microbial biomass in sub-tropical grassland ecosystems at Nambol, Manipur, northeast India. Tropical Ecology, 55(2), 195–206.

Dey, A., Gupta, A. K., & Singh, G. (2019). Innovation, investment, and enterprise: Climate resilient entrepreneurial pathways for overcoming poverty. Agricultural Systems, 172, 83–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2018.07.013

Dey, P., & Sarkar, A. K. (2011). Revisiting indigenous farming knowledge of Jharkhand (India) for conservation of natural resources and combating climate change. Indian Journal of Traditional Knowledge, 10(1), 71–79.

Dhakal, S., Karki, P., & Shrestha, S. (2021). Cross-border electricity trade for Nepal: A SWOT-AHP analysis of barriers and opportunities based on stakeholders' perception. International Journal of Water Resources Development, 37(3), 559–580. https://doi.org/10.1080/07900627.2019.1648240

Dhanapal, G. (2019). Revisiting participatory forest management in India. Current Science, 117(7), 1161–1166. https://doi.org/10.18520/cs/v117/ i7/1161-1166

Dhanapal, G., & Panda, A. (2014). 13th Conference. Economic and Political Weekly, 49(10), 32-34.

Dhanya, B., Sathish, B. N., Viswanath, S., & Purushothaman, S. (2014). Ecosystem services of native trees: Experiences from two traditional agroforestry systems in Karnataka, Southern India. International Journal of Biodiversity Science, Ecosystem Services & Management, 10(2), 37–41. https://doi.org/10.1080/21513732.2014.918057

Dhar, S., Pathak, M., & Priyadarshi, S. (2016). Electric vehicles and India's low carbon passenger transport: A long-term co-benefits assessment. Journal of Cleaner Production, 146, 139–148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.05.111

Dhar, S., Shukla, P. R., & Pathak, M. (2017). India's INDC for transport and 2°C stabilization target. Chemical Engineering Transactions, 56, 31–36.

Dhar, S., Pathak, M., & Shukla, P. R. (2018). Transformation of India's transport sector under global warming of 2°C and 1.5°C scenario. Journal of Cleaner Production, 172, 417-427. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.10.076

Dhawan, V. (2017). Water and agriculture in India: Background paper for the South Asia expert panel during the Global Forum for Food and Agriculture. OAV – German Asia-Pacific Business Association

Dhiman, R. C., Pahwa, S., Dhillon, G. P. S., & Dash, A. P. (2010). Climate change and threat of vector-borne diseases in India: Are we prepared? Parasitology Research, 106, 763–773. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00436-010-1767-4

Dhiman, R. C., Chavan, L., Pant, M., & Pahwa, S. (2011). National and regional impacts of climate change on malaria by 2030. Current Science, 101(3), 372–383.

Dholakia, H. H., Mishra, V., & Garg, A. (2015). Predicted increases in heat-related mortality under climate change in urban India. IIMA Working Papers WP2015-05-02, Indian Institute of Management Ahmedabad, Research and Publication Department.

Dhyani, S., & Thummarukuddy, M. (2016). Ecological engineering for disaster risk reduction and climate change adaptation. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 23, 20049–20052. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-016-7517-0

Dhyani, S., Lahoti, S., Khare, S., Pujari, P., & Verma, P. (2018). Ecosystem-based Disaster Risk Reduction approaches (EbDRR) as a prerequisite for inclusive urban transformation of Nagpur City, India. International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction, 32, 95–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijdrr.2018.01.018

UDISE. (2012). Department of School Education and Literary. Ministry of Education. Government of India. https://udiseplus.gov.in/ud/ homePage/index.jsp

Diwakar, M. C., Kumar, A., Verma, A., & Uphoff, N. (2012). Report on the world-record SRI yields in Kharif season 2011 in Nalanda District, Bihar State, India. International Rice Research Institute.

Dourte, D. R., Shukla, S., Haman, D. Z., Reddy, M. D., Devi, M. U., & Mani, A. (2014). Agricultural management impacts on groundwater: Simulations of existing and alternative management options in Peninsular India. Hydrological Processes, 28(14), 5021–5033. https://doi. org/10.1002/hyp.9990

Dreze, J., & Khera, R. (2013). Rural poverty and the public distribution system: A follow-up. Economic and Political Weekly, 48(28), 55-60.

Dreze, J., & Khera, R. (2015). Understanding leakages in the public distribution system. Economic and Political Weekly, 50(7), 39-42.

Dreze, J., Khalid, N., Khera, R., & Somanchi, A. (2017). Aadhaar and food security in Jharkhand: Pain without gain? Economic and Political Weekly, 52(51), 50–60.

Dubash, N. K., Khosla, R., Rao, N. D., & Sharma, K. R. (2015). Informing India's energy and climate debate: Policy lessons from modelling studies. Energy Policy, 76, 94–105. Dubash, N. K., Raghunandan, D., & Forum, D. S. (2016). Indian climate change policy: Exploring a co-benefits-based approach. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change, 7(4), 614–626.

Dubash, N. K., Khosla, R., Kelkar, U., & Lele, S. (2018). India and climate change: Evolving ideas and increasing policy engagement. Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 43, 395–424. http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-102017-025809

Dubash, N. K., Khosla, R., Rao, N. D., & Bhardwaj, A. (2018). India's energy and emissions future: An interpretive analysis of model scenarios. Environmental Research Letters, 13(6), 064004. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aacc74

Dutta, M., & Mukherjee, S. (2010). An outlook into energy consumption in large-scale industries in India: The cases of steel, aluminium, and cement. Energy Policy, 38(11), 7286–7298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2010.07.056

Dutta, V. (2012). Land use dynamics and peri-urban growth characteristics: Reflections on master plan and urban suitability from a sprawling north Indian city. Environment and Urbanization Asia, 3(2), 277–301. https://doi.org/10.1177/0975425312473226

Eckstein, D., Künzel, V., Schäfer, L., & Winges, M. (2019). Global climate risk index 2020: Who suffers most from extreme weather events? Weather-related loss events in 2018 and 1999 to 2018. Germanwatch.

Edrisi, S. A., Tripathi, V., & Abhilash, P. (2018). Towards the sustainable restoration of marginal and degraded lands in India. Tropical Ecology, 59(3), 397–416.

EPW Engage. (2019). Is nuclear energy the answer to India's growing energy needs? https://www.epw.in/engage/article/nuclear-energy-answerindias-growing-energy-needs

Erenstein, O., & Thorpe, W. (2010). Crop-livestock interactions along agro-ecological gradients: A meso-level analysis in the Indo-Gangetic. Environmental Management, 12, 669–689. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-009-9218-z

Evans, B. E., Colin, C., Jones, H., & Robinson, A. (2009). Sustainability and equity aspects of total sanitation programmes: A study of recent WaterAid-supported programmes in three countries. Global synthesis report. WaterAid.

Fabi, V., Barthelmes, V. M., Schweiker, M., & Corgnati, S. P. (2017). Insights into the effects of occupant behaviour, lifestyles, and building automation on building energy use. Energy Procedia, 140, 48–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egypro.2017.11.122

Faizi, S., & Ravichandran, M. (2016). A framework for reforming India's forest biodiversity management regime. Nature Resources Forum, 40(3), 103–111. https://doi.org/10.1111/1477-8947.12103

Food and Agriculture Organization. (2017a). Conservation agriculture factsheet.

Food and Agriculture Organization. (2017b). India country programming framework 2016-2017.

Food and Agriculture Organization. (2018). Country programming framework for India.

Food and Agriculture Organization. (2024). India at a glance: FAO in India. https://www.fao.org/india/fao-in-india/india-at-a-glance/en/

Farnworth, C. R., Stirling, C., Sapkota, T. B., Jat, M. L., Misiko, M., & Attwood, S. (2017). Gender and inorganic nitrogen: What are the implications of moving towards a more balanced use of nitrogen fertilizer in the tropics? International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability, 15(2), 136–152. https://doi.org/10.1080/14735903.2017.1295343

Feagin, R. A., Mukherjee, N., Shanker, K., Baird, A. H., Cinner, J., Kerr, A. M., Koedam, N., Sridhar, A., Arthur, R., Jayatissa, L. P., Seen, D. L., Menon, M., Rodriguez, M., Shamsuddoha, M., & Dahdouh-Guebas, F. (2010). Shelter from the storm? Use and misuse of coastal vegetation bioshields for managing natural disasters. Conservation Letters, 3(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-263X.2009.00087.x

Fekete, H., Kuramochi, T., Roelfsema, M., den Elzen, M., Forsell, N., Höhne, N., Luna, L., Hans, F., Sterl, S., Olivier, J., van Soest, H., Frank, S., & Gusti, M. (2021). A review of successful climate change mitigation policies in major emitting economies and the potential of global replication. Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews, 137, 110602. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2020.110602

Foundation for Ecological Security. (2020). Restoration of shelterbelts in coastal regions of Anand district of Gujarat. Retrieved November 1, 2020, from https://cspc.org.in/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/Restoration-of-Shelterbelt-in-coastal-region-of-Anand-Ahmedabad-district-of-Gujarat.pdf

FICCI & Rocky Mountain Institute. (2017). Enabling the transition to electric mobility in India. Retrieved May 1, 2021, from https://rmi.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/report_electric_mobility_india_FICCI_RMI.pdf

Fischer, H. W. (2020). Policy innovations for pro-poor climate support: Social protection, small-scale infrastructure, and active citizenship under India's MGNREGA. Climate and Development, 12(8), 689–702. https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2019.1676690

Ford, J. D., Berrang-Ford, L., Lesnikowski, A., Barrera, M., & Heymann, S. J. (2013). How to track adaptation to climate change: A typology of approaches for national-level application. Ecology and Society, 18(3), 40. https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-05732-180340

Gadepalli, R., Cheriyan, C., Kumar, S., Singh, J., & Nandy, R. (2019). Fiscal incentives to scale up adoption of electric buses in Indian cities. Shakti Sustainable Energy Foundation.

Gadre, R., Jain, A., Jaiswal, S., Gombar, V., & Traum, D. (2020). India's clean power revolution: A success story with global implications. BloombergNEF. https://data.bloomberglp.com/professional/sites/24/2020-06-26-Indias-Clean-Power-Revolution_Final.pdf

Gandhi, T. M., Rural, N., & Guarantee, E. (2010). Discussion paper: Rights-based legal guarantee as development policy: The Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act. United Nations Development Programme.

Garg, A., Dhiman, R. C., Bhattacharya, S., & Shukla, P. R. (2009). Development, malaria, and adaptation to climate change: A case study from India. Environmental Management, 43, 779–789. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-008-9242-z

Garg, A., Maheshwari, J., Shukla, P. R., & Rawal, R. (2017). Energy appliance transformation in commercial buildings in India under alternate policy scenarios. Energy, 140, 952–965. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2017.09.004

Gathala, M. K., Ladha, J. K., Kumar, V., Saharawat, Y. S., Kumar, V., Sharma, P. K., Sharma, S., & Pathak, H. (2011). Tillage and crop establishment affect sustainability of South Asian rice-wheat system. Agronomy Journal, 103(4), 961–971. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj2010.0394

Global Buildings Performance Network. (2012). Best practice policies for low energy and carbon buildings based on scenario analysis.

Global Buildings Performance Network. (2014). Residential buildings in India: Energy use projections and savings potential.

Geelani, S. N. ul Z., Qaiser, K., Khan, P., Mughal, A., & Husain, M. (2018). Carbon stock estimation (above and below ground biomass) under different land use systems in Kashmir valley. Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry, 7(3), 949–953.

Geethalakshmi, V., Tesfai, M., Borrell, A., & Nagothu, U. S. (2016). System of rice intensification: Climate-smart rice cultivation system to mitigate climate change impacts in India. In U. S. Nagothu (Ed.), Climate change and agricultural development: Improving resilience through climate smart agriculture, agroecology and conservation (pp. 232–258). Routledge.

Gera, M. (2012). Poplar culture for speedy carbon sequestration in India: A case study from the Terai region of Uttarakhand. Forest Bulletin, 12, 75–83.

Global Green Growth Institute. (2014). GGGI 2014 annual report.

Ghosh, A., & Boyd, E. (2019). Unlocking knowledge-policy action gaps in disaster-recovery-risk governance cycle: A governmentality approach. International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction, 39, 101236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2019.101236

Ghosh, P. (2015). Conservation and conflicts in the Sundarban Biosphere Reserve, India. Geographical Review, 105(4), 429-440.

Ghosh, P. K., Das, A., Saha, R., Kharkrang, E., Tripathi, A. K., Munda, G. C., & Ngachan, S. V. (2010). Conservation agriculture towards achieving food security in North East India. Current Science, 99(7), 915–921.

Gill, G. (2014). An assessment of the impact of laser-assisted precision land levelling technology as a component of climate-smart agriculture in the state of Haryana. CIMMYT-CCAFS, International Maize and Wheat Research Center.

Giri, S. A., & Tiwari, N. (2013). Prospects and challenges for CCS technology deployment in India. International Journal of Scientific and Engineering Research, 4, 893–897.

Global Methane Initiative. (2011). Oil and gas systems methane: Reducing emissions, advancing recovery and use.

Godfrey-Wood, R., & Flower, B. C. R. (2017). Does guaranteed employment promote resilience to climate change? The case of India's Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act (MGNREGA). Development Policy Review, 36(S1), 0586-0604. https://doi.org/10.1111/ dpr.12309

Goel, R., Guttikunda, S. K., Mohan, D., & Tiwari, G. (2015). Benchmarking vehicle and passenger travel characteristics in Delhi for on-road emissions analysis. Travel Behaviour and Society, 2(2), 88–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tbs.2014.10.001

Government of India. (2023). Economic survey 2022-23. Ministry of Finance, Government of India. https://www.indiabudget.gov.in/economicsurvey/doc/echapter.pdf

Government of India. (2012). Second national communication to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change.

Gokila, B., & Baskar, K. (2015). Influence of biochar as a soil amendment on yield and quality of maize in Alfisol of Thoothukudi district of Tamil Nadu, India. International Journal of Plant, Animal, and Environmental Sciences, 5(1), 152–155.

Government of Maharashtra. (2015). Draft development control Maharashtra.

Gopal, N. T., Chaitanya, S. N. V. S. K., Venkateswara Rao, B., & Saheb, S. S. (2018). Demand side management of energy-efficient street lighting system through CCMS [Paper presentation]. 2018 3rd IEEE International Conference on Recent Trends in Electronics, Information & Communication Technology.

Gopalakrishnan, R., Jayaraman, M., Bala, G., & Ravindranath, N. H. (2011). Climate change and Indian forests. Current Science, 101(3), 348-355.

Gopalakrishnan, T., & Subramanian, K. (2020). Agrometeorological advisory services in India—An assessment. Retrieved from https://www. cseindia.org/agrometeorological-advisory-services-india-10064

Gota, S., & Mejia, A. (2018). Co-benefits of urban transport. In M. Sethi & J. A. Puppim de Oliveira (Eds.) Mainstreaming climate co-benefits in Indian cities(pp. 145–167). Springer.

Government of India. (2023). Economic survey 2023-24. Ministry of Finance. https://www.indiabudget.gov.in/economicsurvey/doc/echapter.pdf Goyal, N. (2019). Disaster governance and community resilience: The law and the role of SDMAs. International Journal of Disaster Risk Management, 1(2), 61–75. https://doi.org/10.18485/ijdrm.2019.1.2.5

Global Commission on the Economics of Water. (2023). The what, why and how of the world water crisis.

Graham, P., & Rawal, R. (2019). Achieving the 2°C goal: The potential of India's building sector. Building Research and Information, 47(1), 108–122. https://doi.org/10.1080/09613218.2018.1495803

Gray, E., & Srinidhi, A. (2013). Watershed development in India: Economic valuation and adaptation considerations [Working paper]. World Resources Institute.

Grazi, F., van den Bergh, J. C. J. M., van Ommeren, J., & Grazi, F. (2008). An empirical analysis of urban form, transport, and global warming. Energy Journal, 29(4), 97–122.

Green, J., & Newman, P. (2017). Citizen utilities: The emerging power paradigm. Energy Policy, 105, 283–293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. enpol.2017.02.004

Green, R. F., Joy, E. J. M., Harris, F., Agrawal, S., Aleksandrowicz, L., Hillier, J., Macdiarmid, J. I., Milner, J., Vetter, S. H., Smith, P., Haines, A., & Dangour, A. D. (2018). Greenhouse gas emissions and water footprints of typical dietary patterns in India. Science of the Total Environment, 643, 1411–1418. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.06.258

Gulati, A., & Thangaraj, P. (2021, October 11). India needs a carbon policy for agriculture. The Indian Express. https://indianexpress.com/article/ opinion/columns/india-needs-a-carbon-policy-for-agriculture-climate-change-7564364/

Guleria, S & Gupta, A. K. (2018). Heat wave in India: Documentation of the state of Telangana and Odisha (2016). National Institute of Disaster Management.

Guntukula, R. (2020). Assessing the impact of climate change on Indian agriculture: Evidence from major crop yields. Journal of Public Affairs, 20(1), e2040. https://doi.org/10.1002/pa.2040

Gupta, A. K., & Nair, S. S. (2012). Ecosystem approach to disaster risk reduction. National Institute of Disaster Management.

Gupta, D., Ghersi, F., Vishwanathan, S. S., & Garg, A. (2020). Macroeconomic assessment of India's development and mitigation pathways. Climate Policy, 20(7), 779–799. https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2019.1648235

Gupta, R., & Bharati, S. (2019). Healthy diet from sustainable food systems is not affordable: Our rejoinder to The Lancet Commission. RUHS Journal of Health Sciences, 4(1), 3–4. https://doi.org/10.37821/ruhsjhs.4.1.2019.3-4

Gupta, S., Huddar, N., Iyer, B., & Möller, T. (2018). The future of mobility in India's passenger-vehicle market. McKinsey & Company.

Gupta, V., Rai, P. K., & Risam, K. S. (2012). Integrated crop-livestock farming systems: A strategy for resource conservation and environmental sustainability. Indian Research Journal of Extension Education, 2(2), 49–54.

Haran, V. P. (2018). Water and hydropower cooperation in BBIN countries: Policies and way forward. International Journal of Water Resources Development, 37(3), 424–438. https://doi.org/10.1080/07900627.2018.1503076

Harihar, S., & Verhagen, H. J. (2017). Application of bamboo in mangrove rehabilitation projects. Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers – Structures and Buildings, 170(4), 227–235. https://doi.org/10.1680/jstbu.16.00039

Haris, A. A., Biswas, S., & Chhabra, V. (2010). Climate change impacts on productivity of rice (Oryza sativa) in Bihar. Indian Journal of Agronomy, 55(4), 295–298.

Hasegawa, T., Sakurai, G., Fujimori, S., Takahashi, K., Hijioka, Y., & Masui, T. (2021). Extreme climate events increase risk of global food insecurity and adaptation needs. Nature Food, 2, 587–595. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43016-021-00335-4

Hasegawa, T., Fujimori, S., Takahashi, K., & Masui, T. (2015). Scenarios for the risk of hunger in the twenty-first century using Shared Socioeconomic Pathways. Environmental Research Letters, 10(1), 014010. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/10/1/014010

Hassouna, F. M. A., Nassar, R., & Tubaleh, H. (2020). Electric vehicles as an alternative to conventional vehicles: A comprehensive review [Paper presentation]. 10th Annual International Conference on Civil Engineering, Athens, Greece.

Hazarika, N., Tayeng, T., & Das, A. K. (2016). Living in troubled waters: Stakeholders' perception, susceptibility and adaptations to flooding in the Upper Brahmaputra plain. Natural Hazards, 83, 1157–1176. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-016-2366-1

Hazra, K. K., & Bohra, A. (2020). Increasing relevance of pulse crops to sustainable intensification of Indian agriculture. National Academy of Sciences Letters, 44, 1–3. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40009-020-00948-6

Hegde, N. G. (2019). Livestock development for sustainable livelihood of small farmers. Asian Journal of Research in Animal and Veterinary Sciences, 2(1), 72–88.

Hess, J. J. et al., (2018). Building resilience to climate change: Pilot evaluation of the impact of India's first heat action plan on all-cause mortality. Journal of Environmental and Public Health, 2018, 7973519. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/7973519

Högy, P., Wieser, H., Köhler, P., Schwadorf, K., Breuer, J., Franzaring, J., Muntifering, R., & Fangmeier, A. (2009). Effects of elevated CO2 on grain yield and quality of wheat: Results from a 3-year free-air CO2 enrichment experiment. Plant Biology, 11(S1), 60–69. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1438-8677.2009.00230.x

Hoque, S. F. (2012). Urban water sector reforms in India: Financing infrastructure development through market-based financing and privatepublic partnerships. Lee Kuan Yew School of Public Policy.

Hussain, A., Dasgupta, S., & Bargali, H. S. (2016). Conservation perceptions and attitudes of semi-nomadic pastoralists towards relocation and biodiversity management: A case study of Van Gujjars residing in and around Corbett Tiger Reserve, India. Environmental Development and Sustainability, 18, 57–72. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-015-9621-6

Hussain, S. A., & Badola, R. (2010). Valuing mangrove benefits: Contribution of mangrove forests to local livelihoods in Bhitarkanika Conservation Area, East Coast of India. Wetlands Ecology and Management, 18, 321–331. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11273-009-9173-3 ICAR-Indian Grassland and Fodder Research Institute. (2015). Research & technology.

ICAR-Indian Grassland and Fodder Research Institute. (2019). Annual report 2019.

ICLEI & Shakti Sustainable Energy Foundation. (2019). Handbook: ECBC compliance in Indian cities. https://shaktifoundation.in/wp content/uploads/2019/11/ECBC_compliance_in_Indian_Cities.pdf

International Energy Agency. (2017). Energy efficiency report 2017.

International Energy Agency. (2020a). India energy policy review 2020. https://www.iea.org/reports/india-2020

International Energy Agency. (2020b). Global EV outlook 2020. OECD.

International Energy Agency. (2021). India energy outlook 2021. https://doi.org/10.1787/ec2fd78d-en

International Energy Agency. (2023). World energy outlook 2023. https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-outlook-2023
International Monetary Fund. (2024). IMF data mapper India data sets. https://www.imf.org/external/datamapper/profile/IND

Iftekhar, M. S. (2008). An overview of mangrove management strategies in three South Asian countries: Bangladesh, India, and Sri Lanka. International Forestry Review, 10(1), 38–51. https://doi.org/10.1505/ifor.10.1.38

Indian Institute for Human Settlements. (2015). Urban transport in India: Challenges and recommendations. Retrieved May 2, 2021, from https:// iihs.co.in/knowledge-gateway/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/RF-Working-Paper-Transport_edited_09062015_Final_reduced-size.pdf

Imam, A. U. K., & Banerjee, U. K. (2016). Urbanisation and greening of Indian cities: Problems, practices, and policies. Ambio, 45, 442–457. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-015-0763-4

Inaotombi, S., & Mahanta, P. C. (2019). Pathways of socio-ecological resilience to climate change for fisheries through indigenous knowledge. Human Ecology Risk Assessment, 25(8), 2032–2044. https://doi.org/10.1080/10807039.2018.1482197

Indian Network on Climate Change Assessment. (2010a). Climate change and India: A 4x4 assessment.

Indian Network on Climate Change Assessment. (2010b). India: Greenhouse gas emissions 2007.

International Solar Alliance. (2015). International solar alliance. Retrieved April 18, 2021, from https://isolaralliance.org/about/background

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. (2021): Climate change 2021: The physical science basis. Contribution of working group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S.L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M.I. Gomis, M. Huang, K. Leitzell, E. Lonnoy, J.B.R. Matthews, T.K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu, and B. Zhou (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press. doi:10.1017/9781009157896.

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. (2022a). Climate change 2022: Impacts, adaptation and vulnerability. Contribution of working group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [H.-O. Pörtner, D. C. Roberts, M. Tignor, E. S. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, A. Alegría, M. Craig, S. Langsdorf, S. Löschke, V. Möller, A. Okem, & B. Rama (Eds.)]. Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009325844

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. (2022b). Climate resilient development pathways. In H.-O. Pörtner, D. C. Roberts, M. Tignor, E. S. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, A. Alegría, M. Craig, S. Langsdorf, S. Löschke, V. Möller, A. Okem, & B. Rama (Eds.), Climate change 2022: Impacts, adaptation and vulnerability. Contribution of working group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (pp. 2655–2807). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009325844.027

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. (2023). Sections. In Core Writing Team, H. Lee, & J. Romero (Eds.), Climate change 2023: Synthesis report. Contribution of working groups I, II and III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. https://doi.org/10.59327/IPCC/AR6-9789291691647

Islam, M. A., Masoodi, T. H., Gangoo, S. A., Sofi, P. A., Bhat, G. A., Wani, A. A., Gatoo, A. A., Singh, A., & Malik, A. R. (2015). Perceptions, attitudes and preferences in agroforestry among rural societies of Kashmir, India. Journal of Applied and Natural Science, 7(2), 976–983

Islam, S., Gathala, M. K., Tiwari, T. P., Timsina, J., Laing, A. M., Maharjan, S., Chowdhury, A. K., Bhattacharya, P. M., Dhar, T., Mitra, B., Kumar, S., Srivastwa, P. K., Dutta, S. K., Shrestha, R., Manandhar, S., Sherestha, S. R., Paneru, P., Siddquie, N., Hossain, A. ... Gérard, B. (2019). Conservation agriculture-based sustainable intensification: Increasing yields and water productivity for smallholders of the Eastern Gangetic Plains. Field Crops Research, 238, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2019.04.005

Jacobs, C., Singh, T., Gorti, G., Iftikhar, U., Saeed, S., Syed, A., Abbas, F., Ahmad, B., Bhadwal, S., & Siderius, C. (2019). Patterns of outdoor exposure to heat in three South Asian cities. Science of the Total Environment, 674, 264–278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.04.087 Jacobs, H. (2019). Heat vulnerability and the built environment in Ahmedabad, India. Penn Institute for Urban Research.

Jaeger, J. (2023). These countries are adopting electric vehicles the fastest. World Resources Institute. https://www.wri.org/insights/countries-adopting-electric-vehicles-fastest

Jain, C. K., & Singh, S. (2018). Impact of climate change on the hydrological dynamics of River Ganga, India. Journal of Water and Climate Change, 11(1), 274–290. https://doi.org/10.2166/wcc.2018.029

Jain, G., & Bazaz, A. B. (2020). A multi-scalar approach for assessing costs and benefits of risk reduction alternatives for the people and the city: Cases of three resettlements in Visakhapatnam, India. Sustainability, 12(15), 5958. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12155958

Jain, G., Singh, C., Coelho, K., & Malladi, T. (2017). Long-term implications of humanitarian responses: The case of Chennai. International Institute for Environment and Development http://pubs.iied.org/10840IIED

Jain, G., Singh, C., & Malladi, T. (2021). (Re)creating disasters – A case of post-disaster resettlements in Chennai. In C. Johnson, G. Jain & A. Lavell (Eds.), Rethinking urban risk and relocation in the Global South . UCL Press.

Jat, H. S., Datta, A., Choudhary, M., Yadav, A. K., Choudhary, V., Sharma, P. C., Gathala, M. K., Jat, M. L., & McDonald, A. (2019). Effects of tillage, crop establishment, and diversification on soil organic carbon, aggregation, aggregate-associated carbon, and productivity in cereal systems of semi-arid Northwest India. Soil & Tillage Research, 190, 128–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2019.03.005

Jat, L. K., Singh, Y. V., Meena, S. K., Meena, S. K., Parihar, M., Jatav, H. S., Meena, R. K., & Meena, V. S. (2015). Does integrated nutrient management enhance agricultural productivity? Journal of Pure and Applied Microbiology, 9, 1211–1221.

Jat, M. L., Gathala, M. K., Ladha, J. K., Saharawat, Y. S., Jat, A. S., Kumar, V., Sharma, S. K., Kumar, V., & Gupta, R. (2009). Evaluation of precision land leveling and double zero-till systems in the rice-wheat rotation: Water use, productivity, profitability, and soil physical properties. Soil & Tillage Research, 105(1), 112–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2009.06.003

Jat, M. L., Singh, Y., Gill, G., Sidhu, H., Aryal, J., Stirling, C., & Gerard, B. (2014). Laser-assisted precision land leveling impacts in irrigated intensive production systems of South Asia.

Jat, R. K., Sapkota, T. B., Singh, R. G., Jat, M. L., Kumar, M., & Gupta, R. K. (2014). Seven years of conservation agriculture in a rice-wheat rotation of the Eastern Gangetic Plains of South Asia: Yield trends and economic profitability. Field Crops Research, 164, 199–210. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.fcr.2014.04.015

Jat, M. L., Dagar, J. C., Sapkota, T. B., Singh, Y., Govaerts, B., Ridaura, S. L., Saharawat, Y. S., Sharma, R. K., Tetarwal, J. P., Jat, R. K., Hobbs, H., & Stirling, C. (2016). Climate change and agriculture: Adaptation strategies and mitigation opportunities for food security in South Asia and Latin America. Advances in Agronomy, 137, 127–235.

Jat, R. A., Dungrani, R. A., Arvadia, M. K., & Sahrawat, K. L. (2012). Diversification of rice (Oryza sativa L.)-based cropping systems for higher productivity, resource-use efficiency, and economic returns in South Gujarat, India. Archives of Agronomy and Soil Science, 58(6), 561–572. https://doi.org/10.1080/03650340.2010.533172

Jat, S. L., Parihar, C. M., Singh, A. K., Jat, M. L., Jat, R. L., Singh, D. K., & Sai Kumar, R. (2011). Conservation agriculture in maize production systems.

Jayakumar, K., Selvam, V., & Prabavathy, V. R. (2019). A WebGIS-based study for managing mangroves of Godavari Wetland, Andhra Pradesh, India. Journal of the Indian Society of Remote Sensing, 47, 2027–2045. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12524-019-01046-x

Jebarathanam, P. P. J., Ravichandrana, J. V., & Nandhagopal, G. (2014). Preliminary studies on the nature of epibiota assemblage on low crested coastal protection structures. Indian Journal of Geo-Marine Sciences, 43, 2130–2135.

Jevrejeva, S., Jackson, L. P., Riva, R. E. M., Grinsted, A., & Moore, J. C. (2016). Coastal sea level rise with warming above 2°C. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 113(47), 13342–13347. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1605312113

Jha, B., Kumar, N., & Mohanty, B. (2015). Pattern of agricultural diversification in Odisha. In M. Ghosh, D. Sarkar & B. C. Roy (Eds), Diversification of agriculture in eastern India (pp. 69–77). Springer.

Jha, C. K., Gupta, V., Chattopadhyay, U., & Sreeraman, B. A. (2018). Migration as an adaptation strategy to cope with climate change. International Journal of Climate Change Strategies and Management, 10(1), 121–141. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCCSM-03-2017-0059

Jha, D. K., Rajaprabhu, G., Kirubagaran, R., Kumar, R. S., Dharani, G., Das, A., Gopinath, G., & Santhanakumar, J. (2017). Estimation of potential zones for offshore mariculture in the Indian Sea using geographical information system as a management tool. Journal of Coastal Conservation, 21, 893–902. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11852-017-0556-y

Jha, I., Sen, S., & Kumar, R. (2014). Smart grid development in India – A case study [Paper presentation]. 2014 Eighteenth National Power Systems Conference (NPSC), Guwahati, India. IEEE.

Jha, S., Das, J., & Goyal, M. K. (2019). Assessment of risk and resilience of terrestrial ecosystem productivity under the influence of extreme climatic conditions over India. Scientific Reports, 9, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-55067-0

Jogesh, A., & Dubash, N. K. (2014). From margins to mainstream? State climate change planning in India. Economic and Political Weekly, 49(48), 86–95.

Jogesh, A., & Dubash, N. K. (2015). State-led experimentation or centrally-motivated replication? A study of state action plans on climate change in India. Journal of Integrated Environmental Sciences, 12(4), 247–266. https://doi.org/10.1080/1943815X.2015.1077869

Jose, M., & Padmanabhan, M. (2015). Dynamics of agricultural land use change in Kerala: A policy and social-ecological perspective. International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability, 14(3), 307–324. https://doi.org/10.1080/14735903.2015.1107338

Joshi, A., & Nishimura, M. (2016). Impact of disaster relief policies on the cooperation of residents in a post-disaster housing relocation program: A case study of the 2004 Indian Ocean Tsunami. International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction, 19, 258–264. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijdrr.2016.08.018

Joshi, A. A., Sankaran, M., & Ratnam, J. (2018). 'Foresting' the grassland: Historical management legacies in a forest-grassland mosaic in southern India and lessons for the conservation of tropical grassy biomes. Biological Conservation, 224, 144–152.

Joshi, L., Choudhary, D., Kumar, P., Venkateswaran, J., & Solanki, C. S. (2019). Does involvement of local community ensure sustained energy access? A critical review of a solar PV technology intervention in rural India. World Development, 122, 272–281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. worlddev.2019.05.028

Joshi, M. K., Rai, A., Kulkarni, A., & Kucharski, F. (2020). Assessing changes in characteristics of hot extremes over India in a warming environment and their driving mechanisms. Scientific Reports, 10, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-59427-z

Joshi, P. K., Rawat, A., Narula, S., & Sinha, V. (2012). Assessing the impact of climate change on forest cover type shifts in the Western Himalayan Eco-region. Journal of Forestry Research, 23, 75–80. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11676-012-0235-7

Joshi, P. N., Kumar, V., Koladiya, M., Patel, Y. S., & Karthik, T. (2009). Local perceptions of grassland change and priorities for conservation of natural resources of Banni, Gujarat, India. Frontiers in Biology in China, 4, 549–556. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11515-009-0041-6

Joyita. (2013). Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act: Review of implementation. PRS Legislative Research.

Karstensen, J., Roy, J., Pal, B. D., Peters, G., & Andrew, R. (2020). Key drivers of Indian greenhouse gas emissions. Economic and Political Weekly, 55(15), 46–53. https://www.epw.in/journal/2020/15/special-articles/key-drivers-indian-greenhouse-gas-emissions.html

Murthy, I. K. (2013). Carbon sequestration potential of agroforestry systems in India. Journal of Earth Science & Climate Change, 4, 131. https://doi.org/10.4172/2157-7617.1000131

Kakarla, S. G., Bhimala, K. R., Kadiri, M. R., Kumaraswamy, S., & Mutheneni, S. R. (2020). Dengue situation in India: Suitability and transmission potential model for present and projected climate change scenarios. Science of the Total Environment, 739, 140336. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2020.140336

Kankara, R. S., Selvan, S. C., Rajan, B., & Arockiaraj, S. (2014). An adaptive approach to monitor the shoreline changes in the ICZM framework: A case study of Chennai coast [Paper presentation]. Proceedings of the Fifth Indian National Conference on Harbour and Ocean Engineering (INCHOE2014), Goa, India.

Kannan, E., & Ramappa, K. B. (2017). Analysis of farm-level adoption of soil nutrient management technology by paddy farmers in Karnataka, India. Environmental Development and Sustainability, 19, 2317–2331. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-016-9858-8

Kapoor, A. (2012). A gender policy framework for state action plans on climate change (SAPCCs). Alternative Futures. http://alternativefutures. org.in/userfiles/Engendering_the_Climate_for_Change.pdf

Kasthuri, A. (2018). Challenges to healthcare in India: The five A's. Indian Journal of Community Medicine, 43(3), 141–143. https://doi.org/10.4103/ ijcm.IJCM_194_18

Kathiresan, K. (2010). Importance of mangrove forests of India. Journal of Coastal Environment, 1(1), 11-26.

Kathiresan, K. (2018). Mangrove forests of India. Current Science, 114(5), 976-981.

Kaul, M. (2010). Carbon budgets and carbon sequestration potential of Indian forests [Doctoral dissertation, Wageningen University].

Kaur, N., Steinbach, D., Agrawal, A., Manuel, C., Saigal, S., Panjiyar, A., Barnwal, A., Shakya, C., & Norton, A. (2017). Building resilience to climate change droughts in Sikkim. International Institute for Environment and Development.

Keil, A., D'Souza, A., & McDonald, A. (2015). Zero-tillage as a pathway for sustainable wheat intensification in the Eastern Indo-Gangetic Plains: Does it work in farmers' fields? Food Security, 7, 983–1001. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12571-015-0492-3

Keil, A., D'Souza, A., & McDonald, A. (2017). Zero-tillage is a proven technology for sustainable wheat intensification in the Eastern Indo-Gangetic Plains: What determines farmer awareness and adoption? Food Security, 9, 723–743. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12571-017-0707-x

Keil, A., Mitra, A., Srivastava, A. K., & McDonald, A. (2019). Social inclusion increases with time for zero-tillage wheat in the Eastern Indo-Gangetic Plains. World Development, 123, 104582. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2019.06.006

Kelkar, S. M., Kulkarni, A., & Rao, K. K. (2020). Impact of climate variability and change on crop production in Maharashtra, India. Current Science, 118(8), 1235–1245. https://doi.org/10.18520/cs/v118/i8/1235-1245

Khadse, A., & Rosset, P. M. (2019). Zero budget natural farming in India—from inception to institutionalization. Agroecology and Sustainable Food Systems, 43(7–8), 848–871. https://doi.org/10.1080/21683565.2019.1608349

Khan, H. H., Khan, A., Ahmed, S., & Perrin, J. (2011). GIS-based impact assessment of land-use changes on groundwater quality: Study from a rapidly urbanizing region of South India. Environmental Earth Sciences, 63, 1289–1302. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12665-010-0801-2

Khatri-Chhetri, A., Aryal, J. P., Sapkota, T. B., & Khurana, R. (2016). Economic benefits of climate-smart agricultural practices to smallholder farmers in the Indo-Gangetic Plains of India. Current Science, 110(7), 1251–1256. https://doi.org/10.18520/cs/v110/i7/1251-1256

Khatri-Chhetri, A., Aggarwal, P. K., Joshi, P. K., & Vyas, S. (2017). Farmers' prioritization of climate-smart agriculture (CSA) technologies. Agricultural Systems, 151, 184–191. DOI:10.18520/cs/v110/i7/1251-1256

Khera, R. (2011). Revival of the public distribution system: Evidence and explanations. Economic and Political Weekly, 46(44-45), 36-50.

Khera, R., & Nayak, N. (2009). Women workers and perceptions of the National Rural Employment Guarantee Act. Economic and Political Weekly, 44(43), 49–57.

Khosla, R., & Bhardwaj, A. (2019a). Urban India and climate change. In N. K. Dubash (Ed.), India in a Warming World (pp. 459–476). Oxford University Press.

Khosla, R., & Bhardwaj, A. (2019b). Urbanization in the time of climate change: Examining the response of Indian cities. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change, 10(1), e560. https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.560

Khosla, R., & Janda, K. B. (2019). India's building stock: Towards energy and climate change solutions. Building Research & Information, 47(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1080/09613218.2019.1522482

Khosla, R., Sagar, A., & Mathur, A. (2017). Deploying low-carbon technologies in developing countries: A view from India's buildings sector. Environmental Policy and Governance, 27(2), 149–162. https://doi.org/10.1002/eet.1750

Klein, R. J. T., Midgley, G. F., Preston, B. L., Alam, M., Berkhout, F. G. H., Dow, K., & Shaw, M. R. (2014). Adaptation opportunities, constraints, and limits. In Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and sectoral aspects. Contribution of working group II to the fifth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (pp. 899–943). Cambridge University Press.

Knowler, D., Philcox, N., Nathan, S., Delamare, W., Haider, W., & Gupta, K. (2009). Assessing prospects for shrimp culture in the Indian Sundarbans: A combined simulation modelling and choice experiment approach. Marine Policy, 33(4), 613–623. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. marpol.2008.12.009

Knowlton, K., Kulkarni, S. P., Azhar, G. S., Mavalankar, D., Jaiswal, A., Connolly, M., Nori-Sarma, A., Rajiva, A., Dutta, P., Deol, B., Sanchez, L., Khosla, R., Webster, P. J., Toma, V. E., Sheffield, P., Hess, J. J., & The Ahmedabad Heat and Climate Study Group (2014). Development and implementation of South Asia's first heat-health action plan in Ahmedabad (Gujarat, India). International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 11(4), 3473–3492. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph110403473

Kodirekkala, K. R. (2018). Cultural adaptation to climate change among indigenous people of South India. Climatic Change, 147, 299–312. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-017-2116-8

Koks, E. E., Rozenberg, J., Zorn, C., Tariverdi, M., Vousdoukas, M., Fraser, S. A., Hall, J. W., & Hallegatte, S. (2019). A global multi-hazard risk analysis of road and railway infrastructure assets. Nature Communications, 10, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-10442-3

Kompas, T., Pham, V. H., & Che, T. N. (2018). The effects of climate change on GDP by country and the global economic gains from complying with the Paris climate accord. Earth's Future, 6(8), 1153–1173. https://doi.org/10.1029/2018EF000922

Kovats, S., & Akhtar, R. (2008). Climate, climate change and human health in Asian cities. Environment and Urbanization, 20(1), 165–175. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956247808089154

KPMG. (2015). The new wave Indian MSME—An action agenda for growth. https://assets.kpmg/content/dam/kpmg/pdf/2016/03/The-new-wave-Indian-MSME.pdf

Krishna, A. (2013). Stuck in place: Investigating social mobility in 14 Bangalore slums. Journal of Development Studies, 49(7), 1010–1028. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220388.2013.785526

Krishna, K. L., Goldar, B., Das, D. K., Aggarwal, S. C., Erumban, A. A., & Das, P. C. (2022). India productivity report. Centre for Development Economics.

Krishna, A., Sriram, M. S., & Prakash, P. (2014). Slum types and adaptation strategies: Identifying policy-relevant differences in Bangalore. Environment and Urbanization, 26(2), 568–585. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956247814537958

Krishnamurthy, R. R., Dasgupta, R., Chatterjee, R., & Shaw, R. (2014). Managing the Indian coast in the face of disasters & climate change: A review and analysis of India's coastal zone management policies. Journal of Coastal Conservation, 18(2), 301–312. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11852-014-0339-7

Krishnan, R., Sanjay, J., Gnanaseelan, C., Mujumdar, M., Kulkarni, A., & Chakraborty, S. (Eds.). (2020). Assessment of climate change over the Indian region. Springer.

Krishnan, S., & Patnaik, I. (2020). Health and disaster risk management in India. In R. Krishnan & J. Sanjay (Eds.), Health and disaster risk management in India (pp. 155–184). Springer.

Krishnaswamy, J., John, R., & Joseph, S. (2014). Consistent response of vegetation dynamics to recent climate change in tropical mountain regions. Global Change Biology, 20(1), 203–215. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12362

Kristjanson, P., Waters-Bayer, A., Johnson, N., Tipilda, A., Njuki, J., Baltenweck, I., Grace, D., & MacMillan, S. (2010). Livestock and women's livelihoods: A review of the recent evidence. World Development, 38(9), 1342–1357.

Kubiszewski, I., Anderson, S. J., Costanza, R., & Sutton, P. C. (2016). The future of ecosystem services in Asia and the Pacific. Asia Pacific Policy Studies, 3(3), 389–404. https://doi.org/10.1002/app5.147

Kudale, M. D., Mahalingaiah, A. V., & Tayade, B. R. (2014). Use of sand-filled geotextile tubes for sustainable coastal protection: Case studies in Indian scenario. Indian Journal of Geo-Marine Sciences, 43(11), 1241–1246.

Kulkarni, A., Mujumdar, M., Sanjay, J., Gnanaseelan, C., Chakraborty, S., & Kulkarni, A. (2020). Precipitation changes in India. In R. Krishnan, J. Sanjay, C. Gnanaseelan, M. Mujumdar, A. Kulkarni, & S. Chakraborty (Eds.), Assessment of climate change over the Indian region (pp. 47–72). Springer.

Kumar, J. C. R., & Majid, M. A. (2020). Renewable energy for sustainable development in India: Current status, future prospects, challenges, employment, and investment opportunities. Energy for Sustainable Development, 10(2), 2. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13705-019-0232-1

Kumar, A. (2016). Impact of building regulations on Indian hill towns. HBRC Journal, 12(4), 316–326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hbrcj.2015.02.002

Kumar, A. (2019). Beyond technical smartness: Rethinking the development and implementation of sociotechnical smart grids in India. Energy Research & Social Science, 49, 158–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2018.10.026

Kumar, A., & Pushplata. (2013). Building regulations for environmental protection in Indian hill towns. International Journal of Sustainable Built Environment, 2(2), 224–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijsbe.2014.04.003

Kumar, A., & Pushplata. (2015). Building regulations for hill towns of India. HBRC Journal, 11(3), 275–284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. hbrcj.2014.06.006

Kumar, A., Natarajan, S., Biradar, N. B., & Trivedi, B. K. (2011). Evolution of sedentary pastoralism in south India: Case study of the Kangayam grassland. Pastoral Research Policy and Practice, 1(1), 1–10.

Kumar, A., Mishra, V. N., Biswas, A. K., & Somasundaram, J. (2018). Soil organic carbon, dehydrogenase activity, and fluorescein diacetate as influenced by contrasting tillage and cropping systems in Vertisols of Central India. Journal of Environmental Biology, 39(5), 1047–1053. DOI:10.22438/jeb/39/6/MRN-734

Kumar, C. R., Kumar, V., & Majid, M. (2019). Wind energy programme in India: Emerging energy alternatives for sustainable growth. Energy & Environment, 30(7), 1135–1189. https://doi.org/10.1177/0958305X19841297

Kumar, D. S., & Palanisami, K. (2010). Impact of drip irrigation on farming systems: Evidence from southern India. In M. R. Goyal (Ed.), Management performance of applied micro irrigation systems (pp. 54–67). https://doi.org/10.1201/b17303-12 Kumar, M., Singh, M. P., Singh, H., Dhakate, P. M., & Ravindranath, N. H. (2020). Forest working plan for the sustainable management of forest and biodiversity in India. Journal of Sustainable Forestry, 39(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1080/10549811.2019.1632212

Kumar, P. (2011). Capacity constraints in operationalization of payment for ecosystem services (PES) in India: Evidence from land degradation. Land Degradation & Development, 22(4), 432–443. https://doi.org/10.1002/ldr.1024

Kumar, R., Mishra, J. S., Rao, K. K., & Mondal, S. (2020). Crop rotation and tillage management options for sustainable intensification of ricefallow agro-ecosystems in eastern India. Scientific Reports, 10, 12345. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-67973-9

Kumar, S., Sharma, K. L., Kareemulla, K., Chary, G. R., Ramarao, C. A., Rao, C. S., & Venkateswarlu, B. (2011). Techno-economic feasibility of conservation agriculture in rainfed regions of India. Current Science, 101(9), 1171–1181.

Kumar, S., Sachar, S., Kachhawa, S., Goenka, A., Kasamsetty, S., & George, G. (2018). Demand analysis for cooling by sector in India in 2027. Energy Policy, 121, 441–451.

Kumar, V., Jat, H. S., Sharma, P. C., Singh, B., Gathala, M. K., Malik, R. K., Kamboj, B. R., Yadav, A. K., Ladha, J. K., Raman, A., Sharma, D. K., & McDonald, A. (2018). Can productivity and profitability be enhanced in intensively managed cereal systems while reducing the environmental footprint of production? Assessing sustainable intensification options in the breadbasket of India. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 252, 132–147. DOI: 10.1016/j.agee.2017.10.006

Lal, R. (2004). Soil carbon sequestration impacts on global climate change and food security. Science, 304, 1623–1627. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.1097396.

Laulikitnont, P. (2014). Evaluation of mangrove ecosystem restoration success in Southeast Asia [Master's thesis, University of San Francisco]. http://repository.usfca.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1011&context=capstone.

Lazkano, I., Nøstbakken, L., & Pelli, M. (2017). From fossil fuels to renewables: The role of electricity storage. European Economic Review, 99, 113–129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroecorev.2017.03.013.

Litman, T. A., & Litman, T. (2021). Autonomous vehicle implementation predictions: Implications for transport planning. Victoria Transport Policy Institute https://www.vtpi.org/avip.pdf

Lobo, C., Chattopadhyay, N., & Rao, K. (2017). Making smallholder farming climate-smart. Economic and Political Weekly, 52(1), 53–58. Lok Sabha Secretariat. (2015). Aggressive afforestation in India.

Lokesha, V. Sundar, & S. A. Sannasiraj. (2013). Artificial reefs: A review. International Journal of Ocean and Climate Systems, 4(2), 117–124. https://doi.org/10.1260/1759-3131.4.2.117

Loladze, I. (2014). Hidden shift of the ionome of plants exposed to elevated CO2 depletes minerals at the base of human nutrition. Elife, 3, e02245. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.02245

Lourenço, P., Pinheiro, M. D., & Heitor, T. (2019). Light use patterns in Portuguese school buildings: User comfort perception, behaviour, and impacts on energy consumption. Journal of Cleaner Production, 228, 990–1010. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.04.144

Lu, T., Sherman, P., Chen, X., Chen, S., Lu, X., & McElroy, M. (2020). India's potential for integrating solar and on- and offshore wind power into its energy system. Nature Communications, 11, 4750. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-18318-7

Lundgren, K., Kuklane, K., & Venugopal, V. (2014). Occupational heat stress and associated productivity loss estimation using the PHS model (ISO 7933): A case study from workplaces in Chennai, India. Global Health Action, 7(1), 25283. https://doi.org/10.3402/gha.v7.25283

Lutz, A. F., Immerzeel, W. W., Shrestha, A. B., & Bierkens, M. F. P. (2014). Consistent increase in High Asia's runoff due to increasing glacier melt and precipitation. Nature Climate Change, 4, 587–592. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2237

Lutz, A. F., ter Maat, H. W., Wijngaard, R. R., Biemans, H., Syed, A., Shrestha, A. B., Wester, P., & Immerzeel, W. W. (2019). South Asian river basins in a 1.5 °C warmer world. Regional Environmental Change, 19, 833–847. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-018-1433-4

Mahadevia, D., & Pathak, M. (2020). Climate change, heat waves, and thermal comfort: Reflections on housing policy in India. Environment and Urbanization Asia, 11(1), 29–50. https://doi.org/10.1177/0975425320906249

Mahadevia, D., Joshi, R., & Datey, A. (2013). Ahmedabad's BRT system: A sustainable urban transport panacea? Economic and Political Weekly, 48(32), 44–52.

Mahapatra, B., Walia, M., & Saggurti, N. (2018). Extreme weather events induced deaths in India 2001–2014: Trends and differentials by region, sex, and age group. Weather and Climate Extremes, 21, 110–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wace.2018.08.001

Maharjan, A., de Campos, R. S., Singh, C., Das, S., Srinivas, A., Bhuiyan, M. R. A., Ishaq, S., Umar, M. A., Dilshad, T., Shrestha, K., Bhadwal, S., Ghosh, T., Suckall, N., & Vincent, K. (2020). Migration and household adaptation in climate-sensitive hotspots in South Asia. Current Climate Change Reports, 6, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40641-020-00153-z

Mahato, A. (2014). Climate change and its impact on agriculture. International Journal of Scientific Research and Publications, 24(S1), 50–57. https://doi.org/10.2478/ahr-2021-0010

Maini, P., & Rathore, L. S. (2011). Economic impact assessment of the agrometeorological advisory service of India. Current Science, 101(10), 1296–1310.

Maiti, S., Jha, S. K., Garai, S., Nag, A., Chakravarty, R., Kadian, K. S., Chandel, B. S., Datta, K. K., & Upadhyay, R. C. (2014). Adapting to climate change: Traditional coping mechanisms followed by the Brokpa pastoral nomads of Arunachal Pradesh, India. Indian Journal of Traditional Knowledge, 13(4), 752–761.

Maitra, B., & Sadhukhan, S. (2013). Urban public transportation system in the context of climate change mitigation: Emerging issues and research needs in India. In A. Khare & T. Beckman (Eds.), Mitigating climate change: The emerging face of modern cities (pp. 75–91). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-37030-4

Majumdar, D., Majhi, B. K., Dutta, A., Mandal, R., & Jash, T. (2015). Study on possible economic and environmental impacts of electric vehicle infrastructure in public road transport in Kolkata. Clean Technologies and Environmental Policy, 17, 1093–1101. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10098-014-0868-7

Mallick, P. H., & Chakraborty, S. K. (2018). Forest, wetland and biodiversity: Revealing multi-faceted ecological services from ecorestoration of a degraded tropical landscape. Ecohydrology and Hydrobiology, 18(3), 278–296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecohyd.2018.04.002

Mallya, G., Mishra, V., Niyogi, D., Tripathi, S., & Govindaraju, R. S. (2016). Trends and variability of droughts over the Indian monsoon region. Weather and Climate Extremes, 12, 43–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wace.2016.01.002.

Mandal, D., Srivastava, P., Giri, N., Kaushal, R., Cerda, A., & Alam, N. M. (2017). Reversing land degradation through grasses: A systematic metaanalysis in the Indian tropics. Solid Earth, 8(1), 217–233. https://doi.org/10.5194/se-8-217-2017.

Mandal, R., & Bezbaruah, M. P. (2013). Diversification of cropping pattern: Its determinants and role in flood-affected agriculture of Assam plains. Indian Journal of Agricultural Economics, 68(2), 169–181.

Manjula, M., & Rengalakshmi, R. (2015). Seasonal climate information for ensuring agricultural sustainability and food security of small holder rainfed farmers: Experience from India [Paper presentation]. 16th Annual Global Development Conference: Agriculture for Sustainable Growth: Challenges and Opportunities for a New 'Green Revolution,' Casablanca, Morocco.

Manjunatha, A. V., Speelman, S., Chandrakanth, M. G., & Van Huylenbroeck, G. (2011). Impact of groundwater markets in India on water use efficiency: A data envelopment analysis approach. Journal of Environmental Management, 92(11), 2924–2929. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jenvman.2011.07.001

Manjunatha, A. V., Anik, A. R., Speelman, S., & Nuppenau, E. A. (2013). Impact of land fragmentation, farm size, land ownership, and crop diversity on profit and efficiency of irrigated farms in India. Land Use Policy, 31, 397–405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2012.08.005 Ministry of Agriculture and Farmers Welfare. (2023). Annual report 2022–23. https://agriwelfare.gov.in/Documents/annual_report_ english_2022_23.pdf

Maurya, A. (2013). Environmental impact of the flying scenario: An approach towards sustainable air transportation: A case study of India. OIDA International Journal of Sustainable Development, 5(2), 107–118.

Maharashtra Energy Development Agency & Shakti Sustainable Energy Foundation. (2017). Practical guidebook for implementing smart and clean energy projects in existing high-rise residential apartments. Retrieved April 20, 2021, from https://shaktifoundation.in/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Guidebook_Residential-Apts.pdf

Medek, D. E., Schwartz, J., & Myers, S. S. (2017). Estimated effects of future atmospheric CO2 concentrations on protein intake and the risk of protein deficiency by country and region. Environmental Health Perspectives, 125(8), 087002. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP41

Meena, H., & Singh, Y. (2013). Importance of information and communication technology tools among livestock farmers: A review. Science Journal of Pure and Applied Sciences, 2(2), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.14196/sjpas.v2i2.466

Meena, R. K., Vikas, T. P. Verma, R. P. Yadav, S. K. Mahapatra, J. N. Surya, D. Singh, & S. K. Singh. (2019). Local perceptions and adaptation of indigenous communities to climate change: Evidence from high mountain Pangi Valley of Indian Himalayas. Indian Journal of Traditional Knowledge, 18, 58–67.

Mehta, M., Bhambri, R., Perumal, J., Srivastava, P., & Gupta, A. K. (2018). Uttarakhand calamity: A climate revelation in the Bhagirathi River Valley Uttarakhand, India. In I. Pal & R. Shaw (Eds.), Disaster risk governance in India and cross-cutting issues (pp. 193–207). Springer.

Mell, I. C. (2017). Green infrastructure: Reflections on past, present, and future praxis. Landscape Research, 42(2), 135–145. https://doi.org/10.108 0/01426397.2016.1250875

Michael, K., Deshpande, T., & Ziervogel, G. (2018). Examining vulnerability in a dynamic urban setting: The case of Bangalore's interstate migrant waste pickers. Climate and Development, 11(8), 667–678. https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2018.1531745

Miller-Robbie, L., Ramaswami, A., & Amerasinghe, P. (2017). Wastewater treatment and reuse in urban agriculture: Exploring the food, energy, water, and health nexus in Hyderabad, India. Environmental Research Letters, 12, 075005. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aa6bfe

Ministry of Environment and Forests. (2008). India's second national communication to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. Government of India.

Ministry of Environment, Forests and Climate Change. (2012). India's second national communication to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. Government of India.

Ministry of Environment, Forests and Climate Change. (2018). India: Second biennial update report to the UNFCCC. Government of India.

Ministry of Environment, Forest and Climate Change. (2021). India third biennial update report to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. Government of India. https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/INDIA_%20BUR-3_20.02.2021_High.pdf

Ministry of Environment, Forests and Climate Change. (2022). India's long-term low-carbon development strategy. Government of India. https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/India_LTLEDS.pdf

Ministry of Environment, Forests and Climate Change. (2023). India third national communication and initial adaptation communication to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. Government of India. https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/ India-TNC-IAC.pdf

Ministry of Power. (2024). Power sector at a glance all India. Government of India. https://powermin.gov.in/en/content/power-sector-glance-all-india

Ministry of Road Transport and Highways. (2023). Road transport year book (2019–20). Ministry of Road Transport and Highways Transport Research Wing, Government of India. https://morth.nic.in/sites/default/files/RTYB_Publication_2019_20%20(1).pdf

Ministry of Statistics and Programme Implementation. (2024). Press note on the quarterly estimates of GDP for the third quarter 2023–24. Government of India. https://static.pib.gov.in/WriteReadData/specificdocs/documents/2024/feb/doc2024229315601.pdf

Ministry of Finance. (2020). Economic survey of India 2019-20. Government of India.

Ministry of Power. (n.d.). National smart grid mission (NGSM). Retrieved April 24, 2021, from https://www.nsgm.gov.in/en/nsgm Ministry of Power. (2017). Achievements under Perform, Achieve and Trade (PAT). Government of India.

UN Habitat & Ministry of Housing and Urban Affairs, Government of India. (2023). Smart cities mission: Localizing sustainable development goals. https://smartcities.gov.in/sites/default/files/2023-09/SCM_UN_Report%20.pdf

Mishra, B. (2019). Households' attitude about ecosystem conservation after implementation of the Forest Rights Act, 2006, in Lakhri Valley Wildlife Sanctuary, India. Journal of Social and Economic Development, 21, 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40847-019-00077-x

Mishra, S., Sharma, S., Vasudevan, P., Bhatt, R. K., & Pandey, S. (2008). Gender participation and role of women in livestock management practices in Bundelkhand region of Central India. International Journal of Rural Studies, 15, 1–9.

Mishra, V. (2015). Climatic uncertainty in Himalayan water towers. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 175, 238. https://doi. org/10.1002/2014JD022650

Mishra, V., Shah, R., & Thrasher, B. (2014). Soil moisture droughts under the retrospective and projected climate in India. Journal of Hydrometeorology, 15(6), 2267–2292. https://doi.org/10.1175/JHM-D-13-0177.1

Mishra, V., Mukherjee, S., Kumar, R., & Stone, D. A. (2017). Heat wave exposure in India in current, 1.5°C, and 2.0°C worlds. Environmental Research Letters, 12, 124012. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aa9388

Mishra, V., Bhatia, U., & Tiwari, A. D. (2020). Bias-corrected climate projections for South Asia from Coupled Model Intercomparison Project-6. Scientific Data, 7, 338. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41597-020-00681-1

Misra, K. (2019). Impact of Perform-Achieve-Trade policy on the energy intensity of cement and iron and steel industries in India [Working paper]. Institute for Social and Economic Change.

Mitra, A. (2010). Migration, livelihood and well-being: Evidence from Indian city slums. Urban Studies, 47(7), 1371–1390. https://doi. org/10.1177/0042098009353621

Mittal, S., & Ray, S. (2015). What's the missing link? Reviewing climate change policies in context of Indian agricultural sector. Asian Social Science, 11(24), 268–277. https://doi.org/10.5539/ass.v11n24p268

Mittal, S., & Hariharan, V. K. (2018). Mobile-based climate services impact on farmers' risk management ability in India. Climate Risk Management, 22, 42–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crm.2018.08.003

Mittal, S., Liu, J.-Y., Fujimori, S., & Shukla, P. (2018). An assessment of near-to-mid-term economic impacts and energy transitions under '2°C' and '1.5°C' scenarios for India. Energies, 11(9), 2213. https://doi.org/10.3390/en11092213

Ministry of Environment, Forest and Climate Change. (2015). India: First biennial update report to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. Government of India.

Ministry of Environment, Forest and Climate Change. (2012). India's second national communication to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. Government of India.

Ministry of Environment, Forest and Climate Change. (2018a). India second biennial update report to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. Government of India.

Ministry of Environment, Forest and Climate Change. (2018b). Performance of the National Action Plan on Climate Change (NAPCC). Government of India. https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/governments/organizational-structure/ministries-organizations/ministries/ environment-climate-change

Ministry of Environment, Forest and Climate Change. (2019). Implementation of India's National Biodiversity Action Plan: An overview 2019. Government of India.

Ministry of Environment, Forest and Climate Change. (2021a). India third biennial update report to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. Government of India.

Ministry of Environment, Forest and Climate Change. (2021b). Annual Report 2020–21. Government of India. http://moef.gov.in/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/Environment-AR-English-2020-21.pdf

Ministry of Environment, Forest and Climate Change. (2015). India's Intended Nationally Determined Contribution to UNFCCC. Government of India.

Ministry of Finance. (2021). Economic survey 2020-21, volume II. Government of India.

Mohammed, K., Islam, A. S., Islam, G. T., Alfieri, L., Bala, S. K., & Khan, M. J. U. (2017). Extreme flows and water availability of the Brahmaputra River under 1.5°C and 2°C global warming scenarios. Climatic Change, 145, 159–175. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-017-2073-2

Mohan, D., Abhishek, K., Sarswat, A., & Patel, M. (2018). Biochar production and applications in soil fertility and carbon sequestration – a sustainable solution to crop-residue burning in India. RSC Advances, (1), 508–520. https://doi.org/10.1039/c7ra10353k

Mohandass, D., Campbell, M. J., Beng, K. C., & Davidar, P. (2016). Influence of grazing intensity on swamp plant communities in the tropical montane wetland ecosystems, Nilgiris, Southern India. Applied Ecology and Environmental Research, 14, 233–268.

Mohanty, S., Karelia, H., & Issar, R. (2010). ICT for disaster risk reduction: The Indian experience. Ministry of Home Affairs, Government of India...

Mohanty, S. K., Chatterjee, R., & Shaw, R. (2020). Building resilience of critical infrastructure: A case of impacts of cyclones on the power sector in Odisha. Climate, 8(6), 73.

Mohapatra, M., & Sharma, M. (2019). Cyclone warning services in India during recent years: A review. Mausam, 70(4), 635-666.

Mondal, P., & Basu, M. (2009). Adoption of precision agriculture technologies in India and in some developing countries: Scope, present status and strategies. Progress in Natural Science, 19(6), 659–666. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnsc.2008.07.020

Mondal, S., & Patel, P. P. (2018). Examining the utility of river restoration approaches for flood mitigation and channel stability enhancement: A recent review. Environmental Earth Sciences, 77, 195.

Moors, E., Singh, T., Siderius, C., Balakrishnan, S., & Mishra, A. (2013). Climate change and waterborne diarrhoea in northern India: Impacts and adaptation strategies. Science of the Total Environment, 468–469, S139–S151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.07.021

Ministry of Rural Development. (2011). Working group on rural housing for the 12th five year plan. Government of India.

Ministry of Rural Development. (2019). Annual master circular 2019–2020. Government of India.

Morone, P., Koutinas, A., Gathergood, N., Arshadi, M., & Matharu, A. (2019). Food waste: Challenges and opportunities for enhancing the emerging. Journal of Cleaner Production, 221, 10–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.02.258

Mottaleb, K. A., Rejesus, R. M., Murty, M., Mohanty, S., & Li, T. (2017). Benefits of the development and dissemination of climate-smart rice: Ex ante impact assessment of drought-tolerant rice in South Asia. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change, 22, 879–901. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11027-016-9705-0

Mudbhatkal, A., Raikar, R. V., Venkatesh, B., & Mahesha, A. (2017). Impacts of climate change on varied river-flow regimes of Southern India. Journal of Hydrologic Engineering, 22(9), 05017017. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)HE.1943-5584.0001556

Mujumdar, M., Bhaskar, P., Ramarao, M. V. S., Uppara, U., Goswami, M., Borgaonkar, H., Chakraborty, S., Ram, S., Mishra, V., Rajeevan, M. & Niyogi, D. (2020). Droughts and floods. In R. Krishnan, J. Sanjay, C. Gnanaseelan, M. Mujumdar, A. Kulkarni, & S. Chakraborty (Eds.), Assessment of climate change over the Indian region (pp. 117–141). Springer.

Mukherjee, N., Sridhar, A., Menon, M., Rodriguez, S., & Shanker, K. (2008). Policy brief: Bioshields. UNDP/UNTRS & ATREE

Mukherjee, N., Dahdouh-Guebas, F., Koedam, N., & Shanker, K. (2015). An interdisciplinary framework to evaluate bioshield plantations: Insights from peninsular India. Acta Oecologica, 63, 91–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actao.2014.01.005

Mukherjee, S., & Mishra, V. (2018). A sixfold rise in concurrent day and night-time heatwaves in India under 2°C warming. Scientific Reports, 8, 16922. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-35348-w

Mukherjee, S., Aadhar, S., Stone, D., & Mishra, V. (2018). Increase in extreme precipitation events under anthropogenic warming in India. Weather and Climate Extremes, 20, 45–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wace.2018.03.005

Mukherji, G. B., Rao, J., Chaturvedi, R., & Priyadarshini, P. (2016). Evolving a policy on pastoralism in the semi-arid state of Rajasthan, India [Working paper]. Foundation for Biological Security.

Mula, G., & Sarker, S. C. (2013). Impact of improved agro-techniques on sustainable livelihood empowerment: An economic study from West Bengal. Agricultural Economics Research Review, 26, 2013–2129.

Murali, J., & Afifi, T. (2014). Rainfall variability, food security, and human mobility in the Janjgir-Champa district of Chhattisgarh state, India. Climate and Development, 6(1), 28–37. https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2013.867248

Murthy, I. K., Gupta, M., Tomar, S., Munsi, M., Tiwari, R., Hegde, G. T., & Nh, R. (2013). Carbon sequestration potential of agroforestry systems in India. Earth Science and Climate Change, 4, 131. https://doi.org/10.4172/2157-7617.1000131

Murthy, I. K., Sharma, N., & Nh, R. (2013). Harnessing REDD+ opportunities for forest conservation and carbon stock enhancement in the Northeastern States of India. Natural Science, 5(3), 349–358. https://doi.org/10.4236/ns.2013.53048

Murthy, M. V. R., Ravichandran, V., Vendhan, M., Kiran, A. S., Raju, S. K., Avula, A. K., Varthini, S., & Abhishek, T. (2020). Shore protection measures along Indian coast – Design to implementation based on two case studies. Current Science, 118(11), 1768–1773. https://doi.org/10.18520/cs/v118/ i11/1768-1773

Nagendra, H., & Ostrom, E. (2014). Applying the social-ecological system framework to the diagnosis of urban lake commons in Bangalore, India. Ecology and Society, 19(2), 67. https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-06582-190267

Nagendra, H., Sudhira, H. S., Katti, M., & Schewenius, M. (2013). Sub-regional assessment of India: Effects of urbanization on land use, biodiversity, and ecosystem services. In T. Elmqvist, M. Fragkias, J. Goodness, B. Güneralp, P. J. Marcotullio, R. I. McDonald, S. Parnell, M. Schewenius, M. Sendstad, K. C. Seto, C. Wilkinson Urbanization, biodiversity and ecosystem services: Challenges and opportunities (pp. 65–74). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-7088-1 Naidu, D. G. T., Sridharan, A., & Bagchi, S. (2019). Climate change and the Himalaya: Trends in vegetation, temperature and precipitation. In J. R. Bhatt, A. Das, K. Shanker (Eds.), Biodiversity and climate change: An Indian perspective (pp. 147–159). Ministry of Environment Forest and Climate Change, Government of India.

Naidu, D. G. T., & Bagchi, S. (2021). Greening of the earth does not compensate for rising soil heterotrophic respiration under climate change. Global Change Biology, 27(10), 2029–2038. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15531

Nair, L. S., Prasad, R., Rafeeque, M. K., & Prakash, T. N. (2018). Coastal morphology and long-term shoreline changes along the southwest coast of India. Journal of the Geological Society of India, 92(5), 588–595. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12594-018-1072-x

Nair, S. K. (2009). An assessment of the impact of climate change on the megacities of India and of the current policies and strategies to meet associated challenges [Conference paper]. Fifth Urban Research Symposium 2009

Nambiar, M. (2015). A decade of disaster risk management in India. Economic and Political Weekly, 50(5), 36–40. Namboothri, N., Subramanian, D., Sridhar, A., Rodriguez, S., Menon, M., & Shanker, K. (2008). Policy brief: Sand dunes. UNDP/UNTRS & ATREE. Nandan, V. (2018). Climate smart cities report.

Nandy, S., & Kumar Das, A. (2013). Comparing tree diversity and population structure between a traditional agroforestry system and natural forests of Barak Valley, Northeast India. International Journal of Biodiversity Science, Ecosystem Services & Management, 9(2), 104–113. https://doi.org/10.1080/21513732.2012.748691

Narain, J. (2016). Public health challenges in India: Seizing the opportunities. Indian Journal of Community Medicine, 41(2), 85–88. https://doi. org/10.4103/0970-0218.177507

Narayanamoorthy, A., Bhattarai, M., & Jothi, P. (2018). An assessment of the economic impact of drip irrigation in vegetable production in India. Agricultural Economics Research Review, 31(1), 105–112. https://doi.org/10.5958/0974-0279.2018.00010.1

Naresh Kumar, S., Aggarwal, P. K., Swaroopa Rani, D. N., Saxena, R., Chauhan, N., & Jain, S. (2014). Vulnerability of wheat production to climate change in India. Climate Research, 59, 173–187. https://doi.org/10.3354/cr01212

Naresh, R. K., Singh, S. P., Dwivedi, A., Sepat, N. K., Kumar, V., Ronaliya, L. K., Kumar, V., & Singh, R. (2013). Conservation agriculture improving soil quality for sustainable production systems under smallholder farming conditions in northwest India: A review. International Journal of Life Sciences, Biotechnology & Pharma Research, 2, 151–213.

National Transport Development Policy Committee. (2014). India transport report: Moving India to 2032.

Naumann, G., Alfieri, L., Wyser, K., Mentaschi, L., Betts, R. A., Carrao, H., Spinoni, J., Vogt, J., Feyen, L. (2018). Global changes in drought conditions under different levels of warming. Geophysical Research Letters, 45, 3285–3296. https://doi.org/10.1002/2017GL076521

Nawab, A., & Hussain, S. A. (2012). Factors affecting the occurrence of smooth-coated otter in aquatic systems of the Upper Gangetic Plains, India. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems, 22, 616–625.

Nayak, P. C., Wardlaw, R., & Kharya, A. K. (2015). Water balance approach to study the effect of climate change on groundwater storage for Sirhind command area in India. International Journal of River Basin Management, 13(2), 243–261. https://doi.org/10.1080/15715124.2015.1012206

Nayak, S. (2017). Coastal zone management in India: Present status and future needs. Geo-spatial Information Science, 20(2), 174-183.

National Building Organisation. (2013). State of housing in India: A statistical compendium.

National Disaster Management Authority. (2009). National policy on disaster management.

National Fisheries Development Board. (2018). Draft national policy on mariculture 2018 (NPM).

Nicholls, R., Hinkel, J., Lincke, D., & van der Pol, T. (2019). Global investment costs for coastal defense through the 21st century [Working paper]. World Bank.

Nithila Devi, N., Sridharan, B., & Kuiry, S. N. (2019). Impact of urban sprawl on future flooding in Chennai city, India. Journal of Hydrology, 574, 486–496. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2019.04.041

NITI Aayog. (2017a). Draft national energy policy. https://www.niti.gov.in/writereaddata/files/document_publication/

NITI Aayog. (2017b). Selected best practices in water management.

NITI Aayog. (2019). Composite water management index: A tool for water management. https://niti.gov.in/writereaddata/files/document_publication/2018-05-18-Water-index-Report_vS6B.pdf

NITI Aayog & Rocky Mountain Institute. (2017). India leaps ahead: Transformative mobility solutions for all. Retrieved May 1, 2021, from https://www.rmi.org/insights/reports/transformative_mobility_solutions_india

National Institute of Urban Affairs. (2020). Climate-smart cities.

Noujas, V., & Thomas, K. V. (2018). Shoreline management plan for a medium energy coast along the west coast of India. Journal of Coastal Conservation, 22, 695–707. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11852-018-0602-4

Natural Resources Defense Council. (2017). Greening India's workforce: Gearing up for expansion of solar and wind power in India. https://www. nrdc.org/sites/default/files/greening-india-workforce.pdf

Natural Resources Defense Council. (2020). The road from Paris: Progress on India's climate pledge. Retrieved April 16, 2021, from https://www. nrdc.org/experts/anjali-jaiswal/road-paris-indias-advancement-its-climate-pled

Oak, H., & Bansal, S. (2017). Perform-Achieve-Trade policy: A case study of the cement industry for energy efficiency [Discussion paper]. Jawaharlal Nehru University.

Oak, H., & Bansal, S. (2019). Effect of Perform-Achieve-Trade policy on energy efficiency of Indian industries. SSRN.

Ojha, R., Nagesh Kumar, D., Sharma, A., & Mehrotra, R. (2013). Assessing severe drought and wet events over India in a future climate using a nested bias-correction approach. Journal of Hydrological Engineering, 18(7), 760–772. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)HE.1943-5584.0000585

Oldekop, J. A., Rasmussen, L. V., Agrawal, A., Bebbington, A. J., Meyfroidt, P., Bengston, D. N., Blackman, A., Brooks, S., Davidson-Hunt, I., Davies, P., Dinsi, S. C., Fontana, L. B., Gumucio, T., Kumar, C., Kumar, K., Moran, D., & Mwampamba, T. H. (2020). Forest-linked livelihoods in a globalized world. Nature Plants, 6, 1400–1407. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41477-020-00814-9

Olsson, L., & Ardö, J. (2002). Soil carbon sequestration in degraded semiarid agro-ecosystems—Perils and potentials. AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment, 31(6), 471-477. https://doi.org/10.1579/0044-7447-31.6.471

Ougahi, J. H., Cutler, M. E., & Cook, S. J. (2022). Modelling climate change impact on water resources of the Upper Indus Basin. Journal of Water and Climate Change, 13(2), 482–504. https://doi.org/10.2166/wcc.2022.159

Padhee, A., & Whitbread, A. (2022, January 17). Indian agriculture: The route post-CoP 26. Down to Earth. https://www.downtoearth.org.in/blog/climate-change/indian-agriculture-the-route-post-cop-26-81154

Padigala, B. (2014). Financing low carbon urban development through the clean development mechanism. International Journal of Environmental Sciences, 5(1), 98–116. https://doi.org/10.6088/ijes.2014050100009

Padhiary, J., Patra, K. C., Dash, S. S., & Uday Kumar, A. (2020). Climate change impact assessment on hydrological fluxes based on ensemble GCM outputs: A case study in eastern Indian River Basin. Journal of Water and Climate Change, 11(4), 1676–1694. https://doi.org/10.2166/wcc.2020.1564

Pahuja, N., Pandey, N., Mandal, K., & Bandyopadhyay, C. (2014). GHG mitigation in India: An overview of the current policy landscape [Working paper]. World Resources Institute.

Pahuja, N., Rashmi, M. R. R., Puri, R., Pruthi, A., & Sastry, M. (2020). Mainstreaming sustainable development and enhancing climate resilience: New opportunities for states in India. The Energy and Resources Institute. Retrieved April 19, 2021, from https://www.teriin.org/projects/nfa/ climate-change-wp2.php

Pailler, S., & Tsaneva, M. (2018). The effects of climate variability on psychological well-being in India. World Development, 106, 15–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2018.01.002

Pal, I., & Shaw, R. (Eds.). (2018). Disaster risk governance in India and cross cutting issues. Springer Singapore.

Pal, I., Ghosh, T., & Ghosh, C. (2017). Institutional framework and administrative systems for effective disaster risk governance – Perspectives of 2013 Cyclone Phailin in India. International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction, 21, 350–359. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2017.01.002

Palanisami, K., & Raman, S. (2012). Potential and challenges in up-scaling micro-irrigation in India: Experiences from nine states. International Water Management Institute.

Palanisamy, K., Meizen-Dick, R., & Giordano, M. (2010). Climate change and water supplies: Options for sustaining tank irrigation potential in India. Economic and Political Weekly, 45(26–27), 183–190.

Pandey, K. C., & Singh, A. K. (2019). Weather and agro advisory services to farmers and its benefits. Climate Change, 5, 116-123.

Panigrahi, J. K., & Mohanty, P. K. (2012). Effectiveness of the Indian coastal regulation zones provisions for coastal zone management and its evaluation using SWOT analysis. Ocean and Coastal Management, 65, 34–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2012.04.023

Panwar, S., & Chakrapani, G. J. (2013). Climate change and its influence on groundwater resources. Current Science, 105(1), 37-46.

Parihaar, R. S., Bargali, K., & Bargali, S. S. (2015). Status of an indigenous agroforestry system: A case study in Kumaun Himalaya, India. Indian Journal of Agricultural Sciences, 85(3), 442–447.

Parihar, C. M., Rana, K. S., Jat, M. L., Jat, S. L., Parihar, M. D., Kantwa, S. R., Singh, D. K., & Sharma, S. (2012). Carbon footprint and economic sustainability of pearl millet-mustard system under different tillage and nutrient management practices in moisture stress conditions. African Journal of Microbiology Research, 6, 5052–5061. https://doi.org/10.5897/ajmr12.764

Parihar, C. M., et al., (2016). Conservation agriculture in irrigated intensive maize-based systems of north-western India: Effects on crop yields, water productivity and economic profitability. Field Crops Research, 193, 104–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2016.03.013

Parihar, C. M., Singh, A. K., Jat, S. L., Dey, A., Nayak, H. S., Mandal, B. N., Saharawat, Y. S., Jat, M. L., & Yadav, O. P. (2020). Soil quality and carbon sequestration under conservation agriculture with balanced nutrition in intensive cereal-based systems. Soil and Tillage Research, 202, 104653. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2020.104653

Parihar, R. S., Bal, P. K., Saini, A., Mishra, S. K., & Thapliyal, A. (2022). Potential future malaria transmission in Odisha due to climate change. Scientific Reports, 12(1), 9048. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-13989-0

Parikh, K. S., & Parikh, J. K. (2016). Realizing potential savings of energy and emissions from efficient household appliances in India. Energy Policy, 97, 102–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2016.07.005

Parthasarathy, D. (2011). Hunters, gatherers and foragers in a metropolis: Commonising the private and public in Mumbai. Economic and Political Weekly, 46(50), 54–63.

Patankar, A., & Patwardhan, A. (2016). Estimating the uninsured losses due to extreme weather events and implications for informal sector vulnerability: A case study of Mumbai, India. Natural Hazards, 80, 285–310. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-015-1968-3

Patel, S. (2018). Rethinking urban studies today. Sociological Bulletin, 67(1), 1-19.

Pathak, H. (2010). Mitigating greenhouse gas and nitrogen loss with improved fertilizer management in rice: Quantification and economic assessment. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems, 87, 443–454. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10705-010-9350-z

Pathak, H. (2015). Greenhouse gas emission from Indian agriculture: Trends, drivers and mitigation strategies. Proceedings of the Indian National Science Academy, 81(5), 1133–1149. https://doi.org/10.16943/ptinsa/2015/v81i5/48333

Pathak, H., Jain, N., Bhatia, A., Patel, J., & Aggarwal, P. K. (2010). Carbon footprints of Indian food items. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 139(1–2), 66–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2010.07.002

Pathak, H., Aggarwal, P. K., & Singh, S. D. (2012). Climate change impact, adaptation and mitigation in agriculture: Methodology for assessment and applications. Springer.

Pathak, P. S., & Dagar, J. C. (2016). Indian grasslands and their management: Grassland and grazing resource appraisal. In J. B. Singh, P. K. Ghosh, P. S. Pathak & S. K. Mahanta (Eds.), Grassland: A global resource perspective (pp. 3–36). Range Management Society of India.

Patra, A., Sharma, V. K., Purakayastha, T. J., Barman, M., Kumar, S., Chobhe, K. A., Chakraborty, D., Nath, D. J., & Anil, A. S. (2020). Effect of long-term integrated nutrient management (INM) practices on soil nutrient availability and enzymatic activity under acidic Inceptisol of north-eastern region of India. Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis, 51(9), 1137–1149. https://doi.org/10.1080/00103624.2020.1751185

Pellissery, S., & Jalan, S. K. (2011). Towards transformative social protection: A gendered analysis of the Employment Guarantee Act of India (MGNREGA). Gender & Development, 19(2), 283–294.

Peters, G. P., Andrew, R. M., Canadell, J. G., Fuss, S., Jackson, R. B., Korsbakken, J. I., Le Quéré, C., & Nakicenovic, N. (2017). Key indicators to track current progress and future ambition of the Paris Agreement. Nature Climate Change, 7, 118–122. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate3202

Ministry of Statistics and Programme Implementation. (2023). Annual report: Periodic labour force survey. Government of India. https://www. mospi.gov.in/sites/default/files/publication_reports/AR_PLFS_2022_23N.pdf

Phadke, A., Abhyankar, N., & Shah, N. (2014). Avoiding 100 new power plants by increasing efficiency of room air conditioners in India: Opportunities and challenges. Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory.

Phadke, A., Park, W. Y., & Abhyankar, N. (2019). Providing reliable and financially sustainable electricity access in India using super-efficient appliances. Energy Policy, 132, 1163–1175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2019.06.015

Phonglosa, A., Bhattacharyya, K., Ray, K., Mandal, J., Pari, A., Banerjee, H., & Chattopadhyay, A. (2015). Integrated nutrient management for okra in an Inceptisol of eastern India and yield modeling through artificial neural network. Scientia Horticulturae, 187, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scienta.2015.02.037

Press Information Bureau. (2019a). National Afforestation Programme. https://pib.gov.in/PressReleasePage.aspx?PRID=1596332

Press Information Bureau. (2019b). Press Information Bureau Government of India, Ministry of Environment, Forest and Climate Change. PIB Delhi, 1–5.

Press Information Bureau. (2017). PIB 2017. 1-2.

Pingali, P., Aiyar, A., Abraham, M., & Rahman, A. (2019). The way forward: Food systems for enabling rural prosperity and nutrition security. In Transforming food systems for a rising India (pp. 277-311). Springer.

Pitchaikani, J. S. (2020). Integrated coastal zone management practices for Sundarbans, India. Indian Journal of Geo-Marine Sciences, 49, 352–356.

Planning Commission. (2011). Interim report of the expert group on low carbon strategies for inclusive growth.

Pradhan Mantri Krishi Sinchai Yojana. (2019). Home page. http://pmksy.gov.in/

Portman, M. E., Esteves, L. S., Le, X. Q., & Khan, A. Z. (2012). Improving integration for integrated coastal zone management: An eight-country study. Science of the Total Environment, 439, 194–201.

Powlson, D. S., Stirling, C. M., Thierfelder, C., White, R. P., & Jat, M. L. (2016). Does conservation agriculture deliver climate change mitigation through soil carbon sequestration in tropical agro-ecosystems? Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 220, 164–174.

Pradhan, A., Idol, T., & Roul, P. K. (2016). Conservation agriculture practices in rainfed uplands of India improve maize-based system productivity and profitability. Frontiers in Plant Science, 7, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.01008

Pradhan, A., Chan, C., Roul, P. K., Halbrendt, J., & Sipes, B. (2018). Potential of conservation agriculture (CA) for climate change adaptation and food security under rainfed uplands of India: A transdisciplinary approach. Agricultural Systems, 163, 27–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. agsy.2017.01.002

Pradhan, A., Ormsby, A. A., & Behera, N. (2019). A comparative assessment of tree diversity, biomass and biomass carbon stock between a protected area and a sacred forest of Western Odisha, India. Écoscience, 26(3), 195–204. https://doi.org/10.1080/11956860.2019.1586118

Prasad, R. S., & Sud, R. (2019). Implementing climate change adaptation: Lessons from India's national adaptation fund on climate change (NAFCC). Climate Policy, 19(3), 354–366. https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2018.1515061

Prasad, S. C. (2016). Innovating at the margins: The System of Rice Intensification in India and transformative social innovation. Ecology and Society, 21(4).

Praveen, B., & Sharma, P. (2020). Climate change and its impacts on Indian agriculture: An econometric analysis. Journal of Public Affairs, 20(1), e1972. https://doi.org/10.1002/pa.1972

Premalatha, M., Abbasi, T., Abbasi, T., & Abbasi, S. A. (2011). Energy-efficient food production to reduce global warming and ecodegradation: The use of edible insects. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 15(9), 4357-4360. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2011.07.115

Press Information Bureau. (2019c). Year ender 2019 Ministry of Heavy Industry. https://pib.gov.in/PressReleseDetail.aspx?PRID=1597099

Pretty, J., & Bharucha, Z. P. (2014). Sustainable intensification in agricultural systems. Annals of Botany, 114(8), 1571–1596. https://doi.org/10.1093/ aob/mcu205 Priyadarshini, P., & Abhilash, P. C. (2019). Promoting tribal communities and indigenous knowledge as potential solutions for the sustainable development of India. Environmental Development, 32, 100459. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envdev.2019.100459

PRS Legislative Research. (n.d.). The Energy Conservation (Amendment) Bill, 2022. Retrieved June 10, 2024, from https://prsindia.org/billtrack/ the-energy-conservation-amendment-bill-2022

Pueyo, A., & Maestre, M. (2019). Linking energy access, gender, and poverty: A review of the literature on productive uses of energy. Energy Research & Social Science, 53, 170–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2019.02.019

Puthucherril, T. G. (2011). Operationalising Integrated Coastal Zone Management and adapting to sea level rise through coastal law: Where does India stand? International Journal of Marine and Coastal Law, 26(4), 569–612. https://doi.org/10.1163/157180811X593407

Puthucherril, T. G. (2016). Sustainable aquaculture in India: Looking back to think ahead. In N. Bankes, I. Dahl & D. L. VanderZwaag (Eds.), Aquaculture law and policy (pp. 289–312). Edward Elgar Publishing.

Raabe, K., Sekher, M., & Schiffer, E. (2010). How to overcome the governance challenges of implementing NREGA: Insights from Bihar using process-influence mapping [Discussion paper]. International Food Policy Research Institute.

Rahul, T. M., & Verma, A. (2018). Sustainability analysis of pedestrian and cycling infrastructure: A case study for Bangalore. Case Studies on Transport Policy, 6(4), 483–493. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cstp.2018.06.001

Rai, P., & Dimri, A. P. (2020). Changes in rainfall seasonality pattern over India. Meteorological Applications, 27(1), e1823. https://doi.org/10.1002/ met.1823

Rajan, K., Kennedy, J., & King, L. (2013). Is wealthier always healthier in poor countries? The health implications of income, inequality, poverty, and literacy in India. Social Science & Medicine, 88, 98–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.04.004

Rajendran, L., & Shyam, S. R. (2021). ICT enabled early warning dissemination system for disaster management. In Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Inventive Computing Technologies, ICICT 2021, 443–448. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICICT50816.2021.9358641

Ramachandra, T. V., & Bharath, S. (2019). Carbon sequestration potential of the forest ecosystems in the Western Ghats, a global biodiversity hotspot. Natural Resources Research, 29, 2753–2771. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11053-019-09588-0

Ramadoss, A., & Moli, G. P. (2011). Biodiversity conservation through environmental education for sustainable development: A case study from Puducherry, India. International Electronic Journal of Environmental Education, 1(2), 97–111.

Ramakrishna, Y. S. (2014). Current status of agrometeorological services in South Asia, with special emphasis on the Indo-Gangetic Plains [Working paper]. CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security.

Ramankutty, N., Mehrabi, Z., Waha, K., Jarvis, L., Kremen, C., Herrero, M., & Rieseberg, L. H. (2018). Trends in global agricultural land use: Implications for environmental health and food security. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 69,789–815. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevarplant-042817-040256

Ramaswami, A., Boyer, D., Nagpure, A. S., Fang, A., Bogra, S., Bakshi, B., Cohen, E., & Rao-Ghorpade, A. (2017). An urban systems framework to assess the trans-boundary food-energy-water nexus: Implementation in Delhi, India. Environmental Research Letters, 12(2), 025008. https://doi. org/10.1088/1748-9326/aa5556

Ramprasad, V., Joglekar, A., & Fleischman, F. (2020). Plantations and pastoralists: Afforestation activities make pastoralists in the Indian Himalayas vulnerable. Ecology and Society, 25(4), 1.

Ranade, P., & Mishra, A. (2015). Web-GIS based livestock information management system (WGLIMS): Review of Indian scenario. International Journal of Applied Sciences and Engineering Research, 4(2), 209–213.

Randliawa, P., & Marshall, F. (2012). Policy transformations and translations: Lessons for sustainable water management in peri-urban Delhi. Progress in Development Studies, 32(1), 93–107. https://doi.org/10.1068/c10204

Rao, N. D., Min, J., DeFries, R., Ghosh-Jerath, S., Valin, H., & Fanzo, J. (2018). Healthy, affordable and climate-friendly diets in India. Global Environmental Change, 49, 154–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2018.02.013

Rathee, G. (2017). Trends of land-use change in India. In K. S. Sridhar & G. Wan (Eds.), Urbanization in Asia: Governance, infrastructure and the environment (pp. 215–238). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-81-322-1638-4

Rathod, P. (2017). Perceived constraints in livestock service delivery by dairy cooperatives: A case study of Western Maharashtra, India. Indian Journal of Dairy Science, 65(5).

Rattani, V. (2018, May 30). India's National Action Plan on Climate Change needs desperate repair. Down to Earth. https://www.downtoearth.org. in/climate-change/india-s-national-action-plan-on-climate-change-needs-desperate-repair-61884

Rautela, P., Joshi, G. C., & Ghildiyal, S. (2020). Economics of seismic resilience of educational infrastructure in high earthquake hazard prone Himalayan province of Uttarakhand in India. International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction, 43, 101363. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijdrr.2019.101363

Ravindra, K., Agarwal, N., Kaur-Sidhu, M., & Mor, S. (2019). Appraisal of thermal comfort in rural household kitchens of Punjab, India, and adaptation strategies for better health. Environmental International, 124, 431–440. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.12.059

Ravindranath, N. H., & Balachandra, P. (2009). Sustainable bioenergy for India: Technical, economic, and policy analysis. Energy, 34(8), 1003–1013. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2008.12.012

Ravindranath, N. H., & Bala, G. (2017). Projected impacts of climate change on forests in the Brahmaputra, Koshi, and Upper Indus River basins. International Centre for Integrated Mountain Development & Himalayan Climate Change Adaptation Programme.

Ravindranath, N. H., Joshi, N. V., Sukumar, R., & Saxena, A. (2006). Impact of climate change on forests in India. Current Science, 90(3), 354-361.

Ravindranath, N. H., Chaturvedi, R. K., & Murthy, I. K. (2008). Forest conservation, afforestation, and reforestation in India: Implications for forest carbon stocks. Current Science, 95(2), 216–222.

Ravindranath, N. H., Rao, S., Sharma, N., Nair, M., Gopalakrishnan, R., Rao, A., Malaviya, S., Tiwari, R., Sagadevan, A., Munsi, M., Krishna, N., & Govindasamy, B. (2011). Climate change vulnerability profiles for North East India. Current Science, 101(3), 384–394.

Ravindranath, N. H., Lakshmi, C. S., Manuvie, R., & Balachandra, P. (2011). Biofuel production and implications for land use, food production, and the environment in India. Energy Policy, 39(10), 5737–5745. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2010.07.044

Ray, B., & Bhattacharya, R. N. (2011). Transaction costs, collective action, and survival of heterogeneous co-management institutions: Case study of forest management organisations in West Bengal, India. Journal of Development Studies, 47(2), 253–273. https://doi. org/10.1080/00220381003706692

Ray, S. C., & Ghose, A. (2014). Production efficiency in Indian agriculture: An assessment of the post-Green Revolution years. Omega, 44, 58–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.omega.2013.08.005

Reserve Bank of India. (2023). Report on currency and finance 2022–23. https://rbidocs.rbi.org.in/rdocs/Publications/PDFs/RCF03052023395FAF37181E40188BAD3AFA59BF3907.PDF

Reddy, A. A. (2013). Agricultural productivity growth in Orissa, India: Crop diversification to pulses, oilseeds, and other high-value crops. African Journal of Agricultural Research, 8(19), 2272–2284. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJAR11.1277

Reddy, K. S., & Paul, V. K. (2020). Towards achievement of universal health care in India by 2020: A call to action. Lancet, 377, 760–768. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61960-5

Reddy, K. S., Patel, V., Jha, P., Paul, V. K., Kumar, A. K. S., Dandona, L., & Lancet India Group for Universal Healthcare. (2011). Towards achievement of universal health care in India by 2020: A call to action. Lancet, 377(9767), 760–768. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61960-5

Reddy, V. R., Chiranjeevi, T., & Syme, G. (2020). Inclusive sustainable intensification of agriculture in West Bengal, India: Policy and institutional approaches. International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability, 18(1), 70–83. https://doi.org/10.1080/14735903.2019.1698489

Rengalakshmi, R., Manjula, M., & Devaraj, M. (2018). Making climate information communication gender-sensitive: Lessons from Tamil Nadu. Economic and Political Weekly, 53(17), 87–95.

Revi, A. (2008). Climate change risk: An adaptation and mitigation agenda for Indian cities. Environment and Urbanization, 20(1), 207–229. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956247808089157

Revi, A., Ray, M., Sami, N., Anand, S., Mitra, S., & Malladi, T. (2020). The potential of urbanisation to accelerate post-COVID economic recovery: Report to the XV Finance Commission. Indian Institute for Human Settlements. https://doi.org/10.24943/XVFC08.2020

Revi, A., &, Ghoge, K. (2024, September). The future of climate-resilient development is local. Nature Human Behaviour, 8, 1635–1637. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41562-024-01968-8

Revi, A. (2022, October 19). A warmer world: Are we ready? SDG Action. https://sdg-action.org/a-warmer-world-are-we-ready%ef%bf%bc/

Riccardi, R., Oggioni, G., & Toninelli, R. (2012). Efficiency analysis of the world cement industry in the presence of undesirable output: Application of data envelopment analysis and directional distance function. Energy Policy, 44, 140–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. enpol.2012.01.030

Rishi, P., & Khuntia, G. (2012). Urban environmental stress and behavioral adaptation in Bhopal city of India. Urban Studies Research, 2012, 635061. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/635061

Rockefeller Foundation. (2019). Resilient Pune: Preliminary resilience assessment.

Rodriguez, S., Subramanian, D., Sridhar, A., Menon, M., & Shanker, K. (2008). Policy brief: Seawalls. UNDP/UNTRS & ATREE.

Rodriguez-Llanes, J. M., Ranjan-Dash, S., Mukhopadhyay, A., & Guha-Sapir, D. (2016). Flood-exposure is associated with higher prevalence of child undernutrition in rural eastern India. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 13(2), 210. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijerph13020210

Rohini, P., Rajeevan, M., & Mukhopadhay, P. (2019). Future projections of heat waves over India from CMIP5 models. Climatic Dynamics, 53, 975–988. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-019-04700-9

Roth, D., Khan, M. S. A., Jahan, I., Rahman, R., Narain, V., Singh, A. K., Priya, M., Sen, S., Shrestha, A., & Yakami, S. (2018). Climates of urbanization: Local experiences of water security, conflict, and cooperation in peri-urban South Asia. Climate Policy, 19(Suppl. 1), S78–S93. https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2018.1530967

Roy, A. (2020). Harnessing the power of India's forests for climate change mitigation [Issue brief]. Observer Research Foundation.

Roy, A. K., & Singh, J. P. (2013). Grasslands in India: Problems and perspectives for sustaining livestock and rural livelihoods. Tropical Grasslands, 1(2), 240–243.

Roy, A. K., & Datta, D. (2018). Analyzing the effects of afforestation on the estuarine environment of river Subarnarekha, India using geospatial technologies and participatory appraisals. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment, 190, 645.

Roy, J., Tschakert, P., Waisman, H., Abdul Halim, S., Antwi-Agyei, P., Dasgupta, P., Hayward, B., Kanninen, M., Liverman, D., Okereke, C., Pinho, P. F., Riahi, K., & Suarez Rodriguez, A. G. (2018). Sustainable development, poverty eradication and reducing inequalities. In V. Masson-Delmotte, P. Zhai, H.-O. Pörtner, D. Roberts, J. Skea, P.R. Shukla, A. Pirani, W. Moufouma-Okia, C. Péan, R. Pidcock, S. Connors, J.B.R. Matthews, Y. Chen, X. Zhou, M.I. Gomis, E. Lonnoy, T. Maycock, M. Tignor & T. Waterfield (Eds.), Global warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC special report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development (pp. 445–538). Cambridge University Press.

Roy, J., Chakravarty, D., Dasgupta, S., Chakraborty, D., Pal, S., & Ghosh, D. (2018). Where is the hope? Blending modern urban lifestyle with cultural practices in India. Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability, 31, 96–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2018.01.010

Roy, M., & Tewari, J. C. (2012). Agroforestry for climate-resilient agriculture and livelihood in arid regions of India. Indian Journal of Agroforestry, 14(1), 49–59.

Roy, M. M., & Singh, K. A. (2008). The fodder situation in rural India: Future outlook. International Forest Review, 10(2), 217-234. Top of Form

Sahana, V., & Mondal, A. (2022). Evolution of multivariate drought hazard, vulnerability and risk in India under climate change. Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences Discussions, 23(2), 623–641. https://doi.org/10.5194/nhess-2022-98 Bottom of Form

Salunke, M., Kalyankar, A., Khedkar, C. D., Shingare, M., & Khedkar, G. D. (2020). A review on shrimp aquaculture in India: Historical perspective, constraints, status, and future implications for impacts on aquatic ecosystem and biodiversity. Reviews in Fisheries Science & Aquaculture, 28(3), 283–302. https://doi.org/10.1080/23308249.2020.1723058

Sami, N. (2016). Multi-level climate change planning scale, capacity, and the ability for local action. In S. Moloney, H. Funfgeld, & M. Granberg (Eds.), Local action on climate change (pp. 92–110). Routledge.

Sami, N., Singh, C., & Bashir Bazaz, A. (2016). Climate change policy in India and Goal 13. Indian Institute for Human Settlements.

Sandhu, H., & Sandhu, S. (2014). Linking ecosystem services with the constituents of human well-being for poverty alleviation in eastern Himalayas. Ecological Economics, 107, 65–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2014.08.005.

Saniotis, A. (2011). South Asian and South-East Asian 'greening' practices: A response to climate change and biodiversity loss. Australian Anthropological Society, 22(2), 269–274.

Sanjay, J., Revadekar, J. V., Ramarao, M. V. S., Borgaonkar, H., Sengupta, S., Kothawale, D. R., Patel, J., Mahesh, R., Ingle, S., AchutaRao, K., Srivastava, A. K., & Ratnam, J. V. (2020). Temperature changes in India. In R. Krishnan, J. Sanjay, C. Gnanaseelan, M. Mujumdar, A. Kulkarni & S. Chakraborty (Eds.), Assessment of climate change over the Indian region (pp. 21–45). Springer Singapore.

Sanneving, L., Trygg, N., Saxena, D., Mavalankar, D., & Thomsen, S. (2013). Inequity in India: The case of maternal and reproductive health. Global Health Action, 6(1), 19145. https://doi.org/10.3402/gha.v6i0.19145

Sapkota, T. B., Majumdar, K., Jat, M. L., Kumar, A., Bishnoi, D. K., McDonald, A. J., & Pampolino, M. (2014). Precision nutrient management in conservation agriculture-based wheat production of Northwest India: Profitability, nutrient use efficiency, and environmental footprint. Field Crops Research, 155, 233–244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2013.09.001

Sapkota, T. B., Jat, M. L., Aryal, J. P., Jat, R. K., & Khatri-Chhetri, A. (2015). Climate change adaptation, greenhouse gas mitigation and economic profitability of conservation agriculture: Some examples from cereal systems of Indo-Gangetic Plains. Journal of Integrative Agriculture, 14(8), 1524–1533.

Sapkota, T. B., Jat, R. K., Singh, R. G., Jat, M. L., Stirling, C. M., Jat, M. K., Bijarniya, D., Kumar, M., Yadvinder-Singh, Saharawat, Y. S., & Gupta, R. K. (2017). Soil organic carbon changes after seven years of conservation agriculture in a rice-wheat system of the eastern Indo-Gangetic Plains. Soil Use and Management, 33(1), 81–89. https://doi.org/10.1111/sum.12331

Sapkota, T. B., Shankar, V., Rai, M., Jat, M. L., Stirling, C. M., Singh, L. K., Jat, H. S., & Grewal, M. S. (2017). Reducing global warming potential through sustainable intensification of Basmati rice-wheat systems in India. Sustainability, 9(6), 1044. https://doi.org/10.3390/su9061044

Sapkota, T. B., Vetter, S. H., Jat, M. L., Sirohi, S., Shirsath, P. B., Singh, R., Jat, H. S., Smith, P., Hillier, J., & Stirling, C. M. (2019). Cost-effective opportunities for climate change mitigation in Indian agriculture. Science of the Total Environment, 655, 1342–1354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2018.11.225

Sarangi, G. K., & Taghizadeh-Hesary, F. (2020). Unleashing market-based approaches to drive energy efficiency interventions in India: An analysis of the Perform, Achieve, Trade (PAT) scheme [Working paper]. Asian Development Bank Institute.

Sareen, S. (2018). Energy distribution trajectories in two Western Indian states: Comparative politics and sectoral dynamics. Energy Research & Social Science, 35, 17–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2017.10.038

Sarkar, D., Baishya, L. K., Meitei, C. B., Naorem, G. C., Thokchom, R. C., Singh, J., Bhuvaneswari, S., Batabyal, K., Das, R., Padhan, D., Prakash, N., Rahman, F. H. (2018). Can sustainability of maize-mustard cropping system be achieved through balanced nutrient management? Field Crops Research, 225, 9–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2018.05.018

Sarkar, S., Padaria, R. N., Vijayragavan, K., Pathak, H., Kumar, P., & Jha, G. K. (2015). Assessing the potential of indigenous technological knowledge (ITK) for adaptation to climate change in the Himalayan and arid ecosystems. Indian Journal of Traditional Knowledge, 14(2), 251–257.

Satapathy, S., Porsché, I., Künkel, N., Manasfi, N., & Kalisch, A. (2011). Adaptation to climate change with a focus on rural areas and India. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change, 7, 85–114.

Seenivasan, R. (2014). Law, technology and water conflicts in developing societies: A case study of tank systems in Tamil Nadu [Doctoral dissertation, University of Westminster].

Sekar, T. (2015). Grazing and penning practices and their impacts. In Forest management in Tamil Nadu: A historical perspective (pp. 203–308). Tamil Nadu Forest Department.

Selvan, S. C., Kankara, R. S., Markose, V. J., Rajan, B., & Prabhu, K. (2016). Shoreline change and impacts of coastal protection structures on Puducherry, SE coast of India. Natural Hazards, 83, 293–308. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-016-2332-y

Seneviratne, A. (2019). Community-based flood early warning system for the Hindu.

Senthilkumar, K., Bindraban, P. S., De Ridder, N., Thiyagarajan, T. M., & Giller, K. E. (2012). Impact of policies designed to enhance efficiency of water and nutrients on farm households varying in resource endowments in south India. NJAS - Wageningen Journal of Life Sciences, 59(1–2), 41–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.njas.2012.01.002

Sethi, M., & Puppim de Oliveira, J. A. (Eds.). (2018). Mainstreaming climate co-benefits in Indian cities. Springer Singapore. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-981-10-5816-5 Seyfried, P., Taiss, E. J. M., Calijorne, A. C., Li, F.-P., & Song, Q.-F. (2015). Light weighting opportunities and material choice for commercial vehicle frame structures from a design point of view. Advances in Manufacturing, 3, 19–26. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40436-015-0103-8

Shah, M. (2016). Urban water systems in India: A way forward [Working paper]. Indian Council for Research on International Economic Relations.

Shah, N., Sathaye, N., Phadke, A., & Letschert, V. (2015). Efficiency improvement opportunities for ceiling fans. Energy Efficiency, 8, 37–50. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12053-014-9274-6

Shah, T. (2009). Climate change and groundwater: India's opportunities for mitigation and adaptation. Environmental Research Letters, 4(3), 035005. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/4/3/035005

Shah, T., Navakankar, D., Azhar, G. S., Jaiswal, A., & Connolly, M. (2014). Addressing heat-related health risks in urban India: Ahmedabad's heat action plan. Climate and Development Knowledge Network.

Shakti Sustainable Energy Foundation. (2018). For all comfort thermal sustainable and smart space cooling.

Shakti Sustainable Energy Foundation & India Smart Grid Forum. (2017). Smart grid handbook for regulators and policymakers.

Shakti Sustainable Energy Foundation, Centre for Battery Engineering and Electric Vehicles IIT Madras & WRI India. (2019). A guidance document on accelerating electric mobility.

Shakti Sustainable Energy Foundation & Vasudha Foundation. (2020a). India's power outlook 2020, volume 1: The current state of play.

Shakti Sustainable Energy Foundation & Vasudha Foundation. (2020b). India's power outlook 2020, volume 2: The road to clean electricity.

Shamim, G., & Rihan, M. (2017). A technical review on smart grids in India. In 2017 4th IEEE Uttar Pradesh Section International Conference on Electrical, Computer and Electronics (UPCON) (pp. 642–648). IEEE.

Sharma, A., & Goyal, M. K. (2020). Assessment of the changes in precipitation and temperature in Teesta River basin in Indian Himalayan Region under climate change. Atmospheric Research, 231, 104670. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosres.2019.104670

Sharma, B. R., Rao, K. V., Vittal, K. P. R., Ramakrishna, Y. S., & Amarasinghe, U. (2010). Estimating the potential of rainfed agriculture in India: Prospects for water productivity improvements. Agricultural Water Management, 97(1), 23–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2009.08.002

Sharma, D., & Tomar, S. (2010). Mainstreaming climate change adaptation in Indian cities. Environment and Urbanization, 22(2), 451–465. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956247810377390

Sharma, D., & Singh, S. (2016). Instituting environmental sustainability and climate resilience into the governance process: Exploring the potential of new urban development schemes in India. International Area Studies Review, 19(2), 90–103. https://doi. org/10.1177/2233865916632942

Sharma, E., Chettri, N., Tsering, K., & Shrestha, A. (2009). Climate change impact and vulnerability in the Eastern Himalayas – Synthesis report. International Centre for Integrated Mountain Development.

Sharma, H. R. (2011). Crop diversification in Himachal Pradesh: Patterns, determinants and challenges. Indian Journal of Agricultural Economics, 66(1), 97–114.

Sharma, J., Upgupta, S., Jayaraman, M., Chaturvedi, R. K., Bala, G., & Ravindranath, N. H. (2017). Vulnerability of forests in India: A national scale assessment. Environmental Management, 60(4), 544–553. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-017-0894-4

Sharma, N., Dhyani, R., & Gangopadhyay, S. (2013). Critical issues related to metro rail projects in India. Journal of Infrastructure Development, 5(1), 67–86. https://doi.org/10.1177/0974930613488296

Sharma, P., & Rajput, S. (Eds.). (2017). Sustainable smart cities in India: Challenges and future perspectives. Springer.

Sharma, R., Xu, J., & Sharma, G. (2007). Traditional agroforestry in the Eastern Himalayan region: Land management system supporting ecosystem services. Tropical Ecology, 48(2), 1–12.

Sharma, R., Hooyberghs, H., Lauwaet, D., & De Ridder, K. (2019). Urban heat island and future climate change—Implications for Delhi's heat. Journal of Urban Health, 96, 235–251. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11524-018-0322-Y Sharma, V., & Chaudhry, S. (2013). An overview of Indian forestry sector with REDD+ approach. ISRN Forestry. Sharma, V. K., Pandey, R. N., & Sharma, B. M. (2015). Studies on long-term impact of STCR-based integrated fertilizer use on pearl millet (Pennisetum glaucum)-wheat (Triticum aestivum) cropping system in semi-arid condition of India. Journal of Environmental Biology, 36(2), 241-247.

Shashidharan, N. (2012). Analysis of low-cost reforestation techniques in dry deciduous forests in South India: A case study: Lokkere Reserve Forest, Bandipur Tiger Reserve, Karnataka. French Institute of Pondicherry & Junglescapes.

Shekhar, H., Sharma, S., Patel, U., & Sawant, V. (2019). Exploring cost-reduction strategies for electric vehicle (EV) batteries. Indian Council for Research on International Economic Relations & Shakti Sustainable Energy Foundation.

Shi, F., Huang, T., Tanikawa, H., Han, J., Hashimoto, S., & Moriguchi, Y. (2012). Toward a low carbon-dematerialization society. Journal of Industrial Ecology, 16(4), 493–505. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-9290.2012.00523.x

Shrimali, G., & Rohra, S. (2012). India's solar mission: A review. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 16(9), 6317–6332. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.rser.2012.06.018

Shrimali, G., Srinivasan, S., Goel, S., Trivedi, S., & Nelson, D. (2015). Reaching India's renewable energy targets cost-effectively. Climate Policy Initiative & Bharti Institute of Public Policy. https://climatepolicyinitiative.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/Reaching-Indias-Renewable-Energy-Targets-Cost-Effectively.pdf

Shrivastava, A., & Kothari, A. (2013). Churning the Earth: The making of global India. Oryx, 47(4), 617–618. https://doi.org/10.1017/ s0030605313001142

Shrivastava, S. R., & Shrivastava, P. S. (2013). Implementation of public health practices in tribal populations of India: Challenges and remedies. Healthcare in Low Resource Settings, 1(1), e1. https://doi.org/10.4081/hls.2013.e1

Shukla, A. K., Ahmad, Z., Sharma, M., Dwivedi, G., Verma, T. N. S. J., Verma, P., & Zare, A. (2020). Advances of carbon capture and storage in coal-based power generating units in an Indian context. Energies, 13(16), 4124.

Shukla, P., Dhar, S., Pathak, M., Mahadevia, D., & Garg, A. (2015). Pathways to deep decarbonization in India. Institute for Sustainable Development and Research. https://www.iddri.org/sites/default/files/old/Publications/IND_DDPP_report.pdf

Shukla, P. R., Mittal, S., Liu, J.-Y., Fujimori, S., Dai, H., & Zhang, R. (2017). India INDC assessment: Emission gap between pledged target and 2°C target. In S. Fujimori, M. Kainuma & T. Matsui (Eds.), Post-2020 climate action (pp. 113–124). Springer Singapore.

Sidhu, R. S., Vatta, K., & Dhaliwal, H. S. (2010). Conservation agriculture in Punjab - Economic implications of technologies and practices. Indian Journal of Agricultural Economics, 65(2), 234–245.

Sims, R., Schaeffer, R., Creutzig, F., Nunez, X., D'Agosto, M., Dimitriu, D., & Tiwari, G. (2014). Transport. In Climate change 2014: Mitigation of climate change. Contribution of working group iii to the fifth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press.

Singh, A., Saxena, A., Srivastava, A., Bhandari, A., Sanjeevi, H. K., & Teja, J. (2019). India's electric mobility transformation: Progress to date and future opportunities. NITI Aayog & Rocky Mountain Institute.

Singh, B., Sharma, S., Syal, P., & Head, S. (2019). NZEB: A case study of Indira Paryavaran Bhawan. International Journal of Research in Engineering and Applied Management, 4(3), 2454–9150. https://doi.org/10.18231/2454-9150.2018.1359

Singh, C., Urquhart, P., & Kituyi, E. (2016). From pilots to systems: Barriers and enablers to scaling up the use of climate information services in smallholder farming communities [Working paper]. International Development Research Centre & UK Aid. www.idrc.ca/cariaa. ISSN: 2292-6798

Singh, C., Daron, J., Bazaz, A., Ziervogel, G., Spear, D., Krishnaswamy, J., Zaroug, M., & Kituyi, E. (2018). The utility of weather and climate information for adaptation decision-making: Current uses and future prospects in Africa and India. Climate and Development, 10(5), 389–405. https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2017.1318744

Singh, C., Rahman, A., Srinivas, A., & Bazaz, A. (2018). Risks and responses in rural India: Implications for local climate change adaptation action. Climate Risk Management, 21, 52–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crm.2018.06.001

Singh, C. (2019). Migration as a driver of changing household structures: Implications for local livelihoods and adaptation. Migration and Development, 8(3), 301–319. https://doi.org/10.1080/21632324.2019.1589073

Singh, C., & Basu, R. (2019). Moving in and out of vulnerability: Interrogating migration as an adaptation strategy along a rural-urban continuum in India. The Geographical Journal, 186(1), 87–102. https://doi.org/10.1111/geoj.12328.

Singh, C., Solomon, D., & Rao, N. (2021). How does climate change adaptation policy in India consider gender? An analysis of 28 state action plans. Climate Policy, 21(7), 958–975. https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2021.1953434

Singh, C., Madhavan, M., Arvind, J., & Bazaz, A. (2021). Climate change adaptation in Indian cities: A review of existing actions and spaces for triple wins. Urban Climate, 36, 100783. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.uclim.2021.100783

Singh, C., Ford, J., Ley, D., Bazaz, A., & Revi, A. (2020). Assessing the feasibility of adaptation options: Methodological advancements and directions for climate adaptation research and practice. Climate Change, 162, 255–277. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-020-02762-x

Singh, D. (2017). Climate finance architecture in India. Centre for Budget and Governance Accountability. https://www.cbgaindia.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/Climate-Finance-Architecture-in-India-1.pdf

Singh, K., Singh, R. P., & Tewari, S. K. (2021). Ecosystem restoration: Challenges and opportunities for India. Restoration Ecology, 29(3), e13341. https://doi.org/10.1111/rec.13341

Singh, K. K. (2011). Weather forecasting and agromet advisory services in India. Indian Meteorological Department.

Singh, N. P., Anand, B., Singh, S., & Khan, A. (2019). Mainstreaming climate adaptation in Indian rural developmental agenda: A micro-macro convergence. Climate risk management, 24, 30–41 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crm.2019.04.003

Singh, P., Pathak, P., Wani, S. P., & Sahrawat, K. L. (2009). Integrated watershed management for increasing productivity and water-use efficiency in semi-arid tropical India. Journal of Crop Improvement, 23(4), 402–429. https://doi.org/10.1080/15427520903013423

Singh, P. K., & Dhiman, R. C. (2012). Climate change and human health: Indian context. Journal of Vector Borne Diseases, 49(2), 55-60.

Singh, P. P. (2008). Exploring biodiversity and climate change benefits of community-based forest management. Global Environmental Change, 18(3), 468–478. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2008.04.006

Singh, R., & Kumar, R. (2019). Climate versus demographic controls on water availability across India at 1.5 °C, 2.0 °C and 3.0 °C global warming levels. Global and Planetary Change, 177, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloplacha.2019.03.006

Kumar, C. P. (2016). Impact of climate change on groundwater resources. In Natural Resources Management: Concepts, Methodologies, Tools, and Applications (pp. 1094–1120). Information Resources Management Association. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-5225-0803-8.ch052

Singh, R. K., Sureja, A. K., Maiti, S., & Tsering, D. (2018). Grazing and rangeland management: Trans-human adaptations by the Brokpa community in fragile ecosystems of Arunachal Pradesh. Indian Journal of Traditional Knowledge, 17(3), 550–558.

Singh, R. P., & Raghubanshi, A. S. (2020). 'Green building' movement in India: Study on institutional and regulatory support. In P. Verma & R. Singh (Eds.), Urban ecology: Emerging patterns and socio-ecological systems (pp. 435–455). https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-820730-7.00022-7

Singh, S., Nair, S. S., & Gupta, A. K. (2013). Ecosystem services for disaster risk reduction: A case study of wetland in East Delhi region, India. Global Journal of Human Social Science, 13(4), 37-47.

Singh, S. P., Bassignana-Khadka, I., Karky, B. S., Sharma, E., Eklabya, S., & Sharma, E. (2011). Climate change in the Hindu Kush-Himalayas: The state of current knowledge. International Centre for Integrated Mountain Development.

Singh, T., Pruthi, A., Torvanger, A., & Dejonckheere, S. (2019). Approaches to integrate climate change in agricultural finance: Case study analysis. The Energy and Resources Institute & CICERO.

de Sisternes, F. J., Worley, H., Mueller, S., & Jenkin, T. (2019). Scaling-up sustainable energy storage in developing countries. Journal of Sustainable Research, 2(1), e200002. https://doi.org/10.20900/jsr20200002

Smith, R. M. (2015). "Green" building in India: A comparative and spatial analysis of the LEED-India and GRIHA rating systems. Asian Geographer, 32(2), 73–84. https://doi.org/10.1080/10225706.2015.1020065

Soman, A., Kaur, H., Jain, H., & Ganesan, K. (2020). India's Electric Vehicle Transition. Can electric mobility support India's sustainable economic recovery post COVID-19? CEEW & Shakti Sustainable Energy Foundation.Somvanshi, A. (2019). A midsummer nightmare: Decoding the link between comfort, space cooling and energy consumption in a climate-stressed world. Centre for Science and Environment.

Sonak, S., Pangam, P., & Giriyan, A. (2008). Green reconstruction of the tsunami-affected areas in India using the integrated coastal zone management concept. Journal of Environmental Management, 89(1), 14–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2007.01.052

De Souza, K., Kituyi, E., Harvey, B., Leone, M., Murali, K. S., & Ford, J. D. (2015). Vulnerability to climate change in three hot spots in Africa and Asia: Key issues for policy-relevant adaptation and resilience-building research. Regional Environmental Change, 15(6), 747–753. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10113-015-0755-8

Sreenivas, A., Raghunandan, D., Sant, G., & Dubash, N. K. (2013). Indian climate change policy: Exploring a co-benefits based approach. Economic and Political Weekly, 48(22). https://www.epw.in/journal/2013/22/special-articles/indian-climate-change-policy.html

Srinivasan, G., Rafisura, K. M., & Subbiah, A. R. (2011). Climate information requirements for community-level risk management and adaptation. Climatic Research, 47(1), 5–12. https://doi.org/10.3354/cr00962

Srinivasan, V. (2015). Reimagining the past – use of counterfactual trajectories in socio-hydrological modelling: The case of Chennai, India. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences, 19(2), 785–801. https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-19-785-2015

Srinivasan, V., Gorelick, S. M., & Goulder, L. (2010). Sustainable urban water supply in south India: Desalination, water reuse, and governance in Chennai. Environmental Science & Technology, 44(5), 1430–1437. https://doi.org/10.1021/es902486d

Srinivasarao, C., Venkateswarlu, B., Lal, R., Singh, A. K., & Kundu, S. (2013). Sustainable management of soils of dryland ecosystems of India for enhancing agronomic productivity and sequestering carbon. Advances in Agroeconomy, 121, 253–329).

Srinivasrao, C., Rao, K. V., Gopinath, K. A., Prasad, Y. G., Ayyanadar, A., Ramana, D. B. V., Ravindra Chary, G., Gangaiah, B., Venkateshwarlu, B., & Mohapatra, T. (2020). Agriculture contingency plans for managing weather aberrations and extreme climatic events: Development, implementation, and impacts in India. Advances in Agronomy, 159, 35–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.agron.2019.08.002 Srinivasan, M., Ghoge, K., Haldar, S., Bazaz, A. B. & Revi, A. (2023). Climate Finance in India. Indian Institute for Human Settlements, 2023. https://doi.org/10.24943/CFI11.2023

Sriramamurthy, R. T., Bhalla, R. S., & Sankaran, M. (2020). Fire differentially affects mortality and seedling regeneration of three woody invaders in forest–grassland mosaics of the southern Western Ghats, India. Biological Invasions, 22, 1623–1634. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-020-02207-7

Steinbach, D., Kaur, N., Manuel, C., Saigal, S., Agrawal, A., Panjiyar, A., & Barnwal, A. (2017). Building resilience to climate change: MGNREGS, drought, and flooding in Odisha. International Institute for Environment and Development.

Stevenson, M., Thompson, J., Hérick de Sá, T., Ewing, R., Mohan, D., McClure, R., Roberts, I., Tiwari, G., Giles-Corti, B., Sun, X., Wallace, M., & Woodcock, J. (2016). Land use, transport, and population health: Estimating the health benefits of compact cities. Lancet, 388(10062), 2925–2935. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30067-8

Stout, D. T., Walsh, T. C., & Burian, S. J. (2015). Ecosystem services from rainwater harvesting in India. Urban Water Journal, 14(6), 561–573. https://doi.org/10.1080/1573062X.2015.1049280

Surat Climate Change Trust. (2017). Surat resilience strategy.

Subasinghe, R. P., Arthur, J. R., Bartley, D. M., De Silva, S. S., Halwart, M., Hishamundra, N., Mohan, C. V., & Sorgeloos, P. (Eds.). (2012). Farming the waters for people and food. Proceedings of the Global Conference on Aquaculture 2010. Food and Agriculture Organization & Network of Aquaculture Centres in Asia-Pacific.

Summary of Urban Policy Makers (SUP). (2022). Gallardo, L., Hamdi, R., Islam, A. K. M. S., Klaus, I., Klimont, Z., Krishnaswamy, J., Pinto, I., Otto, F., Raghavan, K., Revi, A., Sörensson, A. A., & Szopa, S. (2022). What the latest physical science of climate change means for cities and urban areas. Indian Institute for Human Settlements. https://doi.org/10.24943/SUPSV108.2022

Surinaidu, L., Bacon, C. G. D., & Pavelic, P. (2013). Agricultural groundwater management in the Upper Bhima Basin, India: Current status and future scenarios. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences, 17(2), 507–517. https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-17-507-2013

Sushmitha, M. B., Chanakya, H. N., & Khuntia, H. K. (2019). Efficient grey water treatment and reuse options for India—a review. In S. K. Ghosh (Ed.), Waste water recycling and management: 7th IconSWM – ISWMAW 2017 (Vol. 3, pp. 143–149). Springer Singapore.

Swain, P. K. (2020). Bringing down the sun to power India's small enterprises. The Energy and Resources Insitute.

Swami, D., & Parthasarathy, D. (2020). A multidimensional perspective to farmers' decision making determines the adaptation of the farming community. Journal of Environmental Management, 264, 110487. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.110487

Swapna, P., Ravichandran, M., Nidheesh, G., Jyoti, J., Sandeep, N., Deepa, J. S., & Unnikrishnan, A. S. (2020). Sea-level rise. In R. Krishnan, J. Sanjay, C. Gnanaseelan, M. Mujumdar, A. Kulkarni & S. Chakraborty (Eds.), Assessment of climate change over the Indian region: A Report of the Ministry of Earth Sciences (MoES), Government of India (pp. 175–189). Springer Singapore.

Tak, M., Shankar, B., & Kadiyala, S. (2019). Dietary transition in India: Temporal and regional trends, 1993 to 2012. Food and Nutrition Bulletin, 40(2), 254–270. https://doi.org/10.1177/0379572119833856

Tall, A., Jay, A., & Hansen, J. (2012). Scaling up climate services for farmers in Africa and South Asia. Workshop Report December 10-12, 2012 Saly, Senegal [Working paper]. CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security

Tall, A., Hansen, J., Jay, A., Campbell, B., Kinyangi, J., Aggarwal, P. K., & Zougmoré, R. (2014). Scaling up climate services for farmers: Mission possible. Learning from good practice in Africa and South Asia. CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security

TARU. (2011). Surat city resilience strategy.

Taub, D. R., Miller, B., & Allen, H. (2008). Effects of elevated CO2 on the protein concentration of food crops: A meta-analysis. Global Change Biology, 14(3), 565–575. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2007.01511.x

Tauhid, F. A., & Zawani, H. (2018). Mitigating climate change-related floods in urban poor areas: Green infrastructure approach. Journal of Regional and City Planning, 29(2), 98–112. https://doi.org/10.5614/JRCP.2018.29.2.2

The Energy and Resources Institute. (2015). Green growth and sustainable development in India - Towards the 2030 development agenda.

The Energy and Resources Institute. (2018). Benefits of cycling in India. Retrieved May 2, 2021, from www.teriin.org

The Energy and Resources Institute. (2019). Faster adoption of electric vehicles in India: Perspective of consumers and industry. Retrieved May 9, 2021, from www.teriin.org

Tesfaye, K., Zaidi, P. H., Gbegbelegbe, S., Boeber, C., Rahut, D. B., Getaneh, F., Seetharam, K., Erenstein, O., & Stirling, C. (2017). Climate change impacts and potential benefits of heat-tolerant maize in South Asia. Theoretical and Applied Climatology, 130, 959–970. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00704-017-2229-4

Tetra Tech. (2017). Technique for grazing management: A pilot demonstration in Hoshangabad landscape, Madhya Pradesh.

Thankappan, N., Varangalil, N., Kachapally Varghese, T., & Njaliplackil Philipose, K. (2018). Coastal morphology and beach stability along Thiruvananthapuram, southwest coast of India. Natural Hazards, 90, 1177–1199. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-017-3090-1

Thind, H. S., Buttar, G. S., & Aujla, M. S. (2010). Yield and water use efficiency of wheat and cotton under alternate furrow and check-basin irrigation with canal and tube well water in Punjab, India. Irrigation Science, 28, 489–496. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00271-010-0208-6

Timilsina, G. R. (2018). How would cross-border electricity trade stimulate hydropower development in South Asia? [Working paper]. World Bank. https://ssrn.com/abstract=3238353

Tiwari, G., Jain, D., & Ramachandra Rao, K. (2016). Impact of public transport and non-motorized transport infrastructure on travel mode shares, energy, emissions, and safety: Case of Indian cities. Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, 44, 277–291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2015.11.004

Tongia, R. (2015). India's electricity future: Change is inevitable—how much, how fast? Energy in India, 99, 31–34.https://www.oxfordenergy.org/ wpcms/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/OEF-99.pdf

Tripathi, A., & Mishra, A. K. (2017). Knowledge and passive adaptation to climate change: An example from Indian farmers. Climate Risk Management, 16, 195–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crm.2016.11.002

Tripathi, M. (2015). Afforestation/Reforestation—Clean Development Mechanism and Indian farmers. Current Science, 109(9), 1522–1523.

Tripathi, N., Singh, R. S., & Nathanail, C. P. (2014). Mine spoil acts as a sink of carbon dioxide in Indian dry tropical environment. Science of the Total Environment, 468–469, 1162–1171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.09.024

Tripathi, N., Singh, R. S., & Hills, C. D. (2016). Reclamation of mine-impacted land for ecosystem recovery. Wiley-Blackwell.

Tu, J.-C., & Yang, C. (2019). Key factors influencing consumers' purchase of electric vehicles. Sustainability, 11(14), 3863. https://doi.org/10.3390/ su11143863 Uhe, P. F., Mitchell, D. M., Bates, P. D., Sampson, C. C., Smith, A. M., & Islam, A. S. (2019). Enhanced flood risk with 1.5 °C global warming in the Ganges-Brahmaputra-Meghna basin. Environmental Research Letters, 14(7), 074031. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab10ee

Umesh, N. R., Mohan, A. B. C., Ravibabu, G., Padiyar, P. A., Phillips, M. J., Mohan, C. V., & Bhat, B. V. (2009). Shrimp farmers in India: Empowering small-scale farmers through a cluster-based approach. Success stories in Asian aquaculture (pp. 41–46). Springer.

United Nations Development Programme. (2010). Disaster risk reduction, governance & mainstreaming. http://www.preventionweb.net/files/17429_4disasterriskreductiongovernance1.pdf

Union Environment Ministry. (2015). India's intended nationally determined contribution. http://www4.unfccc.int/submissions/INDC/Published%20Documents/India/1/INDIA%20INDC%20TO%20UNFCCC.pdf

Uniyal, A. (2013). Lessons from the Kedarnath tragedy of Uttarakhand Himalaya, India. Current Science, 105(11), 1472-1474.

Vaidya, R. A., Molden, D. J., Shrestha, A. B., Wagle, N., & Tortajada, C. (2021). The role of hydropower in South Asia's energy future. International Journal of Water Resources Development, 37(3), 367–391. https://doi.org/10.1080/07900627.2021.1875809

Vailshery, L. S., Jaganmohan, M., & Nagendra, H. (2013). Effect of street trees on microclimate and air pollution in a tropical city. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 12(3), 408–415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2013.03.002

Valderrama, D., Iyemperumal, S., & Krishnan, M. (2014). Building consensus for sustainable development in aquaculture: A Delphi study of better management practices for shrimp farming in India. Aquaculture Economics & Management, 18(4), 369–394. https://doi.org/10.1080/13657305.2 014.959211

Valencia, L. (2019). Compensatory afforestation in Odisha, India: A political ecology of forest restoration [Doctoral dissertation, University of Toronto].

Varsha, K. M., Raj, A. K., Kurien, E. K., Bastin, B., Kunhamu, T. K., & Pradeep, K. P. (2017). High density silvopasture systems for quality forage production and carbon sequestration in the humid tropics of Southern India. Agroforestry Systems, 93, 185–198. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10457-016-0059-0

Vashishth, A., Singh, R., Das, D. K., & Baloda, R. (2013). Weather-based agromet advisories for enhancing the production and income of the farmers under the changing climate scenario. International Journal of Agriculture and Food Science Technology, 4(9), 847–850.

Vellore, R. K., Deshpande, N., Priya, P., Singh, B. B., Bisht, J., & Ghosh, S. (2020). Extreme storms. In R. Krishnan, J. Sanjay, C. Gnanaseelan, M. Mujumdar, A. Kulkarni, & S. Chakraborty (Eds.), Assessment of climate change over the Indian region (pp. 155–173). Springer Singapore.

Venkatasubramanian, K., Tall, A., Hansen, J., Aggarwal, P. K., Pfeffer, M., & Dersin, V. (2012). India Agrometeorological Advisory Service (AAS) case study: Independent study of the AAS program from a farmer perspective: Assessing views from the frontline.

Venkatasubramanian, K., Tall, A., Hansen, J., & Aggarwal, P. (2014). Assessment of India's Agro-Meteorological Advisory Service from a farmer perspective [Working paper]. CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security.

Venugopal, V., Chinnadurai, J., Lucas, R., & Kjellstrom, T. (2015). Occupational heat stress profiles in selected workplaces in India. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 13(1), 89. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph13010089

Verhagen, H. J. (2019). Financial benefits of mangroves for surge-prone high-value areas. Water, 11(11), 2374. https://doi.org/10.3390/w11112374

Verma, S., & Shah, T. (2012). Beyond digging and filling holes: Lessons from case studies of best-performing MGNREGA [Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Program] water assets. IWMI-Tata Water Policy Research Highlight, 42.

Vetter, S. H., Sapkota, T. B., Hillier, J., Stirling, C. M., Macdiarmid, J. I., Aleksandrowicz, L., Green, R., Joy, E. J. M., Dangour, A. D., & Smith, P. (2017). Greenhouse gas emissions from agricultural food production to supply Indian diets: Implications for climate change mitigation. Agricultural Ecosystems and Environment, 237, 234–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2016.12.024

Garg, V. (2018). India: Vast potential in solar-powered irrigation. Food and Agriculture Organization. http://www.fao.org/india/fao-in-india/ india-at-a-glance/en/

Vicente-Serrano, S. M., Beguería, S., & López-Moreno, J. I. (2010). A multiscalar drought index sensitive to global warming: The standardized precipitation evapotranspiration index. Journal of Climate, 23(7), 1696–1718. https://doi.org/10.1175/2009JCLI2909.1 Vij, S., & Narain, V. (2016). Land, water & power: The demise of common property resources in periurban Gurgaon, India. Land Use Policy, 50, 59–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2015.08.030

Vishwanathan, S. S., & Garg, A. (2017). Policy implications of a low-carbon growth in India's NDCs: National strategies in the light of the Paris Agreement.

Vishwanathan, S. S., & Garg, A. (2020). Energy system transformation to meet NDC, 2 °C, and well below 2 °C targets for India. Climatic Change, 162, 1877–1891. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-019-02616-1

Vishwanathan, S. S., Garg, A., Tiwari, V., Kankal, B., Kapshe, M., & Nag, T. (2017). Enhancing energy efficiency in India: Assessment of sectoral potentials. Copenhagen Centre on Energy Efficiency.

Vishwanathan, S. S., Garg, A., Tiwari, V., & Shukla, P. R. (2018). India in 2 °C and well below 2 °C worlds: Opportunities and challenges. Carbon Management, 9(5), 459–479. https://doi.org/10.1080/17583004.2018.1476588

Vishwanathan, S. S., Fragkos, P., Fragkiadakis, K., Paroussos, L., & Garg, A. (2019). Energy system transitions and macroeconomic assessment of the Indian building sector. Building Research & Information, 47(1), 38–55. https://doi.org/10.1080/09613218.2018.1516059

Viswanathan, B., & Kavi Kumar, K. S. (2015). Weather, agriculture, and rural migration: Evidence from state and district level migration in India. Environmental Development Economics, 20(4), 469–492. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355770X1500008X

Wani, S. P., Chander, G., Sahrawat, K. L., & Rao, P. N. (2014). Integrated nutrient management using deoiled Jatropha cake for sustained and economic food production. International Journal of Plant Production, 8(4), 549–562. https://doi.org/10.22069/ijpp.2014.1724

Wassmann, R., Neue, H. U., Ladha, J. K., & Aulakh, M. S. (2004). Mitigating greenhouse gas emissions from rice-wheat cropping systems in Asia. In R. Eassmann & P. L. G. Vlek (Eds.), Tropical agriculture in transition: Opportunities for mitigating greenhouse gas emissions? (pp. 65–90). Springer Netherlands.

World Bank. (2017). Restructuring paper on a proposed project restructuring of Integrated Coastal Zone Management.

Wolosin, M. (2017). Large-scale forestation for climate mitigation: Lessons from South Korea, China, and India.

World Bicycle Relief. (2019). 2019 impact report. https://worldbicyclerelief.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/WBR_2019-Impact-Report-3.pdf

World Economic Forum. (2019). Global competitiveness report 2019. https://www.weforum.org/reports/how-to-end-a-decade-of-lost-productivity-growth

World Energy Council. (2019). World energy issues monitor. www.worldenergy.org

Wu, N., Ismail, M., Joshi, S., Yi, S. L., Shrestha, R. M., & Jasra, A. W. (2014). Livelihood diversification as an adaptation approach to change in the pastoral Hindu-Kush Himalayan region. Journal of Mountain Science, 11, 1342–1355. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11629-014-3038-9

Yadav, G. S., Lal, R., Meena, R. S., Babu, S., Das, A., Bhowmik, S. N., Datta, M., Layak, J., & Saha, P. (2019). Conservation tillage and nutrient management effects on productivity and soil carbon sequestration under double cropping of rice in the northeastern region of India. Ecological Indicators, 105, 303–315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2017.08.071

Yadav, R. L., et al., (2018). Doubling farmers' income through agronomic interventions under changing scenarios. XXI Biennial National Symposium, Indian Society of Agronomyi.

Yenneti, K., Tripathi, S., Wei, Y. D., Chen, W., & Joshi, G. (2016). The truly disadvantaged? Assessing social vulnerability to climate change in urban India. Habitat International, 56, 124–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.habitatint.2016.05.001

Yu, L., Wang, H., Wang, X., & Feng, G. (2017). Study on the measurement of indoor environment quality and enclosure structure thermal defects of green residential buildings in severe cold areas. Procedia Engineering, 205, 3373–3380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proeng.2017.09.844

Yu, S., Tan, Q., Evans, M., Kyle, P., Vu, L., & Patel, P. L. (2017). Improving building energy efficiency in India: State-level analysis of building energy efficiency policies. Energy Policy, 110, 331–341. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2017.07.013

Zhang, X., Bai, X., & Shang, J. (2018). Is subsidized electric vehicle adoption sustainable? Consumers' perceptions and motivation toward incentive policies, environmental benefits, and risks. Journal of Cleaner Production, 192, 71–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.04.252

Zhou, W., McCollum, D. L., Fricko, O., Fujimori, S., Gidden, M., Guo, F., Hasegawa, T., Huang, H., Huppmann, D., Krey, V., Liu, C., Parkinson, S., Riahi, K., Rafaj, P., Schoepp, W., Yang, F., & Zhou, Y. (2020). Decarbonization pathways and energy investment needs for developing Asia in line with 'well below' 2°C. Climate Policy, 20(2), 234-245. https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2020.1722606

Zomer, R. J., Trabucco, A., Metzger, M. J., Wang, M., Oli, K. P., & Xu, J. (2014). Projected climate change impacts on spatial distribution of bioclimatic zones and ecoregions within the Kailash Sacred Landscape of China, India, Nepal. Climatic Change, 125, 445–460. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10584-014-1176-2

Abbreviations

ABBREVIATIONS

AAGR	Average Annual Growth Rate
AAS	Agrometeorological Advisory Services
ACCCRN	Asian Cities Climate Change Resilience Network
ADB	Asian Development Bank
AEEE	Alliance for Energy Efficient Economy
AMRUT	Atal Mission for Rejuvenation and Urban Transformation
ASSURE	Accelerating Sustainable and Super Efficient Real Estate
BAU	Business As Usual
BBIN	Bangladesh, Bhutan, India, Nepal
BBMP	Bruhat Bengaluru Mahanagara Palike
BCM	Billion Cubic Meters
BECCS	Bio-Energy With Carbon Capture and Storage
BEE	Bureau of Energy Efficiency
BEEP	Building Energy Efficiency Programme
BHEL	Bharat Heavy Electricals Limited
BLDC	Brushless Direct Current
BMC	Brihanmumbai Municipal Corporation
BRT	Bus Rapid Transit
BRTS	Bus Rapid Transit Systems
СА	Conservation Agriculture
CAFE	Corporate Average Fuel Economy
CAGR	Compound Annual Growth Rate
CAMPA	Compensatory Afforestation Fund Management and Planning Authority
CAMS	Carbon Accounting and Management System
CBGA	Centre for Budget and Governance Accountability
CCS	Carbon Capture and Storage
CCUS	Carbon Capture Utilisation and Storage
CDM	Clean Development Mechanism
CDRI	Coalition for Disaster Resilient Infrastructure
CEA	Central Electricity Authority
CEEW	Council On Energy, Environment and Water
CERC	Central Electricity Regulatory Commission
CFL	Compact Fluorescent Lamps
CHDHN	Concurrent Hot Day Hot Night

CMIP	Climate Model Intercomparison Project
CMVR	Central Motor Vehicle Rules
CNG	Compressed Natural Gas
CORDEX	Coordinated Regional Climate Downscaling Experiment
СРІ	Climate Policy Initiative
CRD	Climate Resilient Development
CRZ	Coastal Regulation Zones
CSP	Concentrated Solar Power
CSTEP	Centre for Study of Science, Technology and Policy
CWC	Central Water Commission
DACCS	Direct Air Carbon Capture and Storage
DALY	Disability-Adjusted Life Years
DFC	Dedicated Freight Corridor
DISCOM	Distribution Company
DRIP	Dam Rehabilitation and Improvement Programme
DRR	Disaster Risk Reduction
EAF	Electric Arc Furnace
ECA	Energy Conservation Act
ECBC	Energy Conservation Building Code
EEDI	Energy Efficiency Design Index
EESL	Energy Efficiency Services Limited
EFT	Ecological Fiscal Transfers
EIR	Entomological Inoculation Rate
EMDE	Emerging Markets and Developing Economies
ENM	Ecological Niche Modelling
ENSO	El Niño-Southern Oscillation
EPW	Economic and Political Weekly
EQUINOO	Equatorial Indian Ocean Monsoon Oscillation
EU	European Union
EV	Electric Vehicles
EWS	Early Warning Systems
FAME	Faster Adoption and Manufacturing of (Hybrid &) Electric Vehicles
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization
FEC	Final Energy Consumption

FES	Foundation for Ecological Security
FICCI	Federation of Indian Chambers of Commerce and Industry
FY	Financial Year
FETF	Fuel Evaluation Test Facility
GBM	Ganga-Brahmaputra-Meghna
GCM	General Circulation Model
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GGGI	Global Green Growth Institute
GHG	Greenhouse Gas
GIM	Green India Mission
GIS	Geographic Information System
GLOF	Glacial Lake Outburst Flood
GOI	Government of India
GRIHA	Green Rating for Integrated Habitat Assessment
GST	Goods and Services Tax
GT	Gigatonnes
GTC	Gigatonnes of Carbon Dioxide Equivalent
GVA	Gross Value Added
НАР	Heat Action Plan
HCVI	Hunger and Climate Vulnerability Index
HIO	High-Impact Opportunities
НРВ	High Performance Buildings
HVAC	Heating, Ventilation, and Air Conditioning
HWD	Heat Wave Duration/Days
ICAR	Indian Council of Agricultural Research
ICCC	Integrated Command and Control Centres
ICFRE	Indian Council of forestry Research and Education
ІСТ	Information and Communications Technology
ICZM	Integrated Coastal Zone Management
IDSP	Integrated Disease Surveillance Programme
IEA	International Energy Agency
IFS	Indian forest Service
IGBC	Indian Green Building Council

IGCC	Integrated Coal Gasification Combined Cycle
IGFRI	Indian Grassland and Fodder Research Institute
IGP	Indo-Gangetic Plains
IIHS	Indian Institute for Human Settlements
IITM	Institute of Tropical Meteorology
IMD	India Meteorological Department
INDC	Intended Nationally Determined Contribution
INM	Integrated Nutrient Management
INR	Indian National Rupees
ΙΟΤ	Internet of Things
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel On Climate Change
IPPU	Industrial Processes and Product Use
ISA	International Solar Alliance
JBIC	Japan Bank for International Cooperation
JFM	Joint forest Management
JNNURM	Jawaharlal Nehru National Urban Renewal Mission
KUSUM	Kisan Urja Suraksha Evam Utthaan Mahaabhiyan
LCOE	Levelized Cost of Electricity
LED	Light-Emitting Diodes
LEED	Leadership In Energy and Environmental Design
LPG	Liquefied Petroleum Gas
LULC	Land Use Land Cover
LULUCF	Land Use, Land-Use Change and forestry
MCAP	Mumbai Climate Action Plan
MDB	Multilateral Development Banks
MEDA	Maharashtra Energy Development Agency
MGNREGA	Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Scheme
MNRE	Ministry of New and Renewable Energy
MoAFW	Ministry of Agriculture & Farmers' Welfare
MOEFCC	Ministry of Environment, forest and Climate Change
MoHUA	Ministry of Housing and Urban Affairs
MoSPI	Ministry of Statistics and Programme Implementation
MPASR	Multipurpose Artificial Surfing

MPEHWD	Maximum Population Exposed To Heatwave Days
MSME	Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises
MTW	Maximum Taxi Weight
NABARD	National Bank for Agriculture and Rural Development
NAEB	National Afforestation and Eco-Development Board
NAP	National Afforestation Programme
NAPCC	National Action Plan On Climate Change
NBC	National Building Code
NCRMP	National Cyclone Risk Mitigation Project
NCSCM	National Centre for Sustainable Coastal Management (
NDC	Nationally Determined Contributions
NDMA	National Disaster Management Authority
NDMP	National Disaster Management Policy
NEMMP	National Electric Mobility Mission Plan
NFDB	National Fisheries Development Board
NFSM	National Food Security Mission
NGO	Non-Governmental Organisations
NHM	National Horticulture Mission
NICRA	National Innovations In Climate Resilient Agriculture
ΝΙΟ	North Indian Ocean
NIUA	National Institute of Urban Affairs
NMBHWB	National Mission On Biodiversity and Human Well-Being
NMEEE	National Mission for Enhanced Energy Efficiency
NMSA	National Mission On Sustainable Agriculture
NMSHE	National Mission On Sustaining Himalayan Ecosystem
NMSKCC	National Mission On Strategic Knowledge for Climate Change
NMT	Non-Motorised Transport
NPP	Net Primary Productivity
NRDC	National Resources Defence Council
NRHM	National Rural Health Mission
NTDPC	National Transport Development Policy Committee
NTFP	Non-Timber forest Products
NTPC	National Thermal Power Corporation

NUHM	National Urban Health Mission
NURM	National Urban Renewal Mission
NUTP	National Urban Transport Policy
NWM	National Water Mission
PAT	Perform, Achieve, Trade
PCWA	Per Capita Water Availability
PDMC	Per Drop More Crop
PDS	Public Distribution System
PGCIL	Power Grid Corporation of India Limited
РНС	Primary Healthcare Centres
PIB	Press Information Bureau
PKVY	Paramparagat Krishi Vikas Yojana
PLI	Production Linked Incentive
PM	Particulate Matter
PMAY	Pradhan Mantri Awas Yojana
PMFBY	Pradhan Mantri Fasal Bima Yojana
PMKSY	Pradhan Mantri Krishi Sinchai Yojana
PPP	Purchasing Power Parity
PV	Photovoltaic
RBI	Reserve Bank of India
RCM	Regional Climate Model
RCP	Representative Concentration Pathways
R&D	Research and Development
RMI	Rocky Mountain Institute
RS	Remote Sensing
RSPM	Respiratory Suspended Particulate Matter
RVEP	Remote Village Electrification Programme
S&T	Synergies and Trade-offs
SAPCC	State Action Plans On Climate Change
SAU	State Agriculture Universities
SBM	Swachh Bharat Mission
SC	Scheduled Caste
SCADA	Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition

SDG	Sustainable Development Goals
SDS	Sustainable Development Scenario
SECI	Solar Energy Corporation of India
SEEMP	Ship Energy Efficiency Management Plan
SHM	Soil Health Management
SLR	Sea Level Rise
SOC	Soil Organic Carbon
SPEI	Standardized Precipitation Evapotranspiration Index
SPM	Suspended Particulate Matter
SPS	Stated Policies Scenario
SRES	Special Report On Emissions Scenario
SRI	System of Rice Intensification
SSP	Shared Socio-Economic Pathways
ST	Scheduled Tribes
SUP	Summary for Urban Policymakers
SWM	Solid Waste Management
тсо	Total Cost of Ownership
TERI	The Energy and Resources Institute
тні	Temperature-Humidity Index
UHI	Urban Heat Island
UN	United Nations
UNDP	United Nations Development Programme
UNEP	United Nations Environment Programme
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention On Climate Change
USAID	United States Agency for International Development
VSCS	Very Severe Cyclonic Storms
WASH	Water, Sanitation and Hygiene
ZBNF	Zero Budget Natural Farming
ZT	Zero Tillage

List of Tables, Figures and es

LIST OF TABLES

Chapter 2 Climate change Risks and Impacts in India	
Table 2.1 Projected impacts of drought and aridity under 1.5°C, 2°C and 3°C	29
Table 2.2 Coastal flooding at different warming levels above pre-industrial levels	30
Table 2.3 Sea level rise in select Indian cities (in metres)	30
Table 2.4 Summary table on observed changes in extremes, their attribution since 1950 and	
projected changes at +1.5°C, +2°C and +4°C of global warming	31
Table 2.5 Projected impacts of temperature change on rice yield in India	33
Chapter 3 Navigating India's Development and Climate Goals	
Table 3.1 Industry share (in %) in India's economic Gross Value Added (1980–2017)	47
Table 3.2 Distribution of India's employment across sectors	48
Table 3.3 Sector-wise share in GVA and CO2 emission intensity (2018–19) in India	51
Chapter 4 Adaptation and Mitigation in India	
Table 4.1 National missions in India with key aims and budgetary allocations	63
Table 4.2 Key sectoral risks and illustrative policy instruments to address them	68
Chapter 5 Mitigation Pathways	
Table 5.1 Share of total primary energy demand (all sectors) and total primary energy of supply	
(only power sector) in per cent	75
Table 5.2 Fuel shares in buildings energy consumption under BAU and advanced NDC scenarios	
(in per cent)	82
Table 5.3 India's Greenhouse Gas Inventory By Sector (Values In Gg CO2e)	84
Table 5.4 Demand-side interventions	85
Table 5.5 High impact opportunities across different sectors	91
Chapter 6 Feasibility Assessment of Adaptation and Mitigation Options	
Table 6.1 Key takeaways on feasible options	100
Chapter 7 Climate change Mitigation, Adaptation, and Sustainable Development : Synergies and Trade-offs	
Chapter 8 Enabling 1.5°C in India	
Table 8.1 Illustrative case studies demonstrate how system transitions towards 1.5°C can be enabled	163

Table 8.1 Inustrative case studies demonstrate now system transitions towards 1.5 °C can be enabled185Table 8.2 Key enablers and barriers to urban climate finance in Indian cities180Table 8.3 Examples of mitigation behaviour and their potential to reduce greenhouse gas emissions186-187
LIST OF FIGURES

Chapter 1 Climate Trends and Projections in India	
Figure 1.1 Spatial distribution of observed annual and seasonal trends (°C per decade)	17
Figure 1.2 Time series of annual mean surface air temperature anomalies relative to 1976–2005	18
Figure 1.3 Mean projections of annual average surface air temperature changes (°C)	19
Figure 1.4 India averages of temperature indices over land	21
Figure 1.5 Multi-Model Ensemble (MME) change (%) in annual and seasonal rainfall	21
Figure 1.6 Time series of all India averaged summer heatwaves	22
Figure 1.7 Median change (%) in 3-hr 100-year precipitation maxima (design storm) with increase	
in GMT by 1.5 to 2.5°C	23
Figure 1.8 Sea level rise in the Indian Ocean	25
Chapter 2 Climate change Risks and Impacts in India	
Figure 2.1 Annual Water use in India in billion cubic meters (BCM)	34
Figure 2.2 Composite Hazard Risk for Cities	38
Chapter 3 Navigating India's Development and Climate Goals	
Figure 3.1 Distribution of greenhouse gas emissions (GgCO2e) by sectors in 2019	50
Figure 3.2 Access to electricity and clean cooking in India.	55
Chapter 5 Mitigation Pathways	
Figure 5.1 Sector-wise national green house gas emissions (in MtCO2e) for 1994 to 2019	73
Figure 5.2 Sector-wise final energy consumption in BAU and INDC scenarios (in petajoules)	74
Figure 5.3 Electricity generation and CO2 intensity of electricity in India under different scenarios	76
Figure 5.4 Electricity generation mix in India under four scenarios	77
Figure 5.5 Energy demand from the industrial sector under different scenarios	79
Chapter 6 Feasibility Assessment of Adaptation and Mitigation Options	
Figure 6.1 Feasibility assessment of 16 mitigation options	98
Figure 6.2 Feasibility assessment of 23 adaptation options	99
Figure 6.3 Feasibility of mitigation options under energy systems	102
Figure 6.4 Feasibility of mitigation options under land, oceans and ecosystems	106
Figure 6.5 Feasibility of mitigation options under urban and infrastructure systems	109
Figure 6.6 Feasibility of mitigation options under industrial systems	113
Figure 6.7 Feasibility of adaptation options under land and ecosystems transitions	115
Figure 6.8 Feasibility of adaptation options under urban and infrastructure systems transitions	126
Figure 6.9 Feasibility of cross-cutting adaptation options	129
Chapter 7 Climate change Mitigation, Adaptation, and Sustainable Development : Synergies and Trade-offs	
Figure 7.1 Adaptation, mitigation and SDG synergies and trade-offs under land and ecosystem transitions	138
Figure 7.2 Synergies of Adaptation options with SDGs under land, oceans and ecosystem transitions	140
Figure 7.3 Adaptation, mitigation and SDG synergies and trade-offs under urban and infrastructure	
systems transitions	142
Figure 7.4 Synergies and trade-offs of adaptation options with SDGs under urban and infrastructure	_
systems transitions	143
Figure 7.5 Synergies and trade-offs of cross-cutting adaptation options with mitigation and SDGs	145

Figure 7.6 SDGs and cross-cutting adaptation S&Ts	146
Figure 7.7 Adaptation, mitigation and SDG synergies and trade-offs under energy systems transitions	149
Figure 7.8 SDGs and mitigation S&Ts under energy system transitions	150
Figure 7.9 SDG and mitigation S&Ts under energy system transitions	154
Figure 7.10 SDGs and mitigation S&Ts under urban and infrastructure system transitions	156

LIST OF BOXES

Box 4.1 India's global leadership on climate change: International Solar Alliance and Coalition for	
Disaster Resilient Infrastructure	62
Box 5.1 Green Hydrogen	92
Box 6.1 What is feasibility?	97
Box 8.1 Case Study 1 : Zero Budget Natural Farming	165
Box 8.2 Case Study 2 : Mangrove management under Integrated Coastal Management	166
Box 8.3 Case Study 3 : National Solar Mission	167
Box 8.4 Case Study 4 : Rent a Roof	168
Box 8.5 Case Study 5 : Heat action planning in Ahmedabad	170
Box 8.6 Case Study 6 : Perform, Achieve and Trade (PAT) Scheme	172
Box 8.7 Case Study 7: Improving irrigation efficiency through drip and sprinkler methods	174
Box 8.8 Case Study 8 : Building Codes and Standards in Indian Towns	175
Box 8.9 Case Study : Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act	176
Box 8.10 Case Study 10 : Compensatory Afforestation Fund Management and Planning Authority (CAMPA)	
and Green India Mission (GIM)	178
Box 8.11 Case Study 11 : Integrated Soil Management	182
Box 8.12 Case Study 12: National Agrometeorological Advisory Services	184
Box 8.13 Case Study 13 : Early Warning Systems	185
Box 8.14 Case Study 14: Enabling adoption of electric vehicles through financial incentives	189



IIHS, BENGALURU CITY CAMPUS 197/36, 2nd Main Road, Sadashivanagar, Bengaluru 560080, India | T +91 80 6760 6666 | F +91 80 2361 6814

IIHS, CHENNAI

Floor 7A, Chaitanya Exotica, 24/51 Venkatnarayana Road, T Nagar, Chennai 600017, India | T +91 44 6630 5500/6555 6590

IIHS, DELHI

803, Surya Kiran, 19, Kasturba Gandhi Marg, New Delhi 110001, India | T +91 11 4360 2798 | F +91 11 2332 0477

IIHS, MUMBAI

Flat No. 2, Purnima Building, Patel Compound, 20-C, Napean Sea Road, Mumbai 400006, India | T +91 22 6525 3874